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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549
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ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934
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EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to
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PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
BUSINESS

This report contains forwatdeking statements within the meaning of the Pav&ecurities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Wheredsr
this report, the words "expects," "anticipatesiiténds,” "estimates," "plans,” "believes," "conthgy" "ongoing,” and similar expressions
intended to identify forwardboking statements. These are statements thaeredtture events and include, but are not limitecthe factor
that may impact our financial results; our expéotet regarding revenue; our expectations with retstgeour future research and developn
general and administrative and selling and margeBrpenses and our anticipated uses of our funds;erpectations regarding cap
expenditures; our anticipated cash needs and tioragss regarding our capital requirements; oudrfee additional financing; potential futt
sources of cash; our business strategy and outyatbilexecute our strategy; our ability to achiewel maintain reimbursement from thpelrty
payers at acceptable levels; our belief that olnliploed evidence provides a basis for inclusiowmwf Afirma GEC test in practice guidelin
the estimated size of the global markets for oststand our future tests; the potential benefitsurftests and any future tests we may dey
to patients, physicians and payers; the factordelieve drive demand for and reimbursement of eatst our ability to sustain or incre
demand for our tests; our intent to expand int@otlinical areas; our ability to develop new testsluding tests for lung cancer and intersi
lung disease, and the timeframes for developmeabwmercialization; our ability to get our data atidical studies accepted in peeriewec
publications; our dependence on and the terms 0agreements with Genzyme and TCP, and on othategic relationships, and the suci
of those relationships; our beliefs regarding @boratory capacity; the applicability of clinicasults to actual outcomes; our expecta
regarding our international expansion, includingeeng new international markets and the timingéb& the occurrence, timing, outcome
success of clinical trials or studies; the abilifyour tests to impact treatment decisions; ourefgelregarding our competitive position;
ability to compete with potential competitors; mampliance with federal, state and internationgltations; the potential impact of regulal
of our tests by the FDA or other regulatory bodtbs; impact of new or changing policies, regulatiwregislation, or of judicial decisions,
our business; our ability to comply with the reguaents of being a public company; the impact ofseeal fluctuations and econor
conditions on our business; our belief that we htalen reasonable steps to protect our intelleguaperty; the impact of account
pronouncements and our critical accounting policjedgments, estimates, models and assumptionsupfir@ncial results; and anticipa
trends and challenges in our business and the tsarkerhich we operate.

Forwardeoking statements are based on our current pladsapectations and involve risks and uncertaintieieh could cause actt
results to differ materially. These risks and utaiaties include, but are not limited to, thosésisgliscussed in Part I, Item 1A of this repor
well as risks and uncertainties related to: ouitéioh operating history and history of losses simoeption; our ability to increase usage of
reimbursement for the Afirma GEC and any otherstest may develop, including Percepta; our deperedena limited number of payers fc
significant portion of our revenue; the complextiyne and expense associated with billing and cbilg for our test; current and future la
regulations and judicial decisions applicable to business, including potential regulation by tH@AFor by regulatory bodies outside of
United States; changes in legislation related ® WhS. healthcare system; our dependence on stratdgtionships, collaborations and co
promotion arrangements; unanticipated delays ieareh and development efforts; our ability to depeind commercialize new products
the timing of commercialization; our ability to sissfully enter new product or geographic markats;ability to conduct clinical studies &
the outcomes of such clinical studies; the appiiitalof clinical results to actual outcomes; trenand challenges in our business; our abili
compete against other companies and products; kilitly 2o protect our intellectual property; androability to obtain capital when need
These forward-looking statements speak only abefiate hereof. We expressly
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disclaim any obligation or undertaking to updatg forward{ooking statements contained herein to reflect@mnge in our expectations w
regard thereto or any change in events, conditortércumstances on which any such statement iscbas

When used in this report, all reference8feracyte,” the "company,” "we," "our" and "us'feeto Veracyte, Inc.

Veracyte, Afirma, Percepta, the Veracytgolaand the Afirma logo are our trademarks or regest trademarks. We also refel
trademarks of other corporations or organizationtis report.

This annual report contains statisticaladahd estimates that we obtained from industry ipafibns and reports. These publicat
typically indicate that they have obtained theiformation from sources they believe to be relialblet do not guarantee the accuracy
completeness of their information. Some data captiiin this annual report is also based on ournateestimates. Although we have
independently verified the third-party data, we @gponsible for its inclusion in the annual re@ortl believe it to be reasonable.

Overview

We are a molecular diagnostics companyngeoing the field of molecular cytology with geneansolutions that resolve diagno:
ambiguity and enable physicians to make more inéafrtreatment decisions at an early stage in patiarég. We believe that diagno:
ambiguity is a significant problem impacting ouraliecare system, resulting in hundreds of thousaridsatients undergoing unnecess
invasive procedures and wasting billions of heatbhaollars each year. We target diseases in whigke numbers of patients undergo inva
and costly diagnostic procedures that could be dmebiwith a more accurate diagnosis from a cytolsgsnple taken preoperatively.
improving diagnosis preoperatively, we help pasemioid unnecessary invasive procedures and sesgehile reducing healthcare costs.
are focused on the continued growth of our endotwgy franchise and the entry into our second céihindication, pulmonology, in 201
Together, we believe these two market opportundféer a near-term estimated addressable marketef$2 billion.

In 2011, we launched our first commerc@lution, the Afirma®Thyroid FNA Analysis, for use in thyroid cancer glieosis. Our offerin
centers on our proprietary Afirma Gene Expressidassifier, or GEC, which is used to resolve diagisoambiguity among the more tt
525,000 patients who undergo fine needle aspiratorFNA, biopsies each year in the United Stateassess potentially cancerous thy
nodules. The GEC helps physicians reduce the nuofherecessary surgeries by employing a propyieitd?-gene signature to preoperativ
determine whether thyroid nodules previously cfessiby cytopathology as indeterminate can be ssifi?zd as benign. As of March 2015,
have received nearly 160,000 FNA samples and haviermed more than 30,000 GEC tests to resolveténagnate cytopathology resu
helping an estimated 15,000 patients avoid unnacgssirgery and reducing healthcare costs by amastd $200 million. We launched «
first product extension—the Afirma Malignancy Clifisss—in 2014, which comprise genomic tests for medulthgyroid cancer, or MTC, al
BRAF V600E mutation status. These genomic testsnée@ded to preoperatively inform physicians' cieodf thyroid surgery when surgen
needed. We believe Afirma offers the most comprsivensolution for the assessment and managemeat@ts with thyroid nodules. \
estimate our addressable thyroid nodule diagnastidket opportunity today is approximately $500 oillper year in the United States, anc
believe that there is an estimated $300 millionitaatthl market opportunity for the Afirma GEC intetionally.

The Afirma GEC is supported by multiple epeeviewed published studies, including a prospectmulticenter, doubl®lind clinical
validation study published ihhe New England Journal of Medicime2012, which suggests that the test can redue@dimber of unnecess
surgeries by 50%. As of March 2015, the GEC ismeoended in leading practice guidelines and is axvéor 145 million patient lives in t
United States, including through Medicare and mzomymercial insurance plans. Additionally,
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Afirma is contracted for nearly 100 million livasaking us an imetwork provider for payers including Medicare, tédHealthcare and Cigr

We market our Afirma solution through owditated specialty sales force and through g@romotion agreement with Genzyme
subsidiary of Sanofi, which targets the same endolagist customers with Thyrogen®ince the beginning of 2014, we have more thatet
the size of our internal sales force, enabling audurther drive market penetration and expansion&firma, in the physician office,
ambulatory practice setting, as well as in institél accounts and integrated delivery networkdPDdts. We now offer models that are pro
to be effective in each of these market segmerntdshalieve we are positioned to continue to drivengh in both. We estimate our address
thyroid nodule diagnostic market opportunity todayapproximately $500 million per year in the Udittates, and we believe that there |
estimated $300 million additional market opportyrfiir the Afirma GEC internationally. To date, stehtially all of our revenue has be
derived from customers we serve in the United StaBar revenue has increased from $11.6 millio20d2, to $21.9 million in 2013 a
$38.2 million in 2014.

In September 2014, we acquired Allegro B@glics Corp., based in Maynard, Massachusett@cdelerate our entry into pulmonolo
our second planned clinical area. We intend torethie lung cancer diagnostics market by @5 with the Percepta™ Bronchial Gena
Classifier, a gene expression test utilizing theehdfield of injury" genomic technology, which designed to resolve diagnostic ambig
among the approximately 250,000 patients in thetddnStates who undergo bronchoscopy each yearsesagotentially cancerous It
nodules. Currently, approximately 40% of these pduces produce nadiagnostic results, which can lead to unnecessagsive procedur
for a definitive diagnosis. We believe the markppartunity for this test is between $350 millionda$i400 million in the United Stat
depending on the value we can extract for out fstcepta has been validated in two multicentessgective clinical studies, with d
presented on the AEGIS | study at the American atiorSociety International Conference in 2014 additional data expected to be relec
in 2015. We estimate that the number of bronchdssepand non-diagnostic resultgeuld expand significantly in the next two to thyesar:
as, beginning in early 2015, more than eight milllmericans at high risk for lung cancer have beeatigible for annual screening throt
new Affordable Care Act and Medicare coverage.

We plan to expand our footprint in pulmargy in 2016 with the launch of a product designedteoperatively identify idiopatt
pulmonary fibrosis, or IPF, among patients presgnivith a suspected interstitial lung diseaseL&r. [Our IPF test will target pulmonologis
the same physicians we will address with Percegid, will also be used to test cytology samplesinbththrough bronchoscopy. IPF is
most common form of ILD, a group of diseases charamed by chronic, progressive scarring of thegkjrand is often difficult to distingui
from other ILDs or lung conditions. Currently, welieve that many of the estimated 175,000 to 2D f#ients in the United States
Europe who present with suspected ILDs each year emalure months of incorrect or missed diagnosedgngoing invasive, risky a
expensive diagnostic surgeries, or receiving suimgptireatment. The need for improved IPF diagnbsisomes increasingly important gi
the availability of new therapies to halt or slovegression of this often fatal disease's progressidich were approved by the Food and [
Administration, or FDA, in late 2014. In May 2014/e presented proof-afencept data at the American Thoracic Society iatona
Conference demonstrating the ability of a molecualassifier to accurately identify IPF cases udisgue samples. We expect to present
demonstrating our test's performance on bronchgssamples in 2015. We estimate the addressableeméok our IPF test to be o\
$500 million in the United States and Europe.

We believe additional clinical areas off@portunities for future expansion of our molecugiology franchise beyond endocrinology
pulmonology. In determining new clinical areas tiee, we will focus on diseases in which a largenbar of patients undergo invasive
costly diagnostic procedures that could be avoidi#éd a more accurate diagnosis from a cytology dartgken preoperatively. We intend
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to leverage our demonstrated core capabilitiesegearch and development, clinical development, raadaged care and reimbursemel
expand our business into other clinical areas afetmeed, either through internal development autph acquisition.

Our Strategy
We believe the market opportunities araificant and have focused our strategic objectaresind these three growth vectors:

. Accelerate the Growth of Afirma in EndocrinologyVe expect to continue to invest in driving theopiibn of Afirma an
expanding our base of prescribing physicians, lootihe community physician office market as wellim$nstitutional setting
We plan to continue to leverage our relationshithvenzyme in the U. S. market and pursue sel¢etnational markets f
entry where attractive regulations and reimbursdnagists. We plan to use our inclusion in guidddimad the extensive libre
of published evidence on Afirma to date, couplethvaur core expertise in managed care, claims ajtidn, and billing, t
drive broader coverage determinations, particulaiti the Blue Cross and Blue Shield family of payes well as additional in-
network contracts, to expand reimbursement and #nmg path to profitability.

. Expand into Pulmonology through the Launch of Pptae We believe our molecular cytology strategy adskesseveral unrr
clinical needs in pulmonology. Through the acqigsitof Allegro, we plan to launch the Percepta Btual Genomic Classifir
for lung cancer diagnosis by m#fBl15. Our ability to efficiently integrate the coamy and technologies, including
completion of all analytical verification studidsas accelerated our launch timing. Using our exgsinfrastructure, we plan
commence testing of patient samples in our CLIA#Hied laboratory by midyear and continue to build out the body of evidi
that will be required to gain Medicare reimbursetrenwell as commercial payer coverage. We belieiselung cancer test w
serve as the foundational application to expandnoalecular cytology platform within the pulmonologgrtical where we ple
to introduce a second product to improve the diagnof patients suspicious for ILD, specificallyFlP

. Further Expand our Franchise into Additional Indimans. We intend to leverage our demonstrated core di#pehin researc
and development, clinical development, and manageel and reimbursement to expand our busines®thay clinical areas
unmet need, either through internal developmenthmugh acquisition. For each clinical area we é¢grgve deploy a prov
strategy comprised of four key pillars:

. Inform the Right Clinical Question.We focus on developing genomic tests that answeievant clinical question a
that, when used at the optimal point in the diatjogsathway, provide physicians with informatioratttan significantl
alter physician decisiomaking, enabling patients to avoid unnecessarysifreaand costly procedures. We then v
with key opinion leaders and other clinicians taerstand the performance criteria that will be eeefibr a new test
give physicians confidence to change clinicate decisions. Only when we have pinpointed tifisrmation do we the
deploy the appropriate science to develop the test.

. Develop Proprietary Science and Validate in Weltigaed Clinical Trials. Once we know the parameters of the tes
need to develop to change patient care, we apghy broadbased genomic science based on our expertise mmaloke
discovery and algorithm development. We utilizeppietary technology, intellectual property and atific know-how tc
extract rich genomic information from tiny cytologg@amples, sometimes with only nanogram quantitfeBiaogical
material, to answer our target clinical questione Yiien conduct prospective, blinded, multicent@niadl validatior
studies and seek to obtain publication in peerenged journals to establish the clinical performaofceur test.
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. Demonstrate Clear Value We build into our commercialization strategy #teps that will be needed to prove that
tests do indeed change clinical practice and peoYidalthcare cost savings. To do this, we desighigitiate clinica
utility and costeffectiveness studies early in the process sovtleawill be able to quickly and efficiently demoregt
value to physicians and payers.

. Achieve Coverage and Reimbursement Succd3g.developing the clinical evidence for our testhich is the
published in peereviewed publications, we create compelling evidefar our tests to be included in clinical prac
guidelines, helping to establish a new routine ddath of care. We believe guideline inclusion, alevith the capabilitie
we have built in managed care and claims adjudinats key to successful payer coverage, contatdsreimbursemel
Our team combines expertise in advocating for pasitoverage decisions with specific insights imtaat tactical stej
will maximize reimbursement from each payer. Asuit, we have developed detailed knowledge ofirttrecacies o
specific payer practices and requirements, whiébrins our strategy across indication selectiomicél study desig
marketing and sales.

Limitations of Disease Diagnosis Today

Surgical pathology has long been part efstandard of care for diagnosis of numerous coxglileeases, including many types of ca
and lung diseases. Patient samples collected fuvgeses allow multiple slices, or sections, of tissue to be stained, permitting a patholc
to use a microscope to evaluate the shape andwstwaf the cells in question to diagnose the sartpbwever, surgical pathology by definit
requires an invasive procedure. Cytopathologyheranalysis of small numbers of cells using miniynialvasive methods (which we refer tc
cytology samples), is designed to provide a patioldiagnosis using a small biopsy. It is oftenfihg step in the diagnostic process becat
offers a less-invasive and cost-effective altexeatd surgery. However, cytology samples are ofiexall and noruniform, which can mal
definitive diagnoses difficult. The high rate of kiguity in diagnosis using cytology samples todagults in many patients undergoing o
subsequent invasive procedures, often includingesyr to obtain an accurate diagnosis.

The role of genomic information in medigahctice is evolving rapidly and has affected tlegdosis of disease as well as treatt
decisions. Over the past decade, molecular diagntestts that analyze genomic material from sutdiisaue samples have emerged a
important complement to evaluations performed bhalagists. Information at the molecular level eleabone to understand more fully
makeup and specific subtype of disease to improagndsis. In many cases, the genomic informatiaiveeé from these samples can |
guide treatment decisions as part of the standaodre. However, due to limitations of availablehsologies, many of these molecular t
require relatively large quantities of tissue waghecific levels of cellularity, which most often stbe obtained through an invasive surg
procedure.

Cytology samples offer a more attractiveeralative for early, less invasive and less codiBgnosis. These samples are comm
obtained using minimally invasive methods, suchFBIS\ biopsies, washings, brushings, lavages or Wroscopy biopsies, from which
diagnose various diseases. Physicians typicallpaiothese without performing surgery, and themfoave the potential to offer a lower ¢
and less invasive approach to disease diagnosteld@y samples, however, are challenging for bedulitional cytopathology, as well
molecular cytology, due to the small amount of Wdall material obtained in the collection procesd #re often nomtniform nature of th
collected tissue. The high rate of ambiguity ingdiasis on cytology samples today results in martjeps undergoing other subseqt
invasive procedures, often including surgery, ttamban accurate diagnosis.

5




Table of Contents

Extracting clinically meaningful genomicfanmation from these small, heterogeneous cytolsgmples offers the potential to red
ambiguity in diagnosis prior to surgery and infaneatment decisions at a much lower cost to théhezae system.

Our Solutions

We are pioneering the field of molecularobygy with genomic solutions that resolve diagimambiguity and enable physicians to i
more informed treatment decisions at an early stagatient care. We target diseases in whichgelaumber of patients undergo invasive
costly diagnostic procedures that could be avoiditd a more accurate diagnosis from a cytology dartgken preoperatively. In contras
molecular diagnostics developed for surgical tisswe solutions solve many of the technical chgémnassociated with generating analytic
valid and clinically relevant genomic informatiomifn very small, heterogeneous cytology samplesniiyoving diagnosis before surgery,
help patients avoid unnecessary invasive procedunés reducing healthcare costs.

Our molecular cytology products are desigtedeliver a number of benefits to physiciang,gpa and patients, including a reductiol
unnecessary surgeries, lower healthcare costaaimhable information from a single patient vigith a single diagnostic procedure.

Our initial focus is on the clinical arealsendocrinology, where we have made significanbads to date, and pulmonology, which
expect to enter by mid-2015. Together, we belicvase two market opportunities offer a neam estimated addressable market of
$2 hillion.

Endocrinology

We entered the endocrinology market in dan®011 with our Afirma Thyroid FNA Analysis, whicis included in leading practi
guidelines and gaining market share in thyroid eamttagnosis. Our offering centers on our propriefsfirma GEC, which is used to reso
diagnostic ambiguity among the more than 525,000ep& who undergo FNA procedures each year tosassgroid nodules that ¢
potentially cancerous. We launched our first prodedension—the Afirma Malignancy Classifiersemprising tests for MTC and BR/
V600E gene mutation status to provide resultsrfight preoperatively inform surgery selection foose patients who need surgery.

As of March 2015, we have received near0,000 FNA samples and have performed more tha@0B0GEC tests to resol
indeterminate cytopathology results, helping annmested 15,000 patients avoid unnecessary surgedlyreducing healthcare costs by
estimated $200 million. The Afirma GEC is coveradaamedically necessary test for 145 million livies)uding through Medicare and mz
commercial payers including UnitedHealthcare, Cjghatna, Humana and leading Blue Cross and/or Bloeld plans such as Highme
Horizon Blue Cross, and Blue Shield of Californ#dirma is contracted for nearly 100 million livesjaking us an imetwork provider fc
payers including Medicare, UnitedHealthcare andn&jgwvhich facilitates adoption. In February 201% @btained a separate CPT codt
Current Procedural Terminology code, for the Afir@&C, which we believe will facilitate our progresgth payer coverage contracts,
reimbursement. The new code became effective Mhré15.

We estimate that, of the total number ofABNberformed annually, we have a market share pfagimately 20% among officbase:
practices and 10% among institutional accounts.

Pulmonology

We have two products in the pipeline thddrass unmet clinical needs in the diagnosis of kkamcer and ILDs, specifically IPF. Our It
cancer test, the Percepta Bronchial Genomic Clagsié designed to help resolve diagnostic amlbygaimong the approximately 250,(
patients each year who undergo bronchoscopy tordigte if lung nodules are benign or cancerous. $dlution is intended to identify
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patients with nordiagnostic bronchoscopy results whose nodulestdoavarisk of being cancerous so that these patieah avoid surgery a
be monitored with low-dose computed tomographyl. BET, screening instead. We plan to launch Percbptanid2015 and expect to ¢
meaningful revenue from the test in 2017.

We believe our introduction of Perceptal alcilitate the subsequent launch of our IPF tegdtich will target the same custon
pulmonologists, and will similarly be run on cytglosamples obtained through bronchoscopy. Our éBFis$ in development and intende
preoperatively identify patients with IPF amonggb@resenting with a suspected ILD, so that thesemnis can obtain an accurate diagr
and proper treatment soonewithout the need for invasive surgery. We are taltating with more than 25 clinical sites in theited State
and Europe to develop our IPF test, which we pialadnch in 2016.

The Endocrinology Market

Our Afirma solution addresses the large graing thyroid nodule diagnostic market, whichbisrdened with significant ambiguity
cytopathology, offering the potential to reduce ttéte of surgery needed to diagnose and subseyursdt thyroid cancers.

525,000 FNAs per Year
Cytopathology

l !

5-8% 60 -75% 15 - 30% 3-6%
MNon-Diagnostic Benign Indeterminate Malignant
\L Without Afirma
(745%) Surgery
5 - 8% Risk of Malignancy Y afirma
Repeat FNA Follow with Malignancy Classifiers
Watchiul Waiting Inform Thyroid Surgery
i . ..
100,000+ FNAs
¥ Afirma A e
]‘ GEC Malignancy)
~B0%s
Banign

Thyroid cancer is the fastest growing cannethe United States, according to the Americam¢@r Society, and evaluation of thyi
nodules—the most common indicator of thyroid caneerrapidly increasing the number of thyroid FNAsidacted. Approximately 525,0
thyroid FNAs were performed in the United State2@d11, which is more than double the number of Flg&gormed in 2006. We estimate
addressable thyroid nodule diagnostic market oppdst today is approximately $500 million per yearthe United States, consisting of
estimated $100 million in cytopathology testing583nillion in Afirma GEC tests performed on indetémate cytopathology samples anc
additional $40 million related to our Afirma Maligncy Classifiers. Our estimates are based on thdupt of FNA volumes and the estime
reimbursement per test for both cytology and the@md GEC, not our list price at which we bill. Welieve that there is an estima
$300 million additional market opportunity for tAéirma GEC internationally.
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The biology of thyroid cells is complex. proximately 15% to 30% of thyroid nodule FNAs penfied in the United States are dee
indeterminate following cytopathology review, maapihey cannot be diagnosed as definitively bewigmalignant by cytopathology alo
Because the risk of malignancy in such patientgearirom 20% to 30%, clinical practice guidelinesd traditionally recommended that
of these patients undergo surgery to remove afiast of the thyroid for a definitive diagnosis. leeling surgery, however, 70% to 80%
these patients prove to have benign nodules, mgah| surgery was unnecessary. We estimate eagergucosts $15,000 on avere
Additionally, such surgeries have a complicatioteraf 2% to 10%, and most patients subsequentlyimedifelong thyroid hormor
replacement therapy.

We estimate that approximately 3,500 endotwgists specialize in thyroid disease and penféiNAs. We also serve other special
including radiologists and ear, nose and throaENT, physicians who similarly perform FNAs. Appnaately 60% of FNAs are performec
ambulatory, or communitpased, practices, with the remaining 40% conduictéaktitutional settings, comprised of both acadeoenters ar
integrated delivery networks, which are networksfadfilities and providers that work together toenffa continuum of care to a spec
geographic area or market. While endocrinologigisegally diagnose patients and refer them to surglen necessary, endocrinologist:
not perform the surgeries themselves. Institutiortsich influence standard of care, typically hay&opathology laboratories osite, to whicl
the institutions' endocrinologists submit patiesnhgles for review. Additional stakeholders that rbayinvolved in the decisiomaking proces
in institutions include radiologists, pathologisted, occasionally, administration. We offer Afirnm institutional customers as an op
following their internal cytopathology testing, aneceive orders for the Afirma GEC only and/or Malignancy Classifiers. This approz
represents a higher margin opportunity versus & dbmmunitypractice setting where we also conduct the lowergmacytopatholog
assessment.

Afirma Thyroid FNA Analysis

Launched in 2011, the Afirma Thyroid FNA&ysis is our comprehensive offering for thyroiddnte assessment. The solution cente
our proprietary Afirma GEC to resolve indetermin&tdA results, based on cytopathology, so that ptgieshose nodules are actually bei
can avoid unnecessary diagnostic surgery and uadergine monitoring instead. The Afirma GEC is423ene signature that is prover
multiple peerreviewed, published studies to identify benign deduwith a high level of accuracy among those dekmdeterminate t
cytopathology. Data suggest the test can enableagssary surgeries to be reduced by approxima@ly. ®ur comprehensive solution ¢
includes our Afirma Malignancy Classifierssemprised of tests for medullary thyroid cancerai@ and aggressive form of thyroid cancer,
BRAF V600E gene mutational status, which is oftaedgtive for papillary thyroid cancerwhich were launched in May 2014
preoperatively help inform selection of surgery wiseirgery is needed, minimizing the need for p&iém undergo an additional "complet
surgery."” The MTC test result is included as parthe patient report when an Afirma GEC is perfodhom any FNA that is indeterminate
cytopathology. Physicians can also order it sepbrdibr use on FNAs that are malignant by cytopkiyy. The BRAF test is performed wt
ordered specifically by the physician on either G&Gpicious or malignant by cytopathology FNAs.

The Afirma Thyroid FNA Analysis includesitial cytopathology to optimize utilization of th&firma GEC, ensuring that the test is u
appropriately and without the need for patientsetarn for a repeat FNA procedure. We offer Afirtheough two models, designed to mee:
needs of both our community-practice and instinaigphysician customers.

Model for Community Practice

Our model allows communityased physicians to implement Afirma in their pigctvithout any meaningful changes to their workf!
Samples for both cytopathology and the Afirma GE€ @llected during one FNA procedure using wetlegided and widelysed technique
Customers send both the
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cytopathology and the Afirma GEC samples overntghbur CLIA-certified laboratory in Austin, Texas. After we assion the samples it
our laboratory information system, the Afirma GEBnples are stored in a freezer while the cytopathyobamples are prepared and staine
review by Thyroid Cytopathology Partners, or TCRBpacialized cytopathology practice in Austin, T&xhat provides professional diagnc
on these samples. When cytopathology results atetérminate, we send the stored sample to our Q@eltified laboratory in South S
Francisco, California, where we perform the Afir@&C and/or Malignancy Classifiers. Results are joiexy to the ordering physician vi
comprehensive report that provides cytopathologsulte and identifies the Afirma GEC results as egithbenign" or "suspicious" f
malignancy and the Afirma Malignancy Classifiers'assitive" or "negative."

Approximately 14% to 17% of thyroid FNA piies from TCP have been classified as indetermiaat have been reflexed to the C
This rate is at the low end of the 15% to 30% racitgd in the 2009 American Thyroid Association @alines, suggesting TCP's special
focus on thyroid cytopathology offers results theg more consistent with those of academic settifilggough our relationship with TCP, -
high quality of care historically only accessibdepiatients in academic settings is now broadlylalbd. By using a large, high-volume, thyroid:
specialized pathology practice to offer consiswnbpathology analysis, we can optimize quality amhage appropriate utilization, ensu
that the Afirma GEC is not run on cytologically gm or malignant samples, or where the FNA contamssifficient cellular material fi
diagnosis. We believe our ability to manage uttlamais attractive to payers looking to capture whkie we promise in patient care.
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cytopathology and genomics cytopathology.

Afirma-enabled Model for Institutional Customers

Academic and hospitehsed customers as well as integrated delivery arksatypically perform their own cytopathology aysit an
then only send us samples for Afirma GEC testingmwthe cytopathology result is indeterminate. W&o akceive samples to perform
Afirma Malignancy Classifiers either in additionttte GEC or for patients with a suspicious for gyadincy result by cytopathology.

Physicians in these institutional settiggserally conduct cytopathology in their own latbora. With Afirma, the physician collects 1
FNA sample for GEC testing at the same time the B#ple is collected for cytopathology review. TBEC test sample is preserved until
cytopathology results are processed. When the agttoppgy result is reported, the preserved FNA danig sent overnight to our CL
laboratory for testing, using the Afirma GEC whée tresult is indeterminate and/or using the MaligyaClassifier analysis for suspicic
samples.
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Whether the final result is rendered byopgthology alone or a combination of cytopatholagg genomic testing, physicians receiv
actionable answer based on samples collectedimgke patient visit.
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Our Afirma Growth Strategy
Our business growth is predominantly dribgrgrowth of the Afirma GEC. Key initiatives inda:
. Position Afirma as a Comprehensive Solution for Bging Patients with Thyroid NodulesWe believe that Afirma offers

unique, comprehensive solution for patients to dwminecessary surgeries and for cost savings. @uice models for bo
community practices as well as institutions progidecomprehensive assessment, preoperatively sorgie FNA collected ¢
the first patient visit. We are strengthening owssaging of this value proposition on behalf ofgras.

. Expanded Sales ForceWe have more than tripled the size of our intesades force during 2014, enabling us to furthiéve
market penetration and expansion for Afirma, inhbitie ambulatory physician practice setting as alin institutional accour
and integrated delivery networks. Additionally, tBenzyme sales force complements our efforts ih sates territory, where
they generate and qualify leads and provide ongaiaotenance and support of existing accounts.

. Strengthen Marketing ProgramsWe support our sales efforts with comprehensieeketing initiatives that include medi
education, speakers programs for physicians toesttasir experience with Afirma, as well as moreditianal promotione
campaigns targeting both endocrinologists and p&ti@ho have been diagnosed with a thyroid nodidgether with Genzym
we are expanding our messages to include patiemagidn, targeting media outlets to educate armrimfpatients about Afirma.

. Drive Payer Coverage and ContractsMany physicians typically require a test to hdowread coverage and be offered t
service provider that has metwork status before they will offer it to themtpents. We will continue our efforts to advancgeqs
coverage decisions and contracts to facilitatedrapioption of Afirma among ordering physicians. Miiledicare and most
the leading commercial payers covering Afirma, adlwas several Blue Cross and Blue Shield plansjntend to focus ol
efforts on obtaining coverage from remaining "Blugsins. Additionally, we are expanding our res@srto negotiate and sec
in-network contracts which we believe will faciligeadoption as well as provide more predictablabersement and revenue.
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. Selective International ExpansionWe intend to create a network of internationattpers, including Genzyme in cert
markets, to offer Afirma around the world. We calesilocal practice patterns and local reimburserteedetermine countries
enter, with special focus early on in countries reheash-based health care practices exist with harspitals.

Development of the Afirma Gene Expression Classifieand Malignancy Classifiers

We used a wholgenome approach to develop the Afirma GEC, ideintifygene expression patterns that could best igeatbenigi
thyroid nodule signature in thyroid FNA samplesgtiased as indeterminate by cytopathology. We etilimicroarray technology to perfc
whole-genome analyses on hundreds of thyroid sampledupieg a rich database of more than one billionogein measurements of thyr
biology. We initially measured mRNA expression ieb 247,000 transcripts before selecting the taggetes to be measured. We acqt
large numbers of FNA samples taken at endocrinofoggtices across the United States in the eaxlgldpment of the Afirma GEC. Becal
thyroid cancer is a complex disease with multiptanetimes rare, subtypes, this approach provideditrersity of clinical samples that wo
be encountered both during clinical validation ama&commercial practice. Our scientists then devetbmachindearning algorithms usit
sophisticated statistical approaches to distilllinge amount of genomic data and to address FM#pkavariability, dilution effects and RM
quantity and quality challenges. The developmerihefAfirma GEC first on thyroid surgical tissuedahen on thyroid FNA samples was 1
published in 2010 in thdournal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolistdsing our extensive thyroigenomic database derived from
whole-genome discovery work that led to the GEC, whichbsbkeve to be the largest single data set fordidyconditions, we developed -
Afirma Malignancy Classifiers as an extension ® GEC.

Published Evidence for Afirma

More than a dozen studies and review agiblave been published in peeviewed journals supporting Afirma. Following is averviev
of the key studies.

Clinical Validation
Preoperative Diagnosis of Benign Thyroid Nodulethwideterminate Cytology (The New England JouofdWedicine, 2012)

In this study, which was sponsored by wb@nducted with the support of institutional resbagrants from us, our Afirma GEC exhibi
a negative predictive value, or NPV, of 95% fordtetminate results in the atypia or follicular esiof undetermined significance catec
(AUS/FLUS) and 94% for indeterminate results in skspicious for follicular or Hurthle cell neoplasmtegory (SFN/SHN) and reclassifiec
benign over half of the true benign FNA sampled tied indeterminate cytopathology diagnoses, witehauthors defined to include
results suspicious for malignancy in addition to BLUS and SFN/SHN. This pivotal validation studgptoyed a prospective, multicen
double-blind study design to validate the accuratyreoperative Afirma GEC benign results compaiegostoperative expert patholo
review. It was the second prospective multicentiedys validating the Afirma GEC approach. The stedpported the consideration of a i
conservative approach than surgery for most patietth thyroid nodules that are cytologically ingl@hinate but benign according to Afir
GEC results.

This large multicenter study included 48d®mic and community practices across 26 statesl®months. The study involved patie
with ultrasonographically confirmed thyroid nodulese centimeter or larger in diameter. 4,812 thyrBNA samples were prospectiv
collected from 3,789 patients. In the independetitation set of 265 nodules that were indeterneirgt cytopathology, 85 were subseque
determined malignant by surgical pathology, eq@rmtlto a 32% risk of malignancy. The Afirma GEC reotly identified 78 of the ¢
malignant nodules as suspicious, a 92% sensitivity
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(95% confidence interval, or Cl, 84 to 97). TherAfa GEC achieved a 52% specificity (95% CI 44 tp &8 reclassified as benign over
of the true benign FNA samples that had indetertaiggtopathology diagnoses. The authors conclubdadat benign Afirma GEC result he
postiest probability of malignancy that is similar teetprobability for operated nodules with cytolodficdenign features on an FNA, mak
watchful waiting a safe and effective clinical aptifor these patients.

Molecular Classification of Thyroid Nodules usingght Dimensionality Genomic Data (Journal of Clinicahdocrinology an
Metabolism, 2010)

In this study, which we sponsored, our FNa&ined classifier exhibited an NPV of 96% on a esidsized test set of FNA samp
demonstrating an NPV similar to operated noduldgl W&nign FNA cytology. In this study, the authdedined indeterminate results to incl
any cytological results suspicious for malignaneyaddition to AUS/FLUS and SFN/SHN. This prospestimulticenter, doublelind study
was the first study on an independent modéemd set of FNA samples to clinically validate gene expression classifier approach. In add
this study demonstrated that even with substadégtadation of RNA and in the presence of bloodame cases with dilution of up to 8(
the GEC correctly recognized benign nodules anddidniss malignancy in the majority of FNA samples

The GEC was prospectively validated onratependent test set of 48 FNA samples, lealé-of which had indeterminate cytopatholc
The GEC exhibited an NPV of 96% and a specificity8d%. The reference gold standard in this outcatugly was the posiperative
determination of whether the thyroid nodule wasigreror malignant by expert endocrine surgical phathists who were blinded to the G
results. The authors concluded that the GEC pedoom and validation conducted on an independeitatiin set demonstrated a high enc
specificity to reclassify over half of indetermiaa&NAs as benign and that the observed NPV indictitat those nodules classified as be
by the GEC carry a similar risk of malignancy aseaign diagnosis by thyroid nodule FNA cytopathglagpne.

Clinical Utility

The Impact of Benign Gene Expression Classifiet Results on the Endocrinologig#tient Decision to Operate in Patients v
Thyroid Nodules with Indeterminate Fine Needle fegjmin Cytopathology (Thyroid, 2012)

This study, which was sponsored by us amgbarted with institutional research grants, fotimat approximately one surgery was avoi
for every two GECs run on thyroid FNAs with indetgénate cytopathology, which the authors definedntdude any results suspicious
malignancy in addition to AUS/FLUS and SFN/SHN. Slsitudy evaluated the clinical utility of the AfiaGEC in a multicenter, cross-
sectional survey of the endocrinologists' decidimroperate on patients with a cytopathology indebeate FNA and a benign Afirma Gl
result. The study reviewed the first 2,040 GECstgstrformed on samples that were classified agenaénate by cytopathology, of which
Afirma GEC reclassified 52.3% of these results asign. In the study, a cohort of 51 endocrinolagi@6 community based; five acade
based) at 21 practice sites in 11 states comptzted report forms on whether surgery was recomngefudeheir Afirma benign patients.
368 unique patients (395 cytopathology indeternaiidiAs) for whom data was collected, physicians atients opted for watchful waiting
lieu of diagnostic thyroid surgery 92.4% of the ¢iwhen the Afirma GEC result reclassified the pdt$eindeterminate nodule as ben
Surgery was performed on only 7.6% (95% CI 5.1@d)Lof patients, compared to the 74% historic cdtsurgery on indeterminate thyr
nodules previously reported fhyroidin 2011, a 90% relative reduction in the decisiorperate (p < 0.001). Additionally, this 7.6% raf
surgery is similar to the 9.0% rate of surgery asged with cytology benign FNA results and refteother factors considered by physici
including the size and growth rate of the nodube presence of other suspicious or malignant nedwaed other symptoms. The st
demonstrates the effect of the GEC on clinical slenimaking for patients with indeterminate thyromtlules.
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Multicenter Clinical Experience with the Afirma GeBxpression Classifier (Journal of Clinical Endoaiogy and Metabolism, 2014

This study sought to determine how usehef Afirma GEC affects clinical practice in a reald environment. Researchers at
academic centers followed all thyroid nodule pdtemho were tested with the Afirma GEC followingl@terminate biopsy results basec
cytopathology between 2010 and 2013. Among the @8nts with indeterminate thyroid nodules, thérAd GEC identified 174 (51%)
benign and, of these, 71 patients were followediadily for an average of nine months. Of theseatlents, only one cancer was identi
over the course of the study, confirming a high Nf®¥the Afirma GEC of over 95%, which is similar the malignancy risk of a beni
cytopathology result. These findings reaffirm d&tam the initial validation trial published previsly in The New England Journal
Medicine. The study also supports previous findings regardhe clinical utility of the Afirma GEC, as onB% of patients with nodul
identified as benign by our test underwent surgery.

Cost-effectiveness

Costeffectiveness of a Novel Molecular Test for Cytiolaity Indeterminate Thyroid Nodules (Journal ofr@al Endocrinology an
Metabolism, 2011) ©The Endocrine Society*

This clinical study was conducted by reskars from the Johns Hopkins University School afdi¢ine. Supported with a research g
from us, the authors found that use of the GEC matentially avoid almost thref@urths of currently performed surgeries in pasewith
benign nodules but indeterminate cytopathologylteswhich the authors defined to include any rssslispicious for malignancy in additior
AUS/FLUS and SFN/SHN.

Researchers modeled the direct cost sawhgslizing the Afirma GEC in clinical practic8hey developed a 1§ate Markov decisic
model based upon the 2009 American Thyroid AssociaBuidelines for the treatment of adult patienith thyroid nodules with an FN
cytopathology indeterminate diagnosis. The decisimdel was based on clinical validation study rssahd expert opinion though ma
variables necessarily require a substantial degfrgedgment. One million patient simulations weua through the decision model to repre
five years of treatment and folloup for patients who first presented with cytolodlicindeterminate thyroid nodules. Utilization dfet Afirme
GEC yielded an estimated direct cost savings of%3 and an increase of 0.07 quality adjusted léarg, or QALYSs, per patient, a moc
increase in the quality of life. A Monte Carlo silation of 10,000 trials testing the sensitivityadf variables across a range of values result
the Afirma GEC being both less costly and moredtife in improving care quality 92.5% of the tinfeMonte Carlo simulation is the repea
sampling of random outcomes to predict likely ontes. Additionally, the authors found no differericecancers left untreated between
current care paradigm of sending patients with timaeinate nodules to surgery versus clinical okatésa following a benign Afirma GE
result. The authors concluded that if the GEC wterbe universally adopted in routine clinical preetin the United States, every year 1
fewer surgeries would be performed on patients tvithign nodules that cytopathology would have diasisas indeterminate.

* A co-author of this study is a consultant and membeyunfclinical advisory board, and owned shares afammmon stock at the tir
of the study.

* A co-author of this study is a consultant and membeyunfclinical advisory board, and owned shares afammmon stock at the tir
of the study. This study was conducted with thepsuipof institutional research grants by us.
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The cost savings estimate in the Johns kepkodel was based on an estimated 14% rate gésupon a benign Afirma GEC nodt
which rate is almost double the 7.6% and 6.3% gsyealy reported in prior studies published Tihyroid and theJournal of Clinica
Endocrinology and Metabolisi. Based on the rate of surgery on GEC benign nsdeeorted inThyroid, this study found that each Afin
GEC test would save approximately $2,600.

Analytical Validity

Analytical Performance Verification of a Molecul@iagnostic for Cytologyndeterminate Thyroid Nodules (Journal of Clini
Endocrinology and Metabolism, 2012)

This study evaluated the Afirma GEC's &pilo provide a robust, accurate and reproducibtag result on patient samples. The find
showed that the RNA content in an FNA sample thatréserved in our proprietary FNAProtect is stédteup to six days at room tempera
with no changes in RNA yield or quality. Additiohglthe Afirma GEC results were found to be stailer the range of shipping conditic
expected in community practice. Analytic sensitivdtudies demonstrated tolerance to variation irARMNut (5225ng) and to the dilution
malignant FNA material down to 20%. Analytic speaxtf studies using malignant samples mixed withool up to 83% and genomic DNA
to 30% demonstrated negligible assay interferenitie nespect to falseegative results, although benign FNA samples mixil relatively
high proportions of blood demonstrated a poteritialfalsepositive results. The Afirma GEC results were shdwrbe reproducible acrc
operators, runs, reagent lots, and in itéderatory comparisons (standard deviation of 0.ftB&cores on a >6 unit scale), demonstratin
highest level of evidence for analytic validity bdson the Evaluation of Genomic Applications indfice and Prevention, or EGAPP, crite
Analytical sensitivity, analytical specificity, rabtness, and quality control of the Afirma GEC wauecessfully demonstrated.

Machine Learning from Concept to Clinic: ReliableetBction of BRAF V600E DNA Mutations in Thyroid ted Using High-
Dimensional RNA Expression Data (Pacific SymposiarBiocomputing, 2015)

This study, which was sponsored by us apbarted with institutional research grants, denraitsd the analytical and clinical validity
the Afirma BRAF test, one of our Afirma Malignan@jassifiers, and confirms that the RNbased classifier detects the BRAF V600E ¢
mutation with high diagnostic accuracy. In the gtugsearchers evaluated 535 FNA samples usingthetAfirma RNAbased classifier anc
sensitive, standard PCR DNA-based test. The AfiBRAF RNA-based classifier accurately determined the presenabsence of the BR/
V600E gene mutation with equal performance, buhaitower non-diagnostic rate, than the DNA-bagstl {7.6% vs. 24.5%).

Additionally, strong clinical validation ttademonstrating the ability of the Afirma MTC tdstaccurately identify cases of medull
thyroid cancer, which were missed by cytopatholatpne, were presented at the American Associatidlinical Endocrinologists, or AACI
23" Annual Scientific & Clinical Congress in May 20&4d are expected to be published in 2015.

Afirma in Practice Guidelines

We believe inclusion of diagnostic testsclimical practice guidelines is essential to driheir broad adoption and reimbursemen
January 2013, the National Comprehensive Cancendikt or NCCN, modified its thyroid cancer guid&imto recommend that physici
consider molecular testing in lieu of diagnostiegeuy for patients with cytopathology indetermindbsgroid nodules, provided that 1
molecular test predicts a risk of malignancy coraple to the risk of malignancy of a benign cytopify result. Based on publist
evidence, the Afirma GEC meets these criteria.ully 2014, the NCCN further modified its guidelinesinclude the Afirma GEC by nan
Additionally, UpToDate, a leading evidence-basexichl decision support resource for physicianspremended the Afirma GEC in
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its February 2013 review. Finally, based on prelmny American Thyroid Association, or ATA, guidas on the management of thyi
nodules, which were presented in June 2014, we\zelihe Afirma GEC is positioned well as a "rulé¢"dest to meet the ATA's propos
inclusion criteria for using molecular testing telf patients avoid unnecessary surgery followingnaleterminate cytopathology result. -
ATA is expected to finalize its guidelines in 2015.

Afirma Marketing and Sales
Marketing

We employ diverse marketing programs tormf key stakeholders of the value of our Afirmausioh in order to drive adoption a
reimbursement. As part of our marketing strategg, educate physicians, healthcare professionalsnamhged care executives about
unique value proposition, which is supported by atous peereviewed publications demonstrating the analytizal clinical validity, clinice
utility and costeffectiveness of Afirma. We primarily achieve thigough national and regional clinical meetingsued on thyroid ar
endocrine disease and disorders. We also spongmicfen speaker programs and continuing medicata&titn where both academic
community physicians educate their peers on thesfiitenof Afirma. Genzyme jointly participates in romarketing and medical educat
activities.

In May 2014, we introduced a comprehengik@motional campaign targeting endocrinologistsiciwhighlights the patient benefits
Afirma—primarily its ability to help avoid unnecessary genies using information derived from a single FN#cedure. We expanded 1
campaign to focus on a patient audience while $tighlighting the patient experience for physiciafie campaign's centerpie
www.afirma.com, serves as the digital home for drdmound marketing campaign for patients diagnosih a thyroid nodule that includ
paid search, search engine optimization, advegtism physician offices, and outreach to patientcmdey organizations. To support
consumer campaign, a robust physician campaigodes| sales aids, medical conference promotiont, @nich online advertising and direct n
promotion.

Sales

We market our Afirma solution through oueditated specialty sales force and through arooiotion agreement with Genzy
Corporation, which targets the same endocrinologisttomers with Thyrogen. We estimate that appratéfg 3,500 endocrinologis
specialize in thyroid disease and perform FNAsdtednine whether a thyroid nodule is malignantdancer or benign. We also serve ¢
specialists, including radiologists and ENT phyais, who also perform FNAs. We estimate that 60%NAs are collected in the physic
office ambulatory setting and 40% in institutionsdaintegrated delivery networks. In the early yeafscommercialization of Afirma, o
success was attributed to our ability to gain aidopih the ambulatory setting where the physiciloma can make a decision to use Afirme
2014 we refined our "Afirma&nabled" model in institutions, which involves arm@omplex sales process due to the multiple stiéeh
within the institutions that participate in the tdan to adopt Afirma. We believe servicing bothdets is important to our future growth.

We entered 2015 with a significantly expashdeam of 26 sales professionals (versus eightiteabeginning of 2014) that focuses
driving Afirma adoption and GEC test volume amomghbcommunitybased and institutional customers, with the cortthengagement of t
Genzyme sales force. The Genzyme sales force fecmsdead development and ongoing support and era@nte of existing and n
customers. The two teams work hand in hand, teyrltg territory to maximize our penetration ancergton of the business. We have desi
sales goals and financial incentives to align thierests of all sales representatives, regardfessnopany affiliation, to drive Afirma adopti
and growth. In our Amended and Restated U.SP@&onotion Agreement, or Amended Agreement, effeclianuary 2015, we reduced the
we pay to Genzyme from 32% to 15% of Afirma casrereie and invested the savings
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in fees in our expanded internal team. We beliéng rmore robust sales footprint positions us wetl dontinued Afirma growth, particula
with institutional accounts.

In 2014 we entered our first internation@drket in Brazil through a partnership with Fletgalth and Medicine, one of the lar¢
diagnostics organizations in Brazil. Through oureaned ex-U.S. C&romotion Agreement with Genzyme, we anticipatdabolrating o
additional international market entries in 2015.

Our Product Pipeline

We are continuously evaluating substantiainet clinical needs in large, addressable mankgisre we can leverage our molec
cytology platform to commercialize comprehensivéusons that improve quality of life for patienty beducing unnecessary surgeries
costs. Today, minimally invasive cytology biopsa® routinely collected from numerous organs sugltbraast, cervix, endometrium
others. Similar to thyroid and lung, these oftenagate ambiguous results that lead to invasivegolaes including surgery.

We are now applying our proven molecularolngy approach to other disease areas, beginnitiy lung diseases, which are of
challenging to diagnose without surgery or otheagive procedures. The following graphic showspyogress across our product pipeline:

GENOMIC : ; : :
i SIGNATURE | PRODUGCT CGLINIGAL P COMMERCIAL | INTERMATIONAL |
i DISCOVERY + DEVELOPMENT VALIDATION & U5 EXPANSION

ENDOCRINOLOGY { .

Afirma Malignancy Classifiers

PULMONOLOGY
Percepta Lung Cancer EI;':, iéf 2":2?1
IPF

.5, Launch 2016

1 Estimate

]

Developing new products is a lengthy anthiglex process, and is subject to numerous risksumogrtainties. We may not be ablt
commercialize on a timely basis, or at all, produst are developing. If we are not able to do sm,business and our ability to gene
revenue could be harmed.

Pulmonology

Pulmonology represents a significant oppaty for molecular cytology, given the inherentafenges in diagnosing lung cancer and
diseases, which are difficult to access withoutgive procedures.
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Lung Cancer Diagnostic Marki

Lung cancer is the leading cause of cadeaths in the United States, with an estimated@@®4new diagnoses and 160,000 deat
2014. Approximately 250,000 patients with suspetied cancer currently undergo bronchoscopy eaeh iyethe United States to assess
nodules or lesions that are suspicious for lungceanBronchoscopy, a procedure typically perfornmecn outpatient setting, enables
physician to visualize and collect cells from tlaignt's lung airways and is considered safer tithar, more invasive sampling methods, !
as transthoracic needle biopsy, or TTNB, or surgery

Approximately 40% of bronchoscopies prodnoa-diagnostic results, meaning that malignancy mat found—but cannot be ruled -edt
in approximately 100,000 patients each year inlUhged States. This results from difficulty in assig small and/or peripheral nodules 1
bronchoscopy devices. This leaves physicians wi¢hdilemma of whether to direct these patientsutgexy or other invasive procedure:
obtain a diagnosis, which are risky and costlyvatr 20,000 per surgery, or to actively monitor plagients with imaging techniques.

Beginning in early 2015, more than eightlion Americans at highisk for lung cancer are eligible for annual sciagnwith LDCT
through new coverage requirements for private msuas part of the Affordable Care Act, and throMgdicare. This screening requiren
resulted from the National Lung Screening Trialamdmark 2011 government study, which found thatuah screening using newer LD
scans reduced lung cancer deaths by 20% among olgernt and former smokers. These findings hadsemently prompted the U
Preventive Services Task Force to recommend arltD&IT screening for people at high risk of lung candue to their age (from 55
80 years old) and history of smoking the equivatera pack a day for 30 years. While annual scregis expected to save many lives thrc
early detection, it is anticipated to also find madnng nodules that prove to be benign, which lzased concerns that many patients wil
unnecessarily subjected to invasive, risky and esipe procedures just to get a diagnosis.

CT Scan
Reveals Lung Nodula
4
~250.000 Per Year (Today)
Bronchoscopy
I
! 4
=100,000 ( Today)
MNon-Diagnostic
i
CT Surwsillance Invasive
In Liew of Surgery Procadure

A test that could improve the accuracy mfnechoscopy results could help identify patientowahe at low risk of lung cancer and can
avoid unnecessary invasive diagnostic procedurdsamonitored with CT scans instead. We belieeentlirket opportunity for such a tes
between $350 million and $400 million in the Unitgtates, based on the current number of bronch@&scpprformed to evaluate
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lung nodules that are suspicious for cancer. Thembau of patients screened for lung cancer—and thmber of nordiagnosti
bronchoscopies—could expand significantly in theteo to three years as the screening programsrgriemented.

Percepta Bronchial Genomic Classifi

The Percepta Bronchial Genomic Classifiest gene expression test designed to identify itatigith lung nodules who are at low rist
cancer following a nowiagnostic bronchoscopy so that they may be mardtarith CT surveillance without the need for invasprocedures
surgery to obtain a sample from the nodule diredthe test comprises a 2@ne molecular classifier that utilizes “field pjury" technology t
detect molecular changes that occur in the epéhedills lining the lung's respiratory tract inpesse to smoking—the cause of 85% of lung
cancers. These changes can be detected in cytallggiormal airway cells and have been shown teetate with the presence of maligna
or disease processes from distant sites in the [Uinig field of injury genomic technology plays @ykrole in our positioning of Percepta at
point in the clinical pathway following a bronchogpy procedure that yields natiagnostic results. By resolving ambiguity followire
bronchoscopy, we believe our test results can piatBnhelp physicians and patients avoid an invasiurgical procedure as the next ste
achieving diagnostic results.

We estimate that approximately 4,000 phgsi perform bronchoscopies in the United Statéswloich approximately 80% a
pulmonologists. The remaining bronchoscopies aréopaed by thoracic surgeons, general surgeonsodmel subspecialty physicians. M
bronchoscopies are performed in hospitals and thenity of those for lung cancer diagnosis takecelan the hospital outpatient setting.
primary decision maker for Percepta will be thenpahologist, although other physicians involvedhe tiagnostic work#p for lung canct
will also be involved, including the pathologidiptacic surgeon, oncologist and radiologist.

Development of Percepta Bronchial Genomic Clags

We gained Percepta and its underlying teltgy and intellectual property through the acdigai of Allegro. Early work published
Nature Medicinein 2007 demonstrated how gene expression altemifioreytologically normal largairway epithelial cells of current a
former smokers could serve as a lung cancer digign®ercepta was developed using a training sgf8fpatients, a subset of patients enr:
in the AEGIS, or Airway Epithelium Gene Expressianthe Diagnosis of Lung Cancer, trials, designegrospective, observational, col
studies of current and former cigarette smokers Wihg nodules suspicious for cancer, who were rgaieg bronchoscopy as part of tt
diagnostic workdp. Samples were collected at medical centers drthencountry using standard cytopathology brushiohging bronchoscog
The microarraypased gene expression algorithm was derived usémggyassociated with lung cancer and with thredcali covariate:
including gender, tobacco use and smoking histasywell as age, and then applying logistical resjoes modeling techniques to locl
classifier that could accurately predict cancetusta

Clinical Evidence for Percepta
Clinical Validation

The performance of Percepta has been ddratets in studies enrolling over 1,000 patientsrfrmore than 30 centers in domestic
international sites, including two prospective idal validation studies. Results of the first atiali validation study, the AEGIS | study o
cohort of 298 patients, were presented at the ArarrThoracic Society, or ATS, 2014 Internationahfeéoence in May 2014 and demonstri
that the test was highly accurate, with an NPV refger than 90%, in identifying patients at lovkrdd lung cancer following a nodiagnostir
bronchoscopy result. In the study, all patientsenilowed longitudinally to the point of diagnosié either primary lung cancer, us
pathology results as
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the gold standard, or benign disease. The secditthtran study, AEGIS I, involved 341 patients ad€monstrated similar results. We ex|
these data will be presented at a scientific mgdtin2015. Data from the combined AEGIS | and AEISlinical validation studies, alol
with data describing the algorithm's developmert iaitial clinical validation, are expected to hébmitted for publication in 2015.

Additional Evidence Development

Analytical verification studies are undeywt document the robust laboratory process traresfefrom Allegro to Veracyte's CLI
laboratory. We plan to build out the remaining boaly evidence to demonstrate how the test changegall care decisions once
commercialize the test by mid-2015. Finally, we dnawst-effectiveness studies underway to demopdtnattest's value to payers.

Practice Guideline:

Several existing guidelines cover the managnt of patients undergoing a diagnostic workupldag cancer. In 2013, the Americ
College of Chest Physicians, or ACCP, released cengmsive guidelines for the diagnosis and manageaidung cancer, updating their 2(
guidelines. NCCN also publishes guidelines for leagcer screening and management of sraal cell lung cancer and small cell lung car
These guidelines are updated on a more frequert. lBxsth organizations' recommendations advise banato proceed to a biopsy. Howe
there is little guidance on what to do after a dagnostic bronchoscopy. Our internal research estgghat physicians vary widely in how t
proceed with these patients. For example, somei@amgs take all of these patients to surgery or BT While others are more conservative
place them on CT surveillance. ACCP guidelines laondiagnostic patients at an intermediate risk of grahcy, thus implying th
pulmonologists should treat these patients as theyld any other intermediatésk patient. Current guidelines, however, do naoivjie
definitive guidance on what to do for this groupe Welieve that Percepta can change this diagnpati&adigm by offering evidendaase:
medicine to further guide how to manage "intermtedissk" patients, identifying those who are at lowkrifor lung cancer so they can
followed with CT surveillance rather than movingtoradditional invasive diagnostic procedures.

Marketing and Sale

We plan to enter the market with a smaligéted pulmonary product specialist field foraeder the Percepta Early Access Program, \
we complete the remaining studies needed to buildaor library of evidence. Once these studiesamapleted and published in paewviewe(
journals, we will pursue coverage decisions by Mardk as well as commercial payers. We plan toalhjtiarget sites with high volumes
bronchoscopies for lung cancer, both in acadermdccammunity settings.

Similar to our approach with Afirma, theygitians will collect the samples for Perceptahatdame time that the original bronchosco
conducted. This approach will help ensure that éfgecfits smoothly into physicians' workflow, mingimg complexity for our customers &
optimizing utilization of our test to maximize penit benefit and cost savings.

Interstitial Lung Diseases Diagnostic Marlk

The market for an ILD diagnostic, and patarly IPF, represents another large opportumitymprove preoperative diagnosis, helpin
reduce the need for unnecessary invasive procedurkassociated costs. The physician specialigiubtPF product is also the pulmonolog
leveraging our pulmonology channel which we plaerter this year with Percepta.

IPF is the most common and most deadly fafmLD, a diagnostic category comprising more th2@0 diverse lung disorde
characterized by progressive scarring of the luAgsestimated 175,000 to 200,000 patients in thgddrStates and major European coun
present with suspected ILDs each
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year. IPF and other ILDs are often similar in syomp$ and appearance, making them challenging faipiays to distinguish from each oth

This uncertainty can result in incorrectnoissed diagnoses; invasive, risky and expensiagndistic surgeries costing over $40,00(C
surgery; and/or suboptimal treatment. In additjpatjents diagnosed with IPF who actually have aemtlessserious ILD could be erroneou
told that they have a deadly disease with a venr poognosis and may be subjected to inadequat®mpdtentially harmful treatment. T
need for improved IPF diagnosis is increasinglyantgnt with the recent availability of new therapfer IPF in the United States and Eurt
pirfenidone and nintedanib, that slow IPF prog@ssand with numerous additional drugs under derent with the potential to slow
reverse IPF-related lung damage.

IPF diagnosis is typically made by a mustiiplinary team, or MDT, comprised of pulmonoldgisradiologists and pathologists, base
a thorough clinical work-up combined with the prase of a specific pattern called usual interstiiaeumonia, or UIP, from higtesolutiot
computed tomography, or HRCT, or from a pathologagdosis made from a tissue sample collected frosargical procedure. These |
patterns are often difficult to distinguish, anae\experienced radiologists and pathologists magaaiee on the diagnosis. Additionally, m
patients live in areas where an MDT is not avadabVhen an IPF diagnosis is uncertain by HRCT, ribagc surgery is considered the |
approach; however, lung surgery is invasive, riskgl expensive and many patients are too sick tergodsurgery.

A genomic test that could resolve diagmoathbiguity found in the majority of patients pnetiieg with potential IPF or another ILD col
enable many patients to be diagnosed and treafd@pately, sooner, and without the need for dasgic surgery. Our research suggests
clinicians see the need for a genomic test thatdcprovide greater confidence in making an IPF threo ILD diagnosis. We estimate
addressable market for our IPF test to be over $50in in the United States and Europe.

Our IPF Test

We are developing a molecular test to emddsinvasive, more accurate and less costly diagnddiBeusing cytology samples obtait
through bronchoscopy. Our IPF test is intendecefdace diagnostic surgery by providing valuablgective information that will enable t
MDT to make more accurate diagnoses earlier. Weaxp launch our test in 2016.

Our molecular classifier is designed tantifg patients with pathology patterns that corsp with IPF versus those typically associ
with other ILDs. In May 2014, we presented preliarin data at the ATS 2014 International Conferenemahstrating the ability of o
molecular classifier, developed using a whgéome approach and microarray and deep RNA and Bétfuencing on tissue samples
accurately distinguish IPF from other ILDs. We aosv optimizing the test for use on bronchoscopysam

To this end, we are working with more ti#nclinical sites in the United States and intéomatlly to prospectively collect hundreds
patient samples for use in developing—and latewaldating—eur test under our BRAVE protocols. Our intent asabtain samples tt
represent all types of cases and associated dlaricentations, which we believe our classifier widl exposed to once commercialized. We
formed a "virtual" MDT of worldrenowned experts in pulmonology, radiology and plaipy to establish "clinical truth" against whicleare
developing and measuring our test's performanceeMpect to present initial clinical data demonsgtigathe performance of our IPF test
bronchoscopy samples at a scientific meeting irb201
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Third-party Relationships
Genzyme

We began our co-promotion partnership V@dmzyme, a subsidiary of Sanofi, in January 2012)scuting a c@romotion agreemel
Genzyme is an established leader in endocrinoldglatly, developing and commercializing Thyrogehy¢btropin alfa for injection) in tt
United States and over 42 countries worldwide. dbgn is an adjunctive diagnostic agent used ioiolip of patients with well differentiat
thyroid cancer, and an adjunctive treatment foatidnh or destruction of thyroid remnants in patsewho have had their thyroid removed for
treatment of wellifferentiated thyroid cancer. We manage the retethip through a steering committee that overseesin tactical ar
strategic planning activities.

Under the 2012 agreement, Genzyme paid$iOd@ million upfront fee and we are required &y Genzyme a co promotion fee that
equal to a percentage of our U.S. cash receipis fhe sale of the Afirma GEC test, which fee vameer time. We record the Genzyme co
promotion fees, net of amortization related toup&ont fee, within selling and marketing expenselr statements of operations.

On November 7, 2014, we signed an AmenadedRestated U.S. CBromotion Agreement, or Amended Agreement. UnderAimende
Agreement, the cpromotion fees payable to Genzyme as a percenfddeSo cash receipts from the sale of the Afirmad3Est were reduc
from 32% to 15% beginning January 1, 2015, andetlitiest either party may terminate the AmendedeAgrent for convenience is July
2016. Our Amended Agreement with Genzyme expireaiuary 2027.

On February 13, 2015, we entered into atUEX Co-Promotion Agreement, or Ex-U.S. Agreemeiitth Genzyme for the cexclusive
promotion of the Afirma GEC test in two countriastgide the United States: Brazil and Singapore.alge granted Genzyme, for a limi
period of time, an exclusive right of first negdita to enter into an agreement with us for thenpstion of the Afirma GEC test in thr
additional countries: Canada, the Netherlands taigl IFurther, upon mutual agreement, the partiag atd additional countries (other than
United States) to the Ex-U.S. Agreement. The tefrthe ExU.S. Agreement commenced January 1, 2015 and cestiontil December &
2019 with extension of the agreement possible wagreement of the parties. Country specific term&hzeen established under the B8
Agreement for Brazil and Singapore. Pursuant tsaherms, we will pay Genzyme 25% of cash recéipta the sale of the Afirma GEC t
in Brazil and Singapore over a fiyear period commencing January 1, 2015. Beginmirthe fourth year of the agreement, if we termiria¢
agreement for convenience with respect to Brazlmay be required to pay a termination fee contihga the number of GEC billable res
generated. This will give us optionality to drivemmodels in each market and more efficiently s$iglithe foundation of an international bre
presence, retaining our Genzyme relationship irketarthat make sense.

TCP

We rely on Thyroid Cytopathology Partnd?sA. to provide cytopathology professional diagsose thyroid FNA samples pursuant
pathology services agreement. We originally enténéal the pathology services agreement in Noven20410 with Brazos Valley Patholog
P.A. D/B/A Reitpath, which assigned the contractTGP in May 2011. In December 2012, we further aseeinthe pathology servic
agreement. Pursuant to the agreement, as amenéld] INCP has the exclusive right to provide thgopathology diagnoses on FNA sam|
that are referred to us as part of the Afirma sotutt a fixed price per test with volume discoumt€P can terminate the agreement upor
failure to pay any amounts due under the conteaud, either we or TCP can terminate the agreemeont the insolvency of the other pa
breach of the agreement by the other party, terioimaor breach of the service terms or the suspensr termination of the necess
regulatory licenses and approvals needed to perfbenFNA diagnoses. TCP is @meated in a portion of our facilities in AustineXas an
reimburses us for a portion of our actual oupotket rental and related operating expense c@sis.agreement with TCP is effective u
December 31, 2015 and thereafter automaticallywsnevery year unless either party provides notfcentent not to renew at least twe
months prior to the end of the then-current term.
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Reimbursement

Revenue for Afirma Thyroid FNA Analysis cemfrom several sources, including commercial thady payers, such as insura
companies and health maintenance organizationsergment payers, such as Medicare and Medicaid, patints. We believe tt
reimbursement for our lung products will be derifemn similar sources but with a greater proporttmming from Medicare and potentic
Medicaid due to the age of the patient population.

Payer Landscape for Afirmi

Reimbursement for Afirma is comprised ofopathology, the GEC and/or the Malignancy Classifiwhen these tests are performe
part of our comprehensive solution. To date, a Ingitentage of FNA samples received are accessfonaytopathology and for which \
bill both the technical and professional componasing established CPT codes. Under our "Afiremabled” model, which is us
predominantly by our institutional customers, reurgdement is sought for the Afirma GEC and/or thdigancy Classifiers. We bill paye
directly for the GEC and the Malignancy Classifiesing either a unique code or a miscellaneous.code

Effective January 2012, Palmetto GBA, thgional Medicare administrative contractor, or MABat handled claims processing
Medicare services with jurisdiction at that timssuied coverage and payment determinations for B@. Gheir review determined that
Afirma GEC met their criteria for analytical andnital validity, and clinical utility as a reasoraband necessary Medicare benefit.
coverage decision provided approximately 50 milladicare participants with access to the AfirmaGGH mid-September 2013, Noridi
Administrative Services succeeded Palmetto as tA€ Nor our region. Noridian continues to reimbursgder our unique Z code origing
established by Palmetto. On a five year rotatidizesis, Medicare requests bids for its regional Mg&@vices. Any future changes in the M
processing or coding for Medicare claims for thérsAf GEC or for future products could result inteege in the coverage or reimburser
rates for such products, or the loss of coverage.

Collectively, as of March 2015, we have Hiflion lives under positive medical coverage pi@s for the Afirma GEC including fro
Medicare (January 2012) and leading commercialr@rsyincluding UnitedHealthcare (April 2013), Aat@dune 2013), Humana (July 20:
Cigna (December 2013) and several leading BluesCaosl/or Blue Shield plans, including Highmark, idon Blue Cross, and Blue Shielc
California (all 2014). We have nearly 100 milliduds under contract for the Afirma GEC, which eltdies us as an inetwork provider ar
helps facilitate adoption. However, payers may sodpor discontinue reimbursement at any time, neayire or increase qeayments fror
patients, or may reduce the reimbursement ratebstpais. Any such actions could have a negativecefin our revenue.

Dependence on Certain Thirparty Payers

We rely on a small number of thjpdsty payers for a significant portion of our remenReimbursement on behalf of patients covere
Medicare accounted for 26%, 32% and 34% of our megefor the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 28@, respectivel
UnitedHealthcare accounted for 18%, 18% and 12%uofrevenue for the years ended December 31, 20148 and 2012, respectively. Ae
accounted for 11%, 9% and 13% of our revenue ®ydars ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 20p2ctesly. The loss of one or more
these payers would have a negative effect on osinbss and our revenue.
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Reimbursement Stratec
We employ a multi-pronged strategy desigioegichieve broad coverage and reimbursement fotests:

. Meet the Evidence Standards Necessary to Be Censisith Leading Clinical Guidelines.We believe inclusion in leadi
clinical practice guidelines plays a critical ratepayers' coverage decisions. The data publisineth® Afirma GEC to date
consistent with the recommendations of the widelyegnized NCCN clinical practice guidelines. Wdidse that our da
provides compelling evidence for inclusion in thenérican Thyroid Association and the American Asatieh of Clinica
Endocrinologists guidelines as well.

. Execute an Internal Managed Care and Claims Adjatiii Function as Part of Our Core Business Openagi\We believe th:
obtaining adequate and widespread reimbursememtigtical factor in our long-term success. We ey team of irhoust
claims processing and reimbursement specialists wubrdk with payers, physician practices and patig¢at®btain maximur
reimbursement. In parallel, a managed care teatabmyhtes with our reimbursement specialists taiensur payer outrea
strategy reacts and anticipates the changing nefedsr customer base. Our customer service teaam igtegral part of ol
reimbursement strategy, working with physician ficas and patients to navigate the claims process.

. Cultivate a Network of Key Opinion Leader&ey opinion leaders are able to influence clihjmactice by publishing reseal
and determining whether new tests should be intedriato practice guidelines. We collaborate widly lopinion leaders early
the development process to ensure our clinicaliesugire designed and executed in a way that cleartyonstrates the bene
of our tests to physicians and payers. Ongoingiesud support real world experience with our testsa key component of «
efforts to maintain collaborations with physiciafliencers.

. Compile a Growing Library of Peer-reviewed Studikat Demonstrate the Test Is Effectivdo date, several peesviewel
articles and review papers have been published teavé helped support our efforts aimed at widespraa@option an
reimbursement of Afirma. In each disease area wsugy we intend to conduct studies in order to igveimilar supportin
literature.

Research and Development
Our technology platform offers a numbekey attributes, which are applicable to Afirma, ¢&mata and our subsequent products:

. Core Expertise in Broad-based Genomic Analyst3ur team of bioinformatics and computational stif#s possess extens
knowledge of both existing computational methodswesdl as the capacity to develop proprietary methed needed f
algorithm design. We demonstrated our ability tkensense of large amounts of genomic data with madbarning algorithn
in the development of the GEC.

. Proprietary Capabilities in Analyzing Small, Hetgemeous Cytology Samplesie have developed proprietary technol
intellectual property and knowew for optimized methods for extraction and analg$ nanogram quantities of RNA from sn
biopsy samples. Although others can extract RNAnftbese small biopsies, we believe their processbaibeen optimized a
scaled for high-throughput clinical testing andyscale clinical development studies involving anigdifion and hybridizatic
to high-density microarrays. Our process uses commeraatylable reagents and instruments with our owpipetary proces
and protocols, which results in RNA extraction frahe range of FNAs used in our clinical developmstudies and o
commercial laboratory test.
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. Precision and Reproducibility.We have in place standard operating proceduresrgimg reagents, materials, instruments
controls and extensive experience from numerousication studies performed for the GEC. We arelgipg the same high-
quality control methods that were developed for magents and processes, along with our propristftyvare for automatio
sample tracking, data quality control and statédtanalysis, to our development process in inté&btung disease and expec
do so for other diseases in the future.

. Technology Agnostic Discovery PlatformWe are not reliant on specific formats and ale &btake advantage of a multitude
genomic technologies in developing future tests.ewive developed the GEC in 2008, microarray tedyiet were a cost-
effective discovery technology compared to otheprapches that were nascent at the time. More rgcehe rapid cot
reductions achieved in next generation sequendsifppns has allowed us to pursue our whole genapproach to biomark
discovery using a range of technologies, includjage expression and DNA methylation, as well as KA RNA sequencing.

Laboratory Operations

Our laboratory operations are headquartatesur CLIA<certified laboratory in South San Francisco, Cafifa, where we perform
Afirma GEC testing and plan to perform our Percefisting and subsequent tests in pulmonology. Qustomers ship samples
cytopathology assessment to our Clidgistered laboratory in Austin, Texas. Once resgivsamples are processed through our auto
accessioning system, prepared for cytopathologyewevand delivered to TCP for cytopathology diageo$f cytopathology results &
indeterminate, the sample is transferred to SoathFSancisco where we perform GEC testing. Ingbitistand other clients using our Afirma-
enabled model ship the samples for Afirma GEC antlle Afirma Malignancy Classifiers directly to o8outh San Francisco laboratt
Percepta samples will be shipped directly to Sds#im Francisco. Our South San Francisco facilityesponsible for quality assurai
oversight, licensing and regulation compliance araintenance for both of our laboratories to enslaa integrity and consistent, valide
processes.

We believe we have sufficient laboratorpagity to process Afirma tests, including our Afarialignancy Classifiers, as well as Perc
and our IPF test.

Quality Assurance

Our quality assurance function overseesqtinity of our laboratories as well as the quasifistems used in research and developi
client services, billing operations and sales aratketing. We have established a quality systememphtation and maintenance, docur
control, supplier qualification, corrective or pestive actions oversight, and employee trainingesses that we believe achieves exceller
operations across the entire business. We contstyiononitor and improve our quality over time angliéve our implementation of the
processes has supported our achievement of prqmerédrmance, customer satisfaction and retentioth anphilosophy of continuo
improvement.

Competition

We believe the principal competitive fastar the thyroid cancer market include:

. quality and strength of clinical validation andityidata;

. confidence in diagnostic results backed by ouryditall verification data;
. the extent of reimbursement;

. inclusion in practice guidelines;

. cost-effectiveness; and
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. ease of use.
We believe we compete favorably on thedactiescribed above with our Afirma solution.

Our principal competition for Afirma comfrem traditional methods used by physicians to dasg thyroid cancer. Practice guideline
the United States have historically recommendetpatients with indeterminate diagnoses from cytioplagy results be considered for sur¢
to remove all or part of the thyroid to rule ouncar. This practice has been the standard of cathei United States, as well as in m
international markets, for many years, and we mékd to educate physicians about the benefitsralestiin order to change clinical practice.

We also face competition from commercidbdatories, such as Laboratory Corporation of AnzerHoldings, Quest Diagnost
Incorporated and Sonic Healthcare USA with strarfgastructure to support the commercialization iafgdostic services. We face poter
competition from companies such as Illumina, Imed @hermo Fisher Scientific Inc., both of which Bannounced their intention to enter
clinical diagnostics market. Other potential contped include companies that develop diagnostioddpets, such as Roche Diagnostic
division of Roche Holding Ltd, Siemens AG, QiagervNand Rosetta Genomics Ltd. We also face conipetftom companies and acade
institutions that use next generation sequencingnelogy or other methods to measure mutationakenarsuch as BRAF and KRAS alc
with numerous other mutations. In the future, weyraso face competition from companies developiew products or technologies that
able to compete with Afirma'’s high negative pradevalue to rule out cancer.

With Percepta, we anticipate facing potdrdompetition from the companies and institutibsied above, but additionally from compar
developing approaches for assessing malignancyimigsatients with lung nodules using alternativengkes, such as blodohsed tests
sputums, which are performed early in the diagngsradigm.

Competitors may develop their own versiohsur solution in countries where we do not haaéepts or where our intellectual prop:
rights are not recognized and compete with usdsdtcountries, including encouraging the use of Hwdution by physicians in other countri

Many of our potential competitors have vgideead brand recognition and substantially grefib@ncial, technical and research
development resources and selling and marketinghiigies than we do. Others may develop produdtis prices lower than ours that could
viewed by physicians and payers as functionallyivedent to our solution, or offer solutions at mscdesigned to promote market penetre
which could force us to lower the list price of @aolutions and affect our ability to achieve pratfility. If we are unable to change clini
practice in a meaningful way or compete successhghinst current and future competitors, we maymeble to increase market accepti
and sales of our products, which could preventramfincreasing our revenue or achieving profitépiind could cause our stock price
decline. As we add new tests and services, wefag# many of these same competitive risks for thesetests.

Intellectual Property

In order to remain competitive, we mustelep and maintain protection of the proprietaryezs$p of our technologies. To that end, we
on a combination of patents, copyrights and tradksaas well as contracts, such as confidentialityention assignment and licens
agreements. We also rely upon trade secret lapsotect unpatented knotvaw and continuing technological innovation. In iéidd, we haw
what we consider to be reasonable security measnrptace to maintain confidentiality. Our inteltaal property strategy is intended
develop and maintain our competitive position.

We have five issued patents which expitevben 2029 and 2032 related to methods used iAfimpa diagnostic platform, in addition
seven pending U.S. utility patent applications, ti&. provisional applications and one PCT applicatSome of these U.S. utility pat
applications have
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pending foreign counterparts. We also exclusivielgrised intellectual property, including rightstioee pending U.S. utility patent applicati
in the thyroid space that would expire between 283@ 2033 once issued, related to methods thatsae in the Afirma diagnostic test, sc
of which have foreign counterparts.

In the lung diagnostic space, we exclugiVieensed intellectual property rights to 19 pewgdpatent applications and two issued patet
the United States and abroad. Patents issuing thhenficensed portfolio will expire between 2024 &t28. In addition, we own four pend
patent applications, a PCT application, and a gioxal U.S. application related to our lung cartest under development, Percepta, as w:
a PCT application and two provisional U.S. applara related to our interstitial lung disease taster development. Any patents granted |
the current lung cancer patent applications wipiex from 2032 to 2034 and those from the int@adtiting disease patent applications
expire from 2034 to 2036.

We intend to file additional patent applioas in the United States and abroad to strengtiuenntellectual property rights; however,
patent applications (including the patent applaagi listed above) may not result in issued patiengstimely fashion or at all, and we car
assure investors that any patents that have issuetght issue will protect our technology. We nrageive notices of claims of poten
infringement from third parties in the future.

We hold registered trademarks in the Unigtdtes for "Veracyte" and "Afirma,” and the Ver@cynd Afirma logos. We also hi
registered trademarks in various jurisdictions iolet®f the United States.

We require all employees and technical atiasts working for us to execute confidentialireements, which provide that all confider
information received by them during the coursehef €émployment, consulting or business relationbkixept confidential, except in specil
circumstances. Our agreements with our researcHogegs provide that all inventions, discoveries atiter types of intellectual propel
whether or not patentable or copyrightable, corexivy the individual while he or she is employedubyare assigned to us. We cannot prc
any assurance, however, that employees and comsultall abide by the confidentiality or assignmeatms of these agreements. Des
measures taken to protect our intellectual propertauthorized parties might copy aspects of athrtelogy or obtain and use information
we regard as proprietary.

Regulation
Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments of 198&, CLIA

As a clinical reference laboratory, we erguired to hold certain federal, state and loicainses, certifications and permits to conduc
business. Under CLIA, we are required to hold difceate applicable to the type of laboratory exaations we perform and to comply w
standards covering personnel, facilities adminiistna quality systems and proficiency testing.

We have current certificates under CLIAp&rform testing at each of our locations. To reroew CLIA certificates, we are subject
survey and inspection every two years to assespl@me with program standards. The regulatory @mdpliance standards applicable to
testing we perform may change over time, and ach shanges could have a material effect on ounkessi

If one of our clinical reference laboragésriis out of compliance with CLIA requirements, way be subject to sanctions sucl
suspension, limitation or revocation of our CLIArtificate, as well as directed plan of correcti@bate onsite monitoring, civil mone
penalties, civil injunctive suit or criminal periek. We must maintain CLIA compliance and certiiima to be eligible to bill for diagnos
services provided to Medicare beneficiaries. Ifware to be found out of compliance with CLIA re@urents and subjected to sanction,
business could be harmed.
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U.S. Food and Drug Administration: Diagnostic Kits

Diagnostic kits, including collection syste, which are sold and distributed through intéestammerce are regulated as medical de
by the FDA. Devices subject to FDA regulation mustlergo premarket review prior to commercializatiorless the device is of a ty
exempted from such review. In addition, manufactigé medical devices must comply with various tatpry requirements under the Fed
Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or FDC Act, and impdating regulations promulgated under that Actitiestthat fail to comply with FD.
requirements may be subject to issuance of nofiabservations, untitled or warning letters, and ba liable for criminal or civil penaltie
such as recalls, import detentions, seizures,jonations, including orders to cease manufacturing.

The FDC Act classifies medical devices iot@ of three categories based on the risks assdoth the device and the level of con
necessary to provide reasonable assurance of safdtgffectiveness. Class | devices are deemed tovb risk and are subject to the fev
regulatory controls. Many Class | devices are exefrgzm FDA premarket review requirements. For Clhsdevices, the FDA genera
requires clearance through the premarket notificator 510(k) clearance process. Class Il devécesggenerally the highest risk devices ani
subject to the highest level of regulatory contooprovide reasonable assurance of the devicessysaid effectiveness. Class Il devices t
typically be approved by the FDA before they arekated.

Generally, establishments that manufactmredistribute devices, including manufacturers, ackagers and relabelers, specifice
developers, and initial importers, are requiredeister their establishments with the FDA and texthe FDA a list of the devices that t
handle at their facilities.

After a device is placed on the market, atons regulatory requirements apply. These inclatlef the relevant elements of the Que
System Regulation, or QSR, labeling regulationstrigtions on promotion and advertising, the Mellidavice Reporting regulation (whi
requires that manufacturers report to the FDA édirtldevice may have caused or contributed to ahdeaserious injury or malfunctioned il
way that would likely cause or contribute to a tie@t serious injury if it were to recur), and thed®rts of Corrections and Removals regul:
(which requires manufacturers to report certaimlts@nd field actions to the FDA).

The FDA has issued a regulation outlinipgcific requirements for "specimen transport amdagte containers." "Specimen transport
storage containers" are medical devices "intendexbitain biological specimens, body waste, or bexlydate during storage and transpor
that the specimen can be used effectively for diao examination. A specimen transport and stocaggainer is a Class | device. It is suk
to MDR requirements, the reporting of correctionsl @amovals, registration and listing. It is exerfipim premarket review and from Q
requirements, except for recordkeeping and complandling requirements, so long as no steriligimmk are made. Our facility is registe
with the FDA as a specification developer, whichem&that we can sell the collection system undepaun name and outline the specificati
used to make the collection system, but a thirdypassembles the collection system for us. Theainet we provide for collection a
transport of FNA samples from a physician to oumical reference laboratory is listed with the F@8 a Class | medical device and is sul
to regulation by the FDA. We also plan to list @ample collection containers for use with our lwagcer and IPF tests with the FDA
Class | medical devices. If the FDA were to detemrthat our sample collection containers are afGlasedical device, we would be requi
to obtain FDA clearance to use the container.

The FDA enforces the requirements descriddeal/e by various means, including inspection amadket surveillance. If the FDA finds
violation, it can institute a wide variety of enfement actions, ranging from an Untitled Lettek\Marning Letter to more severe sanctions
as:

. fines, injunctions, and civil penalties;

. recall or seizure of products;
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. operating restrictions, partial suspension or tsitaitdown of production; and

. criminal prosecution.
Federal Oversight of Laboratory Developed Tests d&eksearch Use Only Products

Clinical laboratory tests like Afirma aregulated under CLIA, as administered by the Ceriterdedicare & Medicaid Services, or C\
as well as by applicable state laws. Clinical |albory tests that are developed and validated laparatory for its own use, which are refe
to as laboratory developed tests, or LDTSs, curyeate generally not subject to FDA regulation, althh reagents, instruments, softwar
components provided by third parties and used tiopa LDTs may be subject to regulation. We belidvat the Afirma GEC is an LDT. FC
currently exercises its enforcement discretion f@Ts. In October 2014, the FDA published draft guide documents describing
framework by which they might regulate LDTs. Thanfrework is similar to the guidance they issued iptesty. The comment period endel
February 2015. There is no timeframe in which tB&mnust issue final guidance documents.

Some of the materials we use for Afirma #rat we may use for future products, such as P&care for research use only, or RUO
RUO product is not intended for human clinical asel must be labeled "For Research Use Only. Natigerin diagnostic procedures.” RLU
are a separate regulatory category and are notdesad medical devices. They are therefore notestitip the FDA regulatory requireme
discussed above. They cannot make any claims defatsafety, effectiveness, or diagnostic utilitybe intended for human clinical diagno
or prognostic use. In November 2013, the FDA isspgidance regarding "Commercially DistributedMitro Diagnostic Products Labeled
Research Use Only or Investigational Use Only."

We cannot predict the ultimate form or imipaf any such RUO, LDT or other guidance and theeptial effect on our solutions
materials used to perform our diagnostic servigéisie we qualify all materials used in our diagnoservices according to CLIA regulatio
we cannot be certain that the FDA might not proratdgules or issue guidance documents that cofddtadur ability to purchase materi
necessary for the performance of our diagnosticices. Should any of the reagents obtained by ars frendors and used in conducting
diagnostic services be affected by future regwasmtions, our business could be adversely affelsyethose actions, including increasing
cost of service or delaying, limiting or prohibiithe purchase of reagents necessary to perforsethece.

We cannot provide any assurance that Falation, including premarket review, will not bequired in the future for our diagno:
services, whether through additional guidance gulations issued by the FDA, new enforcement pedicadopted by the FDA or n
legislation enacted by Congress. Legislative prafsoaddressing oversight of LDTs were introducedeitent years, and we expect that
legislative proposals will be introduced from tinmetime. It is possible that legislation could beaeted into law or regulations or guida
could be issued by the FDA which may result in revincreased regulatory requirements for us toinastto offer our diagnostic services
to develop and introduce new services.

If premarket review, including approvalréjuired, our business could be negatively afteatail such review is completed and clear:
to market or approval is obtained, and the FDA dawquire that we stop selling our diagnostic sEwipending premarket clearanc
approval. If our diagnostic services are allowedeimain on the market but there is uncertainty abiwailegal status of our services, if we
required by the FDA to label them investigatioral,if labeling claims the FDA allows us to make &mited, order levels may decline ¢
reimbursement may be adversely affected. The regylprocess may involve, among other things, ssefcdly completing additional clinic
studies and submitting a premarket notificatioffilorg a PMA application with the FDA. If premarkegview is required by the FDA, there
be no assurance that our diagnostic services wittlbared or approved on a timely basis, if atradl, can there any be assurance that lak
claims will be consistent with our current clainrs o
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adequate to support continued adoption of and ngisgiment for our solution. Ongoing compliance VADA regulations would increase

cost of conducting our business, and subject ubeightened requirements of the FDA and penaltiesfddure to comply with the:
requirements. We may also decide voluntarily tosparFDA premarket review of our diagnostic servi€ege determine that doing so wo
be appropriate.

Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Ac

Under the federal Health Insurance Poritgtdind Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, thedpartment of Health and Human Servi
or HHS, has issued regulations to protect the pyivand security of protected health informationduse disclosed by health care provid
such as us. HIPAA also regulates standardizatiodath content, codes and formats used in health tcansactions and standardizatio
identifiers for health plans and providers. Peralfor violations of HIPAA regulations include digind criminal penalties.

We have developed and implemented poliaies procedures designed to comply with these régota The requirements under th
regulations may change periodically and could heveffect on our business operations if complidrmasomes substantially more costly t
under current requirements.

In addition to federal privacy regulatiorieere are a number of state laws governing confidity of health information that &
applicable to our business. The U.S. DepartmenCofmmerce, the European Commission and the Swissréle®ata Protection a
Information Commissioner have agreed on a set td geotection principles and frequently asked daast referred to as the Safe Hal
Principles, to enable U.S. companies to satisfy réguirement under European Union and Swiss law ddaquate protection is given
personal information transferred from the Europdaion or Switzerland to the United States. The [paem Commission and Switzerland
also recognized the Safe Harbor Principles as giogiadequate data protection.

New laws governing privacy may be adoptedhe future as well. We have taken steps to comapthh health information privac
requirements to which we are aware that we areestidfiowever, we can provide no assurance thatrev@rawill remain in compliance wi
diverse privacy requirements in all of the jurigiins in which we do business. Failure to complthvarivacy requirements could result in ¢
or criminal penalties, which could have a mateyialilverse effect on our business.

Federal and State Physician Self-referral Prohitoiis

We are subject to the federal physiciarf-iderral prohibitions, commonly known as the Sthew, and to similar restrictions unt
California's Physician Ownership and Referral Amt,PORA. Together these restrictions generally ipiblus from billing a patient or a
governmental or private payer for any diagnostiwises when the physician ordering the servicegmyr member of such physician's immec
family, has an investment interest in or compensagirrangement with us, unless the arrangemensraaatxception to the prohibition.

Both the Stark Law and PORA contain an pkoa for compensation paid to a physician for pee services rendered by the physic
We have compensation arrangements with a numbhgnyaficians for personal services, such as speakigggements and consulting activit
We have structured these arrangements with terteadad to comply with the requirements of the peait@ervices exception to Stark .
PORA.

However, we cannot be certain that reguateould find these arrangements to be in compdiamith Stark, PORA or similar state la
We would be required to refund any payments weiveqaursuant to a referral prohibited by these ltvthe patient, the payer or the Medic
program, as applicable.
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Sanctions for a violation of the Stark Liselude the following:

. denial of payment for the services provided in &iimin of the prohibition;

. refunds of amounts collected by an entity in violatof the Stark Law;

. a civil penalty of up to $15,000 for each servideiag out of the prohibited referral;

. possible exclusion from federal healthcare progranctuding Medicare and Medicaid; and

. a civil penalty of up to $100,000 against parthest £nter into a scheme to circumvent the Starkd.avohibition.

These prohibitions apply regardless of rdsons for the financial relationship and therrafeNo finding of intent to violate the St:
Law is required for a violation. In addition, knowgi violations of the Stark Law may also serve a&shtasis for liability under the Federal Fi
Claims Act.

Further, a violation of PORA is a misdenmmaand could result in civil penalties and crimifiaks. Finally, other states have selferra
restrictions with which we have to comply that diffrom those imposed by federal and California. l&vhile we have attempted to com
with the Stark Law, PORA and similar laws of otts¢ates, it is possible that some of our financighregements with physicians could
subject to regulatory scrutiny at some point infilteirre, and we cannot provide assurance that Webeifound to be in compliance with thi
laws following any such regulatory review.

Federal and State Anti-kickback Laws

The Federal health care program Aitkback Law makes it a felony for a person or tgntincluding a laboratory, to knowingly a
willfully offer, pay, solicit or receive remunerati, directly or indirectly, in order to induce busss that is reimbursable under any fes
health care program. A violation of the Akickback Law may result in imprisonment for up teefyears and fines of up to $250,000 in
case of individuals and $500,000 in the case oamimations. Convictions under the Aktekback Law result in mandatory exclusion fi
federal health care programs for a minimum of fj@rs. In addition, HHS has the authority to imposdél assessments and fines an
exclude health care providers and others engagguohibited activities from Medicare, Medicaid anther federal health care progra
Actions which violate the Antikickback Law also incur liability under the FedeFallse Claims Act, which prohibits knowingly preseg, ol
causing to be presented, a false or fraudulenndai payment to the U.S. Government.

Although the Antkickback Law applies only to federal health caregpams, a number of states, including Californaépassed statu
substantially similar to the Ankickback Law pursuant to which similar types of lpititions are made applicable to all other healting an
third- party payers. Both California's fee-splitfistatute, Business and Professions Code Sectiynaffel its Medi-Cal antiickback statut:
Welfare and Institutions Code Section 14107.2, Haeen interpreted by the California Attorney Geharal California courts in substantie
the same way as HHS and the courts have interptegedntikickback Law. A violation of Section 650 is punisite by imprisonment ai
fines of up to $50,000. A violation of Section 1Z1Dis punishable by imprisonment and fines ofa$10,000.

Federal and state law enforcement autlesricrutinize arrangements between health carédersvand potential referral sources to er
that the arrangements are not designed as a meohdaiinduce patient care referrals or induce theclmse or prescribing of partict
products or services. The law enforcement autlestitthe courts and Congress have also demonstateitlingness to look behind t
formalities of a transaction to determine the ulyileg purpose of payments between health care gessiand actual or potential refe
sources. Generally, courts have taken a broadpition of the scope of the Ardickback Law, holding that the statute may be \tedail
merely one purpose of a payment arrangement igdiace referrals or purchases.
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In addition to statutory exceptions to #i-kickback Law, regulations provide for a number afiesharbors. If an arrangement meet:
provisions of a safe harbor, it is deemed not tdaté the Antikickback Law. An arrangement must fully comply withch element of
applicable safe harbor in order to qualify for paiton. There are no regulatory safe harbors tddCala's Section 650.

Among the safe harbors that may be relet@nis is the discount safe harbor. The discoufet karbor potentially applies to discot
provided by providers and suppliers, including latories, to physicians or institutions. If thenerof the discount safe harbor are met
discounts will not be considered prohibited rematien under the Antkickback Law. California does not have a discouafe sharboi
However, as noted above, Section 650 has gendedly interpreted consistent with the Anti-kickbaekv.

The personal services safe harbor to thildokback Law provides that remuneration paid t@fenral source for personal services
not violate the Antkickback Law provided all of the elements of thatesharbor are met. One element is that if theeageat is intended
provide for the services of the physician on aqmiid, sporadic or part-time basis, rather than €ullatime basis for the term of the agreem
the agreement specifies exactly the schedule df mervals, their precise length, and the exaargh for such intervals. Our personal sen
arrangements with some physicians may not meetgheific requirement of this safe harbor that theament specify exactly the schedul
the intervals of time to be spent on the serviasabse the nature of the services, such as speakgagements, does not lend itself to €
scheduling and therefore meeting this element efprsonal services safe harbor is impracticalufeato meet the terms of the safe ha
does not render an arrangement illegal. Rathergovernment may evaluate such arrangements oreabyasmse basis, taking into accoun
facts and circumstances.

While we believe that we are in compliamdth the Antikickback Law and Section 650, there can be no asserthat our relationshi
with physicians, academic institutions and othestamners will not be subject to investigation orldrege under such laws. If imposed for
reason, sanctions under the Anti-kickback Law agctiBn 650 could have a negative effect on ourrass.

Other Federal and State Fraud and Abuse Laws

In addition to the requirements discusdeolva, several other health care fraud and abuse ¢awld have an effect on our business
example, provisions of the Social Security Act pémedicare and Medicaid to exclude an entity ttiaarges the federal health care progi
substantially in excess of its usual charges ®sdrvices. The terms "usual charge" and "subathniin excess" are ambiguous and subje
varying interpretations.

Further, the Federal False Claims Act griddia person from knowingly submitting a claim,king a false record or statement in orde
secure payment or retaining an overpayment by ederl government. In addition to actions initiatgdthe government itself, the stat
authorizes actions to be brought on behalf of #defal government by a private party having knogéedf the alleged fraud. Because
complaint is initially filed under seal, the actionay be pending for some time before the defendamven aware of the action. If -
government is ultimately successful in obtainindress in the matter or if the plaintiff succeedsliaining redress without the governme
involvement, then the plaintiff will receive a pentage of the recovery. Finally, the Social Segukitt includes its own provisions that proh
the filing of false claims or submitting false satents in order to obtain payment. Violation ofsteprovisions may result in fin
imprisonment or both, and possible exclusion froedMare or Medicaid programs. California has alaguais state false claims act applici
to all payers, as do many other states; howevemeasenot be aware of all such rules and statutdscannot provide assurance that we wi
in compliance with all such laws and regulations.
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International

Many countries in which we may offer Afirnrathe future have ankickback regulations prohibiting providers from efihg, payinc
soliciting or receiving remuneration, directly ardirectly, in order to induce business that is [insable under any national health
program. In situations involving physicians empldy®y state-funded institutions or national heakinecagencies, violation of the local anti
kickback law may also constitute a violation of theited States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, oPAC

The FCPA prohibits any U.S. individual, mgss entity or employee of a U.S. business ettitgffer or provide, directly or througt
third party, including any potential distributoreewnay rely on in certain markets, anything of valoea foreign government official wi
corrupt intent to influence an award or continuatid business or to gain an unfair advantage, varethnot such conduct violate local laws
addition, it is illegal for a company that repaidsthe SEC to have false or inaccurate books ardscor to fail to maintain a system of inte
accounting controls. We will also be required tointein accurate information and control over saled distributors' activities that may -
within the purview of the FCPA, its books and refsoprovisions and its anti-bribery provisions.

The standard of intent and knowledge inAhé&-Bribery cases is minimalirtent and knowledge are usually inferred from ttaat tha
bribery took place. The accounting provisions doreguire intent. Violations of the FCPA's ahtibery provisions for corporations and of
business entities are subject to a fine of up ten#llon and officers, directors, stockholders, dayges, and agents are subject to a fine of
$100,000 and imprisonment for up to five years.eDttountries, including the United Kingdom and otleECD AntiBribery Conventio
members, have similar anti-corruption regulatiush as the United Kingdom Bribery Act.

When marketing our tests outside of thetéthiStates, we may be subject to foreign regulateguirements governing human clin
testing, prohibitions on the import of tissue neeeg for us to perform our tests or restrictionsttom export of tissue imposed by count
outside of the United States or the import of #sguto the United States, and marketing approvhes€ requirements vary by jurisdicti
differ from those in the United States and maydme cases require us to perform additionalgbiréeal or clinical testing. In many countr
outside of the United States, coverage, pricingraimdbursement approvals are also required.

California Laboratory Licensing

In addition to federal certification regerinents of laboratories under CLIA, licensure isuiesg and maintained for our South !
Francisco clinical reference laboratory under @afifa law. Such laws establish standards for thetdalay operation of a clinical referer
laboratory, including the training and skills reaud of personnel and quality control. In additi@alifornia laws mandate proficiency testi
which involves testing of specimens that have kspatifically prepared for the laboratory.

If our clinical reference laboratory is aftcompliance with California standards, the Gahia Department of Health Services, or D
may suspend, restrict or revoke our license to aipeour clinical reference laboratory, assess anhbat civil money penalties, or impc
specific corrective action plans. Any such actionsild materially affect our business. We maintaiouarent license in good standing v
DHS. However, we cannot provide assurance that @St all times in the future find us to be inmapliance with all such laws.
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New York Laboratory Licensin

Because we receive specimens from New Yatdte, our clinical reference laboratories are ireqguto be licensed by New York, un
New York laws and regulations, which establish dsads for:

. day-to-day operation of a clinical laboratory, inmdihg training and skill levels required of labanat personnel;
. physical requirements of a facility;

. equipment; and

. validation and quality control.

New York law also mandates proficiency itestfor laboratories licensed under New York sties, regardless of whether si
laboratories are located in New York. If a laboratis out of compliance with New York statutory regulatory standards, the New York S
Department of Health, or DOH, may suspend, liméyake or annul the laboratory's New York licensnsure the holder of the license
assess civil money penalties. Statutory or regofatoncompliance may result in a laboratory's omerbeing found guilty of a misdemea
under New York law. DOH also must approve the LETdpe the test is offered in New York. Should wefdagnd out of compliance with Ne
York laboratory requirements, we could be subjecsuch sanctions, which could harm our businessm#imtain a current license in g¢
standing with DOH for our South San Francisco andt/ laboratories. We cannot provide assurandettieaDOH will at all times find us
be in compliance with applicable laws.

Other States' Laboratory Licensing

In addition to New York and California, ethstates including Florida, Maryland, Pennsylvamd Rhode Island, require licensing of ou
of- state laboratories under certain circumstancesh@lve obtained licenses from states where we beli®vare required to be licensed,
believe we are in compliance with applicable ligegdaws.

From time to time, we may become aware tbkiostates that require out- sthte laboratories to obtain licensure in ordeatoep
specimens from the state, and it is possible tharostates do have such requirements or will lsauah requirements in the future. If
identify any other state with such requirement#f @are are contacted by any other state advisingfusich requirements, we intend to con
with such requirements.

Corporate Practice of Medicine

Numerous states, including California arekds, have enacted laws prohibiting corporatiorth sas us from practicing medicine
employing or engaging physicians to practice medicThese laws are designed to prevent interferenttee medical decisiomaking proces
by anyone who is not a licensed physician. Thidimition is generally referred to as the prohibitiagainst the corporate practice of medi
Violation of this prohibition may result in civilrecriminal fines, as well as sanctions imposed ragails or the professional through licen
proceedings. The pathologists who review and dlasisyroid FNA cytopathology results for Afirma aegnployed by Thyroid Cytopatholo
Partners, a Texas professional association, putrdoaservices agreement between us and TCP. Pursudhe agreement, we pay TC
monthly fee on a per FNA basis, and TCP managesapeérvises the pathologists who perform the cylapagy services as a componer
Afirma. TCP is managed by Pathology Resources Qtamgs, or PRC, which provides management and athefices to medical practitione
We have entered into a services agreement with PR&nnection with our arrangement with TCP, pursu@ which we engaged PI
exclusively to manage the pathology services b@irayided by TCP. Our agreement with PRC is effectintil December 31, 2015 ¢
thereafter automatically renews every year unlébgreparty provides notice of intent not to renaweast twelve months prior to the end of
then-current term.
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Employees

At December 31, 2014, we had 167 employeeshich 28 work in laboratory operations, 29 @search and development and clir
development, 37 in selling and marketing, 73 inegahand administrative including 41 in billing awctent services, 11 in informati
technology, four in human resources, and one ititgyuand regulatory affairs. None of our employege the subject of collective bargain
arrangements, and our management considers itonships with employees to be good.

Environmental Matters

Our operations require the use of hazardoaterials (including biological materials) whichbgect us to a variety of federal, state
local environmental and safety laws and regulati@mme of these regulations provide for strictiligh holding a party potentially liab
without regard to fault or negligence. We couldHséd liable for damages and fines as a result of @uothers', business operations sh
contamination of the environment or individual espe to hazardous substances occur. We cannotcptealiv changes in laws or n
regulations will affect our business, operationshercost of compliance.

Raw Materials and Suppliers

We procure reagents, equipment, chips atietromaterials we use to perform our tests frome sslippliers such as NuGl
Technologies, Inc., Affymetrix, Inc. and Thermo ¢kisr Scientific, Inc. We also purchase componer&siun our collection kits from sole-
source suppliers. Some of these items are uniqtieete suppliers and vendors. In addition, wezeatié sole source to assemble and distr
our sample collection kits. While we have developidrnate sourcing strategies for these matesiadsvendors, we cannot be certain whe
these strategies will be effective or whether alidive sources will be available when we need tHéthese suppliers can no longer provid
with the materials we need to perform the testsfandur collection kits, if the materials do noeet our quality specifications, or if we car
obtain acceptable substitute materials, an intéioopn test processing could occur and we mayheoable to deliver patient reports, and
our business would be negatively affected.

Legal Proceedings
From time to time, we may be party to laitssin the ordinary course of business. We areettily not a party to any legal proceedings.
Available Information

We were incorporated in Delaware as Calderdnc. in August 2006. Calderome operated ameubator until early 2008. We chan
our name to Veracyte, Inc. in March 2008. Our gpatexecutive offices are located at 7000 Shoeedourt, Suite 250, South San Franci
California 94080 and our telephone number is (€3(B6300. Our website address is www.veracyte.com.ififoemation contained on, or tt
can be accessed through, our website is not péniéannual report on Form 10-K.

We make available free of charge on oursitebour annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly repon Form 10Q, current reports «
Form 8K and amendments to those reports as soon as eddggacticable after we electronically file suolaterial with, or furnish it to, tt
Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC. Thartepre also available aivw.sec.gov
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
Risks Related to Our Business

We are an earlystage company with a history of losses, and we ekpeincur net losses for the foreseeable futunedamay never achieve
sustain profitability.

We have incurred net losses since our timepFor the years ended December 31, 2014 angd, 24 had a net loss of $29.4 million .
$25.6 million, respectively, and we expect to ineaditional losses in the future. From inceptiomtlyh December 31, 2014, we hac
accumulated deficit of $115.0 million. We may nesaehieve revenue sufficient to offset our expen®egr the next several years, we expe
continue to devote substantially all of our resesrto increase adoption of, and reimbursementAfinna, as well as our lung cancer t
Percepta, which we expect to launch by @15, as well as the development of additionaktest plan to commercialize, including our tes
Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis, or IPF. We may neaehieve or sustain profitability, and our faildceachieve and sustain profitability in
future could cause the market price of our commooksto decline.

Our financial results depend solely on sales of wfia, and we will need to generate sufficient revenfrom this and other diagnost
solutions to grow our busines:

All of our revenue have been derived frdra sale of Afirma, which we commercially launchedJanuary 2011. For the foresee
future, we expect to derive substantially all of oevenue from sales of Afirma. We are planningéatonch our first product in pulmonology
lung cancer, Percepta, by m2@15, and our efforts may not be successful. Iritimehg we are in various stages of research aneldpment fo
other diagnostic solutions that we may offer, Iharé can be no assurance that we will be ableefatifgt other diseases that can be effecti
addressed with our molecular cytology platformibrye are able to identify such diseases, whetherlren we will be able to successf
commercialize these solutions. If we are unablentrease sales and expand reimbursement for Afironasuccessfully develop a
commercialize Percepta and other solutions, ougrmee and our ability to achieve and sustain piuifita would be impaired, and the mar
price of our common stock could decline.

We depend on a few payers for a significant portiohour revenue and if one or more significant paystops providing reimbursement
decreases the amount of reimbursement for our tests revenue could decline.

Revenue for tests performed on patientei@l by Medicare, Aetna and UnitedHealthcare wé&s,261% and 18%, respectively, of
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2014, aemipeith 32%, 9% and 18%, respectively, in the yeaded December 31, 2013. °
percentage of our revenue derived from signifigaayters is expected to fluctuate from period toqekeds our revenue increases, as addit
payers provide reimbursement for our tests or & on more payers were to stop reimbursing for eatst Effective January 2012, Palm
GBA, the regional Medicare administrative contracty MAC, that handled claims processing for Madé services with jurisdiction at tl
time, issued coverage and payment determinationth@GEC. On a fivgrear rotational basis, Medicare requests bidstforagional MAC(
services. Any future changes, in the MAC processingoding for Medicare claims for the Afirma GE@Qudd result in a change in the cover
or reimbursement rates for such products, or the &b coverage.

In late 2014, we entered into contractiditgna and UnitedHealthcare that establisheétwork allowable rates of reimbursement for
tests. However, payers may suspend or discontiaimbursement at any time, may require or increaspagments from patients, or rr
reduce the reimbursement rates paid to us. Any aatthns could have a negative effect on our regenu
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If payers do not provide reimbursement, rescindroodify their reimbursement policies or delay payneffior our tests, or if we are unak
to successfully negotiate additional reimbursemenontracts, our commercial success could be compsedi

Physicians may not order our tests unlayers reimburse a substantial portion of the tdsepThere is significant uncertainty concert
third-party reimbursement of any test incorporating neghhology, including the Afirma GEC and Malignar@assifiers as well as Perce|
which we plan to launch in mig@@15. Reimbursement by a payer may depend on aeawaildactors, including a payer's determinatioat
these tests are:

. not experimental or investigational;

. pre-authorized and appropriate for the specificep#t
. cost-effective;

. supported by peer-reviewed publications; and

. included in clinical practice guidelines.

Since each payer makes its own decisido aghether to establish a coverage policy or eintera contract to reimburse our test, see
these approvals is a time-consuming and costlygasc

We do not have a contracted rate of reisdament with most payers. Without a contracted fiateeimbursement, our claims are of
denied upon submission, and we must appeal thegldihe appeals process is time consuming and sxeemnd may not result in paym
In cases where there is not a contracted ratesfortbursement, there is typically a greater pateninsurance or cpayment requirement whi
may result in further delay or decreased likelihobdollection.

We expect to continue to focus substaméisburces on increasing adoption of and coverageembursement for Afirma. We believ:
may take several years to achieve coverage andacted reimbursement with a majority of thjdrty payers. However, we cannot pre
whether, under what circumstances, or at what paytegels payers will reimburse for our test. Imdidn, the Afirma Malignancy Classifie
launched in May 2014, and any other new productsnag develop in the future, including Percepta, mequire that we expend substar
time and resources in order to obtain reimbursenf@at failure to establish broad adoption of anidnbeirsement for our products, or
inability to maintain existing reimbursement fromyers, will negatively impact our ability to gereraevenue and achieve profitability, as
as our future prospects and our business.

We may experience limits on our revenue if physitsadecide not to order Afirma.

If we are unable to create or maintain dedrfar Afirma in sufficient volume, we may not bece profitable. To generate demand, we
need to continue to educate physicians about thefite and coséffectiveness of Afirma through published paperssentations at scienti
conferences and one-on-one education by our sates.fln addition, our ability to obtain and maintadequate reimbursement from third
party payers will be critical to generating revenue

Several existing guidelines and historjalctices in the United States regarding indeteausithyroid nodule FNA results recommer
full or partial surgical thyroidectomy in most caséccordingly, physicians may be reluctant to ordeliagnostic solution that may sugt
surgery is unnecessary where some current guidetind historical practice have typically led tofsypecocedures. Moreover, our diagna
services are performed at a specialized clinicigremce laboratory rather than by a pathologist local laboratory, so pathologists may
reluctant to support our services. In addition,dglines for the diagnosis and treatment of thymadiules may subsequently be revise
recommend another type of treatment protocol, Aede changes may result in medical practitionecglihg not to use Afirma. These fa
may make physicians reluctant to convert to usingomtinuing to use Afirma, which could limit oubility to generate revenue and our ab
to achieve profitability. To the extent internatibn
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markets have existing practices and standardsrefthat are different than those in the Unitedestatve may face challenges with the ado|
of Afirma outside the United States.

The success of our relationship with Genzyme topromote Afirma may have a significant effect on obusiness.

We sell Afirma in the United States througlr internal sales team and through our AmendeldRastated U.S. CBromotion Agreeme
with Genzyme Corporation, or Amended Agreement.édride Amended Agreement, we are required to payz@ee a cqgeromotion fee thi
is equal to a percentage of our cash receipts fhensale of the Afirma GEC test. The percentageiirently set at 15% beginning on Janua
2015. Our agreement with Genzyme expires in 202&.Halve also granted Genzyme a right of first offecopromote any future thyra
cancer product that we commercialize. If Genzymesdwt commit the necessary resources to markesedhthe Afirma GEC test to the le
of our expectations, or if they terminate the agreet, we may not realize the benefits of this refethip and our ability to generate revent
the future may be harmed. If our agreement with Zgeme were terminated, we would have to hire additicales personnel to support
growth of Afirma and any other thyroid product wedpreviously agreed to co-promote with Genzyme.

On February 13, 2015, we entered into atUEX Co-Promotion Agreement, or Ex-U.S. Agreemaiitth Genzyme for the cexclusive
promotion of the Afirma GEC test in two countriastgide the United States: Brazil and Singapore.alge granted Genzyme, for a limi
period of time, an exclusive right of first negdita to enter into an agreement with us for thenpwtion of the Afirma GEC test in thr
additional countries: Canada, the Netherlands taigl IFurther, upon mutual agreement, the partiag atd additional countries (other than
United States) to the Ex-U.S. Agreement. The tefrthe ExU.S. Agreement commenced January 1, 2015 and cestiontil December &
2019 with extension of the agreement possible ggraement of the parties. Country specific terma& Heeen established under this agree
for Brazil and Singapore. We will pay Genzyme 25Pgash receipts from the sale of the Afirma GEQ te®Brazil and Singapore over a five-
year period commencing January 1, 2015. If Genzgloes not commit the necessary resources to mankletedl the Afirma GEC test outs
the U.S. to the level of our expectations, or dythierminate the agreement, we may not realizé¢hnefits of this relationship and our ability
generate revenue in the future may be harmed.

Due to how we recognize revenue, our quarterly agrg results are likely to fluctuate

We recognize a significant portion of oavenue upon the earlier of receipt of thiraty payer notification of payment or when cas
received. We have little visibility as to when wdlweceive payment for our diagnostic test, and weast appeal negative payment decisi
which delays collections. For tests performed whegehave an agreed upon reimbursement rate orevalde to make a reasonable estima
reimbursement at the time delivery is completehsagin the case of Medicare and certain otherrpay@ recognize the related revenue 1
delivery of a patient report to the prescribing gibian based on the established billing rate lessractual and other adjustments to arrive ¢
amount that we expect to collect. We determineaimmunt we expect to collect based on a per paggrcgntract or agreement basis
situations where we are not able to make a reatmeabmate of reimbursement, we recognize reveipoa the earlier of receipt of thiggharty
notification of payment or when cash is receivegho) ultimate collection, the amount received froneditare and other payers wk
reimbursement was estimated is compared to prewstisiates and the contractual allowance is adjusteordingly. These factors will like
result in fluctuations in our quarterly revenueo@ld we recognize revenue from payers on an actragit and later determine the judgm
underlying estimated reimbursement change, or \wererrect at the time we accrued such revenue financial results could be negativ
impacted in future quarters. As a result, compaadugoperating results on a periodgeriod basis may not be meaningful. You shouldraly
on our past results as an indication of our fupgeormance. In addition, these fluctuations ineraye may make it difficult for us, resez
analysts and investors to accurately forecast evgnue and operating results. If our revenue oratipg results fall below expectations,
price of our common stock would likely decline.
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We rely on sole suppliers for some of the reageptgjlipment, chips and other materials used to penficour tests, and we may not be able
find replacements or transition to alternative sulgrs.

We rely on sole suppliers, such as NuGERhTelogies, Inc., Affymetrix, Inc. and Thermo FisclScientific, Inc., for critical supply
reagents, equipment, chips and other materialsvibaise to perform our tests. We also purchase goeris used in our collection kits fr
solesource suppliers. Some of these items are uniqubetse suppliers and vendors. In addition, wezetik sole source to assemble
distribute our sample collection kits. While we baleveloped alternate sourcing strategies for timegerials and vendors, we cannot be ce
whether these strategies will be effective or titermative sources will be available when we ndeaht. If these suppliers can no longer pro
us with the materials we need to perform the tests for our collection kits, if the materials dotmoeet our quality specifications, or if
cannot obtain acceptable substitute materialsntmruption in test processing could occur and vesy mot be able to deliver patient repc
Any such interruption may significantly affect duture revenue, cause us to incur higher costshanah our customer relations and reputa
In addition, in order to mitigate these risks, waimain inventories of these supplies at higheelethan would be the case if multiple sou
of supply were available. If our test volume dese=a we may hold excess inventory with expiratiates that occur before use.

We depend on a specialized cytopathology practaegdrform the cytopathology component of Afirma, crour ability to perform ou
diagnostic solution would be harmed if we were réma to secure a replacement.

We rely on Thyroid Cytopathology PartnePsA., or TCP, to provide cytopathology professiodalgnoses on thyroid FNA samg
pursuant to a pathology services agreement. Pursoidinis agreement, TCP has the exclusive righgrewide the cytopathology diagnoses
FNA samples at a fixed price per test. We have alyeed to allow TCP to doecate in a portion of our facilities in Austin, Xas. Ou
agreement with TCP is effective through December2®15 and thereafter automatically renews evesy yaless either party provides no
of intent not to renew at least 12 months priathmend of the then-current term.

If TCP were not able to support our curitest volume or future increases in test volummarovide the quality of services we require
if we are unable to agree on commercial terms amdaationship with TCP were to terminate, ouribass would be harmed until we are i
to secure the services of another cytopathologyigeo. There can be no assurance that we wouldibeessful in finding a replacement t
would be able to conduct cytopathology diagnosakeassame volume or with the same higlality results as TCP. Locating another suit
cytopathology provider could be time consuming amdld result in delays in processing tests untgglacement was fully integrated with
test processing operations.

If we are unable to support demand for Afirma or grof our future products or solutions, our businessuld suffer.

As demand for Afirma grows, and as we comuiaéize new products such as Percepta, we wildn®econtinue to scale our test
capacity and processing technology, expand custeargice, billing and systems processes and enlamdaternal quality assurance progr
We will also need additional certified laboratogientists and other scientific and technical pengbrio process higher volumes of our te
We cannot assure you that any increases in scalted improvements and quality assurance will becessfully implemented or ti
appropriate personnel will be available. Failuréniplement necessary procedures, transition to pr@wesses or hire the necessary pers
could result in higher costs of processing teaisjity control issues or inability to meet demafbere can be no assurance that we will be
to perform our testing on a timely basis at a leagisistent with demand, or that our efforts tdescar operations will not negatively affect
quality of test results. If we encounter difficultyeeting market demand or quality standards, goutegion could be harmed and our fu
prospects and our business could suffer.
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If the FDA were to begin regulating our tests, wewd incur substantial costs and delays associateith trying to obtain premarke
clearance or approval.

Clinical laboratory tests like Afirma aregulated under the Clinical Laboratory Improvem@mtendments of 1988, or CLIA, as well as
applicable state laws. Most laboratory developetisteor LDTs, are not currently subject to FDA rdatjon, although reagents, instrume
software or components provided by third partied ased to perform LDTs may be subject to regulatidthough the FDA has never defir
what qualifies as an LDT, we believe that AfirmaisLDT. FDA currently exercises its enforcemescdetion for LDTs. In October 2014,
FDA published draft guidance documents describhmg framework by which they might regulate LDTs. Tinemework is similar to tt
guidance they issued previously. There is no tiema# in which the FDA must issue final guidance doents.

If the FDA requires us to seek clearancapproval to offer Afirma or any of our future prads for clinical use, including Percepta,
may not be able to obtain such approvals on a yitnasis, or at all. If premarket review is requiredr business could be negatively impact
we are required to stop selling our products pendirir clearance or approval or the launch of maew products that we develop coulc
delayed by new requirements. The cost of conduatingcal trials and otherwise developing data anfbrmation to support premari
applications may be significant. In addition, futuegulation by the FDA could subject our busirtedsirther regulatory risks and costs. Fai
to comply with applicable regulatory requiremenitshe FDA could result in enforcement action, irtihg receiving untitled or warning lette
fines, injunctions, or civil or criminal penaltieln addition, we could be subject to a recall dewe of current or future products, opera
restrictions, partial suspension or total shutdafrproduction. Any such enforcement action wouldéha material adverse effect on
business, financial condition and operations. Iditégh, our sample collection container is clagsifias a Class | medical device and is |
with the FDA. If the FDA was to determine thatsta Class Il medical device, we would be requicefilé a 510(k) application and obtain FI
clearance to use the container, which could be tiomsuming and expensive.

Some of the materials we use for Afirma #mat we may use for future products, such as P&care labeled for research use onl
November 2013, the FDA finalized guidance regardimg sale and use of products labeled for researéhvestigational use only. Amo
other things, the guidance advises that the FDAicoes to be concerned about distribution of redearvestigationalise only produc
intended for clinical diagnostic use and that thenafacturer's objective intent for the productteied use will be determined by examil
the totality of circumstances, including advertiginnstructions for clinical interpretation, pretaions that describe clinical use,
specialized technical support, surrounding theriigtion of the product in question. The FDA hasiadd that if evidence demonstrates tt
product is inappropriately labeled for researcimeestigational use only, the device would be masldied and adulterated within the meanir
the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act. Some efr¢lagents, instruments, software or componentsraat by us from suppliers for use
Afirma and the Afirma Malignancy Classifier are mntly labeled as researcise only products. If the FDA were to undertakeosségmer
actions, some of our suppliers may cease sellisgarehdse only products to us, and any failure to ob&inacceptable substitute cc
significantly and adversely affect our businessaficial condition and results of operations, inzigdncreasing the cost of testing or delay
limiting or prohibiting the purchase of reagentstiuments, software or components necessary torpetesting.

If we are unable to compete successfully, we mayibable to increase or sustain our revenue or ackeerofitability.

Our principal competition for Afirma com@&sm traditional methods used by physicians to dasg thyroid cancer. Practice guideline
the United States have historically recommendetgatients with indeterminate diagnoses from cytioplagy results be considered for sur¢
to remove all or part of the
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thyroid to rule out cancer. This practice has benstandard of care in the United States for maars, and we need to educate physi
about the benefits of Afirma to change clinicalgice.

We also face competition from commercidbdatories, such as Laboratory Corporation of AnzerHoldings, Quest Diagnost
Incorporated and Sonic Healthcare USA with strarfgastructure to support the commercialization ifgdostic services. We face poter
competition from companies such as lllumina, Imad @hermo Fisher Scientific Inc., both of which bannounced their intention to enter
clinical diagnostics market. Other potential conitpes include companies that develop diagnosticdpets, such as Roche Diagnostic
division of Roche Holding Ltd, Siemens AG, QiagevNand Rosetta Genomics Ltd. We also face conipetftom companies and acade
institutions that use next generation sequencingrtelogy or other methods to measure mutationakenarsuch as BRAF and KRAS alc
with numerous other mutations. In the future, weyralso face competition from companies developiag products or technologies that
able to compete with Afirma'’s high negative pradevalue to rule out cancer.

In addition, competitors may develop thmim versions of our solution in countries wheredeenot have patents or where our intellec
property rights are not recognized and compete uwstin those countries, including encouraging the of their solution by physicians in ot
countries.

To compete successfully we must be abtietoonstrate, among other things, that our diagntssi results are accurate and cost effe:
and we must secure a meaningful level of reimbuesgrfor our products.

Many of our potential competitors have veipleead brand recognition and substantially grefibancial, technical and research
development resources, and selling and marketipghitties than we do. Others may develop produdtis prices lower than ours that co
be viewed by physicians and payers as functionaedjyivalent to our solution, or offer solutions atcps designed to promote mail
penetration, which could force us to lower the figste of our solution and affect our ability tohéeve profitability. If we are unable to chai
clinical practice in a meaningful way or competeaassfully against current and future competitars,may be unable to increase ma
acceptance and sales of our products, which cagldept us from increasing our revenue or achiepirgditability and could cause the mar
price of our common stock to decline. As we add tests and services, we will face many of theseeseampetitive risks for these new tests.

The loss of members of our senior management tearowr inability to attract and retain key personnebuld adversely affect our business.

Our success depends largely on the skiperience and performance of key members of oecidive management team and othe
key management positions. The efforts of each edtpersons together will be critical to us as @rgioue to develop our technologies and
processes and focus on our growth. If we were $& lone or more of these key employees, we may iexper difficulties in competir
effectively, developing our technologies and impéaiting our business strategy.

In addition, our research and developmeog@ams and commercial laboratory operations depenaur ability to attract and retain hig
skilled scientists. We may not be able to attractetain qualified scientists and technicians ia fhture due to the intense competition
qualified personnel among life science businesgasticularly in the San Francisco Bay Area. Ourcsss in the development ¢
commercialization of advanced diagnostics requaregnificant medical and clinical staff to condstiidies and educate physicians and p:
on the merits of our tests in order to achieve #do@mnd reimbursement. We are in a highly comipetindustry to attract and retain this tal
As a public company located in the San FrancisopA&a, we face intense competition for highly Edlfinance and accounting personne
we are unable to attract and retain finance andwating personnel experienced in public compangriaial reporting, we risk being unable
close our books and file our public documents ¢imaly basis. Additionally, our success dependswnability to attract and retain qualified
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sales people. During 2014, we significantly expahdar sales force for Afirma. There can be no as®e that they will be successfu
maintaining and growing the business. As we plafuttiher increase our sales channels for new testk as Percepta, we may have difficu
locating and recruiting additional sales persommektaining qualified salespeople, which couldseaa delay or decline in the rate of adof
of our tests. Finally, our business requires spieeid capabilities in reimbursement, billing, fireen and other areas and there may be a sh
of qualified individuals. If we are not able toratit and retain the necessary personnel to accsimlir business objectives, we may experi
constraints that could adversely affect our abiiitysupport our research and development, clinadadratory, sales and reimbursement, bi
and finance efforts. All of our employees arendt; which means that either we or the employee reaminate their employment at any til
We do not carry key man insurance for any of oupleyees.

We may be unable to manage our future growth effeety, which could make it difficult to execute olnusiness strategy.

In addition to the need to scale our tgstinpacity, future growth, including our transititma multiproduct company with internatior
operations, will impose significant added respaitisds on management, including the need to idgntiecruit, train and integrate additio
employees with the necessary skills to supportgtiosving complexities of our business. In additicepid and significant growth may ple
strain on our administrative, financial and openadil infrastructure. Our ability to manage our haess and growth will require us to continu
improve our operational, financial and managementrols, reporting systems and procedures. We mapkemented an internally develog
data warehouse, which is critical to our abilityttack our diagnostic services and patient repaetsvered to physicians, as well as to sug
our financial reporting systems. The time and reseairequired to optimize these systems is unceaid failure to complete optimization i
timely and efficient manner could adversely affeat operations. Additionally, growth will requires uo expand and move our South
Francisco operations by 2016. Any move to a newitiacould require us to reertify our laboratory in South San Francisco. Tdusld disrug
our business and will require the investment obueses. If we are unable to manage our growth ey, it may be difficult for us to exect
our business strategy and our business could Ineclar

Billing for our diagnostic tests is complex, and weust dedicate substantial time and resources te Itiling process to be pait

Billing for clinical laboratory testing seces is complex, time consuming and expensive.eDdmg on the billing arrangement
applicable law, we bill various payers, includingdiicare, insurance companies and patients, allhidhwhave different billing requiremer
We generally bill third-party payers for our diagtio tests and pursue reimbursement on a casmdy-basis where pricing contracts are r
place. To the extent laws or contracts requireousilt patient co-payments or dnsurance, we must also comply with these requirgsné/Ve
may also face increased risk in our collection $fancluding potential writeffs of doubtful accounts and long collection cyg;lerhich coul
adversely affect our business, results of operat#ormd financial condition.

Several factors make the billing processglex, including:

. differences between the list price for our testd the reimbursement rates of payers;
. compliance with complex federal and state regutatieelated to billing Medicare;

. disputes among payers as to which party is resplenfsir payment;

. differences in coverage and in information andrglirequirements among payers;

. the effect of patient co-payments or co-insurance;

. changes to billing codes used for our tests;

41




Table of Contents

. incorrect or missing billing information; and

. the resources required to manage the billing aaithsl appeals process.

Standard industry billing codes, known d@&TCcodes, that we use to bill for cytopathology i exist for our proprietary molecu
diagnostic tests. Therefore, until such time that ave awarded and are able to use a designatedc@dRT specific to our tests, we
"miscellaneous” codes for claim submissions. Tleegkes can change over time. When codes change,itharrisk of an error being made
the claim adjudication process. These errors canromith claims submission, thinarty transmission or in the processing of thenelay the
payer. Claim adjudication errors may result in éagen payment processing or a reduction in the amof the payment received. Cod
changes, therefore, may have an adverse effecioreeenues. Even when we receive a designatedcOd specific to our tests, there ca
no assurance that payers will recognize these dadeesimely manner or that the process to tramsitig to such a code will not result in eri
or delays in payments.

As we introduce new tests, such as Perceygtavill need to add new codes to our billing @es as well as our financial reporting systi
Failure or delays in effecting these changes iered billing and internal systems and processesdacegatively affect our revenue and ¢
flow.

Additionally, our billing activities requér us to implement compliance procedures and ovdrstcain and monitor our employe
challenge coverage and payment denials, assisinpgin appealing claims, and undertake internditato evaluate compliance with applice
laws and regulations as well as internal compligraiies and procedures. Payers also conductreattaudits to evaluate payments, which
further complexity to the billing process. If thayer makes an overpayment determination, thereriskahat we may be required to ret
some portion of prior payments we have receive@setbilling complexities, and the related uncetyaim obtaining payment for our diagnot
solution, could negatively affect our revenue aadhcflow, our ability to achieve profitability, anlde consistency and comparability of
results of operations.

We rely on a third-party to transmit claims to pageand any delay in transmitting claims could haae adverse effect on our revenue.

While we manage the overall processinglaihts, we rely on a thirgharty provider to transmit the actual claims to graybased on t
specific payer billing format. We have previouskperienced delays in claims processing when oud-{harty provider made changes tc
invoicing system, and again when it did not subctatms to payers within the timeframe we requirediionally, coding for diagnostic te:
may change, and such changes may cause teortoilling errors that may take significant tingeresolve. If claims are not submitted to pa
on a timely basis or are erroneously submittedf @re are required to switch to a different provide handle claim submissions, we r
experience delays in our ability to process thésiens and receipt of payments from payers, whichilddave an adverse effect on our reve
and our business.

Developing new products involves a lengthy and cédempprocess, and we may not be able to commer@abz a timely basis, or at all, oth
products we are developin

We have enhancements to our current Afioffaring and other diagnostic solutions under depelent that will require us to dev
considerable resources to research and developfieate can be no assurance that we will be abieentify other diseases that can
effectively addressed with our molecular cytolodstiorm. In addition, if we identify such diseasesg may not be able to develop prod
with the diagnostic accuracy necessary to be dilyicuseful and commercially successful. We mayefatallenges obtaining sufficit
numbers of samples to validate a genomic signdtura molecular diagnostic product. We are in thecpss of developing tests for lung cau
and interstitial lung disease, specifically IPF.r@lanned lung cancer test, Percepta, has beednatlinvalidated in three independent clin
trials including two multi-center, prospective seg] but we must complete analytical verification
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and studies required to transfer it to our Cldévtified laboratory prior to commercial launch.igkest may not be successfully transferre
the laboratory as planned and launched by 20it15, and our product for interstitial lung disesas®y not be fully developed and introduce
planned in 2016.

In order to develop and commercialize dasdit tests, we need to:

. expend significant funds to conduct substantiadaesh and development;
. conduct successful analytical and clinical studies;

. scale our laboratory processes to accommodatdests; and

. build the commercial infrastructure to marked @ell new products.

Our product development process involvegga degree of risk and may take several years.ptaduct development efforts may fail
many reasons, including:

. failure to identify a genomic signature in biomarkéescovery;

. inability to secure sufficient numbers of sampleamacceptable cost and on an acceptable timeframenduct analytical ai
clinical studies; or

. failure of clinical validation studies to suppthe effectiveness of the test.

Typically, few research and developmenjgots result in commercial products, and successily clinical studies often is not replica
in later studies. At any point, we may abandon tgraent of a product candidate or we may be redquioeexpend considerable resou
repeating clinical studies, which would adversdfgct the timing for generating potential revenueni a new product and our ability to inv
in other products in our pipeline. If a clinicallidation study fails to demonstrate the prospetyidefined endpoints of the study or if we fai
sufficiently demonstrate analytical validity, we ght choose to abandon the development of the ptpdidich could harm our business.
addition, competitors may develop and commercialmapeting products or technologies faster thaorw a lower cost.

We may acquire businesses or assets, form jointtwes or make investments in other companies orhtealogies that could harm ot
operating results, dilute our stockholders' owneiphincrease our debt or cause us to incur signditt expense.

We acquired Allegro Diagnostics in Septeni#l4, and we may pursue additional acquisitidnsomplementary businesses or asse
well as technology licensing arrangements as pladuo business strategy. We also may pursue stcatdliances that leverage our ¢
technology and industry experience to expand ofariofys or distribution, or make investments inestbompanies. To date, we have lim
experience with respect to acquisitions and the&tion of strategic alliances and joint ventureg Wvay not be able to integrate acquisit
successfully into our existing business, and wddcagsume unknown or contingent liabilities. In i&idd, we may not realize the expec
benefits of our recent acquisition of Allegro olyamsinesses we may acquire in the future. Any iadgpns made by us also could resul
significant writeoffs or the incurrence of debt and contingent lidbs, any of which could harm our operating résulntegration of acquirt
companies or businesses we may acquire in theefatisio may require management resources that afgeemwould be available for ongoi
development of our existing business. We may nentifly or complete these transactions in a timenmer, on a costffective basis, or at ¢
and we may not realize the anticipated benefi@ngfacquisition, technology license, strategi@altie, joint venture or investment.

To finance any acquisitions or investmemts,may choose to issue shares of our stock asdewaton, which would dilute the owners
of our stockholders. If the price of our commoncktcs low or volatile, we may not be able to acquither companies for stock. Alternativ:
it may be necessary for us to raise additional $uiod these activities through public or privateaficings. Additional funds
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may not be available on terms that are favorablestr at all. If these funds are raised throughsale of equity or convertible debt securi
dilution to our stockholders could result. Our emtrloan and security agreement contains coverhatscould limit our ability to sell de
securities or obtain additional debt financing agements.

If we are unable to develop products to keep padthwapid technological, medical and scientific chge, our operating results ar
competitive position could be harmed.

In recent years, there have been numerduanaes in technologies relating to diagnosticstiqudarly diagnostics that are based
genomic information. These advances require ustdirtuously develop our technology and to work éeelop new solutions to keep pace \
evolving standards of care. Our solutions couldob&e obsolete unless we continually innovate andreapur product offerings to inclu
new clinical applications. If we are unable to depenew products or to demonstrate the applicgbditour products for other diseases,
sales could decline and our competitive positiomdde harmed.

If we fail to comply with federal, state and foreiglaboratory licensing requirements, we could losige ability to perform our tests |
experience disruptions to our business.

We are subject to CLIA, a federal law thequlates clinical laboratories that perform testim specimens derived from humans fol
purpose of providing information for the diagnogisgvention or treatment of disease. CLIA regutsionandate specific standards in the ¢
of personnel qualifications, administration, andtipgpation in proficiency testing, patient test magement and quality assurance. C
certification is also required in order for us @dligible to bill state and federal healthcaregpams, as well as many private thpdrty payer:
To renew these certifications, we are subject tovesu and inspection every two years. Moreover, Clispectors may make rand
inspections of our clinical reference laboratoriésve relocate either of our facilities, we woullé required to undergo certification at our
facility in order to offer our tests.

We are also required to maintain statenes to conduct testing in our laboratories. Cadifp New York, Texas, among other states' |
require that we maintain a license and establistesdards for the day-ttay operation of our clinical reference laboratrimcluding th
training and skills required of personnel and dyatontrol matters. In addition, both of our cliaiaceference laboratories are required t
licensed on a tespecific basis by New York State. We have recemggroval for the Afirma tests we currently offeut bwill need to obtai
approval for Percepta and any tests we may offénérfuture. New York law also mandates proficietesting for laboratories licensed un
New York state law, regardless of whether suchratovies are located in New York. Several othetestaequire that we hold licenses to
samples from patients in those states. Other staégshave similar requirements or may adopt sinméguirements in the future. If we were
lose our CLIA certificate or California license four South San Francisco laboratory, whether @sualtrof revocation, suspension or limitat
we would no longer be able to perform the GEC, Whimuld eliminate our primary source of revenue hadn our business. If we were
lose our CLIA certificate for our Austin laboratomye would need to move the receipt and storadeN#s, as well as the slide preparatior
cytopathology, to South San Francisco, which coe#dilt in a delay in processing tests during treidition and increased costs. If we wel
lose our licenses issued by New York or by othatest where we are required to hold licenses, wdduoot be able to test specimens f
those states. New tests we may develop may bectubjeew approvals by regulatory bodies such as Nerk State, and we may not be ¢
to offer our new tests until such approvals areired.

Finally, we may be subject to regulatiorfareign jurisdictions as we pursue offering owst$einternationally. Other limitations, suct
prohibitions on the import of tissue necessaryusito perform our tests or restrictions on the expbtissue imposed by countries outsid
the United States or the import of tissue intolmited States, may constrain our ability to offests internationally in the future.
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Changes in healthcare policy, including legislatioreforming the U.S. healthcare system, may have atenial adverse effect on o
financial condition and operations

The Patient Protection and Affordable Caw, as amended by the Health Care and Educatidordébility Reconciliation Ac
collectively, the PPACA, enacted in March 2010, eskhanges that are expected to significantly effecpharmaceutical and medical de
industries and clinical laboratories. Beginnin@013, each medical device manufacturer must payes $ax in an amount equal to 2.3% of
price for which such manufacturer sells its medi=tices that are listed with the FDA. The FDA haserted that clinical laboratory tests
as Afirma are medical devices. However, consisteith the FDA's policy of exercising enforcementaletion for LDTs, Afirma is nc
currently listed as a medical device with the F¥e cannot assure you that the tax will not be alédrto services such as ours in the futt
Afirma were to be regulated as a device. The PPAG mandates a reduction in payments for clinabdratory services paid under
Medicare Clinical Laboratory Fee Schedule, or CLES1.75% for the years 2011 through 2015 and aywmtivity adjustment to the CLI
which would affect our cytopathology billings.

Other significant measures contained inRRACA include, for example, coordination and prtiovoof research on comparative clin
effectiveness of different technologies and procesluinitiatives to revise Medicare payment methagies, such as bundling of payme
across the continuum of care by providers and phayss, and initiatives to promote quality indicatan payment methodologies. The PPA
also includes significant new fraud and abuse nreasuncluding required disclosures of financialaagements with physician custom
lower thresholds for violations and increasing pttd penalties for such violations. In additiometPPACA establishes an Indepen
Payment Advisory Board, or IPAB, to reduce the papita rate of growth in Medicare spending. The BP#as broad discretion to prop
policies to reduce expenditures, which may havegative effect on payment rates for services. H#A&B| proposals may affect payments
clinical laboratory services beginning in 2016 dod hospital services beginning in 2020. We are iooimg the effect of the PPACA
determine the trends and changes that may be itatedsy the legislation, any of which may potalti affect our business.

In addition to the PPACA, the effect of wiion our business cannot presently be fully géiedtivarious healthcare reform propo:
have also emerged from federal and state govermmEat example, in February 2012, Congress passeiiddle Class Tax Relief and .
Creation Act of 2012, which in part resets theichhlab payment rates on the Medicare CLFS by 220i13. In addition, a further reductior
2% is anticipated from implementation of the auttmaxpense reductions (sequester) under the Budgatrol Act of 2011, which
legislated to be in effect for dates of serviceasnafter April 1, 2013 until fiscal year 2024. Retions resulting from the Congressic
sequester are applied to total claims payment ntaalgever, they do not currently result in a rebgsihthe negotiated or established Medi
or Medicaid reimbursement rates.

State legislation on reimbursement appbielsledicaid reimbursement and Managed Medicaid beisement rates within that state. S
states have passed or proposed legislation thatdwewise reimbursement methodology for clinicdbdeatory payment rates under th
Medicaid programs. Recent changes to reimbursemetitodologies have not changed the payment raté\fioma; however, we cann
predict whether future healthcare initiatives Wil implemented at the federal or state level @oimtries outside of the United States in w
we may do business, or the effect any future latish or regulation will have on us. The taxes isgm by the new federal legislation, ¢
reduction measures and the expansion in the rolheolJ.S. government in the healthcare industry mesylt in decreased revenue, lo
reimbursement by payers for our tests or reducaticakprocedure volumes, all of which may adversdfgct our business, financial condit
and results of operations. In addition, sales oftests outside the United States will subjecttmusiness to foreign regulatory requirements
cost-reduction measures, which may also changetower
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Ongoing calls for deficit reduction at thederal government level and reforms to prograrohk si$ the Medicare program to pay for ¢
reductions may affect the pharmaceutical, medieaia® and clinical laboratory industries. In partér, recommendations by the Simpsor
Bowles Commission called for the combination of idade Part A (hospital insurance) and Part B (ptigsi and ancillary service insuran
into a single co-insurance and co-payment structDuerently, clinical laboratory services are exidd from the Medicare Part B aasuranc
and co-payment as preventative services. Combinarts A and B may require clinical laboratoriesadect copayments from patients whi
may increase our costs and reduce the amount tétiyneollected.

In April 2014, the President signed thet®eting Access to Medicare Act of 2014, or PAMA ighincluded a substantial new payn
system for clinical laboratory tests under the CLE®der PAMA, laboratories that receive the majoof their Medicare revenues fr
payments made under the CLFS would report, begindanuary 1, 2016, and then on an every three yasis thereafter (or annually
"advanced diagnostic laboratory tests"), privatgepgpayment rates and volumes for their tests. @MISuse the rates and volumes reporte:
laboratories to develop Medicare payment ratedtertests equal to the volumesighted median of the private payer payment rédeshe
tests. The payment rates calculated under PAMA lvéileffective starting January 1, 2017. Any redutgito payment rates resulting from
new methodology are limited to 10% per test per yeaach of the years 2017 through 2019 and to pB%test per year in each of 2
through 2022. Although CMS has not yet issued m#gpris to implement PAMA, we believe our Afirma GEBE well as Percepta would
considered an advanced diagnostic laboratoryFesther rulemaking from CMS will define the time period and alalements evaluated on
annual basis to set reimbursement rates for téstoulrs.

PAMA also requires CMS to issue unique ie&are Common Procedure Coding System, or HCP@8scto advanced diagno:
laboratory tests by January 1, 2016 for tests wheat paid under the Medicare program prior to mgessd the Act. In March 2015, we wi
issued a unique Tierl CPT code that could impantlrersement of the Afirma GEC in the future. Untler PAMA, new advanced diagno:
laboratory tests paid by Medicare after the datepassage of PAMA will also receive unigue HCPCSesodmpacting private pay
reimbursement of future tests we may commercialize.

PAMA codified coverage rules for laboratdests by requiring any local coverage determimatm be made following the establis!
procedures for development and appeals of locatreme determinations. PAMA also authorizes CMSansolidate coverage policies
clinical laboratory tests among one to four labongspecific MACs. These same contractors may alsoesegdated to process claims if C
determines that such a model is appropriate.

In addition to changes adopted by PAMA2013 CMS announced plans to bundle payments foicali laboratory tests together w
other services performed during hospital outpatisits under the Hospital Outpatient Prospectiagrifent System. CMS exempted molec
diagnostic tests from this packaging provisionhait time. It is possible that this exemption cobkdremoved by CMS in future rule maki
which might result in lower reimbursement for tgssformed in this setting.

We may experience limits on our revenue if patiedicide not to use our tests.

Some patients may decide not to use ots tecause of price, all or part of which may bgapée directly by the patient if the patie
insurer denies reimbursement in full or in partefiéhis a growing trend among insurers to shift nofrihe cost of healthcare to patients in
form of higher cgpayments or premiums, and this trend is acceleyatinich puts patients in the position of havingpty more for our tes
Implementation of provisions of the PPACA has alssulted in increases in premiums and reductionsoirerage for some patients. If
United States Supreme Court finds parts of PPACAdainconstitutional, patients may be unable tordfbur tests due to changes in t
insurance coverage. These events may result iarpatidelaying or forgoing medical checkups or treatt due to their inability to pay for ¢
tests, which could have an adverse effect on oxamee.
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Complying with numerous statutes and regulationsriaéning to our business is an expensive and timeasuming process, and any failu
to comply could result in substantial penalties.

Our operations are subject to other extenfdderal, state, local, and foreign laws and leggns, all of which are subject to change. T!
laws and regulations currently include, among ather

. the Federal Health Insurance Portability and Actabitity Act of 1996, or HIPAA, which establishedroprehensive fedel
standards with respect to the privacy and secuwityprotected health information and requirements tfe use of certa
standardized electronic transactions, and amendmenitlIPAA under the Health Information Technoldgy Economic an
Clinical Health Act, which strengthen and expandPAA privacy and security compliance requirementsreéase penalties f
violators, extend enforcement authority to stateraeys general, and impose requirements for breatification;

. Medicare billing and payment regulations applicablelinical laboratories;

. the Federal AntKickback Statute, which prohibits knowingly and HWuilly offering, paying, soliciting, or receivir
remuneration, directly or indirectly, in exchange 6ér to induce either the referral of an indivijua the furnishing, arrangi
for, or recommending of an item or service thaeimbursable, in whole or in part, by a federalltieeare program;

. the Federal Stark physician sedfferral law (and state equivalents), which prdsiki physician from making a referral for cer
designated health services covered by the Medjmagram, including laboratory and pathology sersjgethe physician or ¢
immediate family member has a financial relatiopshith the entity providing the designated heaéthvies, unless the financ
relationship falls within an applicable exceptiortiie prohibition;

. the Federal Civil Monetary Penalties Law, which hpbits, among other things, the offering or trangfé remuneration to
Medicare or state health care program beneficifatige person knows or should know it is likely tdliience the benefician
selection of a particular provider, practitioner,soipplier of services reimbursable by Medicare atate health care progr:
unless an exception applies;

. the Federal False Claims Act, which imposes ligbitin any person or entity that, among other thikg®wingly presents,
causes to be presented, a false or fraudulent ¢taigayment to the federal government;

. other federal and state fraud and abuse laws, asi@nti-kickback laws, prohibitions on self-reférfae-splitting restrictions
prohibitions on the provision of products at nodescounted cost to induce physician or patient tidopand false claims ac
which may extend to services reimbursable by amyg-{barty payer, including private insurers;

. the prohibition on reassignment of Medicare claimisich, subject to certain exceptions, precludesréassignment of Medic:
claims to any other party;

. the rules regarding billing for diagnostic testenteursable by the Medicare program, which prohabjthysician or other suppl
from marking up the price of the technical compdramprofessional component of a diagnostic tedered by the physician
other supplier and supervised or performed by &iglan who does not "share a practice" with thinigilphysician or supplier;

. state laws that prohibit other specified praggicelated to billing such as billing physiciansti&sting that they order, waiving co-
insurance cgayments, deductibles, and other amounts owed tignts, and billing a state Medicaid program atiaepthat i
higher than what is charged to other payers; and

. the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, and iogiailar laws, which apply to our internationatigities.
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We have adopted policies and procedureigjnies to comply with these laws and regulationsthie ordinary course of our business,
conduct internal reviews of our compliance withsthéaws. Our compliance is also subject to goventaheeview. The growth of our busin
and sales organization and our expansion outsidleeobnited States may increase the potential @hiting these laws or our internal polic
and procedures. We believe that we are in matesiapliance with all statutory and regulatory requients, but there is a risk that one or r
government agencies could take a contrary posifibese laws and regulations are complex and afedui interpretation by the courts :
by government agencies. If one or more such ageralleges that we may be in violation of any ofstheequirements, regardless of
outcome, it could damage our reputation and adlersect important business relationships withrdhparties, including managed c
organizations and other commercial thparty payers. Any action brought against us fofation of these or other laws or regulations, eif
we successfully defend against it, could caus® uiscur significant legal expenses and divert oanagement's attention from the operatic
our business. If our operations are found to beidtation of any of these laws and regulations, m&y be subject to any applicable per
associated with the violation, including civil aodminal penalties, damages and fines, we coultefaired to refund payments received by
and we could be required to curtail or cease owrains. Any of the foregoing consequences coattbsgsly harm our business and
financial results.

International expansion of our business exposes tosbusiness, regulatory, political, operationalnfincial and economic risks associal
with doing business outside of the United States.

Our business strategy includes internatiempansion in select countries, and may include=liging and maintaining physician outre
and education capabilities outside of the Unitedtet, establishing agreements with laboratoried, expanding our relationships w
international payers. Doing business internatignalolves a number of risks, including:

. multiple, conflicting and changing laws and regiaas such as tax laws, privacy laws, export andoimnpestrictions
employment laws, regulatory requirements and agogernmental approvals, permits and licenses;

. failure by us to obtain regulatory approvals veheequired for the use of our solution in varigosintries;

. complexities associated with managing multiple pageanbursement regimes, government payers ormiaalf-pay systems;
. logistics and regulations associated with shippisgue samples, including infrastructure conditiand transportation delays;
. challenges associated with establishing laboratpaytners, including proper sample collection tegbes, inventor

management, sample logistics, billing and promatiativities;
. limits on our ability to penetrate international niets if we are not able to process tests locally;

. financial risks, such as longer payment cyclediadilty in collecting from payers, the effect ofcl and regional financial cris
and exposure to foreign currency exchange ratéufions;

. natural disasters, political and economic instahiincluding wars, terrorism, and political unrestitbreak of disease, boycc
curtailment of trade and other business restristiand

. regulatory and compliance risks that relate to maéiing accurate information and control over dtig that may fall within th
purview of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 19ifs books and records provisions or its antodny provisions.

Any of these factors could significantlyrfmaour future international expansion and operatiand, consequently, our revenue and re
of operations.
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If we are sued for product liability or errors andmissions liability, we could face substantial li¢ibes that exceed our resource

The marketing, sale and use of Afirma duffe tests, such as Percepta, could lead to prdidbdity claims if someone were to allege 1
the tests failed to perform as they were desigiiéel. may also be subject to liability for errors e tresults we provide to physicians or f
misunderstanding of, or inappropriate reliance ypbe information we provide. Our Afirma GEC is fmmed on FNA samples that .
diagnosed as indeterminate by standard cytopathalegew. We report results as benign or suspicimuthe prescribing physician. Uni
certain circumstances, we might report a resubbexsign that later proves to have been malignanis Tould be the result of the physic
having poor nodule sampling in collecting the FNo&rforming the FNA on a different nodule than thee dhat is malignant or failure of 1
GEC to perform as intended. We may also be subjesimilar types of claims related to our Afirma aancy Classifiers as well as tests
may develop in the future, including Percepta whitdy classify a patient as low risk for lung caneo is later found to have a malignar
A product liability or errors and omissions liabjiliclaim could result in substantial damages anddstly and time consuming for us to def¢
Although we maintain product liability and erronsdaomissions insurance, we cannot assure you thahsurance would fully protect us fre
the financial impact of defending against theseesypf claims or any judgments, fines or settlenoests arising out of any such claims. ,
product liability or errors and omissions liabilityaim brought against us, with or without merautd increase our insurance rates or preve
from securing insurance coverage in the future.i#éatthlly, any product liability lawsuit could cagisnjury to our reputation or cause u:
suspend sales of our products and solutions. Thermnce of any of these events could have an se\affect on our business and resul
operations.

If our laboratory in South San Francisco becomesaperable due to an earthquake or either of our labtories becomes inoperable for a
other reason, we will be unable to perform our tiest services and our business will be harmed.

We perform all of the Afirma GEC testingaair laboratory in South San Francisco, Califor@ar laboratory in Austin, Texas accepts
stores substantially all FNA samples pending tramntf our California laboratory for Afirma GEC pessing. We plan to commence testing
Percepta in our South San Francisco laboratoryedls he equipment we use to perform our tests dda costly to replace and could req
substantial lead time to replace and qualify foe.usSither of our facilities may be harmed or reedemoperable by natural or mamade
disasters, including earthquakes, flooding and pawages, which may render it difficult or impdssifor us to perform our testing servi
for some period of time or to receive and stoream The inability to perform our tests for eveshart period of time may result in the los
customers or harm our reputation, and we may bblena regain those customers in the future. Alfowe maintain insurance for damag
our property and the disruption of our businesis, ittsurance may not be sufficient to cover albof potential losses and may not contint
be available to us on acceptable terms, if at all.

If we cannot enter into new clinical study collabations, our product development and subsequent caruialization could be delaye:

In the past, we have entered into clinstaldy collaborations, and our success in the futlegends in part on our ability to enter
additional collaborations with highly regarded ingtons. This can be difficult due to internal aedternal constraints placed on tr
organizations. Some organizations may limit the benof collaborations they have with any one corngpsmas to not be perceived as bi
or conflicted. Organizations may also have insigfit administrative and related infrastructurenalde collaborations with many companie
once, which can extend the time it takes to develmgotiate and implement a collaboration. Addiityn organizations often insist
retaining the rights to publish the clinical dataulting from the collaboration. The publicationctihical data in peer-reviewed journals is a
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crucial step in commercializing and obtaining reimdement for our diagnostic tests, and our ingbtiit control when and if results i
published may delay or limit our ability to derigefficient revenue from them.

If we use hazardous materials in a manner that casscontamination or injury, we could be liable foesulting damages

We are subject to federal, state and It@ab, rules and regulations governing the use,hdige, storage, handling and dispos:
biological material, chemicals and waste. We camtiatinate the risk of accidental contaminationimury to employees or third parties fri
the use, storage, handling or disposal of thesenmig. In the event of contamination or injury, weuld be held liable for any result
damages, remediation costs and any related penattiines, and any liability could exceed our teses or any applicable insurance cove
we may have. The cost of compliance with these lang regulations may become significant, and oiduriato comply may result
substantial fines or other consequences, and aithdd negatively affect our operating results.

Our inability to raise additional capital on acceghle terms in the future may limit our ability toevelop and commercialize new solutic
and technologies and expand our operations.

We expect capital expenditures and opegagitpenses to increase over the next several ggax® expand our infrastructure, comme
operations and research and development activités. may seek to raise additional capital throughitggofferings, debt financing
collaborations or licensing arrangements. Additidnading may not be available to us on acceptabitens, or at all. If we raise funds
issuing equity securities, dilution to our stockdarks could result. Any equity securities issuea atsy provide for rights, preferences
privileges senior to those of holders of our commatatk. The terms of debt securities issued ordyangs could impose significant restrictic
on our operations. The incurrence of additionaklitddness or the issuance of certain equity sexsigould result in increased fixed payn
obligations and could also result in restrictives@oants, such as limitations on our ability to inadditional debt or issue additional eqt
limitations on our ability to acquire or licensedhectual property rights, and other operatingrietions that could adversely affect our ab
to conduct our business. In addition, the issuaricaditional equity securities by us, or the pbilisy of such issuance, may cause the m:
price of our common stock to decline. In the ewviratt we enter into collaborations or licensing agements to raise capital, we may
required to accept unfavorable terms. These agnetsmeay require that we relinquish or license thial-party on unfavorable terms our rig
to technologies or product candidates that we wtiserwould seek to develop or commercialize ouesglor reserve certain opportunities
future potential arrangements when we might be @blachieve more favorable terms. If we are not dblsecure additional funding wt
needed, we may have to delay, reduce the scope eliminate one or more research and developmesgrams or selling and market
initiatives. In addition, we may have to work watpartner on one or more of our products or matkgelopment programs, which could lo
the economic value of those programs to our company

Security breaches, loss of data and other disrupscto us or our thireparty service providers could compromise sensitinfrmation
related to our business or prevent us from accegsimitical information and expose us to liabilityyhich could adversely affect our busine
and our reputation.

In the ordinary course of our business,and our thirdparty service providers collect and store sensifiz®, including legally protect
health information, personally identifiable infortiten about our patients, credit card informatiomtellectual property, and our propriet
business and financial information. We manage aahtain our applications and data utilizing a conalion of onsite systems, managed ¢
center systems and clob@sed data center systems. We face a number efrakktive to our protection of, and our serviceviders' protectio
of, this critical information, including loss of
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access, inappropriate disclosure and inappropaiatess, as well as risks associated with ourabilitdentify and audit such events.

The secure processing, storage, maintenamddransmission of this critical information ial to our operations and business strai
and we devote significant resources to protectinghsinformation. Although we take measures to mtotgensitive information fro
unauthorized access or disclosure, our informagchnology and infrastructure may be vulnerablattacks by hackers or viruses or othen
breached due to employee error, malfeasance or attigities. While we are not aware of any sudack or breach, if such event would oc
and cause interruptions in our operations, our agtsv would be compromised and the information waesbn those networks could
accessed by unauthorized parties, publicly disdoest or stolen. Any such access, disclosuretligrdoss of information could result in le
claims or proceedings, liability under laws thabtpct the privacy of personal information, such HI®AA, and regulatory penaltie
Unauthorized access, loss or dissemination cowdd disrupt our operations, including our ability gmocess tests, provide test results,
payers or patients, process claims and appealsjder@ustomer assistance services, conduct researdhdevelopment activities, colle
process and prepare company financial informapoayide information about our tests and other patiand physician education and outre
efforts through our website, manage the adminisgaspects of our business and damage our reputatiny of which could adversely aff
our business.

In addition, the interpretation and appima of consumer, healttelated and data protection laws in the United eStaEurope ar
elsewhere are often uncertain, contradictory anflux. It is possible that these laws may be intetpd and applied in a manner the
inconsistent with our practices. If so, this corddult in governmerithposed fines or orders requiring that we changepeactices, which cou
adversely affect our business. Complying with thesgous laws could cause us to incur substantisiscor require us to change our busi
practices, systems and compliance procedures ian@en adverse to our business.

If we cannot license rights to use technologies @asonable terms, we may not be able to commergatiew products in the future

In the future, we may license third-parghnology to develop or commercialize new produletseturn for the use of a thiggarty'
technology, we may agree to pay the licensor rmsliased on sales of our solutions. Royaltiesa@mponent of cost of revenue and a
the margins on our solutions. We may also neectmtiate licenses to patents and patent applicafter introducing a commercial prodi
Our business may suffer if we are unable to entwr the necessary licenses on acceptable termat all, if any necessary licenses
subsequently terminated, if the licensors faillba by the terms of the license or fail to previefiingement by third parties, or if the licen:
patents or other rights are found to be invalidmenforceable.

If we are unable to protect our intellectual propgreffectively, our business would be harm:

We rely on patent protection as well agleraark, copyright, trade secret and other intaldcproperty rights protection and contrac
restrictions to protect our proprietary technolsgi@! of which provide limited protection and nragt adequately protect our rights or perm
to gain or keep any competitive advantage. If wietéaprotect our intellectual property, third gag may be able to compete more effecti
against us and we may incur substantial litigatiosts in our attempts to recover or restrict useuofintellectual property.

We apply for and itieense patents covering our products and techimedaand uses thereof, as we deem appropriate, lrowe/may fa
to apply for patents on important products and nietdgies in a timely fashion or at all, or we mayl fo apply for patents in potentia
relevant jurisdictions. We have five issued patemtgch expire between 2029 and 2032 related to austhused in the Afirma diagnos
platform, in addition to seven pending United Stat#lity patent applications, two United States
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provisional applications and one PCT applicatioom8 of these United States utility patent applaaihave pending foreign counterparts.
also exclusively licensed intellectual propertylinding rights to three pending United States tytiiatent applications in the thyroid space
would expire between 2030 and 2033 once issuedgtertlto methods that are used in the Afirma diagnesst, some of which have fore
counterparts . In the lung diagnostic space, wéusikely licensed intellectual property rights 1 fiending patent applications and two is:
patents in the United States and abroad. Patenimgsfrom the licensed portfolio will expire betewe2024 and 2028. In addition, we own 1
pending patent applications, a PCT application,apdovisional U.S. application related to our lwagcer test under development, Percep
well as a PCT application and two provisional Uditgtates applications related to our interstitislg disease test under development.
patents granted from the current lung cancer pagplications will expire from 2032 to 2034 andgbdrom the interstitial lung disease pa
applications will expire from 2034 to 2036. It isgsible that none of our pending patent applicatioiil result in issued patents in a tim
fashion or at all, and even if patents are granteedy may not provide a basis for intellectual mnp protection of commercially viat
products, may not provide us with any competitidegamtages, or may be challenged and invalidatethipy parties. It is possible that oth
will design around our current or future patentechhologies. We may not be successful in defendinygchallenges made against our pa
or patent applications. Any successful thiraty challenge to our patents could result inuhenforceability or invalidity of such patents

increased competition to our business. The outcomeatent litigation can be uncertain and any apteby us to enforce our patent rig
against others may not be successful, or, if ssfeksnay take substantial time and result in safitsdl cost, and may divert our efforts

attention from other aspects of our business.

The patent positions of life sciences comig® can be highly uncertain and involve complegaleand factual questions for wh
important legal principles remain unresolved. Nasistent policy regarding the breadth of claim®wé#d in such companies' patents
emerged to date in the United States or elsewi@merts frequently render opinions in the biotecbgglfield that may affect the patentabi
of certain inventions or discoveries, includingripns that may affect the patentability of methfatsanalyzing or comparing DNA.

In particular, the patent positions of camigs engaged in the development and commercializat genomic diagnostic tests, like
Afirma GEC, Malignancy Classifiers and Percepta, garticularly uncertain. Various courts, includihg U.S. Supreme Court, have rend
decisions that affect the scope of patentabilitgetain inventions or discoveries relating to aerddiagnostic tests and related methods. 1
decisions state, among other things, that pataimsl that recite laws of nature (for example, thationship between blood levels of cer
metabolites and the likelihood that a dosage gfexific drug will be ineffective or cause harm) a themselves patentable. What consti
a law of nature is uncertain, and it is possibkg ttertain aspects of genomic diagnostics testddamel considered natural laws. Accordin
the evolving case law in the United States may e affect our ability to obtain patents and nfiagilitate thirdparty challenges to a
owned and licensed patents.

The laws of some foreign countries do notgxrt intellectual property rights to the sameeaktas the laws of the United States, an
may encounter difficulties protecting and defendsaigh rights in foreign jurisdictions. The legak®ms of many other countries do not f:
the enforcement of patents and other intellectuap@rty protection, particularly those relatingbiotechnology, which could make it diffic
for us to stop the infringement of our patentsuntscountries. Proceedings to enforce our patghtgiin foreign jurisdictions could resuli
substantial cost and divert our efforts and attenffom other aspects of our business.

Changes in either the patent laws or iarpretations of patent laws in the United Statestber countries may diminish the value of
intellectual property. We cannot predict the brhaaft claims that may be allowed or enforced in patents or in thirgearty patents. We m
not develop additional proprietary products, methadd technologies that are patentable.
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In addition to pursuing patents on our tetbgy, we take steps to protect our intellectuaberty and proprietary technology by ente
into agreements, including confidentiality agreetagemondisclosure agreements and intellectual propertigasgent agreements, with ¢
employees, consultants, academic institutions,aratp partners and, when needed, our advisors. &yrelements may not be enforceab
may not provide meaningful protection for our traberets or other proprietary information in thergvof unauthorized use or disclosur
other breaches of the agreements, and we may radiledo prevent such unauthorized disclosure elfane required to assert our rights ag.
such party, it could result in significant cost atsktraction.

Monitoring unauthorized disclosure is diffit, and we do not know whether the steps we laken to prevent such disclosure are, or
be, adequate. If we were to enforce a claim thhird-party had illegally obtained and was using our dradcrets, it would be expensive
time consuming, and the outcome would be unpredetdn addition, courts outside the United Statesy be less willing to protect tre
secrets.

We may also be subject to claims that eopleyees have inadvertently or otherwise used stla$ed trade secrets or other proprie
information of their former employers, or to claitheit we have improperly used or obtained suchetssttrets. Litigation may be necessa
defend against these claims. If we fail in defegdauch claims, in addition to paying monetary dagsagve may lose valuable intellect
property rights and face increased competitionup lmsiness. A loss of key research personnel \pookluct could hamper or prevent
ability to commercialize potential products, whicbuld harm our business. Even if we are successfulefending against these clai
litigation could result in substantial costs andabdistraction to management.

Further, competitors could attempt to regtle some or all of the competitive advantages evivel from our development efforts, willfu
infringe our intellectual property rights, desigmand our protected technology or develop their @wmpetitive technologies that fall outs
of our intellectual property rights. Others mayépéndently develop similar or alternative prodwanis technologies or replicate any of
products and technologies. If our intellectual mndy does not adequately protect us against cotopgtproducts and methods, our compet
position could be adversely affected, as couldbmusiness.

We have not registered certain of our maalds, including Afirma and Percepta, in all of atential markets. If we apply to regis
these trademarks, our applications may not be eliofer registration in a timely fashion or at @hd our registered trademarks may nc
maintained or enforced. In addition, oppositioncancellation proceedings may be filed against magemark applications and registratic
and our trademarks may not survive such proceedifige do not secure registrations for our tradéesawe may encounter more difficulty
enforcing them against third parties than we otlieswould.

To the extent our intellectual propertyerff inadequate protection, or is found to be inlval unenforceable, we would be exposed
greater risk of direct competition. If our inteltaal property does not provide adequate coveragmiotompetitors' products, our competi
position could be adversely affected, as couldbmginess. Both the patent application process lagrocess of managing patent dispute:
be time consuming and expensive.

We may be involved in litigation related to inteti®al property, which could be tima#ensive and costly and may adversely affect
business, operating results or financial condition.

We may receive notices of claims of direcindirect infringement or misappropriation or msg of other parties' proprietary rights fi
time to time. Some of these claims may lead tgdtibn. We cannot assure you that we will prevaguch actions, or that other actions alle
misappropriation or misuse by us of third-partyd&asecrets, infringement by us of thpdrty patents and trademarks or other rights, €
validity of our patents, trademarks or other rightgl not be asserted or prosecuted against us.
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We might not have been the first to makeittventions covered by each of our pending papplications and we might not have beer
first to file patent applications for these invemts. To determine the priority of these inventions, may have to participate in interfere
proceedings, derivation proceedings, or other gomtit proceedings declared by the United StatesnPand Trademark Office that could re
in substantial cost to us. No assurance can be ghat other patent applications will not have ptjoover our patent applications. In additi
recent changes to the patent laws of the UnitettStllow for various posirant opposition proceedings that have not beesnsiiely teste:
and their outcome is therefore uncertain. Furtheend third parties bring these proceedings adamsg patents, we could experie
significant costs and management distraction.

Litigation may be necessary for us to erdoour patent and proprietary rights or to deteentlme scope, coverage and validity of
proprietary rights of others. The outcome of atigdition or other proceeding is inherently uncertand might not be favorable to us, anc
might not be able to obtain licenses to technolibgy we require on acceptable terms or at all.Heurtwe could encounter delays in prot
introductions, or interruptions in product saleswse develop alternative methods or products. Hitiad, if we resort to legal proceedings
enforce our intellectual property rights or to detme the validity, scope and coverage of the ietdlial property or other proprietary rights
others, the proceedings could be burdensome arehsie, even if we were to prevail. Any litigatitrat may be necessary in the future ¢
result in substantial costs and diversion of resesiand could have a material adverse effect orbusiness, operating results or finar
condition.

As we move into new markets and applicatifor our products, incumbent participants in soarkets may assert their patents and 1
proprietary rights against us as a means of slowingentry into such markets or as a means to @xdrstantial license and royalty paym
from us. Our competitors and others may now andhénfuture, have significantly larger and more unatpatent portfolios than we currel
have. In addition, future litigation may involvetpat holding companies or other adverse patent mwwbBo have no relevant product reve
and against whom our own patents may provide littl@o deterrence or protection. Therefore, ourroencial success may depend in pal
our noninfringement of the patents or proprietary rightdhord parties. Numerous significant intellectymbperty issues have been litiga
and will likely continue to be litigated, betweexisting and new participants in our existing andyéded markets and competitors may a
that our products infringe their intellectual pragerights as part of a business strategy to impmdesuccessful entry into or growth in th
markets. Third parties may assert that we are eyimgjatheir proprietary technology without authotipa. In addition, our competitors &
others may have patents or may in the future olgtatants and claim that making, having made, useliing, offering to sell or importing ¢
products infringes these patents. We could inclostuntial costs and divert the attention of our agg@ment and technical personne
defending against any of these claims. Parties mgagliaims against us may be able to obtain injuratir other relief, which could block ¢
ability to develop, commercialize and sell produetsd could result in the award of substantial dggsaagainst us. In the event of a succe
claim of infringement against us, we may be reqgliepay damages and ongoing royalties, and obtanor more licenses from third part
or be prohibited from selling certain products. Wiay not be able to obtain these licenses on addeptarms, if at all. We could inc
substantial costs related to royalty payments if@nlses obtained from third parties, which couldatizely affect our financial results.
addition, we could encounter delays in productoatictions while we attempt to develop alternativethnds or products to avoid infring
third-party patents or proprietary rights. Defense of lmysuit or failure to obtain any of these licensesld prevent us from commercializ
products, and the prohibition of sale of any of products could materially affect our business andability to gain market acceptance for
products.

Furthermore, because of the substantialuamaf discovery required in connection with inéeliual property litigation, there is a risk 1
some of our confidential information could be coomised by disclosure during this type of litigatidn addition, during the course of t
kind of litigation, there could
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be public announcements of the results of hearimggions or other interim proceedings or developisieti securities analysts or invest
perceive these results to be negative, it coula lrasubstantial adverse effect on the price ofomrmon stock.

In addition, our agreements with some of customers, suppliers or other entities with wham do business require us to defen
indemnify these parties to the extent they becamelved in infringement claims, including the typesclaims described above. We could
voluntarily agree to defend or indemnify third pestin instances where we are not obligated toodib we determine it would be important
our business relationships. If we are requiredgoe@to defend or indemnify third parties in cortimacwith any infringement claims, we co
incur significant costs and expenses that couleehly affect our business, operating resultsinantial condition.

Risks Related to Being a Public Company

We will continue to incur increased costs and dendanon management as a result of compliance with $aand regulations applicable
public companies, which could harm our operatings@ts.

As a public company, we will continue taun significant legal, accounting, consulting antlen expenses that we did not incur .
private company, including costs associated withlipicompany reporting requirements. In additidre Sarbane®xley Act of 2002 and tt
Dodd+rank Act of 2010, as well as rules implementecthsy Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SBE,The NASDAQ Stoc
Market, impose a number of requirements on puldioganies, including with respect to corporate geaece practices. Our management
other personnel will need to devote a substantimbumt of time to these compliance and disclosulégations. Moreover, these rules
regulations have and will continue to increase legal, accounting and financial compliance costd mrake some activities more comp
time-consuming and costly. We also expect thailitaentinue to be expensive for us to maintairedior and officer liability insurance.

If we are unable to implement and maintain effeatiinternal control over financial reporting, invests may lose confidence in the accur
and completeness of our reported financial infornia and the market price of our common stock mayegatively affected.

As a public company, we are required tontaan internal control over financial reporting atedreport any material weaknesses in :
internal control. Section 404 of the Sarba@edey Act of 2002 requires that we evaluate anéieine the effectiveness of our internal cot
over financial reporting and, beginning with thisnaal report for the year ending December 31, 2@idyide a management report on
internal controls on an annual basis. If we havéena weaknesses in our internal control overriirial reporting, we may not detect error:
a timely basis and our financial statements mayniagerially misstated. We have only recently contpitbe systems, processes
documentation necessary to comply with Section dOthe Sarbane®xley Act. We will need to maintain and enhanceséhprocesses a
controls as we grow, and we will require addition@dnagement and staff resources to do so. Addiyoreven if we conclude our interr
controls are effective for a given period, we mayhe future identify one or more material weakeess our internal controls, in which ¢
our management will be unable to conclude thatimt@rnal control over financial reporting is effilet. Moreover, when we are no longel
emerging growth company, our independent registpudatic accounting firm will be required to issue atestation report on the effectiver
of our internal control over financial reportingvén if our management concludes that our interoatrol over financial reporting is effecti
our independent registered public accounting firayroonclude that there are material weaknessesresihect to our internal controls or
level at which our internal controls are documentksigned, implemented or reviewed.
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If we are unable to conclude that our iméércontrol over financial reporting is effectivar, when we are no longer an emerging gre
company, if our auditors were to express an advepg@don on the effectiveness of our internal coh@iver financial reporting because we
one or more material weaknesses, investors coskl donfidence in the accuracy and completenessirofirancial disclosures, which col
cause the price of our common stock to declinespective of compliance with Section 404, any failaf our internal control over financ
reporting could have a material adverse effectumnreported operating results and harm our remrtatnternal control deficiencies could ¢
result in a restatement of our financial results.

We are an emerging growth company and may eleatamply with reduced public company reporting regeiments applicable to emergi
growth companies, which could make our common stéegs attractive to investor

We are an emerging growth company, as ddfumder the Securities Act of 1933, or the Sdegrifct. We will remain an emergi
growth company until December 31, 2018, althougbuif revenue exceeds $1 billion in any fiscal yeafiore that time, we would cease tc
an emerging growth company as of the end of tisatfiyear. In addition, if the market value of cammon stock that is held by naiffiliates
exceeds $700 million as of the last business dayuosecond fiscal quarter of any fiscal year beefibe end of that fivgear period, we wou
cease to be an emerging growth company as of DemreBdbof that year. As an emerging growth compargymay choose to take advantag
exemptions from various reporting requirements iapple to certain other public companies, includireg being required to comply with 1
auditor attestation requirements of Section 40thefSarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, reduced finan¢&kment and financiaklated disclosure
reduced disclosure obligations regarding executiwvmpensation in our periodic reports and proxyestants, and exemptions from
requirement of holding a nonbinding advisory vote executive compensation and obtaining stockhodggrroval of any golden parach
payments not previously approved by our stockhsldéfe cannot predict whether investors will find goemmon stock less attractive if
choose to rely on any of these exemptions. If somestors find our common stock less attractiveaassult of any choices to reduce fu
disclosure we may make, there may be a less actidang market for our common stock and our stadgkepmay be more volatile.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock
Our stock price may be volatile, and you may notdi#e to sell shares of our common stock at or abdlve price you paid.

Prior to our initial public offering in Qabber 2013, there was no public market for our comrsimck, and an active and liquid pu
market for our stock may not develop or be susthihe addition, the trading price of our commoncktds likely to continue to be higt
volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuatiomsesponse to various factors, some of which ag@bd our control. These factors include:

. actual or anticipated variations in our and our petitors' results of operations;

. announcements by us or our competitors of new mtsgdaommercial relationships or capital commitrsgnt
. changes in reimbursement by current or potentigérs=a

. issuance of new securities analysts' reports angdéhrecommendations for our stock;

. periodic fluctuations in our revenue, due in partite way in which we recognize revenue;

. actual or anticipated changes in regulatory sight of our products;

. developments or disputes concerning our inteledgroperty or other proprietary rights;

. commencement of, or our involvement in, litigati
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. announced or completed acquisitions of businessesbnologies by us or our competitors;
. any major change in our management; and
. general economic conditions and slow or negatieevtjr of our markets.

In addition, the stock market in generald dhe market for stock of life sciences comparied other emerging growth companie
particular, has experienced extreme price and veldlactuations that have often been unrelated sprdportionate to the operat
performance of those companies. Broad market ashastry factors may seriously affect the marketg€ our common stock, regardles:
our actual operating performance. These fluctuatimay be even more pronounced in the trading méoketur stock for some period of til
following our initial public offering, especiallyf substantial investors sell large blocks of stquiticularly if the trading volume in our stc
remains low. In addition, in the past, followingrieels of volatility in the overall market and thearket price of a particular compar
securities, securities class action litigation bisn been instituted against these companies. lifigiation, if instituted against us, could re:
in substantial costs and a diversion of our manag'mattention and resources.

If securities or industry analysts issue an adveigginion regarding our stock or do not publish rem&h or reports about our company, o
stock price and trading volume could declir

The trading market for our common stocK ddépend in part on the research and reports thatyeresearch analysts publish about us
our business. We do not control these analysteecontent and opinions or financial models inctudetheir reports. Securities analysts |
elect not to provide research coverage of our camppand such lack of research coverage may adyeaffelct the market price of our comn
stock. The price of our common stock could alsolidedf one or more equity research analysts doadgrour common stock or if the
analysts issue other unfavorable commentary orecpablishing reports about us or our businessndf @ more equity research analysts c
coverage of our company, we could lose visibilitgthe market, which in turn could cause our stawkepto decline.

Insiders have substantial control over us and Wik able to influence corporate mattel

As of March 2, 2015, directors and exeautdfficers and their affiliates beneficially owndd,the aggregate, 62% of our outstan:
capital stock. As a result, these stockholders halable to exercise significant influence overnaditters requiring stockholder appro
including the election of directors and approvasigiificant corporate transactions, such as a emeygother sale of our company or its as
This concentration of ownership could limit stoclders' ability to influence corporate matters andynhave the effect of delaying
preventing a third-party from acquiring control ows.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents andder Delaware law could discourage, delay or prevanthange in control and mz
affect the trading price of our common stock.

Provisions in our restated certificaterafarporation and our amended and restated bylawshange the effect of delaying or preventir
change of control or changes in our managementréatated certificate of incorporation and amenaled restated bylaws include provisi
that:

. authorize our board of directors to issue, withfusther action by the stockholders, up to 5.0 millishares of undesigna
preferred stock;

. require that any action to be taken by our stoaiiérs be effected at a duly called annual or specgégting and not by writt
consent;
. specify that special meetings of our stockholdeus loe called only by our board of directors, ousichan of the board, or ¢

chief executive officer;
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. establish an advance notice procedure for stockhagprovals to be brought before an annual meetingur stockholder
including proposed nominations of persons for @@ecto our board of directors;

. establish that our board of directors is dividet ithree classes, Class |, Class Il and Classvith each class serving stagge
terms;

. provide that our directors may be removed onlhycuse;

. provide that vacancies on our board of directory,nexcept as otherwise required by law, be filledyoby a majority @

directors then in office, even if less than a quoru
. specify that no stockholder is permitted to cunaulaites at any election of directors; and

. require a super-majority of votes to amend ceréitne above-mentioned provisions.

In addition, we are subject to the provisioof Section 203 of the Delaware General Corpamatiaw regulating corporate takeow:
Section 203 generally prohibits us from engaging business combination with an interested stocldradubject to certain exceptions.

We have never paid dividends on our capital stamikd we do not anticipate paying dividends in thedseeable future.

We have never paid dividends on any of @apital stock and currently intend to retain antufe earnings to fund the growth of
business. In addition, our loan and security agergmestricts our ability to pay cash dividendsoom common stock and we may also €
into credit agreements or other borrowing arrangemia the future that will restrict our ability tieclare or pay cash dividends on our com
stock. Any determination to pay dividends in théufe will be at the discretion of our board of di@s and will depend on our financ
condition, operating results, capital requiremegéseral business conditions and other factorsoitwaboard of directors may deem relevant
a result, capital appreciation, if any, of our coomstock will be the sole source of gain for theeggeable future.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We currently lease 24,000 square feet fi€@faind laboratory space at our headquarters ithS8an Francisco, California, under a I
that expires in March 2016, with an option for asektend the lease for an additional three years.al§0 lease approximately 10,400 sq
feet of office and laboratory space in Austin, T&xander a lease that expires in July 2018, wittoption for us to extend the lease fo
additional five years.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are not currently a party to any matdeigal proceedings. We may from time to time beednvolved in legal proceedings arising
the ordinary course of business.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE
Not applicable.
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Our executive officers and their ages aositpns as of March 2, 2015, are as set forthvelo

Name Age Position

Bonnie H. Andersol 57 President, Chief Executive Officer and Direc
Julie A. Brooks 69 General Counsel and Secret

Shelly D. Guye! 54 Chief Financial Office

Christopher M. Hal 46 Chief Operating Office

Bonnie H. Andersohas served as our Chief Executive Officer and member of our board of directors since February820® Augus
2013, she was appointed as our President. Prjoirting us, Ms. Anderson was an independent stimsansultant from April 2006 to Janu:
2008, including as a strategic consultant for osfduly 2007 to January 2008. Ms. Anderson wasce Yresident at Beckman Coulter, In
manufacturer of biomedical testing instrument gystetests and supplies, from September 2000 to M2@©6. She currently serves as
Emeritus member of the Board of Trustees of thekk@&caduate Institute of Applied Life Sciences. Maderson holds a B.S. in Medi
Technology from Indiana University of Pennsylvania.

Julie A. Brookshas served as our General Counsel and Secretagy iiarch 2014. Prior to joining us, Ms. Brooks weadggal consulta
for Auxogyn, Inc., a women's health company, froept@mber 2013 to December 2013. From June 2018pteMber 2013, Ms. Brooks ser
as Vice President, General Counsel for Bayer HEalth LLC, which acquired Conceptus, Inc., a medieaice company, in June 2013, wt
she served as Executive Vice President, Generahggband Secretary from November 2009 through 2048. Previously, from Novemt
2007 through October 2009, Ms. Brooks was Senice\Rresident, General Counsel and Secretary oddeariSciences, a genomics comp
Ms. Brooks has also held executive roles with a lmemof medical device, healthcare IT, eCommerce lagmlthcare services compan
including Virgin HealthCare, Access Health and Weak International. Ms. Brooks holds a B.A. in Cargtive Literature and an M.B.
from the University of Washington, a J.D. from Safilara University and a Masters of Law in Taxatimm Georgetown University Le
Center.

Shelly D. Guyehas served as our Chief Financial Officer sinceil&#13 and served as our Secretary from April 261 8/arch 201¢
Prior to joining us, Ms. Guyer served as Chief Rial Officer and Executive Vice President of Fioarand Administration of iRhyth
Technologies, Inc., a medical device
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and service company, from April 2008 to Decembet2G-rom March 2006 to August 2007, Ms. Guyer stra® Vice President of Busin
Development and Investor Relations of Nuvelo Iachiopharmaceutical company. Prior to joining NoyéWls. Guyer worked at J.P. Morg
Securities and its predecessor companies for okgedars, serving in a variety of roles includinghalthcare investment banking. Ms. Gt
holds an A.B. in Politics from Princeton Universégd an M.B.A. from the Haas School of Businegb@tUniversity of California, Berkeley.

Christopher M. Hallhas served as our Chief Operating Officer sincaed®eiper 2014. Mr. Hall served as our Chief Comméi©fficer
from March 2010 to September 2014. Prior to joinumy Mr. Hall served as Chief Business Officer aflata Corporation, a diagnos!
company focusing on personalized disease managefmamt October 2008 to February 2010. From Augufi2to February 2010, Mr. H
served in various executive and senior positioreskeley HeartLab, Inc., a cardiovascular disemaaagement company that was acquire
Celera in October 2007, including Chief Clinical @ations Officer and Vice President of Marketing.. Mall holds a B.A. in Economics a
Political Science from DePauw University and an M\Brom Harvard University.

PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, R ELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Our common stock commenced trading undersymbol "VCYT" on The NASDAQ Global Market unddret symbol "VCYT" ol
October 30, 2013. Prior to that time, there wagulglic market for our common stock. Our common lsfiacour initial public offering priced
$13.00 per share. The following table sets forth high and low sales prices of our common stocka qrer share basis, as reported by
NASDAQ Global Market, for the periods indicate

High Low

2014

Fourth Quarte $ 98 $ 6.01

Third Quartel $ 1792 $ 9.22

Second Quarte $ 18.01 $ 12.2¢

First Quarte! $ 19.0C $ 13.7¢
2013

Fourth Quarter (from October 30, 20: $ 14.8( $ 10.8¢

As of March 2, 2015, there were approxitya89 holders of record of our common stock. Howewcause many of our outstanc
shares are held in accounts with brokers and at#tutions, we have more beneficial owners.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid dividendsoon common stock and do not expect to pay dividead our common stock for 1
foreseeable future. Instead, we anticipate thabfabur earnings in the foreseeable future willused for the operation and growth of
business. Any future determination to declare a@imis will be subject to the discretion of our boafdlirectors and will depend on varic
factors, including applicable laws, our resultsoperations, financial condition, future prospeeatsd any other factors deemed relevant by
board of directors. In addition, the terms of camri and security agreement restricts our abilityay dividends on our common stock, anc
may also enter into credit agreements or otheroong arrangements in the future that will furtirestrict our ability to declare or p
dividends on our common stock.
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Stock Performance Graph

The following information is not deemedhe "soliciting material* or to be "filed" with th8ecurities and Exchange Commissiol
subject to Regulation 14A or 14C under the Seasiixchange Act of 1934 or to the liabilities ot 18 of the Securities Exchange Ac
1934, and will not be deemed to be incorporatedeffgrence into any filing under the Securities A£f1933 or the Securities Exchange Ac
1934, except to the extent we specifically incogpeiit by reference into such a filing.

The graph below shows the cumulative tstatkholder return (change in stock price plusvested dividends) assuming the investr
of $100.00 on the date specified in each of ourmmomstock, The NASDAQ Global Market Index, and M&SDAQ Biotechnology Index fi
the period commencing on October 30, 2013 (thé diay of trading of our common stock) and endindatember 31, 2014. The comparis
in the table are required by the Securities anchBxge Commission and are not intended to foregdsé andicative of future performance
our common stock.

Comparison of Cumulative Total Stockholder Return
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=@e=toracyte  =le=NASDAQ Composite MASDAQ Biotech
October 30, December 31 March 31, June 30, September 30 December 31
2013 2013 2014 2014 2014 2014
Veracyte, Inc. $ 100.0C $ 109.0C $ 129.0C $ 129.0( $ 74.0C $ 73.0(
NASDAQ
Market Index $ 100.0C $ 107.0C $ 107.0C $ 112.0C $ 115.0C $ 121.0(
NASDAQ
Biotechnology
Index $ 100.0C $ 111.0C $ 115.0C $ 125.0( $ 133.0C $ 148.0(

Use of Proceeds

On November 4, 2013, we completed an inptidlic offering, or IPO, of our common stock. édonnection with our IPO, we issued .
sold 5,100,351 shares of common stock at a pridgbequblic of $13.00 per share. As a result of I®, we received $59.2 million in 1
proceeds, after deducting underwriting discounts@mmissions of $4.6 million and offering expense$2.5 million payable by us.

We registered the shares under the Sexmrifict on a Registration Statement on Form S-1 ifRatjon No. 333t91282), or th
Registration Statement, which was filed on Septer2be2013 and
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declared effective on October 29, 2013, and on gisRation Statement on Form S-1 (Registration 383-1919782), which was filed 1
October 30, 2013 and was immediately effective.

From the date of the initial closing of 0O through December 31, 2014, we have used appately $39 million of the net procee
from the sale of these securities to fund our dperg, to make capital expenditures, in connectiith the acquisition of Allegro, for workir
capital and for other general corporate purposes.

Other than approximately $8.7 million weespin connection with the acquisition of Allegtbere has been no material change ir
planned use of proceeds from our IPO as describéitki Registration Statement. We invested the meeaiof funds received in a shoetr
money market account primarily consisting of U.&akury reserves.

Sales of Unregistered Securities

In June 2013 we issued to a lender a watoapurchase up to 49,602 shares of Series C ctioleepreferred stock with an exercise p
of $7.56 per share. Upon the drawdown of a term,lthze warrant became exercisable for 24,801 sherésovember 2013, in connection w
our IPO, the warrant automatically became exertéstdy 24,801 shares of common stock at an exeqmise of $7.56 per share. The ler
exercised the warrant with respect to 24,801 shiresigh a cashless exercise in March 2014, regyilti the issuance of 13,739 shares o
common stock. The transaction was exempt from tregiisn under the Securities Act of 1933 in reliaran Section 4(2) or Regulation D
transactions by an issuer not involving a publfefig.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The information set forth below should kad in conjunction with "ltem 7. Management's Dé&ston and Analysis of Financial Condit
and Results of Operations" and our financial steteinand related notes included elsewhere in timsia report. The selected consolidi
balance sheet data at December 31, 2014, 2013,&012011 and the selected consolidated staterobBotserations data for each of the y
ended December 31, 2014, 2013, 2012 and 2011 lerederived from our audited
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consolidated financial statements that are inclugledwhere in this report. The financial data ideldi in this report are historical and are
necessarily indicative of results to be expecteahiy future period.

Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012 2011
(In thousands except share and per share data and\iAs received)

Consolidated Statements of Operation

Data:
Revenue $ 38,19 $ 21,88 $ 11,62¢ $ 2,64f
Operating expense

Cost of revenue(1 16,60¢ 12,60° 7,58¢ 2,92t

Research and development 9,80¢ 7,81( 6,60¢ 6,68(

Selling and marketing(? 21,93: 12,54( 8,44 2,93¢

General and administrative( 18,85/ 12,10( 7,91¢ 5,372
Total operating expenses( 67,19¢ 45,05" 30,557 17,91:
Loss from operation (29,006 (23,177 (18,929 (15,26¢)
Interest expens (439 (239 — —
Other income (expense), r 72 (2,179 28C 821
Net loss $ (29,379 $  (25,58() $ (18,649 $ (14,449
Net loss per common share, basic

diluted $ (1.36) $ (6.15) $ (28.69 $ (24.90
Shares used in computing net loss per

common share, basic and dilut 21,639,37 4,158,66 650,33: 580,06:
Other Operating Data:
FNAs receivec 65,84¢ 49,67( 25,89( 6,402

Q) Includes employee sto-based compensation as follov

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012 2011
(In thousands)

Cost of revenu $ 51 % 34 $ 26 $ 32

Research and developme 79C 25C 131 13C

Selling and marketin 707 16¢ 111 77

General and administrati\ 2,00( 794 407 221

Total stocl-based compensatic $ 3548 $ 1,247 $ 675 $ 46€

Consolidated Balance Sheets Data:

As of December 31

2014 2013 2012 2011
(In thousands)

Cash and cash equivalel $ 3501« $ 71,22( $ 14,000 $ 7,56¢
Working capital 26,20: 61,01¢ 7,39( 6,707
Total asset 64,83¢ 79,63( 19,06" 10,45:
Convertible preferred stoc — — 63,37: 49,29¢
Accumulated defici (115,02) (85,649 (60,069 (41,420
Total stockholders' equity (defici 41,37 56,44: (58,477) (40,766
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of finanaiahdition and results of operations should be réagether with the consolidat
financial statements and the related notes inclugedtem 8 of Part Il of this Annual Report on Fofi-K. This discussion and analy
contains certain forwardeoking statements that involve risks and uncetiain Our actual results may differ materially frahose discuss:
below. Factors that could cause or contribute tolsdifferences include, but are not limited to,ghadentified below and those set forth ul
the section entitled "Risk Factors" in Item 1A, ader documents we file with the Securities anchBrge Commission. Historical results
not necessarily indicative of future results.

Overview

We are a diagnostics company pioneerindith@ of molecular cytology, focusing on genomagions that resolve diagnostic ambig:
and enable physicians to make more informed traatrdecisions at an early stage in patient careirByroving preoperative diagnos
accuracy, we aim to help patients avoid unnecessapgive procedures while reducing healthcarescaur first commercial solution, 1
Afirma Thyroid FNA Analysis, or Afirma, centers @hne proprietary Gene Expression Classifier, or GteGesolve ambiguity in diagnosis ¢
is becoming a new standard of care in thyroid nedidsessment. The GEC helps physicians reduceuthben of unnecessary surgeries
approximately 50% by employing a proprietary Igkhe signature to preoperatively identify beniggrdid nodules among those deet
indeterminate by cytopathology alone. We have destnated the clinical utility and cost effectivenegshe GEC in multiple studies publist
in peer-reviewed journals and established theadinralidity of the GEC in a study publishedlihe New England Journal of Medicime2012
The comprehensive Afirma offering also includesopgthology testing and the Afirma Malignancy Cless, launched in May 2014. Sir
we commercially launched Afirma in January 2011,hage received nearly 160,000 FNA samples for eatadn using Afirma and perform
more than 30,000 GECs to resolve indeterminatepaytmlogy results.

We are expanding our molecular cytologynétase into other clinical areas of unmet needusog first on difficult-todiagnose lun
diseases, where current diagnostic ambiguity fretiyeequires invasive, risky and costly procedu@sbtain a definitive diagnosis. Throt
our acquisition of Allegro Diagnostics Corp., olégro, on September 16, 2014, we plan to launcHimirpulmonology product by mi@o15
aimed at improving the risk stratification of pati® with lung nodules that are suspicious for can@ar proprietary technology has b
developed to help physicians determine which ptiaith nondiagnostic bronchoscopy results can be safely mdtwith routine CT sca
versus an invasive surgical biopsy.

Our second pulmonology pipeline producintended to help patients with suspected inteastiting diseases, or ILDs, specific:
idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis, or IPF, obtain arca@te diagnosis without surgery. ILDs presentgmificant challenge for diagnosis toc
without invasive surgical biopsy, leaving many pats with ambiguous diagnoses that can lead topsimbal or even harmful treatment. We
developing a genomic test, which we currently gamtroduce in 2016, to improve the diagnosisRF from the other ILDs.

On November 7, 2014, we signed an AmencdedRestated U.S. CBromotion Agreement, or Amended Agreement, with Zgere tha
reduced the cgromotion fees we owe to Genzyme from 32% to 15%iriméng January 1, 2015. The Amended Agreementregpin Janual
2027. On February 13, 2015, we entered into an Bx-Go-Promotion Agreement, or Ex-U.S. Agreemeiitt) @enzyme for the cexclusive
promotion of the Afirma GEC test in two countriestside the United States: Brazil and Singapore.af§e granted Genzyme, for a limi
period of time, an exclusive right of first negdia to enter into an agreement with us for thenpstion of the Afirma GEC test in thr
additional countries: Canada, the Netherlands gl IFurther, upon mutual agreement, the partieg aud additional
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countries (other than the United States) to theJEX- Agreement. The term of the agreement commebaasary 1, 2015 and continues
December 31, 2019, with extension of the agreempesgible upon agreement of the parties.

We increased the list price billed for tB&EC from $4,275 to $4,875 per test in January 20dHle the list price billed for routir
cytopathology remained at $490 per test. We obthMedicare coverage for the GEC effective in Jap@&12 and contracted reimbursen
at an agreed upon rate of $3,200. We receivedipesibverage determinations from UnitedHealthcareé @igna in 2013 and in late 2(
signed contracts with these payers establishingetmork allowable rates for both our GEC and cytbplgy tests. We have also recei
positive coverage determinations from numerousratbenmercial payers and, as of March 2015, the &E€bvered by payers represen
145 million covered lives. Contracted and reimbmeat rates vary by payer.

We recognized revenue of $38.2 million, $2iillion and $11.6 million in the years ended Beber 31, 2014, 2013 and 2C
respectively. Revenue increased by 75%, 88% ané340 the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 ahd, 2espectively. We incurrel
net loss of $29.4 million, $25.6 million and $18dlion for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2@hd8 2012, respectively. As
December 31, 2014, we had an accumulated defigit 5.0 million.

Factors Affecting Our Performance
The Number of FNAs We Receive and Test

The growth in our business is tied to thenber of FNAs we receive and the number of GECpaed. Approximately 91% of FNAs \
receive are for the Afirma solution, which consisteytopathology, and if the cytopathology ressiiindeterminate, the GEC is performed.
remaining approximate 9% of FNAs are received frmenters performing cytopathology in their instibutiwhere the cytopathology resul
indeterminate and we perform the GEC only. The edtevhich adoption occurs in these two settingd valuse these two percentage
fluctuate over time. Approximately 1% to 2% of thA samples we receive for cytopathology have ifigeht cellular material from which
render a cytopathology diagnosis. We only bill tlehnical component, including slide preparatian,these tests. For results that are beni
suspicious/malignant by cytopathology, we bill these services when we issue the report to theiqgamys If the cytopathology result
indeterminate, defined as atypia/follicular lesia@isindetermined significance (AUS/FLUS) or suspirsi for FN/HCN, we perform the GE
Historically, approximately 14%7% of samples we have received for the Afirmatsmiuhave yielded indeterminate results by cytopatty.
Approximately 5%10% of the samples for GEC testing have insufficidsonucleic acid, or RNA, from which to renderesult. The GEC c:
be reported as Benign, Suspicious or No ResultbilVéor the GEC Benign and GEC Suspicious resatily. After the GEC is completed,
issue the cytopathology report for the indetern@nasults as well as the GEC report, and therfdrilboth of these tests. We incur cost
collecting and shipping the FNAs and a portionha tosts of performing tests where we cannot utgiydassue a patient report. Because
cannot bill for all samples received, the numbeFiAs received does not directly correlate to titaltnumber of patient reports issued anc
amount billed.

Continued Adoption of and Reimbursement for Afirma

To date, only a small number of payers hammbursed us for Afirma at full list price. Rewengrowth depends on both our abilit
achieve broader reimbursement at increased lexats thirdparty payers and to expand our base of prescripiygicians and increase
penetration in existing accounts. Because somerpagasider the GEC experimental and investigatioma may not receive payment on m
tests and payments may not be at acceptable leaelpared to what we have billed. We expect ourmegegrowth will increase as more pa
make a positive coverage decision and as payees gmib contracts with us, which should enhance amarued revenue and collections.
drive increased adoption
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of Afirma, we have increased our internal salesdan highvolume geographies domestically during 2014 and pdacontinue to do so ir
2015, along with increasing our marketing effokge have also hired institutional channel managerfo¢tus on the institutional segme
which accounts generally send us only GECs. If ne unable to expand the base of prescribing ptaysscand penetration within th
accounts at an acceptable rate, or if we are rlet tabexecute our strategy for increasing reimbmesg, we may not be able to effectiv
increase our revenue.

How We Recognize Reveni

A significant portion of our revenue is egaized upon the earlier of receipt of thipdrty notification of payment or when cash is reed
For Medicare and certain other payers where we laavagreed upon reimbursement rate or we are abteake a reasonable estimat
reimbursement at the time delivery is completey@m®gnize the related revenue on an accrual Hastd.we have contracts with or can mal
reasonable estimate of reimbursement from a lamgerber of payers, we will recognize a large portidrour revenue upon the earliet
notification of payment or when cash is receivedditionally, as we commercialize new products, wilt meed to contract with or be able
make a reasonable estimate of reimbursement fdr gayger for each new product offering prior to lge@tble to recognize the related reve
on an accrual basis. Because the timing and anwduiatsh payments received from payers is diffitulpredict, we expect that our revenue
fluctuate significantly in any given quarter. Indiibn, even if we begin to accrue larger amourftsewenue related to Afirma, when
introduce new products we do not expect we wilbbk to recognize revenue from new products oncarual basis for some period of tir
This may result in continued fluctuations in owearue.

Revenue recognized when cash is receivedd28.7 million, $14.6 million and $7.5 million ftine years ended December 31, 2014,
and 2012, respectively. Revenue recognized on anuacbasis was $12.5 million, $7.3 million and I#illion for the years end
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

As of December 31, 2014, amounts billethimlast 12 months at list price, for tests proedsshich were not recognized as revenue
delivery of a patient report because our accruatmae recognition criteria were not met and forahihive have not received natification
payment, collected cash or written off as uncoildet totaled $47.1 million.

As of December 31, 2013, amounts billethimlast 12 months at list price, for tests proedsshich were not recognized as revenue
delivery of a patient report because our accruatmae recognition criteria were not met and foralhive have not received notification
payment, collected cash or written off as uncoiéet totaled $32.4 million. Of this amount, we ogoized revenue of $7.3 million in the y
ended December 31, 2014, when cash was received.

Although primarily all cash we receive w@llected within 12 months of the date the testilled, we cannot provide any assurance
when, if ever, or to what extent any of these an®wiill be collected. Notwithstanding our effortsdbtain payment for these tests, payers
deny our claims, in whole or in part, and we mayemeeceive revenue from previously performed mgaid tests. Revenue from these tes
any, may not be equal to the billed amount due noraber of factors, including differences in reimdement rates, the amounts of patient c
payments and co-insurance, the existence of sepppdgers and claims denials.

We incur expense for tests in the periodinich the test is conducted and recognize revémutests in the period in which our reve
recognition criteria are met. Accordingly, any reue that we recognize as a result of cash colledtiaespect of previously performed
unpaid tests will favorably impact our liquidity dnesults of operations in future periods.
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Impact of Genzyme C-promotion Agreement

The $10.0 million fee we received from Gane under the C&romotion Agreement dated as of January 18, 20b2irgy amortized ov
the estimated useful life based on the provisiohthe agreement, and is recorded as a reductisselfing and marketing expenses.
amortized $2.3 million, $2.5 million and $2.4 noli of the $10.0 million in the years ended Decen#igr2014, 2013 and 2012, respectiv
and these offsets to expense are included in galiml marketing expense in our consolidated stattnu operations and comprehensive
The 2012 agreement required that we pay a cer&xiceptage of our cash receipts from the sale ofAfirena GEC test to Genzyme, wh
percentage decreased over time. The percentaged®fasfrom January 2013 through February 2014, 328 fFebruary 2014 throu
December 2014, and decreased to 15% in January(2PdB execution of the Amended and Restated UoS2rGmotion Agreement, dated
of November 7, 2014, with Genzyme). Our momotion fees were $12.0 million, $8.6 million a®b.5 million in the years end
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively, aardincluded in selling and marketing expense®un consolidated statements
operations and comprehensive loss.

On August 12, 2014, we signed a bindingdredf Agreement with Genzyme to amend the ternth@f2012 agreement. On Novembe
2014, we signed an Amended and Restated U.SPrGmotion Agreement, or Amended Agreement, with Zgere. Under the Amend
Agreement, the cpromotion fees Genzyme will receive as a percentdfge.S. cash receipts from the sale of the Afir@GBC test wer
reduced from 32% to 15% beginning January 1, 2BLi&her, we have agreed to assume more respotisibfior sales and marketing activit
Either party may terminate the agreement for coimrere with six months prior notice, however, naitharty can terminate the agreemen
convenience prior to June 30, 2016. Our agreemiht®enzyme expires in January 2027.

On February 13, 2015, we entered into arttJEx Co-Promotion Agreement, or Ex-U.S. Agreemaiith Genzyme for the cexclusive
promotion of the Afirma GEC test in two countriastgide the United States: Brazil and Singapore.alge granted Genzyme, for a limi
period of time, an exclusive right of first negdita to enter into an agreement with us for thenpwtion of the Afirma GEC test in thr
additional countries: Canada, the Netherlands taig. IFurther, upon mutual agreement, the partiag add additional countries (other than
United States) to the B¥-S. Agreement. The term of the agreement commedaerdary 1, 2015 and continues until December @19 2witt
extension of the agreement possible upon agreeofighé parties. Country specific terms have be¢abtished under this agreement for Br
and Singapore. We will pay Genzyme 25% of cashipec&om the sale of the Afirma GEC test in Braaild Singapore over a fiwear perior
commencing January 1, 2015. Beginning in the foye#r of the agreement, if we terminate the agre¢fioe convenience in Brazil, we m
be required to pay a termination fee contingenth@number of GEC billable results generated.

Development of Additional Produc!

We rely on sales of Afirma to generateddlbur revenue. In May 2014, we commercially lawgtiour Afirma Malignancy Classifie
which we believe will enhance our Afirma Thyroid AM\nalysis as a comprehensive way to manage thymowule patients and serve
current base of prescribing physicians. We alsa ptapursue development of products for additiatiabases to increase and diversify
revenue. For example, in September 2014 we acgaiftedro and with it their molecular diagnostic tunancer test designed to help physic
determine which patients with lung nodules who hiaze a nordiagnostic bronchoscopy result are at low riskcfncer and can thus be sa
monitored with CT scans rather than undergoingsiweaprocedures. We plan to launch Percepta, giextgjuired from Allegro, by mido15
Additionally, we are pursuing a solution for intitial lung disease, or ILD, that will offer an ethative to surgery by developing a genc
signature to classify samples collected through legasive bronchoscopy techniques. Accordingly,exgect to continue to invest heavily
research and development in order to expand thabdéjes of our solutions and to develop additiona
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products. Our success in developing new produdtdwimportant in our efforts to grow our businéssexpanding the potential market for
products and diversifying our sources of revenue.

Timing of Our Research and Development Expenses

We deploy state-of-theat and costly genomic technologies in our biomarliscovery experiments, and our spending on
technologies may vary substantially from quarteqoarter. We also spend a significant amount targeclinical samples that can be use
discovery and product development as well as @inialidation studies. The timing of these reseat development activities is difficult
predict, as is the timing of sample acquisitiorisa Isubstantial number of clinical samples are aeduin a given quarter or if a higtes
experiment is conducted in one quarter versus &xg the timing of these expenses can affect mamitial results. We conduct clinical stut
to validate our new products as well asgming clinical studies to further the publishedd®rice to support our commercialized test, Afirms
these studies are initiated, stag-costs for each site can be significant and aunated in a specific quarter. Spending on researd
development, for both experiments and studies, vaay significantly by quarter depending on the timbf these various expenses.

Historical Seasonal Fluctuations in FNA Volume an@ollections

Our business is subject to fluctuationthim number of FNA samples received for both cytoplagy and GEC testing throughout the »
as a result of physician practices being closedhftidays or endocrinology and thyraidlated industry meetings which are widely attenlly
our prescribing physicians. Like other companiesun field, vacations by physicians and patientslt® negatively affect our volumes m
during the summer months and during the end of gebidays compared to other times of the year. Addally, we may receive fewer FNAs
the winter months due to severe weather if patiargsnot able to visit their doctor's office. Oamnbursed rates and cash collections are
subject to seasonality. Medicare normally makesusigjents in its fee schedules at the beginninghef ytear which may affect ¢
reimbursement. Additionally, some plans reset tdetluctibles at the beginning of each year whiclamaahat patients early in the year
responsible for a greater portion of the cost aftests, and we have lower collection rates frodividuals than from thirgarty payers. Lat
in the year, particularly in the fourth quarter, @xgerience improved payment results as thady payers tend to clear pending claims to
year end. This trend historically has increased aagh collections in the fourth quarter. The effeat these seasonal fluctuations in g
periods may have been obscured by the growth obasiness.

Financial Overview
Revenue

Through December 31, 2014, all of our rexemave been derived from the sale of Afirma. Qulut®n to date has been delive
primarily to physicians in the United States. Wenegpally invoice thirdparty payers upon delivery of a patient reporttie prescribin
physician. As such, we take the assignment of litsreaid the risk of collection from the third-pagsyer and individual patients. Our
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third-party payers in excess of 10% of revenuetheit related revenue as a percentage of totahtevevere as follows:

Year Ended
December 31
2014 2013 2012

Medicare 26% 32% 34%
Aetna 11% 9% 13%
United Healthcar: 18% 18% 12%

55% 5%%  59%

As the number of payers reimbursing forré increases, the percentage of revenue derioed Kledicare and other significant third-
party payers has changed and will continue to chasga percentage of total revenue.

For tests performed where we have an agnped reimbursement rate or we are able to maleasonable estimate of reimburseme
the time delivery is complete, such as in the a#skledicare and certain other payers, we recogttizerelated revenue upon delivery «
patient report to the prescribing physician basethe established billing rate less contractual @hér adjustments to arrive at the amount
we expect to collect. We determine the amount vpeeixto collect based on a per payer, per contragfjreement basis. The expected ar
is typically lower than, if applicable, the agragubn reimbursement amount due to several factach, as the amount of patient payments
the existence of secondary payers and claim deriatsher situations, where we are not able toaerekeasonable estimate of reimburser
we recognize revenue upon the earlier of receiphiod-party payer notification of payment or when caskeeived. Upon ultimate collectic
the amount received from Medicare and commercigkgawhere reimbursement was estimated is compar@devious estimates and
contractual allowance is adjusted accordingly. @itity to increase our revenue will depend on ability to penetrate the market, obi
positive coverage policies from additional thirddggpayers, obtain reimbursement and/or entergotdracts with additional thirgarty payer:
and increase reimbursement rates for tests pertbrfirally, should we recognize revenue from payersn accrual basis and later deter
the judgments underlying estimated reimbursemesgé, our financial results could be negativelyantpd in future quarters.

Cost of Revenue

The components of our cost of revenue aternals and service costs, including cytopatholagying services, stodkased compensati
expense, direct labor costs, equipment and infrestre expenses associated with testing samplgmiisy charges to transport samples,
allocated overhead including rent, information tembgy, equipment depreciation and utilities. Coastsociated with performing tests
recorded as the test is processed regardless dherhend when revenue is recognized with respetttabtest. As a result, our cost of reve
as a percentage of revenue may vary significamtgnfperiod to period because we do not recognizesaknue in the period in which 1
associated costs are incurred. We expect costvehue in absolute dollars to increase as the nuwibists we perform increases. Howe
we expect that the cost per test will decrease tiwer due to leveraging fixed costs, efficienciesmay gain as test volume increases and
automation, process efficiencies and other costatiohs. As we introduce new tests, initially oostof revenue will be high and will incre:
disproportionately our aggregate cost of revenug we achieve efficiencies in processing these tests.
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Research and Developme

Research and development expenses inchste imcurred to develop our technology, colleirtichl samples and conduct clinical stus
to develop and support our products. These costsisioof personnel costs, including stdzsed compensation expense, prototype mat
laboratory supplies, consulting costs, costs aasetiwith setting up and conducting clinical stedi& domestic and international sites,
allocated overhead including rent, information tembgy, equipment depreciation and utilities. Weense all research and development
in the periods in which they are incurred. We expma research and development expenses will iser@afuture periods as we continu
invest in research and development activities edlab developing additional products and evaluatimgous platforms. We expect that in
next 12 months the increase in research and dewelapexpenses will be for the continued developraedtsupport of Afirma and other n
products and programs under development, includimgung cancer and ILD programs. Specifically, pi@n to: increase the body of clini
evidence to support Afirma; incur research and kgreent expenses associated with analytical vetifia and clinical utility studies
support the commercialization of Percepta; andriesipenses associated with clinical validation igtsiéh our ILD program.

Selling and Marketing

Selling and marketing expenses consist essgnnel costs, including stoblased compensation expense, direct marketing esg
consulting costs, and allocated overhead includémg, information technology, equipment deprecratmd utilities. In addition, up-front co-
promotion fees paid to Genzyme, net of amortizatare included in selling and marketing expense®Ndvember 2014, we amended the cc
promotion agreement with Genzyme. As a result of #mendment, we expect our selling and marketiperses for Afirma to reme
relatively flat over the next year. While we exp#wt our personnel costs will increase as we takenore sales and marketing responsibil
related to Afirma, we expect these increases weilbffset by the lower rate we are required to papzyme under the agreement beginnir
January 2015. In 2015, we also expect to incuingelhind marketing expenses as a result of invesggmienour lung product portfoli
Therefore, we believe total selling and marketirgemses will increase in 2015.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses inckxdeutive, finance and accounting, human resoptegal, billing and client services, ¢
quality and regulatory functions. These expenselsiiie personnel costs, including stdzksed compensation expense, audit and legal exs:
consulting costs, costs associated with being digpabmpany, and allocated overhead including rémformation technology, equipme
depreciation and utilities. The year ended DecerBligP014 also includes transaction costs relaigtid acquisition of Allegro in Septem
2014, including charges for merger related severama bonuses. We expect our general and admtiastrexpenses will increase over
next 12 months as we expand our billing group topsut anticipated increased demand for our tests,rhore personnel in accounting .
finance, incur increasing expenses related to tuaimentation of our internal controls in connectwith compliance with Section 404 of -
Sarbane®©xley Act of 2002, and incur greater legal costs gatent prosecution and for public company conmgkaand general corpor
purposes.

Interest Expenst
Interest expense is attributable to ourdwings under our loan and security agreement.

70




Table of Contents
Other Income (Expense), Net

Other income (expense), net, for the yealed December 31, 2014 consists primarily of si@leantal income, interest income rece
from payers and from our cash equivalents, paytifliset by amortization of debt issuance costs.

Other income (expense), net, in the yeaded December 31, 2013 and 2012 also includedhhege in the fair value of the prefer
stock liability associated with our obligation ssue additional shares of Series C convertibleemed stock. We determined that the liabilit
issue additional Series C convertible preferredlstmt a future date was a freestanding instrunteatt hould be accounted for as a liabi
Accordingly, we recorded a liability related toghinstrument at the time of the initial close inMdmber 2012, and we maeasured the liabili
at each reporting period with the corresponding gailoss from the adjustment recorded as oth@migc(expense), net, through the issuan
the final Series C tranche in June 2013, at whinlk the preferred stock liability was extinguished.

In addition, other income (expense), netthie year ended December 31, 2013 included changeslue of the preferred stock wart
liability issued in connection with our dragewn of borrowings under the loan and security axgpent in June 2013. We recorded a liak
related to this warrant and reeasured the liability at each reporting periochwiite corresponding gain or loss from the adjustmeeorded ¢
other income (expense), net. The preferred stockamt liability was converted into a warrant to ghese our common stock upon
completion of our initial public offering (IPO) iINovember 2013. This warrant was exercised througgisaless exercise in March 2014.

Critical Accounting Polices and Estimates

Our management's discussion and analysisiofinancial condition and results of operatisgbased on our audited financial statem:
which have been prepared in accordance with Uriitades generally accepted accounting principled).8t GAAP. The preparation of
financial statements requires us to make estimatdsassumptions that affect the reported amourdss#ts and liabilities and the disclosul
contingent assets and liabilities at the date effifiancial statements, as well as the reporteemes generated and expenses incurred duril
reporting periods. Our estimates are based on istorital experience and on various other factbeg tve believe are reasonable unde
circumstances, the results of which form the bémisnaking judgments about the carrying value afess and liabilities that are not rea
apparent from other sources. Actual results magmifom these estimates under different assumgtarconditions and any such differer
may be material. We believe that the accountingcigsl discussed below are critical to understandinghistorical and future performance
these policies relate to the more significant aneaslving management's judgments and estimates.

Revenue Recoghnitio

Our revenue is generated from the provisibdiagnostic services using the Afirma soluti@ur service is completed upon the deliver
test results to the prescribing physician whicgdeirs the billing for the service. We recognizeeraie related to billings for Medicare
commercial payers on an accrual basis, net of aonial adjustments, when we can reasonably estimatdursement. These contrac
adjustments represent the difference betweengherice (the billing rate) and the reimbursemaeit¢ for each payer. Upon ultimate collect
the amount received from Medicare and commercigegawhere reimbursement was estimated is compar@devious estimates and
contractual allowance is adjusted accordingly. Uatcontract has been negotiated with a commepagker or governmental program,
Afirma solution may or may not be covered by theséties' existing reimbursement policies. In aiddit patients do not enter into dir
agreements with us that commit them to pay anyigodf the cost of the tests in the event thatrthrsiurance declines to reimburse us. Ir
absence of an agreement or other clearly enforedagl right to demand payment from the patidmg,related revenue is only recognized t
the earlier of payment notification, if applicabte,cash receipt.
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For all services performed, we consider tivbe or not the following revenue recognition aidieare met: persuasive evidence o
arrangement exists; delivery has occurred or sesiave been rendered; and a reasonable estimaienbfirsement can be made.

Persuasive evidence of an arrangementseaigl delivery is deemed to have occurred upowetgliof a patient report to the prescrit
physician. The assessment of whether a reasonabieate of reimbursement can be made requiresfiigni judgment by manageme
Where our judgment indicates a reasonable estiofateimbursement can be made, we recognize revepoe delivery of the patient repc
Some patients have out-gbocket costs for amounts not covered by theirraste carrier, and we may bill the patient direddy thes:
amounts in the form of co-payments andigudrance in accordance with their insurance caatel health plans. Some payers may not «
the GEC as ordered by the prescribing physiciareuttteir reimbursement policies. We pursue reimdauent from such patients on a case-b
case basis.

In the absence of contracted reimburseroewtrage or the ability to reasonably estimate bbeirsement, we recognize revenue upol
earlier of receipt of third-party payer notificatiof payment or when cash is received.

We use judgment in determining if we aréedab make a reasonable estimate of reimburserié¢atalso use judgment in estimating
amounts we expect to collect by payer. Our judgs&ili continue to evolve in the future as we congé to gain payment experience \
third-party payers and patients.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We estimate an allowance for doubtful actsuwagainst our individual accounts receivable dhase estimates of expected payn
consistent with historical payment experience. @llawance for doubtful accounts is evaluated oergular basis and adjusted when trenc
significant events indicate that a change in esnmappropriate. Accounts receivable are writifragainst the allowance when the app
process is exhausted or when there is other subsavidence that the account will not be paid.

Business Combinatiot

We account for acquisitions using the asitjon method of accounting which requires the geition of tangible and identifiak
intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumatetheir estimated fair values as of the businessbination date. We allocate any exi
purchase price over the estimated fair value asdida the net tangible and identifiable intangib$sets acquired and liabilities assume
goodwill. Transaction costs are expensed as indurrgeneral and administrative expenses. Restiliperations and cash flows of acqu
companies are included in our operating results fitee date of acquisition.

Goodwill

We review goodwill for impairment on an aahbasis or more frequently if events or circumsés indicate that it may be impaired.
goodwill evaluation is based on both qualitativel gnantitative assessments regarding the fair vaflgmodwill relative to its carrying valt
We have determined that we operate in a single eegand have a single reporting unit associateld thié# development and commercializa
of diagnostic products. In the event we determivag it is more likely than not the carrying valuketloe reporting unit is higher than its 1
value, quantitative testing is performed companiegorded values to estimated fair values. If impaint is present, the impairment los
measured as the excess of the recorded goodwillitsvénplied fair value. We perform our annual exadion of goodwill during the four
quarter of each fiscal year.
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Intangible Asset:

Our intangible assets are comprised of iaeduinprocess research and development, or IPR&D. Thevidue of IPR&D acquire
through a business combination is capitalized as@e&finitedived intangible asset until the completion or at@mment of the related resee
and development activities. IPR&D is tested for @ainment annually or when events or circumstancdiate that the fair value may be be
the carrying value of the asset. If and when reseand development is complete, the associatedsasseild then be amortized over t
estimated useful lives.

Impairment of Long¢-lived Assets

We review londived and indefinite lived assets other than godidiei impairment on an annual basis or whenevemgs or changes
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounthef assets may not be recoverable. We recognizenpairment loss when the total
estimated future undiscounted cash flows expedaiedbgult from the use of the asset and its evertisgiosition are less than its carry
amount. Impairment, if any, would be assessed wismpunted cash flows or other appropriate measafréair value.

Derivative Liability

We account for derivative financial instrembs as either equity or liabilities based upon t¢haracteristics and provisions of e
instrument. We recorded the preferred stock ligbiticurred in connection with our Series C contdetpreferred stock and the preferred s
warrant liability related to the issuance of a watrfor Series C convertible preferred stock, ezl derivative financial instrument liability
their fair value on the date of issuance, and wmeasured them on each subsequent balance sheefTHatehanges in fair value w
recognized as a gain or loss from the adjustmemttier income (expense), net, in the statementgpefations and comprehensive loss.
estimated the fair value of this liability usingtimm-pricing models that include assumptions for futfimancings, expected volatility, expec
life, yield and riskfree interest rate. The preferred stock liabilitgsaextinguished in June 2013. The warrant to pgel&eries C convertit
preferred stock was converted into a warrant teipase our common stock as of the closing of our dR@was exercised through a cast
exercise in March 2014.

Deferred Tax Asset
We file U.S. federal income tax returns éadreturns in California, Texas and other states.

As of December 31, 2014 and December 31326ur gross deferred tax assets were $43.4 miliied $32.8 million, respectively. T
deferred tax assets were primarily comprised o&faldand state tax net operating loss and tax tcoagliyforwards. Utilization of the r
operating loss and tax credit carryforwards maysugiect to annual limitation due to historical ature ownership percentage change |
provided by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, sindlar state provisions. The annual limitation nragult in the expiration of certain
operating loss and tax credit carryforwards befbegr utilization.

We are required to reduce our deferredatmets by a valuation allowance if it is more ljkélan not that some or all of our deferred
assets will not be realized. We must use judgmeassessing the potential need for a valuationvalhce, which requires an evaluation of |
negative and positive evidence. The weight givetth® potential effect of negative and positive ewick should be commensurate with
extent to which it can be objectively verified.datermining the need for and amount of our valuasiltowance, if any, we assess the likelik
that we will be able to recover our deferred tasets using historical levels of income, estimatefuitnre income and tax planning stratec
As a result of historical cumulative losses andseldaon all available evidence, we believe it is emidkely than not that our recorded
deferred tax assets will not be realized. Accorlyinge recorded a
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valuation allowance against all of our net deferraxl assets at December 31, 2014 and 2013. Wecwrillinue to maintain a full valuati
allowance on our net deferred tax assets untietiesufficient evidence to support the reversallbér some portion of this allowance.

Stoclk-based Compensation

We recognize stock-based compensationfoosinly those shares underlying stock options tiatexpect to vest on a straidite basi:
over the requisite service period of the award.astimate the fair value of stock options using acRiScholes valuation model, which requ
the input of highly subjective assumptions, inchglthe option's expected term and stock price Nitfain addition, judgment is also requir
in estimating the number of stoblased awards that are expected to be forfeitedeikoes are estimated based on historical expegian th
time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsetgperiods if actual forfeitures differ from thosstimates. The assumptions use
calculating the fair value of shabased payment awards represent management's ligshtes, but these estimates involve inhe
uncertainties and the application of managememtigment. As a result, if factors change and wediferent assumptions, our stobase:
compensation expense could be materially diffeiretite future.

Results of Operations

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2014 203

Year Ended
December 31 Dollar %
2014 2013 Change Change
(In thousands)
Revenue $ 38,19C $ 21,88: $ 16,30¢ 75%
Operating expens:
Cost of revenu 16,60¢ 12,60° 3,99¢ 32%
Research and developme 9,80¢ 7,81( 1,99¢ 26%
Selling and marketin 21,93 12,54( 9,392 75%
General and administrati 18,85 12,10( 6,75¢ 56%
Total operating expens 67,19¢ 45,05’ 22,13¢ 49%
Loss from operation (29,00¢6) (23,179 (5,839 25%
Interest expens (439 (233) (20¢) N/A
Other income (expense), r 72 (2,179 2,24¢ N/A
Net loss and comprehensive I $ (29,379 $ (25,580 $ (3,799 15%

Revenu

Revenue increased $16.3 million, or 75% tlhe year ended December 31, 2014 compared tsatime period in 2013. The increase
primarily as a result of increased collections vahiesulted from realizing higher reimbursementgdtem payers as well as from incree
volume due to increased adoption of Afirma andeéased percentage of samples for the GEC test only.

For the year ended December 31, 2014 cadpar the same period in 2013, revenue recognizezhvweash was received increase
approximately $11.1 million, or 76%, to $25.7 nuhi, reflecting increased adoption and collectidfs. the year ended December 31, -
compared to the same period in 2013, revenue régagyon an accrual basis increased by approxim&gB million, or 71% to $12.5 millio
primarily reflecting increased adoption and tosskr extent, additional payers meeting our reveacgnition criteria.

74




Table of Contents
Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue increased $4.0 million32%6, for the year ended December 31, 2014 compartite same period in 2013. The incre
was primarily due to an increase in variable ctistd are directly related to the increase in themimer of FNAS received, offset in part
continuing refinements in our testing process acohemies of scale related to the increase in FNdegssed. FNAs received incree
16,178, or 33%, to 65,848 in the year ended DecefBihe2014.

Research and developmt

Comparison of the years ended Decembe2@®14 and 2013 is as follows:

Year Ended
December 31, Dollar %
2014 2013 Change Change

(In thousands)
Research and development expel

Personnel related exper $ 4532 $ 387t $ 65¢ 17%
Stocl-based compensation expe! 79C 25C 54C 21€6%
Direct R&D expensi 2,73¢ 1,68¢ 1,04¢ 62%
Other expens 1,74¢ 2,00( (254) -13%

Total $ 9,804 $ 7,81C $ 1,99« 26%

Research and development expense incr&2s@dnillion, or 26%, for the year ended DecemlierZ)14 compared to the same peric
2013. The increase in personnel related expensepvitmsrily due to a 38% increase in headcount ateler 31, 2014 as comparel
December 31, 2013. The increase in stbaked compensation expense reflects option gramiew and existing employees. The increa
direct R&D expense was due primarily to the timimfggenome sequencing expenses and other laboraxpgnses. The decrease in ¢

expense was due primarily to $530,000 in licende®s to secure thyroid intellectual property in 20partially offset by an increase
consulting and recruiting fees.

Selling and marketing

Comparison of the years ended Decembe2@®14 and 2013 is as follows:

Year Ended
December 31, Dollar %
2014 2013 Change Change

(In thousands)
Selling and marketing expens

Genzyme co-promotion expense,

net $ 9,731 $ 6,08 $ 3,64¢ 60%
Personnel related exper 8,121 4,291 3,83( 89%
Stocl-based compensation expel 707 16¢ 53¢ 318%
Direct marketing expens 1,54¢ 982 562 57%
Other expens 1,82 1,01« 81: 80%

Total $ 21,93 $ 12,54( $ 9,39- 75%

Selling and marketing expense increased $lion, or 75%, for the year ended December28l4 compared to the same period in 2
The increase in Genzyme co-promotion expense,reiécts growth in cash collections, partially eff9y a reduction in the gqaromotior
percentage rate payable to Genzyme in 2014 as cedhpa 2013 under the 2012 poemotion agreement. The increase in personnelea
expense were primarily due to a 107% increase au¢munt of our sales force at December 31, 20kbapared to December 31, 2013.
increase in stock-based compensation expensetsefiption grants
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to new and existing employees. The increase ircdirarketing expense was due primarily to increanadketing and promotional mater
and market research and consultants. The increasthér expense was primarily due to an increasefarmation technology and faciliti
expenses that were related to sales and marketiivifias.

In November 2014, we entered into an Amdrated Restated U.S. GRromotion Agreement, or Amended Agreement, withZgere. A:
a result of the Amended Agreement, we expect dlingeand marketing expenses for Afirma to remdat bver the next year. While we exg
that our personnel costs will increase as we takmore sales and marketing responsibilities releaetfirma, we expect these increases wil
offset by the lower rate we are required to payZyere under the Amended Agreement beginning in J&R@15. In 2015, we also expec
incur selling and marketing expenses as a resutvastments in our lung product portfolio. Therefowe believe total selling and marke
expenses will increase in 2015.

General and administrative

Comparison of the years ended Decembe2@®14 and 2013 is as follows:

Year Ended
December 31, Dollar %
2014 2013 Change Change

(In thousands)
General and administrative expen

Personnel related exper $ 9560 $ 6,45 $ 3,10¢ 48%
Stocl-based compensation expel 2,00( 794 1,20¢ 152%
Professional fees expen 4,52¢ 2,64t 1,88( 71%
Rent and other facilities expen 1,50¢ 1,47 27 2%
Other expens 1,26 73C 532 73%

Total $ 18,85« $ 12,10( $ 6,75¢ 56%

General and administrative expense incce&8e8 million, or 56%, for the year ended Decenfier2014 compared to the same peric
2013. The increase in personnel related expensepvitasrily due to a 32% increase in headcount ateldder 31, 2014 as comparel
December 31, 2013 and to acquisition costs of 8fllbn for bonus and severance paid to Allegro &aypes. The increase in stobkse:
compensation expense was primarily due to optiantgrto new and existing employees. The increapeoiiessional fees includes higher at
legal and other corporate expenses including imagraassociated with operating as a public comfanthe full year. In addition, professiol
fees included Allegro acquisition costs of approdety $0.3 million for audit, legal and valuatioargices. The increase in other expense
due primarily to an increase in consulting expen$eapproximately $0.9 million, including approxinet $0.2 million for the Allegr
acquisition. Other expense also included fees torhilling system and postage which increased assalt of increased FNA volume, ¢
tax/license fees which increased as a result ofgoaipublic company. These other expenses werelyaoffset by decreases in computer
facilities allocations as a result of increaseddeeant in other functions.

Interest expens

Interest expense increased $206,000 foy¢lae ended December 31, 2014 compared to the par in 2013 primarily due to higt
interest expense associated with our loan whichaméstanding for the full year in 2014 and onlyflaayear in 2013.
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Other income (expense), net

Other income (expense), net, increased Baldn for the year ended December 31 2014, caegbéo the same period in 2013 prime
due to the ond¢ime $2.1 million expense related to the increasthé fair value of the preferred stock liabilitysaciated with our obligation
issue additional shares of Series C convertibléemed stock, and an $86,000 expense related tmthnease in the fair value of the prefe
stock warrant liability in the year ended DecemRiEr2013. Other income (expense), net, for 2014isted primarily of sublease rental incc
of $86,000, interest income received from payeis faom our cash equivalents of $31,000, partiaffiget by amortization of debt issual
costs of $44,000.

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2013 20itP

Year Ended
December 31, Dollar %
2013 2012 Change Change
(In thousands)
Revenue $ 2188 $ 11,62¢ $ 10,25¢ 88%
Operating expens:
Cost of revenu 12,60" 7,584 5,02 66%
Research and developm 7,81( 6,60¢ 1,20z 18%
Selling and marketin 12,54( 8,44 4,09: 48%
General and administrati\ 12,10( 7,91¢ 4,18 53%
Total operating expens: 45,05" 30,55 14,50( 47%
Loss from operation (23,17) (18,929 (4,244 22%
Interest expens (233) — (233 N/A
Other income (expense), r (2,174 28C (2,459 N/A
Net loss and comprehensive I¢ $ (25,58() $ (18,649 $ (6,93) 37%

Revenu

Revenue increased $10.3 million, or 88%t{lie year ended December 31, 2013 compared teatine period in 2012 primarily as a re
of a $7.2 million increase in commercial revenumfrincreased reimbursement and collections andlarilion increase in Medicare revet
as a result of increased Afirma adoption.

For the year ended December 31, 2013 caedpiar the same period in 2012, revenue recognizezhveash was received increase
approximately $7.1 million, or 95%, to $14.6 mitioreflecting increased adoption and collections: fhe year ended December 31, =
compared to the same period in 2012, revenue rézadjon an accrual basis increased by approxim&@&B million, or 78%, to $7.3 million.

Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue increased $5.0 million6@%o, for the year ended December 31, 2013 comgarite same period in 2012. This incre
was primarily due to a $4.7 million, or 77%, incsedn variable costs that are directly relatechmitcrease in the number of FNAs recei
offset in part by continuing refinements in ourtiteg process and economies of scale related tinthhease in FNAs. FNAs received incree
23,780, or 92%, to 49,670 in the year ended DeceBihe2013.
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Research and developme

Comparison of the years ended Decembe2(®l3 and 2012 is as follows:

Year Ended
December 31, Dollar %
2013 2012 Change Change

(In thousands)
Research and development expel

Personnel related exper $ 3,87 $ 3,23¢ $ 63¢ 20%
Stocl-based compensation expel 25C 131 11¢ 91%
Direct R&D expensi 1,68t 1,50¢ 181 12%
Other expens 2,00( 1,73 26¢ 15%

Total $ 7,81C $ 6,60¢ $ 1,20: 18%

Research and development expense incré&ds2dnillion, or 18%, for the year ended DecemierZ)13 compared to the same peric
2012. This increase was primarily due to a $0.@ionilincrease in personnel related expenses relat@d24% increase in headcount, a
$0.5 million increase in licensing expenses, inellidibove in other expense, to secure intellectrgpanty to augment our existing thyr
patent portfolio, offset by a decrease in othereages.

Selling and marketing

Comparison of the years ended Decembe2(@l3 and 2012 is as follows:

Year Ended
December 31, Dollar %
2013 2012 Change Change

(In thousands)
Selling and marketing expens

Genzyme c-promotion expense,n $ 6,082 $ 3,09¢ $ 2,99( 97%
Personnel related exper 4,291 3,82¢ 467 12%
Stoclk-based compensation expe! 16¢ 111 58 52%
Direct marketing expens 982 591 391 66%
Other expens 1,014 827 187 23%

Total $ 12,54( $ 8447 $ 4,09 48%

Selling and marketing expense increased! $llion, or 48%, for the year ended DecemberZil,3 compared to the same period in 2
This increase was primarily due to a $3.0 milliorcrease in net expense recognized under opra@motion agreement with Genzyi
reflecting growth in cash collections, partiallyfsst by amortization of the deferred fee, a $0.Bioni increase in personnel related expt
related to a 28% increase in headcount, a $0.%omithcrease in marketing and promotional materiafgl a $0.1 million increase in consul
expenses.
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General and administrative

Comparison of the years ended Decembe2(®l3 and 2012 is as follows:

Year Ended
December 31, Dollar %
2013 2012 Change Change

(In thousands)
General and administrative expen

Personnel related exper $ 6,452 $ 4661 $ 1,79: 38%
Stocl-based compensation expel 794 407 387 95%
Professional fees expen 2,64t 1,08¢ 1,55¢ 14%
Rent and other facilities expen 1,471 1,20z 27t 23%
Other expens 73C 55¢ 171 31%

Total $ 12,10C $ 7,91¢ $ 4,18C 53%

General and administrative expense incre&de2 million, or 53%, for the year ended Decen8ier2013 compared to the same peric
2012. This increase was primarily due to a $1.8onilincrease in personnel related expenses relateal 63% increase in headcour
$0.4 million increase in stodiased compensation expense primarily related t8 B@lion grants, an increase in professional fe@sgpily due
to noncapitalizable IPO related audit and legal servige$1.4 million, an increase in rent and other Ifaes expenses primarily due to
opening of the Austin, Texas facility of $0.4 nolfi, and a $0.2 million increase in insurance exgemslated to higher premiums associ
with being a public company.

Interest expens

Interest expense increased $0.2 milliontier year ended December 31, 2013 compared toathe period in 2012. Interest expens
$0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2Glihierest incurred on the initial June 2013 drammd®f $5.0 million under our loan a
security agreement. We did not have any debt irsémee period in 2012.

Other income (expense), net

Other income (expense), net, decreasedriflibn in the year ended December 31, 2013 coengpao the same period in 2012.
decrease was primarily related to a $2.4 milliccréase in the fair value of the preferred stockility from a gain of $0.3 million in 2012 tc
loss of $2.1 million in 2013, and a $0.1 milliorcirase in the fair value of the preferred stockrararliability. As the preferred stock liabil
was extinguished in 2013, and the preferred stoakramt liability was converted into a warrant torghase our common stock upon
completion of the IPO in 2013, any related expeng#sot carry forward to future periods.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have incurred net losses since our tmmepFor the years ended December 31, 2014, 203 2012, we had a net loss
$29.4 million, $25.6 million and $18.6 million, pectively, and we expect to incur additional losge<2015 and in future years. As
December 31, 2014, we had an accumulated deficlab.0 million. We may never achieve revenue sigffit to offset our expenses. As
December 31, 2014, we had $35.0 million in cash aagh equivalents. We believe our existing cashcaisth equivalents as of Decembel
2014 and our revenue from the sale of Afirma in 2@l be sufficient to meet our anticipated cagguirements for at least the n
12 months.

Since inception, we have received $154l0aniin net proceeds from various sources to fos®our operations, including net proceec
$78.6 million from sales of our preferred stocki meceeds of
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$59.2 million from our IPO, $10.0 million from th@enzyme cgromotion agreement, net borrowings of $4.9 milliomder our loan ar
security agreement, and $1.3 million from the eiserof stock options.

In June 2013, we entered into a loan acdrég agreement, the Original Loan, with a finaddénstitution. The Original Loan provided
term loans of up to an aggregate of $10.0 million.entering the Original Loan, we drew down aniah$5.0 million term loan. We opted 1
to draw the remaining $5.0 million and the optiondb so expired in March 2014. We were requirecefiay the outstanding principal in
equal installments beginning 18 months after thie d& the borrowing and the loan was due in fullime 2017. The Original Loan had
interest rate of 6.06% per annum, carried prepaympenalties of 2.25% and 1.50% for prepayment withtie and two years, respectively,
0.75% thereafter.

In December 2014, we amended certain tamdsconditions of the Original Loan, which we retfeas the Amended Loan. The Amen
Loan provides for term loans of up to $15.0 milliaraggregate, in three tranches of $5.0 millioche&Ve borrowed $5.0 million under the f
tranche in December 2014 and used the funds fayrepnt of the $5.0 million in principal outstandingder the Original Loan, in a cashl
transaction. In addition, we paid the accrued mpaid interest of $14,000 due on the Original Laad the related end-oérm payment «
$110,000. The Amended Loan waived the prepaymesrhjpm of $75,000 under the Original Loan and redute end-oterm payment «
$225,000 under the Original Loan to $110,000. Téeord $5.0 million tranche under the Amended Lsaaviailable through December
2015, and we may borrow the third $5.0 million the any time through June 30, 2016 after achietheghird tranche revenue milestons
defined in the Amended Loan.

Under the Amended Loan, we are requiregpay the outstanding principal in 24 equal instalits beginning 24 months after the da
the borrowing and the loan is due in full in DecemB018. The first tranche of the Amended Loan dé@#erest at a rate of 5.00% per anr
and the Amended Loan carries prepayment penaltizg€d6% and 1.00% for prepayment within one and ywars, respectively. In connect
with the Amended Loan, we paid approximately $46,00third-party fees.

Loans drawn under the Original Loan and #mended Loan were used for working capital andegancorporate purposes. (
obligations under the Amended Loan are secured $®Bcarity interest on substantially all of our assexcluding our intellectual property ¢
certain other assets. The Amended Loan contain®roasy conditions to borrowing, events of defaaltd covenants, including coven:
limiting our ability to dispose of assets, undeegohange in control, merge with or acquire othdities, incur debt, incur liens, pay dividel
or other distributions to holders of our capitalct, repurchase stock and make investments, in eash subject to certain exceptions.
Amended Loan also allows the lender to call thet delbhe event there is a material adverse chamgmii business or financial condition.
are required to be in compliance with a minimunuidity or minimum revenue covenant. As of Decentiier 2014, we were in compliar
with the financial covenants.

In connection with the dradewn of the initial $5.0 million term loan undert®riginal Loan, we issued the lender a warraguiehas
24,801 shares of our common stock upon completidheolPO. The lender exercised the warrant throaigiashless exercise in March 2(
resulting in the issuance of 13,739 shares of comstack at an exercise price of $7.56 per share.

On September 16, 2014, we acquired Allegaoa merger with Full Moon Acquisition, Inc., oulFMoon, our whollyewned subsidiar
Allegro was a privatelfreld company based in Maynard, Massachusetts, ddcos the development of genomic tests to imprdis
preoperative diagnosis of lung cancer. In conjamctvith the merger, we issued 964,377 shares of@wmmon stock, paid $2.7 million in ca
settled in cash outstanding indebtedness of Allégpading $4.3 million, and paid severance and lsaiouAllegro personnel of $1.2 million.

We expect that our near- and longgm liquidity requirements will continue to cortsif selling and marketing expenses, researcl
development expenses, working capital, and gegerabrate expenses
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associated with the growth of our business. Howewer may also use cash to acquire or invest in ¢amgntary businesses, technolog
services or products that would change our cashinegents. If we are not able to generate reveadmance our cash requirements, we
need to finance future cash needs primarily thraugilic or private equity offerings, debt financédporrowings or strategic collaboration:
licensing arrangements. If we raise funds by igp&iguity securities, dilution to stockholders maguit. Any equity securities issued may
provide for rights, preferences or privileges semithose of holders of our common stock. If wisedunds by issuing debt securities, t
debt securities would have rights, preferencesmivlleges senior to those of holders of our commstotk. The terms of debt securitie:
borrowings could impose significant restrictions aur operations. If we raise funds through collaltions and licensing arrangements,
might be required to relinquish significant rigltsour technologies or products, or grant licenmegerms that are not favorable to us.
credit market and financial services industry havehe past, and may in the future, experienceogsriof upheaval that could impact
availability and cost of equity and debt financitigwe are not able to secure additional fundingewmeeded, on acceptable terms, we
have to delay, reduce the scope of or eliminateasmaore research and development programs ongellid marketing initiatives. In additi
we may have to work with a partner on one or mdreun product or market development programs, witichld lower the economic value
those programs to us.

The following table summarizes our caskwvfidor the years ended December 31, 2014, 2012612

Years Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012

(in thousands)
Cash used in operating activiti $ (27,63) $ (19,159 $ (7,167)
Cash used in investing activiti (9,010 (1,282) (1,462)
Cash provided by financing activiti 43€ 77,65¢ 15,06¢

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash used in operating activities for tearyended December 31, 2014 was $27.6 million.netdoss of $29.4 million includes naast
charges of $2.3 million in amortization of the deéel fee received from Genzyme, offset primarily#3y5 million of stockbased compensati
expense, $1.2 million of depreciation and amoritirat$0.2 million in amortization of debt discowand issuance costs and debt balloon int
expense, and $0.1 million of bad debt expense.ifitrease in net operating assets of $0.9 millios prmarily due to a $2.0 million incre:
in accounts receivable due to increases in Afireh@pdon and new payers for whom revenue is receghan an accrual basis, a $1.1 mil
increase in supplies inventory due to the increasduime of testing performed and a strategic decisd increase our inventory on hand, o
by a $2.2 million net increase in accounts payablk&accrued liabilities resulting from the timinigoayments.

Cash used in operating activities for tharyended December 31, 2013 was $19.2 million.rihéoss of $25.6 million was offset by non:

cash charges of $2.1 million for the change invthieie of the preferred stock liability, $2.5 million amortization of the deferred fee rece
from Genzyme, $1.2 million of stock based compearat$1.0 million of depreciation and amortizatic@.1 million of bad debt expense
$0.1 million charge for the change in value of pneferred stock warrant liability, and $0.1 milliGar non€ash interest on the outstanding c
The increase in net changes in assets and liabiliti $4.3 million was primarily due to a $7.2 il increase in accounts payable and acc
liabilities due to timing of payments offset by 2.$million increase in assets, including a $0.Wiom increase in prepaid expenses
primarily to increased public company related pré@pasurance premiums, a $Infllion increase in supply inventory due to thergmse i
volume of testing performed, and a $0.7 millionréase in accounts receivable due to increaseduesdrom Medicare.
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Cash used in operating activities for tearyended December 31, 2012 was $7.2 million. Btdoss of $18.6 million was offset by non-
cash charges of $0.9 million of stock- and eqbi#ged compensation, $0.7 million for depreciatiod amortization, $0.3 million for tl
change in value of the preferred stock liabilityd&0.2 million of bad debt expense. The increaseeinoperating assets of $12.3 million
primarily due to the $10.0 million deferred payméwm Genzyme, of which we amortized $2.4 million & December 31, 2012. Accou
payable and accrued liabilities increased $3.9anillue to the growth in our operations and thengnof our payments. Accounts receivi
increased by $0.6 million due to the increase mraed revenue in 2012 as we had only begun toA$ietha in 2011. In addition, there wa
$0.8 million increase in supplies inventory relatedncreased test demand.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities was $8illlon, $1.3 million and $1.5 million in the yeaended December 31, 2014, 2013 and =
respectively. We acquired Allegro in September 2faithet cash of approximately $6.9 million and restricted the use of $70,000 of cas
of December 31, 2014 to cover hdidek liabilities associated with the acquisitione YWurchased laboratory equipment, software ane: fede
improvements of $2.0 million, $1.3 million and $Xxllion for the years ended December 31, 2014 3281d 2012, respectively.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Cash provided by financing activities fbetyear ended December 31, 2014 of $0.4 milliorsisted of $0.7 million we received from
exercise of options to purchase our common stditgetoby $0.1 million of IPO-related disbursemeatsl a $0.1 million end-derm paymer
on our Original Loan.

Cash provided by financing activities fbetyear ended December 31, 2013 of $77.7 milliowsisted of the receipt of $59.3 million in
proceeds from the issuance of common stock in aifmmewith our IPO, the receipt of $12.9 million et proceeds from the sale of
convertible preferred stock, net borrowings of $#iflion under the Original Loan and $0.6 milliorofm the exercise of options to purchase
common stock.

Cash provided by financing activities fbetyear ended December 31, 2012 of $15.1 milliowsisted of the receipt of $15.0 million in
proceeds from the sale of our convertible prefestedk and $0.1 million from the exercise of optida purchase our common stock.

Contractual Obligations
The following table summarizes certain cacitual obligations as of December 31, 2014 (iuglamds):

Payments Due by Perioc

Less than 1to3 3to5 More than
1 Year Years Years 5 Years Total

Operating lease

obligations $ 98¢ $ 63t $ 13C $ — $ 1,75¢
Long-term debt

obligations — 2,431 2,56: — 5,00(
Interest on dek 242 451 71 — 764
Supplies purchase

commitments 71E — — — 71t
Total $ 194¢€ $ 352: $ 2,76 $ — $ 8,23¢

In February 2010, we entered into a naneelable lease agreement for our headquartersabochtory space in South San Franc
California. The lease expires in March 2016.

In November 2012, we entered into a naneelable lease agreement commencing February f2018ir laboratory and office space
Austin, Texas. The lease expires in July 2018.
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In May 2010 and February 2013, we entergd & noneancelable purchase commitment with two supplierpurchase a minimu
guantity of supplies.

Off-balance Sheet Arrangements
We have not entered into any off-balan@aeshrrangements.
JOBS Act Accounting Election

We are an emerging growth company, as défin the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act @220r the JOBS Act. Under the JC
Act, emerging growth companies can delay adoptig ar revised accounting standards issued subsetpuéite enactment of the JOBS
until such time as those standards apply to prigatepanies. We have irrevocably elected not tol awaselves of this exemption from new
revised accounting standards and, therefore, wikiibject to the same new or revised accountinglatds as other public companies tha
not emerging growth companies.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Stard$ Board, or FASB, issued Accounting Standarddatéy or ASU, No. 2014-0Revenu
from Contracts with Custome, requiring an entity to recognize the amount afereie to which it expects to be entitled for trensfer o
promised goods or services to customers. The updadmdard will replace most existing revenue ragamn guidance in U.S. GAAP wher
becomes effective and permits the use of eitheratrespective or cumulative effect transition noethEarly adoption is not permitted. 7
updated standard becomes effective for us in tis¢ duarter of fiscal 2017. We have not yet setbetdransition method and are curre
evaluating the effect that the updated standardmsg on our financial statements.

In August 2014, FASB issued Accounting 8tads Update No. 2014-1Bresentation of Financial Statements Going Coneern
Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity's Algilto Continue as a Going Conce. The amendments require management to ass
entity's ability to continue as a going concernibgorporating and expanding upon certain princiglegt are currently in U.S. auditi
standards. Specifically, the amendments: (1) pe@diefinition of the term substantial doubt; @)uire an evaluation every reporting pe
including interim periods; (3) provide principlesrfconsidering the mitigating effect of managenseptans; (4) require certain disclost
when substantial doubt is alleviated as a resuttonfsideration of management's plans; (5) requirexaress statement and other disclos
when substantial doubt is not alleviated; and €@uire an assessment for a period of one year thitedate that the financial statements
issued (or available to be issued). ASU 2a54will be effective for annual periods ending efleecember 15, 2016 and interim periods wi
annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016 warly adoption permitted. ASU 201%- will be effective for us beginning with ¢
annual report for fiscal 2016 and interim periodereafter. We have not yet determined the effeadhefadoption of this standard on
consolidated financial statements.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE S ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to market risks in the @mgirtourse of our business. These risks primaeilgte to interest rates. We had cash and
equivalents of $35.0 million as of December 31, £@thich consisted of bank deposits and money madiikeds. Such interestearing

instruments carry a degree of risk; however, a thgtecal 10% change in interest rates during anghefperiods presented would not have
a material impact on our audited consolidated fomarstatements.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Veracyte, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheet of Veracyte, Inc. as of December 31, 2@hd, the related consolida
statement of operations and comprehensive lossectinle preferred stock and stockholders' equdgfi€it), and cash flows for the year en
December 31, 2014. These financial statementsharessponsibility of the Company's management.r@sponsibility is to express an opin
on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statslof the Public Company Accounting Oversight ifq@nited States). Those stand:
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebta@asonable assurance about whether the finaptaggments are free of mate
misstatement. We were not engaged to perform aiit afidche Company's internal control over financraporting. Our audit includ:
consideration of internal control over financiapoeting as a basis for designing audit procedurasdre appropriate in the circumstances
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion ondffiectiveness of the Company's internal contr@rdinancial reporting. Accordingly, v
express no such opinion. An audit also includesmixiag, on a test basis, evidence supporting theusms and disclosures in the finan
statements. An audit also includes, assessing t¢heuating principles used and significant estimatemde by management, as wel
evaluating the overall financial statement pred@riaWe believe that our audit provides a reastmbhsis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referredabove present fairly, in all material respech® financial position of Veracyte, Inc.
December 31, 2014, and the results of its opera@onl its cash flows for the year ended Decembe2@l4, in conformity with U.S. genere
accepted accounting principles.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Redwood City, California
March 24, 2015
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Veracyte, Inc.

In our opinion, the balance sheet as of DecembelB13 and the related statements of operationscamprehensive loss, of converti
preferred stock and stockholders' deficit, and asfhcflows for each of two years in the period enBedember 31, 2013 present fairly, in
material respects, the financial position of Vetacync. at December 31, 2013, and the resultssafijerations and its cash flows for each o
two years in the period ended December 31, 20E®irformity with accounting principles generally apted in the United States of Amer
These financial statements are the responsibifith® Company's management. Our responsibilityp ieXpress an opinion on these finar
statements based on our audits. We conducted dalitsaof these statements in accordance with thedatals of the Public Compe
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Thasadards require that we plan and perform the aodibtain reasonable assurance &
whether the financial statements are free of matarisstatement. An audit includes examining, ¢@sabasis, evidence supporting the amc
and disclosures in the financial statements, asgpdhe accounting principles used and significastimates made by management,
evaluating the overall financial statement pred@maWe believe that our audits provide a reastmbhsis for our opinion.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Jose, California
March 20, 2014
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VERACYTE, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

As of December 31

2014 2013
Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 3501 $ 71,22
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $84 an@7$ds of
December 31, 2014 and 20 3,05( 1,14:
Supplies inventor 3,69¢ 2,56
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 1,21¢ 1,47
Deferred tax assi 30C —
Restricted cas 70 —
Total current asse 43,34¢ 76,407
Property and equipment, r 4,161 2,952
In-process research and developn 16,00( —
Goodwill 1,057 —
Restricted cas 11¢ 11€
Other asset 15t 15z
Total asset $ 64,83 $ 79,63(
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 7391 $ 5,29«
Accrued liabilities 7,851 7,59/
Deferred Genzyme ~promotion fee 1,89 2,50(
Total current liabilities 17,14¢ 15,38¢
Long-term debi 4,92 4,89¢
Deferred tax liability 30C —
Deferred rent, net of current porti 14¢ 28¢€
Deferred Genzyme promotion fee, net of current portis 94¢ 2,61¢
Total liabilities 23,46: 23,18
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Stockholders' equity
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 5,000,000 sharg®rized, 0 share
issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2012@H8 — —
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 125,000,000 stard®rized,
22,523,529 and 21,143,313 shares issued and aditsgaas of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respecti 23 21
Additional paic-in capital 156,37: 142,07:
Accumulated defici (115,027 (85,649
Total stockholders' equit 41,37 56,44
Total liabilities and stockholders' equ $ 64,83 $ 79,63(

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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VERACYTE, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehsive Loss

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Revenue $ 38,19C $ 21,88 $ 11,62¢
Operating expense
Cost of revenu 16,60¢ 12,601 7,58¢
Research and developm 9,80¢ 7,81( 6,60¢
Selling and marketin 21,93: 12,54( 8,44
General and administratiy 18,85¢ 12,10( 7,91¢
Total operating expens 67,19¢ 45,05’ 30,557
Loss from operation (29,00¢) (23,179 (18,929
Interest expens (439) (239) —
Other income (expense), r 72 (2,174 28C
Net loss and comprehensive I¢ $ (29,37) $ (25,58() $ (18,649
Net loss per common share, basic and dil $ (1.36) $ (6.15) $  (28.69)
Shares used to compute net loss per common slzesie
and dilutec 21,639,37 4,158,66. 650,33:

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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VERACYTE, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Convertible Preferred 8tk and Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Convertible

Preferred Stock Common Stock Additional Total

Paid-in Accumulated Stockholders'
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Deficit Equity (Deficit)

Balance at

December 31,

2011 45,147,99 $ 49,29¢ 594,94 $ 1 9 65 $ (41,420 $ (40,76¢€)
Issuance of

Series C

convertible

preferred stocl

in November

and Decembel

2012 at $1.89

per share, net

of issuance

costs of $63

and $861

preferred stocl

liability 7,936,50: 14,07¢ — — — — —
Common stock

issued on

exercise of

stock options — — 72,74° — 76 — 76
Stock-based

compensation

expense

(employee’ — — — — 59C — 59C
Stock-based

compensation

expense (non-

employee’ — — — — 85 — 85
Equity-based

compensatiol — — — — 19z — 19z
Net loss ant

comprehensivi

loss — — — — — (18,64¢) (18,649
Balance at

December 31,

2012 53,084,50 63,37: 667,68¢ 1 1,597 (60,06¢) (58,47))
Issuance of

Series C

convertible

preferred stoc

in June 2013 ¢

$1.89 per

share, net of

issuance cost:

of $53 6,904,76 12,99° — — — — —
Extinguishment

of preferred

stock liability — 2,657 — — — — —
Issuance of

common stock

on exercise of

stock option: — — 377,96¢ — 552 — 552
Issuance of

common stock

in initial public

offering, net o

discounts and

commissions

of $4,642 and

issuance cost:

of $2,507 — — 5,100,35 5 59,15 — 59,15¢
Conversion of

preferred stoc

into common

stock upon

initial public

offering (59,989,26) (79,029) 14,997,31 15 79,007 — 79,02:
Reclassification

of preferred

stock warrant

liability into

additional

paic-in capital




upon initial
public offering
Stock-based
compensation
expense
(employee’
Stock-based
compensation
expense (non-
employee;
Equity-based
compensatiol
Common stock
subject to
repurchasi
Net loss anc
comprehensiv
loss
Balance at
December 31,
2013
Issuance of
common stock
on exercise of
stock options
Issuance of
common stock
on cashless
exercise of
stock warran
Common stock
subject to
repurchast
Issuance of
common stock
for acquisition
Stock-based
compensation
expense
(employee;
Stock-based
compensation
expense (non-
employee;
Net loss anc
comprehensiv
loss
Balance at
December 31,
2014

— — 261 — 261
— — 1,041 — 1,041

— — 20€ — 20€

— — 25¢ — 25¢

— — 3) — (©)]

— — — (25,580) (25,580
21,143,31 21 142,07 (85,649 56,44
402,10( 1 674 — 67E
13,73 — — — —

— — 3 — 3
964,37 1 10,07 — 10,07t
— — 3,38¢ — 3,38¢

— — 16C — 16C

— — — (29,379 (29,379
2252352 $ 23 156,37: $  (11502) $ 41,37

90
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VERACYTE, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Operating activities
Net loss $ (29,37) $ (25,58() $ (18,649
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Depreciation and amortizatic 1,17¢ 99¢ 70€
Bad debt expens 54 10¢ 22t
Genzyme c-promotion fee amortizatio (2,269 (2,500 (2,38¢)
Stocl-based compensatic 3,54¢ 1,247 67&
Equity-based compensatic — — 25¢
Amortization of debt discount and issuance ¢ 97 56 —
Interest on debt balloon payme 81 42 —
Change in value of preferred stock liabil — 2,07C (27¢)
Change in value of preferred stock warrant liap — 86 —
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl (1,967) (68%) (565)
Supplies inventor (1,129 (2,519 (773
Prepaid expenses and current other a: (39) (722) (191)
Other asset (46) 24 (119
Accounts payabl 1,87¢ 3,34¢ 1,34¢
Accrued liabilities and deferred re 35¢E 3,862 2,57¢
Deferred Genzyme -promotion fee — — 10,000
Net cash used in operating activit (27,637) (19,159 (7,167%)
Investing activities
Purchases of property and equipmr (2,029 (1,339 (1,462)
Cash remitted for acquisition, net of cash rece (6,91¢€) — —
Change in restricted ca (70) 50 —
Net cash used in investing activiti (9,010 (1,2872) (1,4672)
Financing activities
Proceeds from the issuance of I-term debt, net of debt issuance ct — 4,877 —
Payment of er-of-term debt obligatiol (210) — —
Proceeds from issuance of redeemable convertibfenped stock, net of issuance cc — 12,94¢ 14,98¢
Proceeds from issuance of common stock in initidilis offering, gros: — 66,30« —
Commissions and issuance costs relating to thalipiblic offering (129) (7,019 —
Proceeds from the exercise of common stock op 67E 552 76
Net cash provided by financing activiti 43€ 77,65¢ 15,06¢
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivake (36,20¢€) 57,21¢ 6,43€
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of peric 71,22( 14,00: 7,56¢€
Cash and cash equivalents at end of peric $ 3501+ $ 71,22( $ 14,00
Supplementary cash flow information of nor-cash investing and financing activities
Fair value of common stock issued for acquisi $ 10,07¢ — —
Non-cash issuance of lo-term debr 5,00( — —
Non-cash repayment of lo-term debr (5,000 — —
Purchases of property and equipment included inwads payable and accrued liabilit 38 $ 25 $ 10¢
Non-cash purchases of property and equipr — 257 —
Preferred stock liabilit — — 861
Transfer of preferred stock liability to equ — 2,658 —
Convertible preferred stock issuance costs include@dcounts payab — — 52
Preferred stock warran — a7 —
Conversion of preferred stock warrant liabilitydmmmon stock warran — 261 —
Issuance of common stock from the -cash exercise of common stock warre 187 — —
Conversion of convertible preferred stock to comrstmtk — 79,02: —
IPO costs included in accounts payable and acdraigitities — 12¢ —
Cash paid for interest on de 307 13z —
Transfer of equit-based compensation from liabilities to equ — 25¢ 19z

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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VERACYTE, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
1. Organization and Description of Business

Veracyte, Inc. (the "Company") was incogied in the state of Delaware on August 15, 2006aderome, Inc. Calderome operated ¢
incubator until early 2008. On March 4, 2008, then(pany changed its name to Veracyte, Inc. Veraisytediagnostics company pioneel
the field of molecular cytology to improve patiemitcomes and lower healthcare costs. The Compaauifially targets diseases that o
require invasive procedures for an accurate didgrediseases where many healthy patients undergo dagtiywentions that ultimately pro
unnecessary. The Company improves the accuracyaghdsis at an earlier stage of patient care byider clinically actionable genom
information from cytology samples.

The Company's first commercial solutiore #firma® Thyroid FNA Analysis, includes as its centerpielte Gene Expression Classi
("GEC"). The GEC helps physicians reduce the numtferunnecessary surgeries by employing a propsiefit2-gene signature
preoperatively determine whether thyroid nodulesvimusly classified by cytopathology as indeterrténean be reclassified as benign.
comprehensive offering also includes cytopatholtegting and the Afirma Malignancy Classifiers, labed in May 2014. The Compe
markets and sells Afrma through a co-promotion agrent with Genzyme Corporation, a subsidiary ofofian

On September 16, 2014, the Company acquMezhro Diagnostics Corp. ("Allegro”) to accelegaits entry into pulmonology, t
Company's second planned clinical area. Allegro avasivatelyheld company based in Maynard, Massachusetts, édoois the developme
of genomic tests to improve the preoperative diagnof lung cancer. See Note 4. The Company intéméster the lung cancer diagnos
market by mid2015 with the Percepta™ Bronchial Genomic Class{fiercepta”), a test designed to resolve diagnashbiguity among tf
approximately 250,000 patients in the United Staties undergo bronchoscopy each year to assesstipéifecancerous lung nodules.

The Company's operations are based in SsathFrancisco, California and Austin, Texas, drapéerates in one segment in the Ur
States.

Initial Public Offering

On November 4, 2013, the Company completednitial public offering ("IPO") of its commonatk. In connection with its IPO, t
Company issued and sold 5,100,351 shares of constook at a price to the public of $13.00 per shAeea result of the IPO, the Compi
received $59.2 million in net proceeds, after déidgcunderwriting discounts and commissions of $diion and offering expenses
$2.5 million payable by the Company. In connectioith the IPO, the Company's outstanding sharesooiertible preferred stock we
automatically converted into 14,997,312 sharesafroon stock.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentatiol

The Company's consolidated financial stateis have been prepared in accordance with acoguptinciples generally accepted in
United States ("GAAP"). The consolidated finana#dtements include the accounts of the Companyitangholly-owned subsidiary. A
intercompany accounts and transactions have baamated in consolidation.
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VERACYTE, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contirad)
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cornitued)
Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated finah@tatements in conformity with GAAP requires ngeraent to make estimates
assumptions that affect the reported amounts adftasmnd liabilities and disclosure of contingergets and liabilities as of the date of
financial statements and the reported amountswange and expenses during the reporting periodhiffignt items subject to such estim:
include: revenue recognition; contractual allowancaellowance for doubtful accounts; the useful divef property and equipment;
recoverability of londived assets; the estimation of the fair valuentémgible assets; the determination of fair valihe Company's comm
stock prior to the Company's IPO; stock optiongf@mred stock liability; income tax uncertainties;luding a valuation allowance for defer
tax assets; and contingencies. The Company basss éstimates on historical and anticipated regratsds, and various other assumptions
the Company believes are reasonable under thentitamces, including assumptions as to future evdisse estimates form the basis
making judgments about the carrying values of asmedl liabilities and recorded revenue and expeths¢sre not readily apparent from o
sources. Actual results could differ from thoséneates and assumptions.

Liquidity

The Company has incurred net losses sitecénception and expects to incur additional losse2015 and in future years. As
December 31, 2014, the Company had an accumulafesit @f $115.0 million. The Company may never iasle revenue sufficient to offset
expenses. The Company believes its cash and cashakupts of $35.0 million as of December 31, 2@bd its revenue from the sale of Afir
in 2015 will be sufficient to meet its anticipateaksh requirements for at least the next 12 months.

If the Company is not able to generate meeeto finance its cash requirements, the Compaliyneed to finance future cash ne
primarily through public or private equity offerisgdebt financings, borrowings or strategic colfations or licensing arrangements. If
Company is not able to secure additional fundingrnvheeded, on acceptable terms, it may have tg,delduce the scope of or eliminate
or more research and development programs or gadli marketing initiatives which may have a matesdverse effect on the Compa
business, results of operations, financial condidad/or its ability to fund its scheduled obligat on a timely basis or at all.

Concentrations of Credit Risk and Other Risks anditértainties

The Company's cash and cash equivalendeq@sited with one major financial institutiontive United States, as required by the loar
security agreement discussed in Note 8. Depositthim institution may exceed the amount of insueapcovided on such deposits. -
Company has not experienced any losses on its iigpbsash and cash equivalents.

Several of the components of the Compasgraple collection kit and test reagents are obtlafnem singlesource suppliers. If the
singlesource suppliers fail to satisfy the Company's ireguents on a timely basis, it could suffer delaybeing able to deliver its diagnos
solution, a possible loss of revenue, or incur érgtosts, any of which could adversely affect israting results.

The Company is also subject to credit fighn its accounts receivable related to its salesfoma. The Company generally does
perform evaluations of customers' financial conditand generally does not require collateral.
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VERACYTE, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contirad)
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cornitued)

Through December 31, 2014, all of the Comyfsarevenue have been derived from the sale ofm&fi The Company's solution to date
been delivered primarily to physicians in the Uditgtates. The Company's thipdsty payers in excess of 10% of revenue and tieddtec
revenue as a percentage of total revenue werdlaa$o

Year Ended
December 31,
2014 2013 2012

Medicare 26% 32% 34%
Aetna 11% 9% 13%
United Healthcar: 18% 18% 12%

55% 5% 5%

As the number of payers reimbursing forrd increases, the percentage of revenue derioed Kledicare and other significant third-
party payers has changed and will continue to chasga percentage of total revenue.

The Company's significant thipdaty payers and their related accounts receivadiience at December 31, 2014 and 2013 as a pege
of total accounts receivable are as follows:

December 31

2014 2013
Medicare 64% 78%
Aetha 12% —
United Healthcar: 14% 3%

No other third-party payer represented ntloa@ 10% of the Company's accounts receivablenbasafor these periods.
Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents consist of shertn, highly liquid investments with original maitigs of three months or less from the date of pase
Cash equivalents consist primarily of amounts ite@s a money market account primarily consisth@).S. Treasury reserves.

Restricted Casl

The Company reserved $70,000 in cash &eoémber 31, 2014 to cover liabilities associatét the acquisition of Allegro as discus
in Note 4. This restricted cash is included in eatrassets on the Company's consolidated balaeet. sh

The Company had lorigkrm deposits of $118,000 as of December 31, 28842813, restricted from withdrawal and held byaalbin the
form of collateral for letters of credit. The bat@nfor each period consists of a letter of cremtaling $118,000 held as security for the lea:
the Company's office space in South San Franci€adifornia. This restricted cash is included in dderm assets on the Compal
consolidated balance sheets.
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VERACYTE, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contirad)
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cornitued)
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company estimates an allowance for tloulaccounts against its individual accounts reable based on estimates of expe
reimbursement consistent with historical paymermiegience in relation to the amounts billed. Badtd®ipense is included in general
administrative expense on the Company's statensdntgerations and comprehensive loss. Accountsivagle are written off against t
allowance when there is substantive evidence ltigahtcount will not be paid.

The balance of allowance for doubtful agtswas of December 31, 2014 and 2013, includinggelsato bad debt expense and wats,
net of recoveries, was as follows:

As of

December 31,

2014 2013

(In thousands)
Beginning balanc $ 107 $ 222
Charged to expen: 54 10¢
Write-offs, net of recoverie (77 (229
Ending balanc $ 84 $ 107

Supplies Inventory

Supplies inventory consists of test reag@md other consumables used in the sample coltekiis and in cytopathology and GEC
processing and are valued at the lower of costaket value. Cost is determined using actual amsts first-in, first-out basis.

Property and Equipmen

Property and equipment are stated at esstdccumulated depreciation and amortization. da@dion is computed using the straigihe
method over the estimated useful lives of the asgginerally between three and five years. Leadahgbrovements are amortized using
straightline method over the shorter of the estimated uidééuof the asset or the term of the lease. Maiaince and repairs are charge
expense as incurred, and improvements and bettésnaea capitalized. When assets are retired orrwibe disposed of, the cost ¢
accumulated depreciation are removed from the belaheet and any resulting gain or loss is refteatethe statements of operations
comprehensive loss in the period realized.

Internal-use Software

The Company capitalizes costs incurredvéngpplication development stage to design andeimeht the software used in the tracking
reporting of laboratory activity. Costs incurredtiire development of application software are ctipgd and amortized over an estimated ut
life of three years on a straight line basis. Tttaltcost, accumulated depreciation and net bodkevaas $927,000, $330,000 and $597,
respectively, as of December 31, 2014, and was,$882$195,000 and $287,000, respectively, as aebber 31, 2013, and are include
property and equipment in the Company's consolilatdance sheets. During the years ended Decertb2034 and 2013, the Company
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VERACYTE, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contirad)
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cornitued)

capitalized $445,000 and $212,000, respectivelgoftivare development costs. Amortization expeontsead $135,000, $108,000 and $47.
in the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2€djiectively.

Business Combinatiol

The Company accounts for acquisitions udimg acquisition method of accounting which requitee recognition of tangible a
identifiable intangible assets acquired and litib#i assumed at their estimated fair values ahebtsiness combination date. The Com
allocates any excess purchase price over the detinfair value assigned to the net tangible andtifigble intangible assets acquired
liabilities assumed to goodwill. Transaction coste expensed as incurred in general and admiivgrakpenses. Results of operations
cash flows of acquired companies are includedénGbmpany's operating results from the date ofiattun.

Goodwill

Goodwill, derived from the Company's acdiga of Allegro, is reviewed for impairment on annual basis or more frequently if event
circumstances indicate that it may be impaired. Toenpany's goodwill evaluation is based on bothiiae and quantitative assessmi
regarding the fair value of goodwill relative ts itarrying value. The Company has determined thaérates in a single segment and
single reporting unit associated with the developinamd commercialization of diagnostic productsth@a event the Company determines tf
is more likely than not the carrying value of tleparting unit is higher than its fair value, qugattize testing is performed comparing recol
values to estimated fair values. If impairmentrisgent, the impairment loss is measured as thesexdahe recorded goodwill over its impl
fair value. The Company performs its annual evadnabf goodwill during the fourth quarter of eadbchl year. There was no impairment
the year ended December 31, 2014.

Intangible Assets

The Company's intangible assets are coewprid acquired iprocess research and development, or IPR&D. Thevédie of IPR&L
acquired through a business combination is capédlas an indefinitbved intangible asset until the completion or ad@mment of the relat
research and development activities. IPR&D is tefbe impairment annually or when events or circtanses indicate that the fair value r
be below the carrying value of the asset. Therensampairment for the year ended December 31, 20Bhd when research and developr
is complete, the associated assets would then betiaed over their estimated useful lives.

Impairment of Long¢-lived Assets

The Company annually reviews loinged and indefinite lived assets other than godidat impairment or whenever events or change
circumstances indicate that the carrying amourthefassets may not be recoverable. The Compangnzes an impairment loss when
total of estimated future undiscounted cash flowzeeted to result from the use of the asset arelvstual disposition are less than its carr
amount. Impairment, if any, would be assessed udisgounted cash flows or other appropriate measofefair value. There were
impairments for the years ended December 31, 20d4813.
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Bonus Accruals

The Company accrues for liabilities undiscoktionary employee and executive bonus planesdtestimated compensation liabilities
based on progress against corporate objectiveswagpiby the Board of Directors, compensation lewélsligible individuals, and target bor
percentage levels. The Board of Directors and tomgznsation Committee of the Board of Directordawvand evaluate the performa
against these objectives and ultimately determihatwliscretionary payments are made. The Compastyed $1.1 million as of December
2014 and 2013 for liabilities associated with theseployee and executive bonus plans which are decluin accrued liabilities in t
Company's consolidated balance sheets.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of certain financitiuments including cash and cash equivalentsuats receivable, prepaid expenses and
current assets, accounts payable and accruedtlehdpproximate fair value due to their relatiwshort maturities.

Revenue Recoghnitio

The Company's revenue is generated fromptbeision of diagnostic services using the Afirmalution. The Company's service
completed upon the delivery of test results to phescribing physician which triggers the billingr fihe service. The Company recogn
revenue related to billings for Medicare and conuisgmpayers on an accrual basis, net of contractdpistments, when a reasonable esti
of reimbursement can be made. These contractualstaagnts represent the difference between theplise (the billing rate) and t
reimbursement rate for each payer. Upon ultimatieation, the amount received from Medicare and waarcial payers where reimbursen
was estimated is compared to previous estimatesh@ncbntractual allowance is adjusted accordirightil a contract has been negotiated
a commercial payer or governmental program, then#disolution may or may not be covered by thesiéiesitexisting reimbursement polici
In addition, patients do not enter into direct agnents with the Company that commit them to pay f@oryion of the cost of the tests in
event that their insurance declines to reimbureetbmpany. In the absence of an agreement witpdtient or other clearly enforceable le
right to demand payment from the patient, the eelaktvenue is only recognized upon the earlieragfient notification, if applicable, or ce
receipt.

For all services performed, the Companys@ers whether or not the following revenue rectignicriteria are met: persuasive evide
of an arrangement exists; delivery has occurresborices have been rendered; and a reasonablestifreimbursement can be made.

Persuasive evidence of an arrangementseaigl delivery is deemed to have occurred uponetgliof a patient report to the prescrit
physician. The assessment of whether a reasonabieate of reimbursement can be made requiresfiigni judgment by manageme
Where management's judgment indicates a reasoesablaate of reimbursement can be made, revenueciggnized upon delivery of t
patient report. Some patients have oupotket costs for amounts not covered by their @usce carrier, and the Company may bill the pe
directly for these amounts in the form of co-payteeand cansurance in accordance with their insurance aaarel health plans. Some pay
may not cover the Company's GEC as ordered by thecpbing physician under their reimbursement giedi. The Company purst
reimbursement from such patients on a case-bylzass. In the absence
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of contracted reimbursement coverage or the alitityeasonably estimate reimbursement, the Compaeggnizes revenue upon receip
third-party payer notification of payment or wheash is received.

Revenue recognized when cash is receivedd28.7 million, $14.6 million and $7.5 million ftine years ended December 31, 2014,
and 2012, respectively. Revenue recognized on anualcbasis was $12.5 million, $7.3 million and I#illion for the years end
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue is expensed as incurredrastddes material and service costs, cytopathotegting services performed by a thpdrty
pathology group, stockased compensation expense, direct labor costgregnt and infrastructure expenses associatedtesting sample
shipping charges to transport samples, and alldaaterhead including rent, information technologguipment depreciation and utilities.

Research and Developme

Research and development costs are chaogeperations as incurred. Research and developowsts include, but are not limited
payroll and personnel-related expenses, stmded compensation expense, prototype materiésralry supplies, consulting costs, ¢
associated with setting up and conducting clingtatlies at domestic and international sites, alodated overhead including rent, informa
technology, equipment depreciation and utilities.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes utitetiability method. Under this method, deferted assets and liabilities are determ
based on the difference between the financial rstaté and tax bases of assets and liabilities usiragted tax rates in effect for the yee
which the differences are expected to affect taxattome. Valuation allowances are established wiseessary to reduce deferred tax a
to the amounts expected to be realized.

The Company assesses all material positken in any income tax return, including all siipgant uncertain positions, in all tax ye
that are still subject to assessment or challepgelevant taxing authorities. The Company's assessof an uncertain tax position begins
the initial determination of the position's sussdiitity and is measured at the largest amount okfiethat is more-likely-thamot of beiny
realized upon ultimate settlement. As of each lasheet date, unresolved uncertain tax positiamst e reassessed, and the Compan:
determine whether (i) the factors underlying thetaimability assertion have changed and (ii) thewm of the recognized tax benefit is !
appropriate. The recognition and measurement ofbmxefits requires significant judgment. Judgmesdscerning the recognition a
measurement of a tax benefit may change as newmatmn becomes available.

Stoclk-based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense for egqustyuments issued to employees is measured lmastite grantdate fair value of the awar
The fair value of each employee stock option isnestied on the date of grant using the Black-Schofgsonpricing model. The Compa
recognizes compensation costs on a straight-lisis fbar all employee stock based compensation asithiat are expected to vest over

98




Table of Contents

VERACYTE, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contirad)
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cornitued)

the requisite service period of the awards, whichenerally the awards' vesting period. Forfeitamesrequired to be estimated at the tirr
grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequemgeif actual forfeitures differ from those estiemt

Equity awards issued to non-employees aheed using the Black-Scholes option-pricing maated are subject to ieasurement as 1
underlying equity awards vest.

Net Loss per Common Shal

Basic net loss per common share is caledlby dividing net loss attributable to common ktadders by the weightedverage number
common shares outstanding during the period, witlmmsideration of common stock equivalents. Ddutet loss per common share
computed by dividing net loss attributable to comnstockholders by the weightedrerage number of common share equivalents ouisg
for the period determined using the treasury stoekhod. Potentially dilutive securities consistofgoptions and warrants to purchase com
stock are considered to be common stock equivatardavere excluded from the calculation of diluted loss per common share because
effect would be anti-dilutive for all periods presed.

Recent Accounting Pronouncemen

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Starts Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards afed"ASU") No. 2014-09Revenu
from Contracts with Custome, requiring an entity to recognize the amount afereie to which it expects to be entitled for trensfer o
promised goods or services to customers. The ugdatndard will replace most existing revenue ratamn guidance in GAAP when
becomes effective and permits the use of eitherdtrespective or cumulative effect transition noethEarly adoption is not permitted. 1
updated standard becomes effective for the Compatiye first quarter of fiscal 2017. The Company hat yet selected a transition met
and is currently evaluating the potential effecthaf updated standard on its financial statements.

In August 2014, FASB issued Accounting 8tads Update No. 2014-1%®resentation of Financial Statements Going Coneern
Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity's Atilto Continue as a Going Conce. The amendments require management to ass
entity's ability to continue as a going concernibgorporating and expanding upon certain princiglegt are currently in U.S. auditi
standards. Specifically, the amendments: (1) pe@diefinition of the term substantial doubt; @)uire an evaluation every reporting pe
including interim periods; (3) provide principlesrfconsidering the mitigating effect of managenseptans; (4) require certain disclost
when substantial doubt is alleviated as a resuttoofsideration of management's plans; (5) requirexgpress statement and other disclos
when substantial doubt is not alleviated; and ¢guire an assessment for a period of one year thitedate that the financial statements
issued (or available to be issued). ASU 2a54will be effective for annual periods ending efleecember 15, 2016 and interim periods wi
annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016 early adoption permitted. ASU 2015 will be effective for the Company beginn
with its annual report for fiscal 2016 and interpariods thereafter. The Company has not yet deteinthe effect of the adoption of t
standard on the Company's consolidated financaatstents.
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The following table presents the calculatid basic and diluted net loss per common shar¢éhioyears ended December 31, 2014,
and 2012 (in thousands, except share and per ahrayents):

Year Ended
December 31,
2014 2013 2012
Net loss $ (29,379 $ (25,58() $ (18,649
Shares used to compute net loss pe
common share, basic and dilut 21,639,37 4,158,66 650,33:
Net loss per common share, basic
diluted $ (1.36) $ (6.15) $ (28.69)

The following outstanding common stock eglents have been excluded from diluted net logscpenmon share for the years en
December 31, 2014 and 2013 because their inclustarhd be anti-dilutive:

Year Ended
December 31,
2014 2013

Shares of common stock subject to outstandingep  3,249,46!  2,359,28
Shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of

warrants — 24,80
Total shares of common stock equivale 3,249,46! 2,384,08!

4. Business Combination

On September 16, 2014, the Company acqditledgro via a merger with Full Moon Acquisitiomd., a whollyewned subsidiary of tl
Company. Allegro was a privateheld company based in Maynard, Massachusetts, ddoms the development of genomic tests to imprbe
preoperative diagnosis of lung cancer. Allegro redrgiith Full Moon, (the "Merger"), with Allegro stiving the Merger as a whollgwnec
subsidiary of the Company. At the effective timetb& Merger, each share of the common stock of Mdbn issued and outstand
immediately prior to the effective time of the Mergvas automatically converted into one share afrnon stock of Allegro and represer
the only outstanding common stock of Allegro at efffective time of the Merger; all previously issuegnd outstanding shares of common <
of Allegro were canceled. The Series A preferredlsiof Allegro issued and outstanding immediateipmto the effective time of the Mer¢
was canceled and automatically converted intoitfte to receive a total of 964,377 shares of then@any's common stock and $2.7 milliol
cash. Outstanding indebtedness of Allegro totadd3 million was settled in cash by the Companytlun effective date of the Merger.
outstanding stock options under Allegro's equitseimtive plan were canceled.

The acquisition of Allegro is expected tocelerate the Company's molecular diagnostics basiiinto the pulmonology diagnos
market. Allegro's lung cancer test is designeddlp Iphysicians determine which patients with lurgluies who have had a ndiegnosti
bronchoscopy result are at low risk for cancer eaad thus be safely monitored with CT scans rathen undergoing invasive procedures.
Company plans to launch its lung cancer test imidzlle of 2015.
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The Merger was accounted for using the is@gpn method of accounting with the Company teelatis the accounting acquirer.
purchase price was allocated based on the estirfaitadilue of the assets acquired and liabiliissumed at the date of the acquisition.

The Company incurred approximately $0.3iamlin acquisitionrelated costs related to the Merger, which prirgacidnsisted of lege
accounting and valuatiorelated expenses. In addition, the Company incug@ million related to transaction bonuses andeisnc
payments to former Allegro employees associatetl thié Merger. These expenses were recorded in @emeat administrative expense in
accompanying consolidated statements of operatiodscomprehensive loss. Total expenses and neasssgiated with the acquired Alle
business in the Company's consolidated statemémfsenations and comprehensive loss were not segbaiidentifiable due to the integrati
with the Company's operations.

The acquisition consideration was comprisie(n thousands):

Stock $ 10,07¢
Cash 2,72¢
Payment of outstanding indebtedn 4,29(

Total acquisition consideratic $ 17,09:

The stock consideration of $10.1 millionsadetermined based on the closing price of the Gorylp common stock on Septembel
2014 ($10.45 per share).

The fair value of the assets acquired #tillities assumed at the closing date of the Meage summarized below (in thousands):

Cash and cash equivalel $ 29
Prepaid expenst 3
Other current asse 13
In-process research and development ("IPR& 16,00(
Goodwill 1,05
Accrued liabilities 9

Total net assets acquir $ 17,09:

The fair value of IPR&D was determined gsihe multiperiod excess earnings method of the income appraakich estimates tl
economic benefits of the IPR&D over multiple timeripds by identifying the cash flows associatechlite use of the asset, based on fore
prepared by management, and deducting a periodigelreflecting a fair return for the use of cdnitory assets. The forecasted cash f
were discounted based on a discount rate of 1819%.discount rate represents the Company's weightethge return on assets and
benchmarked against the internal rate of returnasd of capital of guideline publicly traded comfgss. The fair value of the IPR&D w
capitalized as of the closing date of the Merget isrsubsequently accounted for as an indefihied intangible asset, tested for impairmel
least annually, until completion or abandonmenthef associated research and development activiliese complete, amortization of
acquired IPR&D asset into earnings will commendee CTompany estimates that the acquired IPR&D asdigtave a useful life of less th
20 years after taking into consideration expectssl af the asset, legal or regulatory provisions iy limit or extend the life of the asset
well as the effects of obsolescence and other enmnfactors.
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Goodwill, which represents the purchaseegim excess of the fair value of net assets aeduis not expected to be deductible for inc
tax purposes. This goodwill is reflective of thdueaderived from the expected acceleration of tleen@any's entry into the pulmonolc
market.

Pro Forma Financial Information (Unaudited)

The following pro forma financial informati is based on the historical financial statemehtfie Company and presents the Compi
results as if the Merger had occurred as of Janua2®13 (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,
2014 2013
Revenue $ 38,19( $ 21,88
Net loss $ (29,090 $ (28,60

The pro forma results present the combhmistbrical results of operations with adjustmentsdflect one-time charges including:

. The reversal of costs related to transaction banasel other payments to employees and acquisiiated expenses direc
related to the Merger of $2.2 million for the yemded December 31, 2014; and

. the elimination of interest expense related to dte indebtedness of $2.3 million and $4.5 millioor the years end
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

The pro forma information presented doespooport to present what the actual results wdialde been had the Merger actually occt
on January 1, 2013, nor is the information intenideproject results for any future period.

5. Balance Sheet Components
Property and Equipment, Ne

Property and equipment consisted of thieohg (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31
2014 2013

Leasehold improvemen $ 78 $ T77¢
Laboratory equipmer 4,19¢ 2,94¢
Computer equipmer 87t 64=
Software, including software developed for intenngsé 1,35: 901
Furniture and fixture 197 18¢
Constructiorin-process 73¢ 307
Total property and equipment, at ¢ 8,151 5,76
Accumulated depreciation and amortizat (3,990 (2,81%)
Total property and equipment, r $ 4,161 $ 2,952
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Depreciation and amortization expense wiad 75,000, $999,000 and $706,000 for the yearsceBadeember 31, 2014, 2013 and 2|
respectively, and was recorded in the statemergperfations and comprehensive loss as followshfingands):

Year Ended
December 31,
2014 2013 2012
Cost of revenu $ 677 $ 59 $ 401
Research and developme 187 17¢ 184
Selling and marketin 101 54 46
General and administrati 21C 17:¢ 75
Total depreciation and amortization expe $ 1,178 $ 99¢ $ 70¢
Accrued Liabilities
Accrued liabilities consisted of the follmg (in thousands):
Year Ended
December 31
2014 2013
Accrued compensation expen: $ 2,67: $ 1,962
Accrued Genzyme promotion fee: 3,30¢ 4,91¢
Accrued othe 1,86¢ 717
Total accrued liabilitie: $ 7,851 $ 7,59/

6. Fair Value Measurements

The Company records its financial assetsliabilities at fair value. The carrying amountscertain financial instruments of the Comps
including cash and cash equivalents, prepaid exyseaisd other current assets, accounts payablecangkd liabilities, approximate fair va
due to their relatively short maturities. The cargyvalue of debt approximates its fair value beaeathe interest rate approximates market
that the Company could obtain for debt with simil@rms. The accounting guidance for fair value les a framework for measuring 1
value, clarifies the definition of fair value, aedpands disclosures regarding fair value measuresmEnir value is defined as the price
would be received to sell an asset or paid to tesirs liability (an exit price) in an orderly traaction between market participants at
reporting date. The accounting guidance establiahbseetiered hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs usedhe valuation methodologies
measuring fair value as follows:

. Level I: Inputs which include quoted prices in setmarkets for identical assets and liabilities.
. Level Il: Inputs other than Level | that are obsdne, either directly or indirectly, such as quotettes for similar assets

liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are active; or other inputs that are observable orlmamrorroborated by observa
market data for substantially the full term of #esets or liabilities.
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. Level lll: Unobservable inputs that are supportgditile or no market activity and that are sigoént to the fair value of tl
assets or liabilities.

The fair value of the Company's financiasets, which consist only of money market fundss %&3.2 million and $70.0 million as
December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, resplyctarel are Level | assets as described above.

The Company has no Level Il liabilities@sDecember 31, 2014 and 2013. The following taes forth the changes in the fair valu
the Company's Level lll financial liabilities, whicconsisted of a preferred stock liability duringl3, which were measured on a recul
basis (in thousands):

December 31

2014 2013 _
Beginning balanc $ — $ 58
Change in fair value of preferred stock liabiligcorded as
other expense, n — 2,07
Settlement of preferred stock liabili — (2,657%)
Fair value of preferred stock warrant liabil — 17t
Change in fair value of preferred stock warrartiligy
recorded as other expense, — 86
Conversion of preferred stock warrant liabil — (261
Ending balanc: $ — 8 —

In November 2012, the Company recordedefepred stock liability as investors received tightrto purchase from the Company, on
same terms, additional shares of Series C conlegileferred stock, in a second tranche. As thestors held a majority of the board seats
decision to complete the second tranche was detortasl outside the control of the Company. The pretestock liability was valued using
optionypricing method, which resulted in an initial famlue of $0.9 million for the Company's obligatiansell the convertible preferred stc
In June 2013, the Company settled the preferrecksiiability upon completion of the sale of the sed tranche of Series C convert
preferred stock. Immediately prior to settlemehg €ompany revalued the preferred stock liabibity$2.7 million and recorded other expe
of $2.1 million related to the change in value leé tiability through that date. The preferred stdakility was valued using the optigoricing
method with the following assumptions: 100% probgbof success of the second tranche, fair valu&eries C preferred stock of $2.3¢
term of 0.003 years and expected volatility of 36.4

7. Commitments and Contingencies
Operating Leases

The Company leases its headquarters anth 8an Francisco laboratory facilities under a naneelable lease agreement that ex
March 31, 2016. The Company provided security digpas the form of irrevocable standby letters oédit secured with restricted ci
deposits at the Company's primary bank. The Commmpposited $118,000 in restricted cash accountsobateral for the lease which
included in restricted cash in the Company's cadatdd balance sheets as of December 31, 201404131 2
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The Company also leases laboratory spadaustin, Texas. The lease expires on July 31, 20h& Company provided a cash seci
deposit of $75,000, which is included in other &sgethe Company's consolidated balance sheets@scember 31, 2014 and 2013.

Future minimum lease payments under nowcalable operating leases as of December 31, 2@ldsdfollows (in thousands):

Year Ending December 31 Amounts
2015 $ 98¢
2016 41%
2017 22z
2018 13C
Thereafte! —

Total minimum lease paymer $ 1,75¢

The Company recognizes rent expense oraglst-line basis over the narancelable lease period. Facilities rent expense$8&2,00(
$840,000 and $711,000 for the years ended Decedih@014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Supplies Purchase Commitmen

The Company had a noancelable purchase commitment with two suppliersptirchase a minimum quantity of supplies
approximately $715,000 at December 31, 2014, allluth is expected to be paid in early 2015.

Debt Obligations
See Note 8, Debt.
Contingencies

From time to time, the Company may be imedlin legal proceedings arising in the ordinaryrse of business. The Company belit
there is no litigation pending that could have,inidbally or in the aggregate, a material adverfecé on the financial position, results
operations or cash flows.

8. Debt

In June 2013, the Company entered intoaa lnd security agreement ("Original Loan") witfirencial institution to fund its workir
capital and other general corporate needs. Their@tigoan provided for term loans of up to $10.0liom in aggregate. The Company di
down $5.0 million in funds under the agreementunel2013, and did not draw the remaining $5.0 amllon or before the expiration date
March 31, 2014. The Company was required to repayttstanding principal in 30 equal installmerggibning 18 months after the date of
borrowing and was due in full in June 2017. Thegal Loan had an interest rate of 6.06% per anraarrjed prepayment penalties of 2.2
and 1.50% for prepayment within one and two yeaspectively, and 0.75% thereafter.

In December 2014, the Company amendedigeidams and conditions of the Original Loan (“Arded Loan"). The Amended Lo
provides for term loans of up to $15.0 million iggaegate, in
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three tranches of $5.0 million each. The Companydvzed $5.0 million under the first tranche in Dexdxer 2014 and used the funds
repayment of the $5.0 million in principal outstarglunder the Original Loan, in a cashless tramsacin addition, the Company paid
accrued but unpaid interest of $14,000 due on thigir@l Loan and the related end4efm payment of $110,000. The Amended Loan wz
the prepayment premium of $75,000 under the Oridioan and reduced the end4efim payment of $225,000 under the Original Loz
$110,000. The second $5.0 million tranche undePtinended Loan is available through December 315201 the Company may borrow
third $5.0 million tranche any time through June 3016 after achieving the third tranche revenuestone as defined in the Amended Loan.

The carrying value of the debt approximéeair value because the interest rate approvémmarket rates that the Company could o
for debt with similar terms. Under the Amended Ldamrowing, the Company is required to repay théstamding principal in 24 eqt
installments beginning 24 months after the datthefborrowing and is due in full in December 201Be first tranche of the Amended L«
bears interest at a rate of 5.00% per annum. Thended Loan carries prepayment penalties of 2.00841200% for prepayment within @
and two years, respectively, and no prepaymentliyetiereafter. In connection with the Amended Lotive Company paid approximat
$45,000 in third-party fees.

The Amended Loan results in a debt modificaunder ASC 470-5M0Modifications and Extinguishmeniss the change in present valu
the remaining cash flows associated with the OQalgiman and Amended Loan are not substantial.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the abt dbligation was as follows (in thousands):

December 31

2014 2013
Debt and unpaid accrued ¢of term paymen $ 5,00: $ 5,047
Unamorized note discou (80) (143)
Net debt obligatiol $ 4920 $ 4,89¢

Future principal payments under the Ameridwmah are as follows (in thousands):

Year ending December 31

2015 $ —
2016 —
2017 2,437
2018 2,56¢
Total $ 5,00(

The obligation at December 31, 2014 inctuda end-oferm payment of $237,500, representing 4.75% ofdted outstanding princip
balance, which accretes over the life of the loginterest expense. As a result of the debt didcath the end-oferm payment, the effecti
interest rate for the loan differs from the contuat rate.
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Interest expense on the debt was as fol{owhousands):

Year Ended

December 31

2014 2013
Nominal interes $ 29€ $ 15¢
Amortization of debt discour 62 33
Enc-of-term payment intere: 81 42
Total $ 43¢ $ 23:c

Upon execution of the Original Loan, then@any issued the financial institution a warranptochase shares of Series C convel
preferred stock at $7.56 per share. At the timessdance, the aggregate fair value of the waramnthie 24,801 shares exercisable unde
warrant was $175,000. The fair value of the warraas deducted from total proceeds, resulting irelat discount to be amortized to inte
expense over 48 months, through the maturity datieeoOriginal Loan, using the effective interester method, and was recorded as a pret
stock warrant liability. The warrant was convertec warrant to purchase the Company's common stk the completion of the Compal
IPO. See Note 9.

The Company's obligations under the Amendedn are secured by a security interest in subatgnall of its assets, excluding
intellectual property and certain other assets. Atreended Loan contains customary conditions reléedorrowing, events of default, €
covenants, including covenants limiting the Compampility to dispose of assets, undergo a changmitrol, merge with or acquire ot
entities, incur debt, incur liens, pay dividendsotiner distributions to holders of its capital &omepurchase stock and make investmen
each case subject to certain exceptions. The Anadebdan also allows the lender to call the debthim évent there is a material adverse ch
in the Company's business or financial conditidme Tompany is required to be in compliance withimimum liquidity or minimum revent
covenant. As of December 31, 2014, the Companyimnvesmpliance with the financial covenants.

9. Convertible Preferred Stock Warrant

In June 2013, in conjunction with the exemuof the Original Loan, as discussed in Notéh&, Company issued to the lender a warra
purchase up to 49,602 shares of Series C conwenpitdferred stock with an exercise price of $7.66 ghare. Upon the dragewn of the
$5.0 million term loan, the related warrant becaxercisable for 24,801 shares. In November 2018pimection with the Company's IPO,
warrant automatically became exercisable for 248Gires at an exercise price of $7.56 per shareleRder exercised the warrant with res
to 24,801 shares through a cashless exercise iohV2x14, resulting in the issuance of 13,739 shafrdse Company's common stock.

The fair value of the then currently exsadile portion of the warrant in the amount of $00@8,was recorded as a preferred stock we
liability upon issuance and was subject tanmeasurement at each reporting period up to théngakate of the IPO when the Series C prefe
stock converted into common stock. The fair valfithe warrant upon issuance was calculated usiagBtack-Scholes optiopricing mode
with the following assumptions: Series C preferséatk value of $2.40 per share, contractual term.®fyears, riskree interest rate of 2.1'
expected volatility of 73.7%, and expected
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dividend yield of 0%. Just prior to the closingtié IPO, the fair value of the warrant was appratety $261,000, and was calculated usiny
Black-Scholes optiopricing model with the following assumptions: Ser@ preferred stock value of $13.14 per share,ractntal term ¢
7.0 years, risk-freénterest rate of 2.0%, expected volatility of 81,48d expected dividend yield of 0%. The changéhin fair value ¢
approximately $86,000 was reported as an expenshdoyear ended December 31, 2013 and was inclidether income (expense), net
the statements of operations and comprehensiveTbgswarrant was converted into a warrant to pasehcommon stock upon the comple
of the IPO in 2013, and was reclassified to addilgaid- in-capital in the Company's consoliddiathnce sheet.

10. Convertible Preferred Stock

In November 2012, the Company recordedefepred stock liability as the investors receivied tight to purchase from the Company
the same terms, additional shares of Series C ctilnieepreferred stock, in a second tranche. Askiestors held a majority of the board s¢
the decision to complete the second tranche wasetkéo be outside the control of the Company. Tieéepred stock liability was valued us
the optionpricing method with the following assumptions: 10@¥6bability of success of the second tranche,alue of Series C prefert
stock of $1.78, a term of 0.67 years and expect#dtility of 44%. This resulted in an initial fairalue of $0.9 million for the Compan
obligation to sell the convertible preferred sto8k.December 31, 2012, the Company revalued thiepeal stock liability to $0.6 million, ai
recorded the $0.3 million valuation decrease t@iothcome (expense), net, in the Company's statesneémperations and comprehensive |
In June 2013, the Company revalued the preferak diability to $2.7 million and recorded the $2rillion valuation increase to other inco
(expense), net, in the Company's consolidatedmstatts of operations and comprehensive loss. In 2048, the $2.7 million liability we
settled upon the issuance of the second tranclszieés C convertible preferred stock and was rsifled to additional paid-icapital in thi
Company's consolidated balance sheets.

On November 4, 2013, the Company compl@®dPO. In connection with the IPO, the Compar§8989,268 outstanding share:
convertible preferred stock were automatically @ted into 14,997,312 shares of common stock.

11. Stockholders' Equity
Common Stock

The Company's Restated Certificate of Ipodation authorizes the Company to issue 125,000db@res of common stock with a
value of $0.001 per share. The holder of each stfatemmon stock shall have one vote for each sbstock. The common stockholders
also entitled to receive dividends whenever furs assets are legally available and when declayetidoBoard of Directors, subject to
prior rights of holders of all series of convergilgreferred stock outstanding. No dividends hawnlueclared as of December 31, 2014.
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As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Coypad reserved shares of common stock for issuaméalows:

December 31 December 31

2014 2013
Options issued and outstandi 3,249,46! 2,359,28
Options available for grant under stock option pl 1,341,25: 1,787,80:
Common stock warrants issued and outstan — 24,80:
Total 4,590,72. 4,171,89

Preferred Stock

The Company's Restated Certificate of Ipooation authorizes the Company to issue 5,000sb@Bes of preferred stock with a par v.
of $0.001 per share. No shares were issued anthodisg at December 31, 2014 or 2013.

12. Stock Incentive Plans
Stock Option Plan:

In February 15, 2008, the Company adopted2008 Stock Plan (the "2008 Plan"). The 2008 Btanides for the granting of options
purchase common stock and common stock to emplpgéaestors and consultants of the Company. The 2oy may grant incentive stc
options ("1ISOs"), norstatutory stock options ("NSOs") or restricted ktamder the 2008 Plan. ISOs may only be grante€dmpan
employees (including directors who are also comsitiemployees). NSOs and restricted stock may drgept to Company employees, direc
and consultants. Options may be granted for tefmgpdo ten years from the date of grant, as ddtexdhby the Board of Directors, provic
however, that with respect to an ISO granted teragn who owns stock representing more than 108eofoting power of all classes of st
of the Company, the term shall be for no more tinanyears from the date of grant. The exercisegodf options granted must be at a pric
less than 100% of the estimated fair value of theress on the date of grant, as determined by tleedBaf Directors, provided however, t
with respect to an ISO granted to an employee whbeatime of grant of such option owns stock repreging more than 10% of the vot
power of all classes of stock of the Company, tker@se price shall not be less than 110% of thienaged fair value of the shares on the
of grant. Options granted to newly hired employgeserally vest over four years (generally 25% afiee year and monthly thereaft
Options granted to employees as part of annualdoompensation are generally fully vested at taatypate.

On October 2, 2013, the Company adopte@®8 Stock Incentive Plan (the "2013 Plan"). TA@2Plan was subsequently approve
the Company's stockholders and became effectivdavember 4, 2013, immediately before the closinghef Company's IPO. Following
effectiveness of the 2013 Plan, no additional ogtivill be granted under the 2008 Plan. An aggee@t1,700,000 shares were initi
reserved for issuance under the 2013 Plan. Iniaddib the extent that any awards outstandingibjest to vesting restrictions under the 2
Plan are subsequently forfeited or terminated fyr )@ason before being exercised or settled, theeshof common stock reserved for issu
pursuant to such awards as of the closing of tiievill become available for issuance under the 2BE3. The remaining shares available
grant under the 2008 Plan became available foarssiunder the 2013 Plan upon the closing
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of the IPO. On the first day of each year from 28342023, the 2013 Plan authorizes an annual iseref the lesser of 4% of outstanc
shares on the last day of the immediately precefisogl year or a lesser amount as determined &yCiimpany's Board of Directors. As
December 31, 2014, 1,341,252 shares were avaflabfature issuance under the 2013 Plan.

Pursuant to the 2013 Plan, stock optiogstricted shares, stock units, including restrictieadk units and stock appreciation rights ma
granted to employees, consultants, and outsidetdiseof the Company. Options granted may be el®®@s or NSOs.

Stock options are governed by stock optigreements between the Company and recipientok siptions. 1ISOs and NSOs may
granted under the 2013 Plan at an exercise priagobfess than 100% of the fair market value of dbenmon stock on the date of gr:
determined by the Compensation Committee of therdad Directors. Options become exercisable andirexps determined by t
Compensation Committee, provided that the ternB@fd may not exceed ten years from the date of g8&mtk option agreements may pro
for accelerated exercisability in the event of ptianee's death, disability, or retirement or otlegnts.

Any outside director who was not previoualy employee and who first joins the Company's 8adirDirectors on or after the effect
date of the 2013 Plan will be automatically graraednitial NSO to purchase 35,000 shares of comgtock upon first becoming a membe
the Board of Directors. Twenftijwe percent of the shares subject to the initigian will vest and become exercisable on the firstiversary ¢
the date of grant. The balancee the remaining 75%) will vest and become exercesabkr three years in equal monthly installments i@
first business day after each regularly scheduletlal meeting of stockholders, each outside direstmo was not elected to the Boarc
Directors for the first time at such meeting ancowtill continue serving as a member of the Boar®éctors thereafter will be automatice
granted an option to purchase 10,000 shares of constock, provided that the outside director hagezbon the Board of Directors for at le
six months. Each annual option will vest and becexercisable on the first anniversary of the dditgrant, or immediately prior to the ni
regular annual meeting of the Company's stockhslét#lowing the date of grant if the meeting occprior to the first anniversary date. 7
options granted to outside directors will have agi®re exercise price equal to 100% of the fairketavalue of the underlying shares on
date of grant and will become fully vested in therg of a change of control. In addition, such apsi will terminate on the earlier of (i) the
before the 10th anniversary of the date of grarftiothe date 12 months after the terminationhaf butside director's service for any reason.
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The following table summarizes activity enthe Company's stock option plans (aggregatmaitrvalue in thousands):

Weighted Average
Shares Weighted Remaining Aggregate
Available Stock Options Average Contractual Life Intrinsic
for Grant Outstanding Exercise Price (Years) Value
Balance—bBecember 31
2011 474,96 1,429,73 $ 1.5t 8.2z $ 1,221
Additional options
authorizec 743,10( —
Granted (931,944 931,94« 2.7¢
Cancelec 61,26¢ (61,269 1.97
Exercisec — (72,747) 1.0t
Balance—becember 31
2012 347,38¢ 2,227,66° $ 2.0¢ 8.17 $ 4,311
Additional options
authorizec 1,950,00! —
Granted (695,029 695,02¢ 5.32
Cancelec 185,44! (185,44 2.6¢
Exercisec — (377,969 1.4¢
Balance—Becember 31
2013 1,787,80. 2,359,28 $ 3.07 7.84 $ 26,96/
Additional options
authorizec 845,73 —
Granted (1,488,49) 1,488,49; 13.3¢
Cancelec 196,21( (196,219) 9.37
Exercisec — (402,100 1.6¢
Balance—becember 31
2014 1,341,25. 3,249,46' $ 7.5¢ 7.8¢ $ 12,40(
Options vested and
exercisable—
December 31, 201 1,370,94. $ 2.92 6.44 $ 9,281
Options vested and
expected to vest—
December 31, 201 3,09247 % 7.32 7.81 $ 12,29t

The aggregate intrinsic value was calcdla@e the difference between the exercise priceebptions to purchase common stock an
fair market value of the Company's common stockjcwhwas $9.66 per share as of December 31, 20143$4ddb0 per share as
December 31, 2013.

The weighted average fair value of optidospurchase common stock granted was $9.08, $4ntB$4.95 for the years enc
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

The weighted average fair value of stockans vested was $3.07, $2.12 and $1.40 per sbatbd years ended December 31, 2014,
and 2012, respectively. The aggregate estimataut date fair value of employee options to purchem®mon stock vested during the ye
ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 was $1.6 miltidrsd.3 million, respectively.

The weightedwverage fair value of stock options exercised w48 and $0.97 for the years ended December 314 208 201
respectively. The intrinsic value of stock optiaercised was $3.2 million, $4.9 million and $0.@ion for the years ended December
2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
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Stoclk-based Compensation

The following table summarizes stdzksed compensation expense related to stock ogtiorise years ended December 31, 2014,
and 2012, and are included in the consolidatedmsiants of operations and comprehensive loss asv®in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Cost of revenu $ 51 ¢ 34 $ 26
Research and developme 79C 25C 131
Selling and marketin 707 16¢ 111
General and administratiy 2,00( 794 407
Total stocl-based compensation expel $ 3548 $ 1,247 $ 67F

As of December 31, 2014, the Company ha€l #8llion of unrecognized compensation expensatedl to unvested stock options, wt
is expected to be recognized over an estimatedhiezleaverage period of 3.0 years.

The estimated grant-date fair value of exygé stock options was calculated using the Bladiel&s optiorpricing model, based on t
following assumptions:

Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012

Weightec-average volatility 70.19- 78.54% 80.42-81.41% 82.07-84.33%
Weighted-average expected

term (years 5.50- 6.08 5.00- 6.08 5.00- 6.08
Risk-free interest rat 1.66- 2.04% 0.88-2.11% 0.65- 1.19%
Expected dividend yiel — — —

The estimated grant-date fair value of raorployee stock options was calculated using thekB&choles optiompricing model, based
the following assumptions:

Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012

Weightec-average volatility 73.20- 74.48% 77.86- 78.14% 81.14-82.11%
Weighted-average expected

term (years 8.75-10.00 7.72-9.75 8.23-9.93
Risk-free interest rat 2.09- 2.20% 2.59- 2.99% 1.43-1.77%
Expected dividend yiel — — —

Equity-based Compensation

In February 2013, the Company's Board ak&iors authorized the grant of 100,498 fully vésttock options at a fair value of $2.
determined using the Black-Scholes optiting valuation model, resulting in a $259,00(pemxse in the year ended December 31, :
Upon issuance of the options, the
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accrued liability was reclassified into additiopalidin capital. For the years ended December 31, 26@42813, the Company paid execu
bonuses only in the form of cash.

13. Genzyme Co-Promotion Agreement

In January 2012, the Company and GenzympdZation ("Genzyme") executed a co-promotion ages# for the ceexclusive rights ar
license to promote and market the Company's Afitinyaoid diagnostic solution in the United Statesl &m 40 named countries. In exchat
the Company received a $10.0 million upfrontpzomotion fee from Genzyme in February 2012. Unlerterms of the agreement, Genz
will receive a percentage of U.S. cash receiptsttieCompany has received related to Afirma aprooaotion fees. The percentage was
in 2012, 40% from January 2013 through Februaryd2@hd 32% beginning in February 2014. Genzymédligaton to also spend up
$500,000 for qualifying clinical development acti®s in countries that require additional testiogdpproval expired in July 2014.

On August 12, 2014, the Company signechdibg Letter of Agreement with Genzyme to amenthteof the cgeromotion agreement. (
November 7, 2014, the Company signed an Amendedrasthted U.S. (-Promotion Agreement ("Amended Agreement”) with Gene
Under the Amended Agreement, themremotion fees Genzyme will receive as a percentddé.S. cash receipts were reduced from 32
15% beginning January 1, 2015. Through August 0142the Company amortized the $10.0 million upframpromotion fee over a foyeal
period, which was management's best estimate dfféhef the agreement, in part because after piegiod either party could have termine
the agreement without penalty. Effective August2@14, the Company extended the amortization pdrmd January 2016 to June 2016,
modified earliest period either party could ternénghe agreement without penalty. The Company adeoufor the change in account
estimate prospectively. Either party may terminthteagreement with six months prior notice, howeuader the Amended Agreement, nei
party can terminate the agreement for convenierioe o June 30, 2016. The agreement with Genzyxp@es in 2027.

On November 7, 2014, the Company signedndiry Letter of Agreement (the "LOA") with Genzynte negotiate a potential co-
promotion agreement to promote Afirma GEC in caestother than the United States. The LOA providedxclusive negotiation period
attempt to negotiate in good faith until Decemb2r2014 a mutually agreeable co-promotion agreerfientU.S. CoPromotion Agreement
pursuant to which the companies couldpcomote the test in six initial countries. Duringch exclusive negotiation period, both parties
prohibited from negotiating with any third partytlvirespect to those six countries. On DecembefP@24 the parties amended the LO/
extend the exclusive negotiation period from Deceni?, 2014 to January 31, 2015. During the ext@naeiod, the terms of the original co-
promotion agreement with respect to countries datshe U.S. would remain in effect, including theeyment to Genzyme of 32% of
revenues received by the Company on the test intdes outside the U.S. On January 30, 2015 thiéegdurther amended the LOA to ext
the exclusive negotiation period to February 14,320

On February 13, 2015, the Company signeBxab).S. CoPromotion Agreement with Genzyme for the promotiéithe Afirma GEC te:
with exclusivity in five countries outside the Uett States initially and in other countries agreeftdm time to time. See Note 18, Subseq
Event.

The Company incurred $12.0 million, $8.8liom and $5.5 million in cgeromotion expense in the years ended December(d4, 201.
and 2012, respectively, which is included in selland marketing
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expenses in the consolidated statements of opesatiad comprehensive loss. The Company's outs@rabligation to Genzyme total
$6.0 million and $6.7 million at December 31, 2@l December 31, 2013, respectively. Of the $6lomiobligation at December 31, 20
$2.7 million is included in accounts payable and3$8illion is included in accrued liabilities ingiCompany's consolidated balance sheet
the $6.7 million obligation at December 31, 201B,8%million is included in accounts payable and®%4illion is included in accrued liabiliti
in the Company's consolidated balance sheets.

The Company amortized $2.3 million, $2.%lion and $2.4 million of the $10.0 million up-frorcopromotion fee in the years ent
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectivelyctwis reflected as a reduction to selling and ntargeexpenses in the consolide
statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

14. Thyroid Cytopathology Partners

In 2010, the Company entered into an aearent with Pathology Resource Consultants, P.ARCBH to set up and manage a special
pathology practice to provide testing serviceshis €ompany. There is no direct monetary compensétion the Company to PRC as a re
of this arrangement. The Company's service agreeimarith the specialized pathology practice, ThgrGytopathology Partners, ("TCP"), ¢
is effective through December 31, 2015, and thézealitomatically renews every year unless eithetygprovides notice of intent not to rer
at least 12 months prior to the end of the themrent term. Under the service agreement, the @osnpays TCP based on a fixed price pel
schedule, which is reviewed periodically for changemarket pricing. Subsequent to December 20d2naendment to the service agreer
allows TCP to use a portion of the Company's figcii Austin, Texas. The Company does not haveaneoship interest in or provide &
form of financial or other support to TCP.

The Company has concluded that TCP repteserariable interest entity and that the Companyot the primary beneficiary as it d
not have the ability to direct the activities thmbst significantly impact TCP's economic performr&ancherefore, the Company does
consolidate TCP. All amounts paid to TCP under ¢bevice agreement are expensed as incurred angd@ttlin cost of revenue in 1
consolidated statements of operations and compsefeefoss. The Company incurred $4.0 million, $3iftion and $1.8 million in the yes
ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respagtimetytopathology testing and evaluation servieegenses with TCP. The Compa
outstanding obligations to TCP for cytopathologgtitey services were $1.1 million and $0.6 millios @ December 31, 2014 and 2(
respectively, and are included in accounts payiatilee Company's consolidated balance sheets.

TCP reimburses the Company for a propoatiershare of the Company's rent and related opgretipense costs for the leased fac
TCP's portion of rent and related operating expeosts for the shared space at the Austin, Texdlgyavas $86,000 and $49,000 for the ye
ended December 31, 2014 and 2013. TCP reimburge@dmpany $59,000 in 2013 and the resulting exgagsient of $10,000 was incluc
in accounts payable in the Company's consolidaémhbe sheets at December 31, 2013.

15. Income Taxes

The Company generated a pretax loss of4%2dlion, $25.6 million and $18.6 million in the rited States for the years en
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectivelyceSimception, the Company has not generated artgxpiecome or loss outside of
United States. The Company did not record a pronisi benefit for income taxes during the yearsedridecember 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012.

114




Table of Contents

VERACYTE, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contirad)
15. Income Taxes (Continued)
The Company follows FASB ASC No. 748¢come Taxes for the Computation and Presentatfdts dax ProvisionThe following tabli
presents a reconciliation of the tax expense coetpat the statutory federal rate and the Compaay'expense for the period presentet

thousands):

Year Ended December, 31

2014 2013 2012
U.S. federal taxes at statutory r $ (9,987 $ (8,697 $ (6,34)
State tax (net of federal benel 5 11 (1,079
Permanent difference 64 79C (23
Incentive stock option 672 35E 284
Tax credits (4617) (502) (113)
Change in valuation allowan: 9,701 8,04: 7,267
Total $ — $ — $ —

Deferred income taxes reflect the net féects of temporary differences between the cagymounts of assets and liabilities for finar
reporting purposes and the amounts used for in¢ame
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purposes. Significant components of the Comparefarced tax assets and liabilities are as follawshousands):

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Current deferred tax asse
Genzyme c-promotion agreemel $ 79 $ 1,008 $ 1,001
Accruals and deferred re 1,81¢ 59¢ 14¢
Gross deferred tax ass: 2,612 1,60¢ 1,14¢
Valuation allowanct (2,317) (1,607) (1,145
Net deferred tax asse 30C 1 4
Non-current deferred tax asse
Net operating loss carryforwar 41,97 28,56¢ 20,53¢
Research and development cre 1,91¢ 1,45¢ 954
Stocl-based compensatic 82¢ 313 154
Genzyme c-promotion agreemel 20z 787 2,04¢
Accruals, deferred rent and ott 1,562 10€ 9
Gross deferred tax ass: 46,47 31,23( 23,70:
Valuation allowanct (41,127 (31,216 (23,627)
Net deferred tax asse 5,35( 14 79
Deferred tax liabilities
Property and equipme (60) (15) (83
In-process research and developn (5,590 — —
Gross deferred tax liabilitie (5,650 (15) (83)
Net nor-current deferred tax liabilitie (300 (1) (4)
Total deferred tax asse $ — $ — $ —

The Company has established a full valuagiltowance against its net deferred tax assetdaltle uncertainty surrounding realizatiol
such assets. The valuation allowance increased6®ilion and $8.1 million during the years endecdcBmber 31, 2014 and 20
respectively.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company hadperating loss carryforwards of approximately $8Imillion and $60.6 million availat
to reduce future taxable income, if any, for fetlarad state income tax purposes, respectivelyh€da amounts, $0.2 million represent fec
and state deductions from stock-based compensatttoh will be recorded as an adjustment to addiligaidin capital when they reduce -
payable. The U.S. federal net operating loss camndrds will begin to expire in 2026 while for sgburposes, the net operating losses
begin to expire in 2018.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company hdcregit carryforwards of approximately $2.2 mitli@and $1.6 million available to redt
future taxable income, if any, for federal and estatcome tax purposes, respectively. The fedemliccarryforwards begin to expire in 20
California credits have no expiration date.
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The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as aemrichposes restrictions on the utilization of apérating losses and tax credits in the €
of an "ownership change" of a corporation. Accogtliin a company's ability to use net operating lesard tax credits may be limited
prescribed under Internal Revenue Code SectioraB82383 ("IRC Section 382"). Events which may cdimsiations in the amount of the 1
operating losses or tax credits that the Company usa in any one year include, but are not limttgch cumulative ownership change of n
than 50% over a thregear period. Utilization of the federal and sta¢¢ operating losses may be subject to substamtala limitation due t
the ownership change limitations provided by th€ IRection 382 rules and similar state provisionghe event the Company has any cha
in ownership, net operating losses and researcll@vnelopment credit carryovers could be limited aray expire unutilized.

Uncertain Tax Positions

As of December 31, 2014, the Company hadaggnized tax benefits of $1.6 million, none ofiethwould currently affect the Compar
effective tax rate if recognized due to the Compmngferred tax assets being fully offset by a ataun allowance. The Company does
anticipate that the amount of unrecognized tax tisneslating to tax positions existing at DecemB&r 2014 will significantly increase
decrease within the next 12 months.

A reconciliation of the beginning and erglaamount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follGwshousands):

Year Ended
December 31
2014 2013 2012
Unrecognized tax benefits, beginning of per $ 727 $ 481 $ 341
Gross increas—tax position in prior perio 54¢ 68 67
Gross increas—current period tax positior 29€ 17¢ 73
Unrecognized tax benefits, end of per $ 1571 $ 727 $ 481

It is the Company's policy to include pdiesl and interest expense related to income taxa@sc@mponent of other income (expense)
and interest expense, respectively, as necesdagye Tvas no interest expense or penalties relatedrecognized tax benefits recorded thre
December 31, 2014.

The Company's major tax jurisdictions ane United States and California. All of the Compantax years will remain open
examination by the Federal and state tax authsritiethree and four years, respectively, fromdhee of utilization of the net operating los:
research and development credit. The Company dutdsane any tax audits pending.

16. 401(k) Plan

The Company sponsors a 401(k) defined dmrtton plan covering all employees. There wereemployer contributions to the plan in
years ended December 31, 2014 and 2
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The following table presents selected uitaddconsolidated financial data for each of thgheiquarters in the twgear period ende
December 31, 2014. The Company believes this irdtion reflects all recurring adjustments necessarfairly present this information wh
read in conjunction with the Company's financiatsments and the related notes. Net loss per consimare, basic and diluted, for the 1
quarters of each fiscal year may not sum to thed fot the fiscal year because of the different hanof shares outstanding during each pe
The results of operations for any quarter are eoensarily indicative of the results to be expetdedny future period.

Quarter Ended March 31 June 30 September 3C December 31
(In thousands, except share and per share dat
2014:
Total revenue $ 7.47¢ $ 8,671 $ 9,83t $ 12,19¢
Net loss (6,672) (6,655) (7,90%) (8,142
Net loss per common share, be
and dilutec (0.32) (0.31) (0.37) (0.36)

Shares used to compute net loss
common share, basic and diluf 21,148,34 21,237,19 21,648,66 22,508,25

2013:
Total revenue $ 4,38 $ 5,06¢ $ 559 $ 6,83¢
Net loss (6,89%) (6,490) (6,307) (5,897)
Net loss per common share, be

and dilutec (9.09) (7.59) (6.59) (0.42)
Shares used to compute net loss

common share, basic and dilut 763,02: 861,83¢ 955,89( 13,944,23

18. Subsequent Event (Unaudited)

On February 13, 2015, the Company signefxab).S. CoPromotion Agreement with Genzyme for the promotibithe Afirma GEC te:
with exclusivity in five countries outside the Usit States initially and in other countries agreeftdm time to time. The term of the agreen
is January 1, 2015 and continuing until December2BI9 with extension of the agreement possiblenuggreement of the parties. Coul
specific terms have been established under thiseaggnt for Brazil and Singapore and a right ot firsgotiation has been establishec
Canada, the Netherlands and Italy. The Company paijyl Genzyme 25% of net revenue in Brazil and Sioga over a fiverear perio
commencing January 1, 2015. Beginning in the foyahar of the agreement, if the Company termindtesagreement for convenience,
Company may be required to pay a termination fedimgent on the number of GEC billable results gatesl.
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On June 4, 2014, our Audit Committee of Buard of Directors approved the dismissal of RvaterhouseCoopers LLP, or PwC, as
independent registered public accounting firm.

The reports of PwC on the financial statetsdor the fiscal years ended December 31, 20832842 did not contain an adverse opil
or a disclaimer of opinion, nor were such reporalidied or modified as to uncertainty, audit scopeaccounting principles, except that
PwC report on our financial statements as of Deagrlh, 2011 and 2012 and for each of the two yieattee period ended December 31, 2!
included in our registration statement on Form (&ite No. 333191282) and related prospectus dated October A, 2@ntained an emphe
of matter paragraph relating to our experienceectirring operating losses and negative cash floars bperations as described in Note
such financial statements.

During the fiscal years ended Decembe2B813 and 2012, and through June 4, 2014, we ditiangt any disagreements with PwC on
matter of accounting principles or practices, ficiahstatement disclosure or auditing scope, ocgulare, which disagreements, if not reso
to the satisfaction of PwC, would have caused intke reference to the subject matter of the désagents in connection with its reports
the financial statements for such periods.

During the fiscal years ended December2®i,3 and 2012, and through June 4, 2014, there m@reportable events" as definec
Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K.

On June 4, 2014, the Audit Committee appdothe appointment of Ernst & Young LLP, or EY,@ag independent registered pul
accounting firm for the fiscal year ending Decem®&r2014. During the fiscal years ended DecembeP313 and 2012 and in the subseq
interim period through June 4, 2014, neither weamyone acting on our behalf has consulted withoBYany of the matters or events set {
in Item 304(a)(2) of Regulation S-K.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain "disclosure controls and praged," as such term is defined in Rule 13#e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 193
Exchange Act, that are designed to ensure thatnr#tion required to be disclosed by us in repdréd tve file or submit under the Excha
Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and repuaritéin the time periods specified in Securitiesl &xchange Commission rules and fol
and that such information is accumulated and conicated to our management, including our Chief ExgeuOfficer and Chief Financi
Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisioregarding required disclosure. In designing andluateng our disclosure controls &
procedures, management recognized that disclosurgots and procedures, no matter how well conckiaed operated, can provide ¢
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the mggdf the disclosure controls and proceduresreee Our disclosure controls and proced
have been designed to meet reasonable assurandarsis Additionally, in designing disclosure cofgrand procedures, our manager
necessarily was required to apply its judgmentvaluating the cosbenefit relationship of possible disclosure corstrahd procedures. T
design of any disclosure controls and procedurss ial based in part upon certain assumptions gheutkelihood of future events, and th
can be no assurance that any design will succeadhieving its stated goals under all potentialif@tconditions.

Based on their evaluation as of the enthefperiod covered by this Annual Report on ForaK10ur Chief Executive Officer and Ch
Financial Officer have concluded that, as of suatedour disclosure controls and procedures wéeetefe at the reasonable assurance level.
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Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for estahlishnd maintaining adequate internal control direncial reporting as defined in Rule 13a
15(f) under the Exchange Act. Because of its infiedanitations, internal control over financial m@ting may not prevent or det
misstatements. Projections of any evaluation ofetfiectiveness of internal control to future pesate subject to the risk that controls |
become inadequate because of changes in conditiortisat the degree of compliance with policieparcedures may deteriorate. Under
supervision and with the participation of our magragnt, including our Chief Executive Officer andi&@H-inancial Officer, we conducted
evaluation of the effectiveness of our internaltoonover financial reporting as of December 3112@sing the criteria establishedinternal
Control—Integrated Framework'1992 Framework") issued by the Committee of Spang Organizations of the Treadway Commis
("COosOo").

Based on our evaluation using those cafesur management has concluded that, as of Dece8hb@014, our internal control o
financial reporting was effective to provide reaslole assurance regarding the reliability of finahegporting and the preparation of finan
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles.

This Annual Report on Form X0does not include an attestation report of ouisteged public accounting firm on our internal cof
over financial reporting due to an exemption esshld by the JOBS Act for "emerging growth compsuiie

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There were no changes in our internal cbmver financial reporting (as such term is defirie Rule 13at5(f) under the Exchange A
identified in connection with the evaluation idéietl above that occurred during the quarter endedebnber 31, 2014 that have mater
affected, or are reasonably likely to materiallfeef, our internal control over financial reporting

ITEM9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
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PART IlI
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPO RATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this item witbspect to directors is incorporated by referemroenfthe information under the capt
"Election of Directors," contained in our Proxy ®taent to be filed with the Securities and Excha@gemission no later than 120 days fi
the end of the Company's last fiscal year endeceidéer 31, 2014 in connection with the solicitatidrproxies for our 2015 Annual Meeti
of Stockholders to be held on May 18, 2015, or RPrBtatement. Certain information required by thésn concerning executive officers is
forth in Part | of this Report under the captiorx&Eutive Officers of the Registrant” and is incagded herein by reference.

There have been no material changes tprbeedures by which stockholders may recommend messito our Board of Directors.

Item 405 of Regulation K-calls for disclosure of any known late filing failure by an insider to file a report required ®gction 16(a) «
the Exchange Act. This disclosure is containechendection entitled "Section 16(a) Beneficial Ovehgy Reporting Compliance” in the Pr
Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

We have adopted a Code of Business CorahattEthics that applies to all of our officers amdployees, including our President
Chief Executive Officer, our Chief Financial Officand other employees who perform financial or aoting functions. The Code of Busin
Conduct and Ethics sets forth the basic princighes guide the business conduct of our employeeshée also adopted a Senior Finai
Officers' Code of Ethics that specifically appltesour President and Chief Executive Officer, obie® Financial Officer, and key managern
employees. Stockholders may request a free copyr€ode of Business Conduct and Ethics and ouio6Emancial Officers’ Code of Ethi
by contacting Veracyte, Inc., Attention: Chief Ricgal Officer, 7000 Shoreline Court, Suite 250, thaBan Francisco, California 94080.

To date, there have been no waivers undeiCode of Business Conduct and Ethics or Senioarkial Officers’ Code of Ethics. \
intend to disclose future amendments to certaiwipians of our Code of Business Conduct and EtbicSenior Financial Officers’ Code
Ethics or waivers of such Codes granted to exeewdflicers and directors on our websitétp://www.veracyte.corwithin four business da
following the date of such amendment or waiver.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item isanporated by reference from the information urtblercaptions "Election of DirectorsBirectol
Compensation" and "Executive Compensation" conthinghe Proxy Statement for the 2015 Annual Meeth Stockholders to be filed w
the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year endeddb&ber 31, 2014.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIA L OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this item isanporated by reference to the disclosure appeanitgr the headings "Security Ownershi
Certain Beneficial Owners and Management" and "EBttee Compensation-Equity Compensation Plan Information" containedhia Prox
Statement for the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockhide be filed with the SEC within 120 days of flseal year ended December 31, 2014.
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ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANS ACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item igamporated by reference from the information urttiercaption "Election of DirectorsCertair
Relationships and Related Transactions" andfrector Independence” contained in the Proxy $&tatd for the 2015 Annual Meeting
Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 12§ slaf the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item isanporated by reference from the information urtlercaption "Ratification of the Appointm:
of Independent Registered Public Accounting FirPrircipal Accountant Fees and Services" containethe Proxy Statement for the 2(
Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with tBEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended Ddmamn31, 2014.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDU LES
(&) Documents filed as part of this report
1. Financial Statements:
Reference is made to the Index to Finartatements of Veracyte, Inc. included in Iltem ®aft Il hereof.
2. Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules have been omitted becausg dne not required, not applicable, or the requirddrmation is included in the financ
statements or notes thereto.

3. Exhibits
See Item 15(b) below. Each managementacinbr compensating plan or arrangement requirée filed has been identified.
(b)  Exhibits

Exhibit
Number Description
2.1  Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated September¥4,2fy and among Veracyte, It

Full Moon Acquisition, Inc., Allegro Diagnostics @o, Andrey Zarur, as
Stockholders' Agent, Kodiak Venture Partners IIRl. Kodiak Il Entrepreneu
Fund, L.P. and Catalyst Health Ventures L.P. (ipooasted by reference to Exhibit
to the Registrant's Form XD-for the quarterly period ended September 30, Zidd
November 13, 2014

3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Regist (incorporated by reference
Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant's Current Report omk&-K filed November 8, 2013

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (purated by reference
Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant's Current Report omk&-K filed November 8, 2013

4.1  Form of Common Stock Certificate (incorporated leference to Exhibit 4.1 to t
Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-Ie (Nb. 333191282), as amend:
declared effective on October 29, 201

4.2  Second Amended and Restated Investors Rights Agreterdated November 6, 20
between the Registrant and certain investors (parated by reference to Exhibit 4.z
the Registrant's Registration Statement on Forn(FHl& No. 333191282), as amend
declared effective on October 29, 201

4.2 Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Invefmists Agreement, dat
June 14, 2013, between the Registrant and cernaasiors (incorporated by refere
to Exhibit 4.3 to the Registrant's Registrationt&tezent on Form S-1 (File No. 333
191282), as amended, declared effective on Oc2fe2013).

10.%# Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Regig and its officers ai
directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibitllo the Registrant's Registrat
Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 3381282), as amended, declared effectiv
October 29, 2013
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Exhibit
Number

Description

10.2#

10.%#

10.4

10.5

10.€

10.7

10.&F

10.¢

10.1C

10.11%#

10.1%#

2008 Stock Plan and forms of agreements thereu¢ideorporated by reference
Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Registration Steet on Form S-1 (File No. 333
191282), as amended, declared effective on Oc2fe2013).

2013 Stock Incentive Plan and forms of agreemeh&etinder (incorporated
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant's Regfion Statement on Form S{File
No. 33:-191282), as amended, declared effective on Oc&e2013).

Lease Agreement dated as of February 10, 201@ebket ARESan Francisco M
17, LLC and the Registrant (incorporated by refeesto Exhibit 10.4 to the Registra
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 393282), as amended, decle
effective on October 29, 201:

First Amendment to Lease Agreement entered iatofaJuly 11, 2012 between ARE
San Francisco No 17, LLC and the Registrant (ing@ied by reference to Exhibit 1
to the Registrant's Registration Statement on F&+In (File No. 333t91282), a
amended, declared effective on October 29, 2(

Lease Agreement between Riata Holdings, L.P., adldad, and the Registrant,
tenant, dated November 28, 2012 (incorporated ligreace to Exhibit 10.6 to t
Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-Ie (Rb. 333191282), as amend:
declared effective on October 29, 201

First Amendment to Lease Agreement dated as ofalgny 2014 by and between R
Holdings, L.P. and the Registrant (incorporated rbference to Exhibit 10.7 to t
Registrant's Annual Report on Form KOfor the year ended December 31, 2013

March 20, 2014)

Copromotion Agreement dated as of January 18, 2012dem Genzyme Corporati
and the Registrant (incorporated by reference tdilix10.7 to the Registrar
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 393282), as amended, decle
effective on October 29, 201!

Amendment to C@romotion Agreement, effective April 9, 2013, betmeGenzym
Corporation and the Registrant (incorporated byersgfce to Exhibit 10.8 to t
Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-Ie (Rb. 333191282), as amend:
declared effective on October 29, 201

Loan and Security Agreement dated as of June 263 P@tween Silicon Valley Ba
and the Registrant (incorporated by reference tdilix10.9 to the Registrar
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 393282), as amended, decle
effective on October 29, 201

Employment Agreement, dated as of February 15, 2088veen Bonnie Anderson ¢
the Registrant (incorporated by reference to ExHiBi10 to the Registrar
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 3381282), as amended, decle
effective on October 29, 201

Amendment to Bonnie Anderson Employment Agreemdated as of December
2008, between Bonnie Anderson and the Registrartoiporated by reference
Exhibit 10.11 to the Registrant's Registration St&nt on Form S-1 (File No. 333
191282), as amended, declared effective on Oc2fe2013).
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Exhibit
Number Description
10.1%# Amendment No.2 to Bonnie Anderson Employment Agreet, effective as
March 11, 2009, between Bonnie Anderson and theisRegt (incorporated |
reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Registrant's Regfion Statement on FormiS(File
No. 33:-191282), as amended, declared effective on Oc#e2013).

10.14t Change of Control and Severance Agreement, efieetbvof August 24, 2012, betw
Bonnie Anderson and the Registrant (incorporatedetigrence to Exhibit 10.13 to |
Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-[Ie (Nb. 333191282), as amend:
declared effective on October 29, 201

10.1% Change of Control and Severance Agreement, effeetbvof August 24, 2012, betw
Christopher Hall and the Registrant (incorporatgdrdference to Exhibit 10.14 to f
Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-Ie (Rb. 333191282), as amend:
declared effective on October 29, 201

10.1¢# Change of Control and Severance Agreement, effecs of April 8, 2013, betwe
Shelly Guyer and the Registrant (incorporated Wigremce to Exhibit 10.15 to t
Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-Ie (Nb. 333191282), as amend:
declared effective on October 29, 201

10.1% Reserved

10.1&# Offer Letter dated as of April 8, 2013 with Shelly Guyer (incorporated by referel
to Exhibit 10.17 to the Registrant's Registratiagat&nent on Form S-1 (File No. 333
191282), as amended, declared effective on Octfe2013).

10.1# Offer Letter dated as of January 28, 2010 with &bpher M. Hall (incorporated
reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Registrant's Regfion Statement on FormiS(File
No. 333-191282), as amended, declared effective on Oc2he2013.

10.2(+ Pathology Services Agreement dated as of Novenbe?@10 between Brazos Val
Pathology, P.A. D/B/A Reitpath and the Registraimcqrporated by reference
Exhibit 10.19 to the Registrant's Registration St&nt on Form S-1 (File No. 333
191282), as amended, declared effective on Oc2fe2013).

10.21  Approval of the Registrant to the Assignment of Bathology Services Agreement v
Brazos Valley Pathology to Thyroid CytopathologyrtRars, P.A. as of May 18, 2C
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to Registrant's Registration Statemen
Form &1 (File No. 33-191282), as amended, declared effective on Oc2he2013).

10.2z  First Amendment to Pathology Services Agreemenedias of December 19, 2(
between Thyroid Cytopathology Partners, P.A. angl Registrant (incorporated
reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the Registrant's Regfion Statement on FormiS(File
No. 33:-191282), as amended, declared effective on Oc#e2013).

10.2:  Second Amendment to Pathology Services Agreemeetidss of January 1, 2014
and between the Registrant and Thyroid CytopathoRartners, P.A. (incorporated
reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Registrant's AairReport on Form 18- for the yea
ended December 31, 2013 filed March 20, 20

10.2¢  Consent and First Amendment to Loan and Securityedment dated as
December 18, 2014 between Silicon Valley Bank dred Registrant (incorporated
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Guirr&®eport on Form & filed
December 18, 2014
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Exhibit
Number

Description

10.2%F

Amended and Restated U.S. Bmmotion Agreement between Veracyte, Inc.
Genzyme Corporation (incorporated by reference xbitkit 10.1 to the Registrar
Form 10Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2fil&d November 1:
2014).

10.2¢*tt Ex-U.S. Cc-Promotion Agreement between Veracyte, Inc. and @gaezCorporation

23.1

23.2F

24. 1

31.F

31.2

32. 1%

32.2%*

101.INS

101.SCt

101.CAL

101.DEF

101.LAB

101.PRE

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registéteblic Accounting Firmr

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, IndepenBegistered Public Accounti
Firm.

Power of Attorney (see the signature page of tlaual Report on Form -K).

Principal Executive Officer's Certifications Puent to Section 302 of the Sarbanes
Oxley Act of 2002

Principal Financial Officer's Certifications Puent to Section 302 of the Sarbanes
Oxley Act of 2002

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350 (Sect906 of Sarbane®xley Act o
2002).

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350 (Sect906 of Sarbane®xley Act o
2002).

XBRL Instance Documer

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schen

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkba
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbat
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkba

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkb.

T Confidential treatment has been granted with ragpeertain portions of this Exhibit.

Tt Confidential treatment has been requested witheitdp certain portions of this Exhibit.

# Indicates management contract or compensatorygslarrangement.

* Filed herewith.

*x In accordance with Item 601(b)(32)(ii) of Reatibn S-K and SEC Release No. 84986, the certifications furnished
Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 hereto are deemed to accoyntbes Form 10K and will not be deemed “filed" for purposes
Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1984 (Exchange Act") or deemed to be incorporateddgrence int
any filing under the Exchange Act or the Securithes of 1933 except to the extent that the regigtrspecifically

incorporates it by referenc

Copies of the above exhibits not contained hereinaaailable to any stockholder, upon payment oédasonable per page fee, upon wr
request to: Chief Financial Officer, Veracyte, [i@000 Shoreline Court, Suite 250, South San Fsang¢iCalifornia 94080.

(c) Financial Statement Schedules

Reference is made to Item 15(a) 2 above.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of SectioorlB5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, ribgistrant has duly caused this report 1
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatyp authorized.

VERACYTE, INC.

By: /s/ BONNIE H. ANDERSON

Bonnie H. Anderson
President and Chief Executive Offic

Date: March 24, 2015

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENT, that legeerson whose signature appears below constitutdsappoints Bonnie
Anderson and Shelly D. Guyer, and each of themtrbesand lawful attorneys-ifact, each with full power of substitution, for hion her in an
and all capacities, to sign any amendments toattiigial report on Form 1R-and to file the same, with exhibits thereto atiteo documents
connection therewith, with the Securities and ExggaCommission, hereby ratifying and confirmingtblit each of said attorneysfmet ol
their substitute or substitutes may do or causetdone by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the SeeariExchange Act of 1934, this report has beeresidrelow by the following persons, on be
of the registrant on the dates and the capaciitisated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ BONNIE H. ANDERSON President, Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer) and March 24, 2015
Bonnie H. Andersol Director

[s/ SHELLY D. GUYER Chief Financial Officer (Principal

Financial Officer) March 24, 2015

Shelly D. Guyel

/SIDUNCAN T. POWELL Senior Vice President (Principal

Accounting Officer) March 24, 2015

Duncan T. Powel

/s BRIAN G. ATWOOD
Chairman of Board of Directors March 24, 2015

Brian G. Atwood

/s/ JOHN L. BISHOP

Director March 24, 2015
John L. Bishof
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Signature

/s BROOK H. BYERS

Brook H. Byers

/s FRED E. COHEN, M.D., D.PHIL.

Fred E. Cohen, M.D., D.Ph

/sl KARIN EASTHAM

Karin Easthan

/sl ROBERT S. EPSTEIN

Robert S. Epstei

/sl EVAN JONES

Evan Jone

s/ JESSE |. TREU, PH.D.

Jesse I. Treu, Ph.l

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Title
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Exhibit 10.26

Confidential Treatment Request
Confidential portions of this document have beatacted and have been filed separately with the Cesion

Execution Cop
EX-U.S. CO-PROMOTION AGREEMENT
BETWEEN
Genzyme Corporation, with offices located at 500 Kendall Street, Cainhdpe, Massachusetts 02142 (hereinafter referred togGenzymé)
and

Veracyte, Inc., with offices located at 7000 Shoreline Ct., 280, South San Francisco, CA 94080 (hereinafterraferred to as * Veracyte
H)

WHEREAS

A. Veracyte has developed the Afirfiarhyroid FNA Analysis, which includes centralizedayathology and molecular testing servi
for the assessment of thyroid nodules;

B. Genzyme is engaged in the business of and hasteseper, among other things, the sales and margsetimhyroger® (thyrotropin
alfa for injection), a product for patients withythid cancer;

C. Veracyte and Genzyme are currently promoting thewe Thyroid FNA Analysis in the United States (*3J") pursuant to the
Amended and Restated U.S. Co-Promotion Agreemgrant between Genzyme and Veracyte, dated as ofrioer 7, 2014 (the “
U.S. CoPromotion Agreemert);

D. Genzyme has professional endocrinology sales azgtons outside the U.S.; and

E. Veracyte and Genzyme desire to co-promote the Afifilnyroid FNA Analysis in the Territories upon tieems and conditions set
forth herein.

NOW, THEREFORE , in consideration of the mutual covenants andegents set forth in this Agreement, and for otlmerdgand valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of whichereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agréallaws:

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS
1.1 In the terms defined herein, the singular shallide the plural and vice versa.

“ Ad/Prom Materials’ shall mean advertising and promotional materfiaithe Test.

“ Additional Country” shall have meaning set forth in Section 2.6.

“ Affiliate ” shall mean any entity that directly or indirectigntrols, is controlled by or is under common coinvith another entity.
The term “control”, including the terms




“controlled by” or “under common control withfieans the possession of, directly or indirectlg,d¢apability to control the direction
the management and policies of any entity, whettiveugh the ownership of shares, by contract cemtfse.

“ Afirma " shall mean Afirma Thyroid FNA Analysis.
“ Agreement’ shall mean this Ex-U.S. Co-Promotion Agreemert &g Exhibits.

“ Annual Commercial Plah shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.2.1

“ Call " shall mean a face-to-face visit by a direct pssfenal sales representative of Genzyme or itdidiffis or Veracyte or its
Affiliates to a Healthcare Professional for thegmges of promoting the Test. For the avoidanaioabt, visits primarily related to
complaints or otherwise primarily related to custorservice shall not be deemed “Calls”.

“ Call Obligations” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.1.2
“ CAPAs"” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.8.2

“ Change of Contradl shall mean that (i) any person/entity controllmgarty ceases to control that party; (ii) anyspafentity not
controlling a party obtains control of that paiii) the acquisition, directly or indirectly, byng Person or group of related Persons
(other than any Person that controls, is contrdigdr is under common control with a party) of éficial ownership (as such term is
defined in Rule 13d-3 promulgated under the SaesrExchange Act of 1934, as amended) of secuptiesessing more than fifty
percent (50%) of the total combined voting powea @farty’s outstanding securities; (iv) a mergecanrsolidation in which securities
possessing more than fifty percent (50%) of thaltodmbined voting power of such party’s outstagdiecurities are transferred to a
Person or Persons different from the Persons hpliliose securities immediately prior to such tratisa; or (v) the sale, transfer or
other disposition of all or substantially all ofckuparty’s assetg@rovided, however, that in the case of Genzyme, if any of the
foregoing occurs in connection with or as a resfiteorganization or a transaction with Sanofi andhother Affiliate, then it shall n
be deemed a Change of Control for purposes offpisement. The term “control”, including the tetoontrolling” means the
possession of, directly or indirectly, the capapilo control the direction of the management aolicies of a party, whether through
the ownership of shares, by contract or otherwilee term “Person” shall mean an individual, cogpimn, partnership, limited
liability company, trust, business trust, assooigtjoint stock company, joint venture, pool, syrade, sole proprietorship,
unincorporated organization, governmental authpadtyany other form of entity not specifically kst herein.

“ CLIA " shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4d).1
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“ Collection Kits” shall mean the sample collection and sample parnsupplies intended for the collection and tpamsof human
thyroid FNA samples for the Test, which may includé&hout limitation, collection tubes with presation solution, slide holders, and
sample shipment materials, as may be determiné&tbgcyte from time to time in a manner consisteith applicable laws and
Marketing Authorizations. For the avoidance of bipiollection Kits do not include syringes, nesdbe other devices for sample
aspiration from patients or any other materialenidied to come in physical contact with patients.

“ Commercially Reasonable Effortshall mean that level of effort which would bevdéed by an independent entity seeking to
expeditiously and diligently pursue its own busgeHorts in light of relevant circumstances, bbuhd case less than that level of
efforts and resources, in such a manner, and with expedition as a party itself would adopt imiehing, promoting and detailing its
own services or products with similar market vabu@otential as the Test, taking into considerasibmelevant considerations,
including without limitation patent protection @atle secret protection. For the avoidance of ddhbtaforementioned examples of
relevant considerations are not intended to bewstha and no one such consideration (such ashitenae of patents or trade secret
protection in a particular Country alone) is inteddo be determinative in and of itself of whetagrarty exercised the requisite level
of diligence.

“ Complaint” shall mean a written, electronic or oral commuatign or expression of dissatisfaction that alledgficiencies related to
the Test (including Improvements), including, withdimitation, identity, quality, labelling, safetgccuracy or performance of the
Test.

“ Comprehensive Services Territdrghall mean any Additional Country designated ag pf the Comprehensive Services Territory
pursuant to Section 2.6.

“ Confidential Informatior?’ shall mean all information not known to the generalic or of a confidential nature disclosed (inting,
verbally, electronically, or by any other meansdily or indirectly) by or on behalf of one partia€ “ Disclosing Party) to the other
party (the “ Receiving Partfy under this Agreement, including, without limiiat, any information relating to (i) the manufaatur
testing, price, Complaints about (except as areired to be disclosed to Regulatory Authoritiesarkiting Authorizations for,
customers of, or defects in, the Test, (ii) a partyventions, discoveries, improvements, methpdsducts, finances, operations,
processes, plans, product information (including oe prototype products), know-how, design rigltade secrets, market
opportunities, regulatory information, customer angplier information and business affairs, anjl tfie provision of the Test.

“ Contract Year shall mean a twelve (12jonth period commencing as of January 1 and erafiref December 31. For the purpo
of this Agreement, the first contract year shathcoence on the Effective Date and end on Decemhe2(Bb.

“ Country” shall mean any of the countries in the Territerie
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“ Country Commitment Datéshall mean, with respect to a Country, the “Coy@ommitment Date” set forth on ExhibitfAr such
Country.

“ Country Payment Rateshall mean, with respect to a Country, the “Coyitayment Rate” set forth on Exhibitfér such Country.

“ Country Requlatory Everitshall have the meaning set forth in Section Bl(&.

“ Country Requlatory Terminatichshall have the meaning set forth in Section 111.6.

“ Country Removal Noticé shall have the meaning set forth in Section 11.7.

“ CRE Notice” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 111.6.

“ CS Collection Activities’ shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.11.

“ CS Royalty” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.1.1

“ Dedicated Promotion Only Territofyshall mean Brazil, Singapore, and any AdditioBaluntry designated as part of the Dedicated
Promotion Only Territory pursuant to Section 2.6.

“ DPO Caollection Activities’ shall have the meaning set forth in Section £211.

“ DPO Promotion Feesshall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.1.2

“ Effective Date” shall mean January 1, 2015.

“ Extended Terni shall have the meaning set forth in Section 11.1.
“ ECPA"” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4&.1

“ENA " shall mean fine needle aspiration biopsy(ies).

“ Euture Test shall mean any product or service, other thariTiast, and all improvements to such product oriserthat Veracyte
owns, controls or has rights to at any time duthTerm, that (i) is/are for additional thyroichcar diagnosis or treatment
applications including, without limitation, testevatloped on cytopathology diagnoses other tharténaénate, and (ii) require(s) one
or more additional clinical study(s) in order tataib Marketing Authorization or, if Marketing Authi@ation is not required, to
effectively compete in the market. For purposeslafity, Future Test does not include any produdtervice used outside of the field
of thyroid cancer diagnosis and treatment, inclgdimithout limitation, the diagnosis or treatmehtay other tissues, organs, or
systems or any other diseases or conditions.




“ GAAP " shall mean then-current international generatlgepted accounting principles, consistently applied

“ Genzyme Detail Repoitshall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.4.1

“ Genzyme Quarterly Net Revenue Regashall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.2.1

“ Genzyme TrademarKsshall mean Trademarks of Genzyme.

“ Healthcare Professiondlshall mean (i) health care providers qualifiegptescribe, recommend, or perform diagnostic tg<n
thyroid cancer, in each case who are authorizeapipjicable law to authorize, utilize, or prescribe Test and (ii) any associated staff
who need to be educated about the Test (includitigput limitation logistics related to the Test)¢luding but not limited to nurses,
laboratory technicians, physician assistants, amimistrative staff.

“ Improvement(sy shall mean any and all modifications, variatiorejisions or other improvements to the Test tiipaire not
otherwise described in the Veracyte Intellectualperty as of the Effective Date; (ii) are made dgithe Term of this Agreement, by
or on behalf of Veracyte, its Affiliates or any eloyees, consultants or other persons under Veracgteection or control; and (iii) a
commercialized or offered for sale by VeracytetsiAffiliates including, without limitation, any pduct or service sold under the
name “Afirma”, during the Term of this Agreementtive Territory. For purposes of clarity, Improvertseshall not include Future
Tests.

“ Indeterminat€’ shall mean, as of the Effective Date, the follogifollicular lesion of undetermined significan@e.US)/atypia,
follicular/Hurthle cell neoplasm or suspicious follicular/Hurthle cell neoplasm, and suspicious fizalignancy. The definition of
Indeterminate may be updated and amended in widtsnggasonably determined by Veracyte in good,faitiuding based on
applicable regulatory or clinical practice guideknor market needs.

“ Initial Term " shall have the meaning set forth in Section 11.1.

“ Intellectual Property Rightsshall mean all rights, privileges and prioritig®vided under federal, state, foreign and mulidmetl

law relating to intellectual property, includingthvut limitation all (i) (A) U.S. and foreign patsnand patent applications, inventions,
discoveries, machines, manufactures, compositibnsatter, processes, formulae, designs, methodsnigues, procedures, concepts,
developments, technology, new and useful improvestdereof and knowow relating thereto, whether or not patented ¢emable;
(B) copyrights and works of authorship, includirgmputer applications, programs, software, hardwédes, mask works,
compilations, databases, documentation and reilfsers; (C) trademarks, service marks, trade nadw@sain names, URLs, email
addresses, brand names, corporate names, logdsadadiress and the goodwill of any business syadmbthereby; (D) trade secrets,
drawings, lists and all




other proprietary, nonpublic or confidential infation, documents or materials in any media; analliregistrations, applications,
recordings and other legal protections or righlateel to the foregoing.

“ Labeled Use$ shall mean the diagnostic indications coveredheyMarketing Authorization for the Test or, in thiesence of any
such Marketing Authorization in any Country, thggarting clinical documentation approved by Veracyt

“ Liabilities " shall have the meaning set forth in Section 110.1.

“ Marketing Authorizatiori’ shall mean the regulatory authorization requit@dharket and sell the Test in a Country, if any.

“ Net Revenues shall mean actual cash received (i) by Veracyig its Affiliates from the sale of Tests in the Eded Promotion
Only Territories and (ii) by Genzyme and its Affiles from the sale of Tests in the Comprehensivac®@s Territory, including in

each case ((i) and (ii)), but not limited to, casid on payor claims and out-of-pocket paymentpdtients. For clarity, (a) Veracyse’
Test Processing Costs for the Test shall not bealed in the calculation of Net Revenues, (b) ayglties, licensing fees, damages,
or settlement costs paid in order to obtain or ta&irrights to a third party’s Intellectual PropeRights, which rights are necessary ol
useful for using, processing, making or commerziiadj the Test, shall not be deducted in the calicriaf Net Revenues, and (c) any
costs or royalties (owed to a third party) assedatith a third party’s performance of any partyeracyte’s or Genzyme's
responsibilities under this Agreement shall notibducted in the calculation of Net Revenues.

“ New Genzyme Produétshall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.1.3

“ Qualified Country Requlatory Evefishall have the meaning set forth in Section B(l§.

“ Requlatory Authority’ shall mean the authority or agency responsibtegfanting a Marketing Authorization or approvirget
provision and provider of the Test.

“ Removed Country shall mean a Country removed from the definitadrComprehensive Services Territory or Dedicateahitition
Only Territory in accordance with Section 11.6 ecton 11.7 hereof.

“ROEN Term” means, with respect to an ROFN Country, the meadbtime commencing on January 1, 2015 and extendintil the
earlier of December 31, 2017 or sixty (60) daysra¥teracyte informs Genzyme that it has succegs$altured reimbursement from
payors covering at least fifty (50%) of such cowistpopulation.

“ ROEN Agreement shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.5.

“ROFN Countries means Canada, the Netherlands, and Italy.
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“ Steering Committe& shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.1.

“ Subject Products shall mean Thyrogen and any New Genzyme Prodhuttexcludes any Third Genzyme Product.
“ Term " shall mean the Initial Term and the Extended T,afrany.

“ Territories” shall mean the Comprehensive Services Territog/the Dedicated Promotion Only Territory together.
“ Territory " shall mean either the Comprehensive Servicestdeyror the Dedicated Promotion Only Territory.

“ Test” shall mean the Afirma service that includes thsessment of thyroid nodule FNAs by cytopatholayy/er the assessment of
cytopathology Indeterminate FNAs by the Afirma Gé&ngression Classifier to reclassify the nodulbesign or suspicious for
malignancy, including any Improvements theretoe Tdrm “Test” includes the utilization of the Callion Kits, preparation, analysis
and reporting of patient results and for the avoogeof doubt does not include any devices useddomle aspiration from the patiel
Any second or subsequent generation of the Afiremaice will be included in the definition of “Test”

“ Test Processing Costshall mean all direct and indirect costs incurbydvVeracyte for activities associated with thdextion of
FNAs and processing (including, without limitatiatirect costs associated with finishing processeh as packaging, labelling and
other preparation, quality assurance, quality adntesting, storage and shipping) of the Testudirlg, without limitation, costs of
labor (including, but not limited to, salaries, lises, benefits and stock-based compensation), egerias, supplies, services, license
and royalty fees, costs associated with third peytgpathology laboratory services, and other regmudirectly consumed or used in
the conduct of the applicable activity and any feagable to any third party to the extent attribigao the collection of FNAs and
processing of the Test, and all indirect costsudicig without limitation costs of indirect labon¢luding but not limited to salaries,
bonuses, benefits and stock-based compensatiailitiéa, utilities, insurance, administrative cgsand facility and equipment
depreciation and amortization, where applicablénéoextent directly related to the applicable agtjwallocated consistent with GAAP
and as historically applied by Veracyte prior te #ffective Date of this Agreement. All such cdsterminations shall be made in
accordance with GAAP and shall be supported byapjate documentation.

“ Third Genzyme Productshall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.1.3

“ Thyrogen” shall mean Thyrogefi (thyrotropin alfa for injext) and any and all modifications, variations, sé@ms, uses or other
improvements thereto.




“ Trademarks' shall mean all registered trademarks, trademarksade names (whether or not appearing in larige or with the
trademark symbol) of Genzyme and Veracyte and thspective Affiliates, licensors or joint ventyartners, as applicable, listed on

Exhibit B. The use of these Trademarks or any other miteeiacept as permitted by this Agreement, is esglyeprohibited and m:

be in violation of copyright law, trademark lawather proprietary rights of Genzyme or Veracytehiiit B shall be updated and
amended by the parties in writing in the event (al/eracyte adopts a new Trademark for use imection with Improvements or
any Future Tests that is added to this Agreemersiiant to Section 2.4, (b) Genzyme adds an additjproduct to the portfolio
pursuant to Section 3.1.3 and (c) either party asesw Trademark for the portion of its businessrations related to the co-
promotion of the Test.

“U.S. " shall have the meaning set forth in the recitals.

“U.S. CoPromotion Agreemeritshall have the meaning set forth in the recitals.

“ Veracyte Intellectual Propertyshall mean any and all Intellectual Property Régéxclusively or non-exclusively (with the right t
grant sublicenses) owned or controlled by Veraoytiés Affiliates during the Term that are requifed Genzyme to carry out its
obligations to promote, market and detail the Tester this Agreement. For the avoidance of dodbtacyte Intellectual Property
includes any Intellectual Property Rights relat@dihtprovements required to promote, market andildsigt such Improvements to the
Test. The Veracyte Intellectual Property incluttespatents and patent applications identifiedxhiit C , as well as any patent or
patent application that claims priority to any spettent or patent application and any foreign cewparts of any of the foregoing.
Veracyte shall promptly update Exhibitff@m time to time as appropriate to list any adulitil patents and patent applications that
existed as of the Effective Date but were not idetliin_Exhibit J(if any) or are conceived, developed or acquiredbgn behalf of
Veracyte or its Affiliates after the Effective Dateat constitute Veracyte Intellectual Property.

“ Veracyte Owned Intellectual Propertghall mean any and all Veracyte Intellectual Ry exclusively owned or controlled by
Veracyte including the patents and patent apptioatindicated on Exhibit Cas well as any patent or patent application ¢feins
priority to any such patent or patent applicatiod any foreign counterparts of any of the foregoing

“Veracyte Quarterly Net Revenue Repbshall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.2.2

“ Veracyte Trademarksshall mean Trademarks of Veracyte.
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SECTION 2 - GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
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2.2

Grant of Rights

2.1.1 Comprehensive ServicesSubject to the terms of this Agreement and suiltijeVeracyte’s retained rights under
Section 2.1.3, Veracyte hereby grants to Genzyrddtariffiliates (to the extent such Affiliates gpeomoting, marketing,
detailing and selling the Test hereunder), on ausive (even as to Veracyte) basis in the Compreilie Services Territory,
the right and license under the Veracyte Intell@cRroperty to promote, market, detail, sell, offarsale the Test and to sell,
offer for sale and import the Collection Kits iret@omprehensive Services Territory during the Tenah to conduct its
obligations under this Agreement as permitted umadersubject to the terms and conditions set farthis Agreement.

2.1.2 Dedicated Promotion Only Subject to the terms of this Agreement and sulijeVeracyte’s retained rights under
Section 2.1.3, Veracyte hereby grants to Genzyrddtariffiliates (to the extent such Affiliates gpeomoting, marketing ar
detailing the Test hereunder), on as@lusive (with Veracyte) basis in the Dedicatedr®stion Only Territory, the right ar
license under the Veracyte Intellectual Propertgramote, market and detail the Test in the Dedat&romotion Only
Territory during the Term and to conduct its obligas under this Agreement as permitted under abgkst to the terms and
conditions set forth in this Agreement.

2.1.3 Retained Rights Notwithstanding anything contained herein, aewlhere, to the contrary, the license grant to @aerzand
its Affiliates (to the extent such Affiliates areagited a license grant pursuant to Section 2.1S9eotion 2.1.2) is expressly
made subject to Veracygeteservation of the right to promote, market, tlatzake, have made, use, sell, offer for sale,art
and export the Test in the Dedication PromotionyQr@rritory. Except as expressly set forth hereundothing in this
Agreement shall be construed to grant to Genzyniis éffiliates by implication, estoppel or othewsei any licenses under
Intellectual Property Rights owned or controlled\tsracyte other than the Veracyte Intellectual Brop

Use of Trademarks

2.2.1  Veracyte hereby grants to Genzyme and its Affifaenon-exclusive, royalty-free right and licens@ge the Trademarks of
Veracyte solely in connection with performing itdigations hereunder. Genzyme hereby grants tadyge and its Affiliate
a non-exclusive, royalty-free right and licensaise the Trademarks of Genzyme solely in connegtitmperforming its
obligations hereunder. Genzyme and its Affiliatesy use the Veracyte Trademarks on leaflets, breshadvertising and
other promotional material that describe the Tasdtroducts promoted, marketed and detailed btrezyme sales force
promoting the Test. Veracyte and its Affiliatesymee the Genzyme Trademarks
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2.2.3

2.2.4

2.2.5

2.2.6

2.2.7

leaflets, brochures, advertising and other promeatiand sales materials that describe the Tespantticts promoted by the
Genzyme sales force promoting the Test. Notwitltitey the foregoing, any usage of a pafyrademarks by the other pe
must be approved in advance by the party who o3 tademarks, such approval not to be unreasomattiizeld, delayed,
or conditioned. It is understood and agreed tke@har party shall use the other party’s Trademarkgest labeling (which
includes without limitation Collection Kit packagjnlabels and package inserts, laboratory reqoistiand patient report
forms) unless otherwise required by applicable land regulations (in which case the prior approvast still be obtained fi
such usage pursuant to the immediately precedintgisee).

Each party shall use the Trademarks only for thpgees authorized hereunder and, in particulat, sbause the
Trademarks in a manner that would reduce or dirhitlie reputation, image and distinctiveness ofTtta@lemarks.

Neither party shall, by virtue of this Agreemertitain or claim any right, title or interest in orthe Trademarks of the other
party, except the rights of use as are specificatyout herein, and each party hereby acknowleglggsgrees that the
goodwill arising from such use shall at all timeare for the benefit of the existing owner of thrademark.

Neither party shall adopt or use any trademark mlrar device which includes or which is confusingimilar to, or is a
simulation or colorable imitation of, any of thealemarks. Neither party shall apply to registerfthademarks or any
trademark so nearly resembling them or any of themmay be likely to cause confusion and nothinti; Agreement shall
be deemed to give either party any such right.

Each party shall, promptly upon written requesthmy other party, submit to the requesting partym@amof any packaging,
leaflets, brochures, advertising, promotional matemnd any other material relating to the Tesiessary in order to monitor
such party’s compliance with its obligations hemem Each party shall use the other party’s Trad&min such font, form,
color, size or other representation as are pronggproved in writing by such other party (such appf not to be
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed).

Nothing in this Agreement shall entitle Genzymeé/eracyte to use the other party’s Trademarks asgbany corporate
business or trading name or logo or to use theémaaks or any marks which are similar to the Traaldmiin respect of any
goods which are similar to the Test without theresp written consent of the other party.

Each party shall ensure that whenever it uses théemarks of the other party, the party shall use@ercially Reasonable
Efforts to ensure that such Trademarks accompdnjgte appropriate wording and symbols (® or TM}essary to either
show that the Trademarks are registered tradenoarks
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2.2.8

trademarks, as the case may be, of the other pattyotherwise protect such Trademarks.

Genzyme shall give Veracyte prompt written noti€amy infringement or threatened infringement of dmademarks of
Veracyte used in connection with this Agreement ithaecomes aware of, and Veracyte shall give @exezprompt written
notice of any infringement or threatened infringeta any of the Trademarks of Genzyme used in eotion with this
Agreement that it becomes aware of. Veracyte steéirmine in its sole discretion what action nyato take in response to
the infringement or threatened infringement of &eyacyte Trademark. Genzyme shall determine iadts discretion what
action, if any, to take in response to the infrimgat or threatened infringement of any Genzyme diraatk.

2.3 Covenants Not to Compete

2.3.1

2.3.2

During the Term of this Agreement, Genzyme and\ffdiates (including, without limitation, Sanofhall not, directly or
indirectly, market, promote, detail, perform or pess for commercial use, sell or offer for salgganh or commercialize any
diagnostic test, diagnostic service, or diagngstdriuct in any country in the world that is eitffi@rthe assessment of thyroid
nodules, or that otherwise competes with the Tashify Improvements thereto) in any way. For th@dance of doubt, this
Section 2.3.1 shall not prohibit Genzyme or itsilffes (including, without limitation, Sanofi),dm marketing, promoting,
selling, offering to sell, importing or commerciatig Thyrogen.

During the Term of this Agreement, Veracyte andiitiiliates shall not, directly or indirectly, magk promote, detail,
perform or process for commercial use, sell orrdibe sale, import or commercialize any test, sggyor product in any
country in the world that competes with Thyrogen:

(a) in Thyrogen'’s labelled indications described below,
(b) as a therapy for treating multinodular goiter or
(c) in any future labeled indications for Thyrogen apd by the regulatory authorities for such couvigh it being

understood that if Veracyte or any of its Affiliatdirectly or indirectly conducts research, prodietelopment, or
clinical studies, or otherwise markets, promotesaits, performs or processes for commercial welbs sr offers for
sale, imports or commercializes any test, produseovice for an indication (other than solely fioultinodular
goiter) that is not an approved labelled indicafimnThyrogen at the time Veracyte or its Affiliates the case may
be, has commenced such activities and such indic&isubsequently included in the approved labelkes for
Thyrogen, then Veracyte or its Affiliates, as tlse may be, may continue such activities withouriddeemed to
be in violation of this Section 2.3.2).
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2.4

Thyrogen is indicated for use as (i) an adjunctiiagnostic tool for serum thyroglobulin (Tg) tegtiwith or without
radioiodine imaging in the follow-up of patientstivivell-differentiated thyroid cancer and (ii) afjunctive treatment for
radioiodine ablation of thyroid tissue remnantpatients who have undergone a near-total or thyabtdectomy for well-
differentiated thyroid cancer and who do not havidence of metastatic thyroid cancer. For the dace of doubt,
Veracytes obligations under this Section 2.3.2 shall ineladmmercial substitutes for Thyrogen (includinghwut limitatior
low functional sensitivity assays, any form of redmnant thyroid stimulating hormones or modifiednfulations thereof)
whether or not the labeled use for such substiiuéglaps with the then-current Thyrogen labelis inderstood and agreed
that this Section 2.3.2 shall not prohibit Veraogtéts Affiliates from marketing, promoting, seldj, offering to sell,
importing or commercializing (A) the Test or (B)yaRuture Test that does not directly compete witlgrogen as described
above.

Right of First Offer. If during the Term of the Agreement (i) Veracgtens or controls a Future Test and (ii) Veracyeides to

commercialize such Future Test in any Country, Ygie@will offer Genzyme the first opportunity totain the right to co-promote
such Future Test in such Country. In such casefdlfowing procedure shall apply:

24.1

2.4.2

2.4.3

24.4

Within ten (10) business days after its decisiodairSection 2.4(ii) above, Veracyte shall inviten®gne in writing to enter
into negotiations, setting forth, in such invitatjo/eracyte’s proposed terms for co-promotion ef future Test and any and
all information about such Future Test as is reablynrequested by Genzyme;

If Genzyme wishes to enter into such negotiati@enzyme shall, within thirty (30) calendar dayddwaing receipt of
Veracyte's invitation, deliver to Veracyte writtantice of Genzyme'’s intent to negotiate for rigtatsaid Future Test.
Promptly after receipt of such notice, the parsieall commence good faith negotiations exclusivéth each other for a
period not to exceed one hundred twenty (120) claledays after the date Genzyme gives the requistiee to Veracyte
(unless extended by mutual written agreement op#tes); and

If Genzyme does not deliver to Veracyte writtenicef its intent to negotiate for such rights witkuch thirty (30) calend
day period, then Veracyte shall be free to negotiaid enter into a co-promotion agreement or sirag@eement for the
relevant Future Test and Country with any thirdypanless such Future Test directly competes withrdgen as described
Section 2.3.2 above.

If Veracyte and Genzyme do not enter into a ledaifyling, written agreement within the said onedred twenty (120)
calendar day period (and such period has not b@ended by mutual written agreement of the partiésjacyte shall be free
to negotiate and enter into a co-promotion agre¢imesimilar agreement for the relevant Future Best Country with any
third party on terms (considered as a whole) ndenslly more favorable than the one last offer@@Genzyme
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2.5

2.6

unless such Future Test directly competes with dden as described in Section 2.3.2 above.

2.4.5 ltis the understanding of the parties that thiofaihg transactions shall not be subject to thehRaf First Offer described in
this Section 2.4: (i) any Change of Control trantise involving Veracyte, including any proposedrges, acquisition, or sa
of all or substantially all the assets of Veracyte(ii) any bona fide financing transaction forrdeyte.

Right of First Neqgotiation During the ROFN Term, with respect to an ROFNiG@oy, Genzyme will have an exclusive right of fiirs
negotiation to enter into an agreement with Vemagyverning the terms and conditions of the satepravision of the Test in such
ROFN Country (the “ ROEN Agreemeit including by adding such ROFN Country to the Teriés of this Agreement in accorda
with Section 2.6. Genzyme may exercise such rigtht iespect to an ROFN Country by delivering writteotice thereof to Veracyte
within the ROFN Term for such country. If Genzynradly exercises such right with respect to an RQFNNntry, then the parties w
promptly negotiate exclusively, diligently and inagl faith concerning the terms of the ROFN Agreernfi@na period of ninety (90)
days. If (a) Genzyme does not exercise its righirsff negotiation with respect to an ROFN Courtdtying the ROFN Term or (b) the
parties fail to execute an ROFN Agreement for REFN Country, then Veracyte will be free to entgbian agreement with a third
party governing the terms and conditions of the sald provision of the Test in such ROFN Countigm@encing on the Effective
Date and extending until (i) Genzyme does not dgerits right of first negotiation with respectan ROFN Country during the ROFN
Term; (ii) an ROFN Agreement is executed or (lii¢ fparties fail to execute an ROFN Agreement, alicgble, Genzyme will share
with Veracyte client and marketing information telhto the ROFN Countries. Notwithstanding the doiag, Veracyte will have the
right to request, in writing, that Genzyme exerdiseaight of first negotiation with respect to §apore before Veracyte informs
Genzyme that it has successfully secured reimbuwgsefrom payors representing at least fifty per¢gffs) of Singapore’s
population. If Genzyme (1) does not agree to eszerits right of first negotiation within respectStmgapore within sixty (60) days of
its receipt of such request from Veracyte, or {@reises such right but the parties fail to exeemd& OFN Agreement for Singapore
within ninety (90) days of such exercise, then \¢gta will be free to enter into an agreement withied party governing the terms
and conditions of the sale and provision of thet TreSingapore.

Additional Countries From time to time, the parties may add additi@eantries other than the U.S. to the Territooéthis
Agreement by written agreement (each, an “ Addélddountry”). Each such written agreement shall contain (i) #gghation of th
Additional Country as part of the Comprehensiveviges Territory or Dedicated Promotion Only Temyto(ii) an amendment to
Exhibit A containing the Country Payment Rate, Country Commexitt Date for such Additional Country and any adddl Country-
specific terms and conditions as the Parties magea@nd (iii) an amended Annual Commercial Plaritfe theneurrent calendar ye
which shall supersede the Annual Commercial Plan th effect. In the event of any conflict
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between the terms and conditions in the body af Agireement and Exhibit AExhibit A will control.

SECTION 3 — GENZYME'S UNDERTAKINGS

3.1 Genzymeés Roles and Responsibilities

3.1.1

3.1.2

3.1.3

Genzymés Sales Efforts and Activities Subject to the provisions of and during the Tefrthis Agreement, Genzyme and,
to the extent any of its Affiliates employ salesl anarketing personnel used to promote, market, aetletail Thyrogen, or
otherwise promotes, markets, sells, or details d¢gn, such Affiliates shall use Commercially Readda Efforts to

(a) market, promote, detail and sell the Test taltheare Professionals for the Labeled Uses (ifamndpplicable) in the
Comprehensive Services Territory in accordance thighthen-current Annual Commercial Plan and (bjketa promote and
detail the Test to Healthcare Professionals folLtiigeled Uses (if and as applicable) in the Dedat&romotion Only
Territory in accordance with the then-current ArimDbammercial Plan. Genzyme shall reasonably censdy input
provided by Veracyte regarding such activities.

Call Position. During Calls, in addition to the Test, SubjemdRicts may be presented, but the promotional rgessa
involving the Test must be presented in a substamtianner in the first, second or third positidre(t Call Obligations). At
such time as Genzyme begins marketing, promotidgdatailing the Test in any Country in accordandé the then-current
Annual Commercial Plan and for the remainder offthan of this Agreement, Genzyme and its Affiliatbsll observe the
Call Obligations on Calls conducted by their respecsales forces used to promote Thyrogen in aimtry unless
otherwise agreed by Veracyte in writing in its sdigcretion.

New Genzyme Productslt is acknowledged by the parties that Genzyagediated that it intends to use its and its Afis’
sales and marketing personnel that promote, mariettletail Thyrogen to promote, market and detaittzer Genzyme
product, in accordance with and subject to the $eand conditions of this Agreement after it receinearketing approvals
from the Regulatory Authorities (any such produpsomoted by such sales force, a “* New Genzymdwritd). If, at any
time during the Term, Genzyme desires to add aymtoather than the New Genzyme Product (a * Thieth@yme Produc)
to the portfolio of products promoted by the sdtese that is promoting, marketing and detailing Trest and Thyrogen
(other than pursuant to Section 2.4), Genzymeakilhin Veracyte’s written consent to add such Thishzyme Product to
the portfolio as soon as practicable prior to daingprovided, however, that if (a) such product is in the field of thido
cancer, (b) the addition of such product wouldaféect Genzyme or its Affiliatesbility to comply with its obligations und
this Agreement, and (c) the addition of such proeeauld not otherwise violate the terms and condtiof this Agreement,
then Veracyte shall not unreasonably withhold, yielacondition its consent.
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3.14

3.15

3.1.6

3.1.7

3.1.8

3.1.9

Compliance In performing their duties hereunder, Genzyme imAffiliates shall, and shall cause their regpe
employees and agents who perform activities relatdélde Test to, comply with all reasonable pokcd directives issued
by Veracyte from time to time with respect to thesT(providedthat such polices and directives are compliant aghlicabl
local laws and regulations, the Labeled Uses aadthrketing Authorizations) and with all applicabégyulatory,
professional and legal requirements which may Ipdicgble to the services to be provided by Genzhereunder. Neither
Genzyme nor its Affiliates, nor any of their resipge employees or agents, shall make any clainresgmtation, statement,
warranty or guaranty with respect to the Test ihatconsistent with the then current Labeled Usfdbe Test, this
Agreement or the Ad/Prom Materials approved bySteering Committee, that is deceptive or misleadintpat disparages
the Test or the good name, goodwill and reputatifovieracyte. Genzyme and its Affiliates shall @ammercially
Reasonable Efforts to ensure that any servicesgad\hereunder will be provided in a professioerttijcal and competent
manner.

Account Management Except as otherwise provided_in Exhibit Senzyme shall be solely responsible for Heal#acar
Professional account conversion and set-up, acenanagement and account support in the Territories.

Sampling Program Except as otherwise provided_in Exhibit &enzyme shall manage and provide a sampling anodor
the Test in which Genzyme will provide Collectioitto Healthcare Professionals in the Territoneaccordance with the
Annual Commercial Plan. The Steering Committed! sledermine the number of Collection Kits that @gme shall

purchase from Veracyte for use in such samplingam at a price equal to Veracyte’'s Test ProcesSogjs for conducting
the Test with such Collection Kits.

Medical Staff Access Genzyme shall provide Healthcare Professionadsrapresentatives of payors utilizing the Teshwit
reasonable access to Genzyme’'s medical and he@thessonnel to discuss scientific and clinicakasp of the Test and its
applicability to patients.

Costs. Genzyme shall be solely responsible for thescastl expenses of establishing and maintaining ypees and its
Affiliates’ sales force (including travel relatedsts), and conducting its other activities undes greementprovided,
however, that the training of such sales force shall bedagted in accordance with Section 4.3.

Review of Promotional and Training Material§ o the extent practicable, all promotional araining materials provided to
any of Genzyme’s or its Affiliatesales representatives regarding strategy, positiomi selling messages for the Test wil
subject to review and approval by the Steering Cdtaen At any time during the Term, the Steerirggrinittee may
delegate a representative from each party to asthwmesponsibilities set forth in this Section.3.1
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3.2

3.3

3.4

Annual Commercial Plan

3.2.1

3.2.2

Before April 15t of each calendar year commencintheyear 2015, Genzyme and Veracyte shall jogulymit an initial
draft of a commercial plan for the Territories fbe subsequent calendar year (each, an “ Annuah@ouoial Plari’) to the
Steering Committee for review and comment. Befoctober 13 of each calendar year commencing iydae 2015,
Genzyme and Veracyte shall jointly submit a finalftlof the Annual Commercial Plan for the subsedjealendar year to tl
Steering Committee for approval. Before Novemlif Iof each calendar years commencing in 2015, tiberiig
Committee shall approve the final Annual CommerPBialn for the subsequent calendar year. Withietgif©0) days after
the Effective Date, the Steering Committee shatrape the Annual Commercial Plan for the calendsrycommencing on
January 1, 2015.

The Annual Commercial Plan will specify in reasdeatetail all marketing and promotional activitibat Genzyme (and,
where applicable, Veracyte) will undertake in e&€cduntry during the relevant calendar year. TheushiCommercial Plan
shall include, without limitation, the followinga) Test positioning, strategy and tactics with rdga reimbursement efforts
and with regard to supporting advertising and pribomal activity to be undertaken; (b) a determioatof the Healthcare
Professional accounts that are appropriate andarappropriate for Calls; (c) any training progeatm be conducted;

(d) medical and education programs to be condu¢gdrofessional and trade relations activitifsafy information to be
specifically included in any Genzyme Detail Repég); specifications for the development of promotiband training
materials (including the specific types of suchenals to be developed); (h) projections for rebated discounts for the Te
(i) such other information relating to the markgtand sales of the Test as deemed advisable [St¢laeging Committee;

() the projected budget for all of the activit@sd materials anticipated under such plan, inclyiithout limitation projecte
gross billings and Net Revenues (in each casedir tytopathology and the molecular testing), poigd billing rates by
payor, and a breakdown of the projected costdattivities and materials anticipated under thaual Commercial Plan;
and k) a three (3) year rolling sales forecastitide party shall make any material change in aeyipusly approved Annual
Commercial Plan without the prior written approgéthe Steering Committee.

Sales Force Genzyme and its Affiliates shall directly emplagufficient number of suitably qualified and hed personnel to enst

the fulfilment of Genzyme’s obligations includingimbursement efforts under this Agreement, as geain_Exhibit A. Genzyme
will promptly notify Veracyte in writing of any matial proposed or of any actual changes to thes ga@esonnel responsible for

promoting the Test hereunder.

Reporting.

3.4.1

Genzyme shall provide Veracyte with a written repeithin thirty (30) days of the end of each calanquarter, detailing tt
efforts of its and its Affiliates’ sales
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forces in promoting, marketing and detailing thetTauring the preceding calendar quarter (or peneof) for the Territories
(the “ Genzyme Detail Repott. Such reports shall include the following infieaition:

€) reimbursement discussions;
(b) in the case of Countries in the Comprehensive 8esvTerritory, billing information; and
(c) such further information as agreed upon by theigrart

All such information shall be the Confidential Infieation of Genzyme and shall be maintained by \ideaim accordance
with Section 7 hereof.

3.5 Advertising and Promotional Materials; Medical Affa.

3.5.1

3.5.2

Ad/Prom Materials All Ad/Prom Materials authorized by the Steerfbgmmittee pursuant to Section 5.2.2 shall be etkat
and developed by Veracyte, and Veracyte shall redslg consider any input provided by the Steeriogn@ittee or
Genzyme. Neither party may use any Ad/Prom Mdtenmathe Territories that have not been previoagproved by the
Steering Committee or it's designees pursuant ti@e5.2.2. At its sole cost and expense duriregferm, Genzyme shall
(i) produce, print and distribute all such Ad/Prbfaterials for Countries in the Territories, basedemglish language content
developed by Veracyte, and in accordance with GeeZzy reasonable policies and procedures anddiistate and adapt for
local markets any such Ad/Prom Materials as appgpfor any Countries in the Territories withowe&ing Committee
approval;provided, however, that copies of any such translated and adaptéeriaa will be promptly provided to the
Steering Committee. Genzyme shall reasonably densiny input provided by the Steering Committe¥@racyte regardin
such materials for future productions and printingsuch materials. In the event that the Stee@iognmittee does not
approve a particular type or form of Ad/Prom Makrtinder Section 5.2.2 but one party still desicesreate such type or
form of material, such party may do so at it sodpemseprovided, however, that such party must obtain Steering Comm
review and approval of such Ad/Prom Material ptiany use thereof. All Ad/Prom Materials produbgdGenzyme under
this Agreement are and shall remain the proper@arizymeprovided, however, that as between the parties hereto and
except as expressly provided otherwise elsewhetfdsrAgreement, Veracyte shall exclusively ownriht, title and interest
in all Intellectual Property Rights in all Ad/Prohaterials, except for any content specifically tethto Thyrogen or other
Genzyme products and any Genzyme Trademarks (vshighbe exclusively owned by Genzyme), and Genzsinadl have i
royalty-free right and license under such Intelle¢Property Rights during the Term.

Observers Each party shall have the right to have an eygagarticipate as an observer in the other paprgmotional
review committee or board meetings
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3.5.3

354

3.55

related to the Ad/Prom Materialgtovided, however, that each party shall retain sole discretion rdigg the management
and scheduling of its promotional review committeeoards and the availability of the observetlsia influence the
scheduling and timing of such meetings.

Talks and Grants In its sole discretion, Genzyme will (i) parpeate in speaker training events (at its sole codtexpense),
(ii) participate in, and promote the Test at, kgmposia, industry events and educational dinnegnams as described in the
Annual Commercial Plan (at its sole cost and ex@easd (iii) provide grants to patient organizasiocontinuing medical
education providers, and other appropriate recipiéat its sole cost and expense). As betweepdhees hereto and except
as expressly provided otherwise elsewhere in tigie@ment, Veracyte shall develop all slide decks@omotional materia
(including booth design for symposia and industrgrés) in the English language to be used by GerZpmthe above
activities and shall exclusively own all right)e¢iand interest in any such slide presentationspxor any content
specifically related to Thyrogen or other Genzymedpicts and any Genzyme Trademarks (which shaikbkrisively owned
by Genzyme). Genzyme may modify such materiall pitor written approval of the Steering Committevided,
however, that Genzyme and its Affiliates may translate addpt for local markets any such materials ascgpiate for any
Countries in the Territories without Steering Conted approvalprovided furthetthat copies of any such translated and
adapted materials will be promptly provided to 8teering Committee; argtovided furthetthat Genzyme shall be solely
responsible for the costs and expenses of antletextent directly related to the accuracy of duahslations and adaptatio
liabilities directly arising from, any such tranttens and adaptations.

Physician Speaking Eventsif the Steering Committee determines that h@dirphysician speaker event will be
advantageous to the promotion, marketing or sdl#éseoTest in a Country that is a ComprehensiveiSes Territory,
Genzyme shall pay for the honoraria and travel Bgpe of an academic-center based physician witbrége on the Test to
provide a physician speaker event in such Couafrgl,Veracyte shall pay such expenses if the CoismfryDedicated
Promotion Only Territory.

Veracyte shall pay for the honoraria and travelesiges of an academic-center based physician wirése on the Test to
provide a physician speaker event in such Country.

3.6 Customer Support, Complaints and Inquiries

3.6.1

Customer Suppott In the Territories, Veracyte shall have solgogsibility for direct, frontine customer support includir
without limitation, medical information support.e¥acyte shall perform these activities in a mamoasistent with the
responsibilities outlined in Exhibit Bereto. Such activities shall be at Veracyte’'s aosl expense. Veracyte shall
reasonably consider any

18

3.6.2

input provided by Genzyme regarding such customppart. Genzyme shall provide reasonable suppariasistance to
Veracyte as reasonably requested at Veracyte'saomsexpense, subject to the availability of swsources. In the
Territories, Genzyme shall refer any requests guiiies directly to Veracyte.

Complaints.

€) If Genzyme or any of its Affiliates becomes awaf@wy Complaint or concern regarding the Test (idiig,
without limitation, accuracy, quality or performanef the Test or any complaints or concerns reggrtlie sales,
promotion, or marketing of the Test), Genzyme sbialimit a written report of such Complaint or cancalong
with any documentation involved with the Complaihgvailable, to Veracyte within two (2) businetsys after
receipt of such notice by Genzyme. As betweerpé#rdes, Veracyte shall have the sole authorityrasgonsibility
to respond to any governmental agency or Regulaatkiority to respond to Complaints, and to haraleeturns
field alerts, recalls or market withdrawals of Thest in accordance with applicable Igwovided, however, that the
foregoing shall not be construed to prevent Genzgnits Affiliates in any way from complying witig
governmental agency or Regulatory Authority or aatile laws, rules or regulations or from respogdm
governmental agencies or Regulatory Authoritiewéispect to Complaints regarding the conduct ofZgeme’s or
its Affiliates’ sales force or the portion of angrntent of Ad/Prom Materials related to Genzyme'#®Affiliates’
products.

(b) Genzyme or its Affiliates shall forward all Compits and inquiries to Veracyte in a timely mannesetsforth in
Section 3.6.2(a) hereof and shall follow any reakd®m and timely directions Veracyte may providé¢hiat respect
including, without limitation, to allow Veracyte tmmply with applicable local laws and regulatiomshe
Territories. If an investigation by Veracyte iseded in response to a Complaint or inquiry, Genzgmeits
Affiliates shall assist Veracyte as reasonably ested by Veracyte and Veracyte shall forward tlselts of the
investigation to Genzyme within a reasonable tiara to allow Genzyme to comply with applicable Idaas and
regulations in a relevant Country. Genzyme andfiiates shall retain records of all Complairasd inquiries for
period of not less than three (3) years beyonexpération or termination date of this Agreementasrsuch longer
period as may be required by applicable law.



3.7 Audit . Upon reasonable prior written notification, eitlparty shall, during regular business hours, ideauthorized representatives
of the other party with access to its facilitiesc{uding those owned or operated by a third pasy3tems, personnel, books and
records (including books and records regardingRatenues) as reasonably necessary to enable tieseaftives to audit such
party’s compliance with its duties and respondibsi under this Agreement. Each party shall bédidhto one (1) audit
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3.8

3.9

per Contract Year during the Term and once dutiegtihree (3) year period following the expiratiartermination of this Agreemen
The records and Net Revenue reports for any péaticalendar quarter may not be examined undeiSiigion 3.7 more than once.

Non-solicitation. Neither party shall, directly or indirectly, ®lny action to cause the other party to lose &itg employees,
agents, customer contacts or other elements gbaswill; provided, however, that the foregoing shall not apply with respect t

(i) any person as to whom conversations were teilidoy such party after such person terminatedthiger employment with the other
party, (ii) any public advertisement in any genemaindustry publication, or (iii) any solicitatianade through a recruiting or search
firm retained by such party using a database ofiidates without targeting the other party or spedifdividuals.

Performance by Genzyme AffiliatesNotwithstanding anything to the contrary congairin this Agreement, any Genzyme obligation
hereunder may be assumed and performed by onererahis Affiliates, and Genzyme may, at its eil@ct delegate to any one or
more of its Affiliates any duty or responsibilitgtsorth in this Agreemenprovidedthat Genzyme shall remain responsible for any
all acts and omissions by such Affiliate(s) to #aene extent as if such were performed, taken oerhgdsenzyme. In the event that
Genzyme desires to perform its obligations in aoyi@ry through distributors (rather than througtedi employees), Genzyme may
make a written proposal to Veracyte for its consitlen and if Veracyte agrees, (i) the parties wiémorialize such agreement in
writing and (ii) Genzyme shall remain responsildedny and all acts and omissions by such diswibiat the same extent as if such
were performed, taken or made by Genzyme.

SECTION 4 — VERACYTE’'S UNDERTAKINGS

4.1

Veracyte Roles and Responsibilities

4.1.1 Veracyte Test Processing EffortsSSubject to the provisions of, and during thernTef, this Agreement, Veracyte and its
Affiliates shall use Commercially Reasonable Efdd offer and provide the Test beginning on tHedive Date in
accordance with the thesurrent Annual Commercial Plan in the Countriethim Territories. This means, among other th
that Veracyte and its Affiliates shall use thespective Commercially Reasonable Efforts:

€) to conduct and process the Test in accordancethétiiest specifications, including without limitatias contained
in the applicable Marketing Authorization (if any);

(b) to handle and process all aspects of the Testsdimg) receipt of Collection Kits, processing sampknd issuing
patient reports;

(c) to provide all central lab testing and processequired for provision of the Test and communicafilegt results;
and
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(d) to obtain and maintain all licenses, permits antifiations required to perform the foregoing respibilities,
including without limitation Clinical Laboratoridsprovements Amendments (* CLIA certification, and ensure
that any third party laboratories used by Veratgtperform such responsibilities also have the igtgulicenses,
permits and certifications at all times while penfing services on behalf of Veracyte.

4.1.2 Test Terms of Sale

(a) Comprehensive ServicesGenzyme shall have the right to establish andiingin its sole right and responsibility)
terms and conditions regarding the sale and pravisf the Test in each Country in the ComprehenSemices
Territory, including the price of the Test will Beld, any discounts offered or applied, the avditalof the Test, an
contractingprovided, however, that all matters relating to pricing of the Tesit be discussed by the Steering
Committee and Veracyte's input will be reasonaldgsidered by Genzyme. Dedicated Promotion Oriferacyte
shall have the right to establish and modify (fnsitle right and responsibility) terms and condgioegarding the
sale and provision of the Test in each Countrh@éDedicated Promotion Only Territory, including thrice of the
Test will be sold, any discounts offered or applibe availability of the Test, and contractipgovided, however,
that all matters relating to pricing of the Testiwe discussed by the Steering Committee and Gaeazyinput will
be reasonably considered by Veracyte.

4.2 Advertising and Promotional Materials; Medical Affa

4.2.1 Compliance Veracyte and its Affiliates shall, and shall sadheir respective employees and agents to, cowighyall
applicable regulatory, professional and legal resruents which may be applicable to Veracyte's éndiffiliates’ marketing
promotion, and detail of the Test and its othefgattions hereunder. Neither Veracyte nor its Adfiés, nor any of their
respective employees or agents, shall make anyctapresentation, statement, warranty or guanaiityrespect to the Test
that is inconsistent with the then current Labelses of the Test, this Agreement or the Ad/Promeials approved by the
Steering Committee, that is deceptive or misleadinthat disparages the Test or the good name vgd@hd reputation of
Genzyme. Veracyte and its Affiliates shall use Gurcially Reasonable Efforts to ensure that anyises provided
hereunder will be provided in a professional, ethand competent manner.

4.2.2 Brand Strateqgy Veracyte shall provide marketing and brand sgytor the Test in accordance with the Annual Caraial
Plan and any directions or instructions provideahfitime to time by the Steering Committee, andlskakonably consider

any input provided by Genzyme.
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4.3

4.4

Education and Training Unless otherwise agreed upon by the Steeringniitiee, Veracyte shall educate and train Genzymeds

to the extent its Affiliates employ sales and mérigpersonnel used to promote, market, detailsatidhe Test, such Affiliates’
training personnel in order that such training perel may provide general training to Genzyme'’s itmdffiliates’ sales and
marketing representatives regarding the Test,itgoenderstood that (i) Veracyte will provide Genmy, free of charge, with
reasonable quantities of training materials whiakiehbeen created and developed by Veracyte relatitige Test, and (i) Genzyme
and its Affiliates shall not permit any of theilspective sales and marketing personnel to promueket, detail and sell the Test
unless such sales and marketing personnel havetiaéeed by Genzyme's or its Affiliates’ trainingrsonnel trained by Veracyte (or
Genzyme as provided below in this Section 4.3)nZgme and its Affiliates referenced above shall enthieir respective training
personnel available for such training and partigipa conducting such training. As between thdigahereto and except as expressly
provided otherwise elsewhere in this Agreementadie shall exclusively own all right, title anderest in training materials
developed under this Agreement except for any cdrsjeecifically related to Thyrogen or other Geneyonoducts and any Genzyme
Trademarks (which shall be exclusively owned by fyeme). Genzyme may translate such training masengo the local language
used in any Country and may make copies of suahirigamaterials for use in its internal trainingpgrams. The parties shall mutus
decide on the times and locations of the trainihgueh training personnel, and, unless the paatigse otherwise in writing, Genzyme
and Veracyte will be responsible for the costg@afi$porting, housing and maintaining their respegtersonnel conducting or
receiving such training. As additional membersaded to Genzyme’s or its Affiliates’ training pennel responsible for training the
sales forces responsible for marketing and prorgdtie Test, training will be provided to such neatided members by Genzyme
using the training materials initially developed\Vgracyte.

Recalls.

4.4.1 Each party shall promptly (but in any case, narlgthan forty-eight (48) hours) notify the othertgan writing of any order,
request or directive of a court or other governrakagency or Regulatory Authority to recall or vdthw the Test. Veracyte
shall be responsible and have sole authority fadhiag all inquiries, Complaints, or recalls of thest at its sole cost and
expense, keeping Genzyme fully informed as tolaagand actions related to any such recall. dfiested by Veracyte,
Genzyme shall fully cooperate with a Test recathia Territory and follow all instructions given Beracyte in that regard.

If a party (a) is contacted by any other Regulatauyhority or governmental agency for any purposgaining specifically tc
this Agreement or to the Test or (b) becomes awbag impending inspection or audit of the faaiitior operations involved
with the Test, such party shall immediately nottg other party in writing. Genzyme agrees thahdll not respond to any
such agency making an inquiry of it until and oa$ydirected by Veracyterovided, however, that the foregoing shall not
construed to prevent Genzyme in any way from
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4.5

4.6

4.7

complying with any governmental agency or Regulatauthority or applicable laws, rules or regulaton

4.4.2 Inthe event that Veracyte considers initiatingobuwtarily recall of the Test in any Country, suelgall shall be at Veracyte's
expense, and Veracyte shall promptly inform Genzgfr®ich deliberations (including the contributfiagts and
circumstances leading up to such deliberations)adits final determination, and keep Genzyme fidifjprmed as to its plans
and actions related to any such voluntary recall.

Test Shortage and/or Supply Interruption

45.1 If Veracyte is unable to meet the volume of redigiss for the Test in any Country, Veracyte shitiGate supply of the Test
among all Countries where the Test is sold in adad equitable manner as reasonably determin&tebacyte. If any such
allocation would lead to a material shortage of kst in a particular Country, the implicationsréa in terms of the
promotional, marketing and detailing efforts of leparty under this Agreement shall be discusseddanitied by the Steeri
Committee as soon as practicable.

4.5.2 In case of a long term inability of Veracyte to yide the Test in any Country, each party is emtjtfgeending a decision by
the Steering Committee in accordance with Sectiériidabove, to unilaterally decrease its promotiamarketing and
detailing efforts under this Agreement in that jgatar Country in a way that is fair and proportda to the shortage or
interruption, given the nature and the anticipaterdhtion of the shortage or interruption.

Communications Genzyme may from time to time develop and igzass releases pertaining to this Agreement atioiéor est.
Such press releases shall contain both partiesésamnd logos and shall not be published in any erammform without prior written
approval by Veracyte, such approval not to be wsmeably withheld, conditioned or delayed, and icoadance with Section 12.7
hereof. Veracyte may from time to time develop msdie press releases pertaining to this Agreentéumth press releases shall
contain both parties’ names and logos and shalbagtublished in any manner or form without prigitten approval by Genzyme,
such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, itimmeé:d or delayed, and in accordance with Sect@i7 hereof. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, Veracyte may from time to time ispuess releases pertaining to the Test or any wepnents, including research
studies, publications, announcements or other matgerSuch Test related press releases may beaddy&vith Veracyte’s name and
logo and will not require the prior written apprbbsg Genzyme. Veracyte will, however, provide Gane with a copy of such press
release prior to its issuance and will consider @myments provided in a timely fashion by Genzyme.

Periodic Reporting Veracyte shall provide Genzyme with aggregata degarding (without limitation) Test orders, Tsfttus, Test
volume and any other information reasonably requeby Genzyme on a monthly or calendar quarterysi@epending
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4.8

4.9

on the type of information required) as mutuallyessgl upon by the parties. Any such data shaltdadd as Confidential Information
of Veracyte and shall be maintained by Genzymeaoalance with Section 7 hereof. Notwithstandhmgforegoing or any other
provision in this Agreement, in no case shall Vgtade required to provide or disclose to Genzymeiaformation that would
violate any applicable laws and regulations.

Complaint Reporting; Result Errors and CAPAs; Plamovigilance

48.1

4.8.2

4.8.3

Veracyte shall be responsible for evaluating apantng any Complaints to Regulatory Authoritiesotiner entities in the
Territories as required by applicable laws and lagpns. In addition, Veracyte shall provide Gemzywith any and all
Complaints and other related information obtaingd/bracyte regarding the Test as well as all cpoadence to and from
Regulatory Authorities or other entities relatedr#to.

Veracyte shall provide Genzyme with (i) reportsaneling all patient result errors, (ii) all CorregtiActions/Preventative
Actions (* CAPAS") that relate to matters that would reasonablyibemed material to the normal commercializatiothef
Test and (iii) copies of all similar reports submnit to Regulatory Authorities or other entitiesaadl as all correspondence to
and from Regulatory Authorities or other entitieated thereto. Notwithstanding the foregoingmything to the contrary,
Veracyte will not be required to provide Genzymé#hweny information or data that would violate applcable rule or
regulation including HIPAA or any other rule regiagithe confidentiality or non-disclosure of pati@rformation or data.

Veracyte shall report Safety Information (as dediire Exhibit E) pertaining to the Subject Products in accordamitie the
procedures described in Exhibit EThe procedures described in Exhibid&not restrict Genzyme's ability to take such
action as it deems appropriate or required undglicgble law or regulations.

Requlatory Matters

49.1

Marketing Authorization

€)) Comprehensive ServicesGenzyme shall be responsible and have sole @tytifar seeking, obtaining and
maintaining Marketing Authorization for the Testaach Country in the Comprehensive Services Teyrito
accordance with the then current Annual CommeRliah. Such activities shall be at Genzyme’s so# and
expense. Veracyte shall provide such assistangegde reasonably required for the purpose ofisge&btaining
and maintaining Marketing Authorization for the Tesany Country in the Comprehensive Servicesitoeyt,
subject to the availability of such resources.
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4.10

49.2

4.9.3

(b)

Dedicated Promotion Only Unless otherwise specified in Exhibit A (Coun8yecific Terms), Veracyte shall be
responsible and have sole authority for seekintginimg and maintaining Marketing Authorization the Test in
each Country in the Dedicated Promotion Only Teryiin accordance with the then current Annual Caruial
Plan. Unless otherwise specified in Exhibit A (8w Specific Terms), such activities shall be aratyte’s sole
cost and expense. Genzyme shall provide sucht@ssisas may be reasonably required for the purfoseeking,
obtaining and maintaining Marketing Authorizatiar the Test in any Country in the Dedicated Proaro®nly
Territory, subject to the availability of such resces and at Veracyte’s expense.

Reimbursement

(@)

(b)

Comprehensive ServicesGenzyme shall be responsible and have sole @tytifiar seeking, obtaining and
maintaining pricing approval and reimbursementtli@ Test in each Country in the Comprehensive Besvi
Territory in accordance with the then current An@ammercial Plan. Such activities shall be at &yeme’s sole
cost and expense. Veracyte shall provide sucktassie as may be reasonably required for the pairgioseeking,
obtaining and maintaining pricing approval and fgimsement in any Country in the Comprehensive Sesvi
Territory, subject to the availability of such resces.

Dedicated Promotion Only Veracyte shall be responsible and have soleoéatittfor seeking, obtaining and
maintaining pricing approval and reimbursementtti@ Test in each Country in the Dedicated Promafaty
Territory in accordance with the then current Adr@ammercial Plan. Such activities shall be ataggte’s sole
cost and expense. Genzyme shall provide sucht@ssisas may be reasonably required for the pumfoseeking,
obtaining and maintaining pricing approval and fgimsement in any Country in the Dedicated Promad@oty
Territory, subject to the availability of such resces and at Veracyte’s expense.

Clinical Studies For clinical trials as reasonably determinedt®s Steering Committee, Veracyte shall plan and&bee at
its sole expense, all clinical trials of the Test@ssary to obtain or maintain the Marketing Auttation of the Test in any
Country that is a Dedicated Promotion Only Tergit@nd Genzyme shall plan and execute, at itsesqgdense, all clinical
trials of the Test necessary to obtain or maintianMarketing Authorization of the Test in any Coyrthat is a
Comprehensive Services Territory

Performance by Veracyte Affiliates and SubcontractdNotwithstanding anything to the contrary congairnin this Agreement, any

Veracyte obligation hereunder may be assumed aridrpeed by one or more of its Affiliates, and Veysemay, at its election,
delegate to any one or more of its Affiliates amgydor responsibility set forth in this Agreemeptpvided, however, that Veracyte
shall remain responsible for any and
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411

4.12

all acts and omissions by such Affiliate(s) to slaene extent as if such were performed, taken oerhgd/eracyte. Furthermore, it is
anticipated that Veracyte may perform certain @bbligations hereunder through third party labanias and other subcontractors. In
such event, as between the parties, Veracyte ifmdin responsible for any and all acts and omissly such third parties to the
same extent as if such were performed, taken oerbgd/eracyte.

Billing and Collections

411.1

4.11.2

Comprehensive ServicesExpect as otherwise provided in Exhibit A, usletherwise required by applicable laws and
regulations, Genzyme and its Affiliates shall badiksales of the Test in the Comprehensive Serviegstory and shall be
responsible for the billing, invoicing, claims suissions, and collection of receivables and amoduésresulting from the
sales of the Test in the Comprehensive Servicastdmgr(collectively, “ CS Collection Activities), and such activities shall
be at Genzyme’s cost and expense. Genzyme aAffiltates shall use Commercially Reasonable Efart performing the
CS Caollection Activities. Veracyte shall providsasonable support and assistance to Genzyme asteduy Genzyme
(including if Genzyme and its Affiliates are prohéd from performing CS Collection Activities inparticular Country under
applicable laws and regulations) at Genzyme’s andtexpense, subject to the availability of susloueces.

Dedicated Promotion Only Unless otherwise required by applicable lawsragdlations, Veracyte and its Affiliates shall
book all sales of the Test in the Dedicated Proomo@nly Territory and shall be responsible for liilng, invoicing, claims
submissions, and collection of receivables and ansodue resulting from the sales of the Test inibdicated Promotion
Only Territory (collectively, “ DPO Collection Adtities”), and such activities shall be at Veracyte’'s @i expense.
Veracyte and its Affiliates shall use Commercidflgasonable Efforts in performing the DPO Collectativities. Genzymt
shall provide reasonable support and assistan¢erteicyte as requested by Veracyte (including ifadgte and its Affiliates
are prohibited from performing DPO Collection Adties in a particular Country under applicable lsamsl regulations) at
Veracyte’s cost and expense, subject to the avétijabf such resources.

Veracyte Right to Cdromote. Veracyte shall have the right, but not the addlign, to market, promote, and detail the Teshéen t

Dedicated Promotion Only Territory with Genzymé Véracyte chooses to exercise this right, Verashial deliver written notice of
such election to Genzyme.
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4.13

Test Collection Kit Supply and DistributionVeracyte shall be responsible for managing C€tthe Kit supply, inventory, tracking
and distribution, shall be responsible for the sestsociated with the supply and distribution offé@tion Kits and shall use its
Commercially Reasonable Efforts in such activiti€@enzyme will assist Veracyte to achieve economiesale within a given
Country (e.g., use of Genzyme or Sanofi's distitnufacilities) at Veracyte’s expense.

SECTION 5 — MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE

5.1

5.2

Steering Committee The sales and marketing program for the Te#ft@rTerritories will be managed by a steering cott@aihaving
equal representation of the parties (the * Steg@iammitte€’), which Steering Committee may be the same a&Steering
Committee” (as defined in the U.S. Co-Promotionégnent) managing the U.S. Co-Promotion Agreem€&hé Steering Committee
will include three (3) members from each party ailimeet in-person at least quarterly with at lease (1) meeting per year being
conducted in person while more frequent meetingsleconferences will be held anytime they are adexhd requested by the
Steering Committee’'s members of either party.nlfreperson meeting is impracticable, meetings bwpeld by videoconference or
teleconference. When meetings are held in persdividual members of the Steering Committee mayatioeless participate by
videoconference or teleconference. If unabletiendtin person or by videoconference or teleconfegean individual member of the
Steering Committee may grant a proxy to anotheividdal member of the Steering Committee in ordeadt on his or her behalf on
any matter to be acted upon at any meeting of therfag Committee. Other representatives of thidgsamay attend Steering
Committee meetings as non-voting participantsleAst one week prior to any meeting of the Steefommittee, the parties shall
agree upon a proposed agenda of the matters tistuesded at such meeting. The parties shall agtrdlee first meeting of the
Steering Committee, upon procedures for maintainiegting minutes. The Steering Committee may éakien on a matter at a
meeting only if a quorum exists with respect ta thatter. The attendance of at least two (2) membkthe Steering Committee of
each party at a meeting shall constitute a quorurthe transaction of business. Each member obteering Committee shall be
entitled to cast one (1) vote, either in persobyoproxy, on any matter to be acted upon at anytimgef the Steering Committee. /
decisions made by the Steering Committee shallire@umajority vote by the members of the Stee@ognmittee, either in person or
by proxy. Any action required or permitted to bkdn at any meeting of the Steering Committee neatyaken without a meeting if t
action is taken by all members of the Steering Cdtam Such action must be evidenced by one oemwitten consents describing
the action taken and signed by each member oftderiSg Committee. In the event the Steering Cdtemnis unable to achieve a
majority vote on any issue, then the dispute reswiyprocess set forth in Section 5.3 hereof wéllfollowed with respect to such iss

Responsibilities The responsibilities of the Steering Commitiehi¢h may be delegated to sub-groups by approvtieteering
Committee) will include, without limitation:
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521

5.2.2

5.2.3

524

5.2.5

5.2.6

approving the Annual Commercial Plan (including bhuelget therein)provided, howeverthe Annual Commercial Plan
approved by the Steering Committee must conforrh thié requirements of Section 3.2;

determining the types and forms of Ad/Prom Matsrtalbe created (e.g., printed materials, telenisiedia, digital media
such as website content or e-marketing) and rewig\and approving all Ad/Prom Materials for the Tastl sales force
training materials before first use in the Teriigsrprovided, howeverthat the Steering Committee may delegate reviev a
approval of the Ad/Prom Materials to Genzyme’s ¥edacyte’s respective marketing review committees if the
marketing review committees of both parties sepfyatpprove the Ad/Prom Materials, the Steering @ithee shall be
deemed to have approved such Ad/Prom Materials;

approving Test launch order and timing for Coustirethe Territories;

planning, monitoring and evaluating the overalesand marketing program for the Test in each Gguamd ensuring the
program is compliant with best practices in eachr@y and all applicable laws and regulations;

implementing the marketing and promotion stratemtiie Test in each Country in order to marketpmte and detail the
Test in the most effective and efficient fashiomng a

any other activities specifically provided for g Agreement.

The members of the Steering Committee from eadly gaall have the right to comment upon and makememendations to the
members of the other party regarding the othewjsasctivities under this Agreement, which recomations the other party shall be
reasonably considered.

53 Steering Committee Dispute Resolution
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5.3.2

Should the Steering Committee be unable to reagtaaimous decision on any matter after ten (10nless days following
the date on which the relevant meeting or telegenfee has been held, the decision will be escatatednior management
representatives of the parties, who will have adtitaahal ten (10) business days to reach a mutwajhgeable decision. If the
senior management representatives are unabledlveesuch a dispute or issue within such ten (B9)pkriod after being
requested to resolve such dispute or issue, tipeit@i®r issue shall be referred to the Chief Exeeudfficers of Veracyte ar
Genzyme, or their designees, for attempted godk fasolution by negotiation within thirty (30) ealdar days after such
referral. If the Chief Executive Officers of tharfies, or their designees, are unable to resaiok dispute or issue, then the
matter may be referred to mediation as set fortBdation 5.3.2 hereof.

If a dispute cannot be resolved pursuant to Se&i8ri hereof, the parties shall in good faithrafieto resolve such dispute
by non-binding mediation
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administered by JAMS End Dispute in accordance itsttommercial mediation rules. The mediatiorl i conducted by a
single mediator appointed by agreement of the gmdr, failing such agreement, by JAMS End Disjiutgccordance with it
commercial mediation rules. Unless otherwise miyt@reed by the parties, the mediation proceeslimij be conducted in
Chicago, lllinois. The parties shall share equilly cost of the mediation including, without liatibn, filing fees, hearing
fees and the cost of the mediator(s). Each paittyoear its own attorneys’ fees and associatedscaisd expenses. If the
dispute has not been resolved by the means pro¥ieiein within one hundred eighty (180) calendassdaf the initiation of
such procedure, either party shall have the rigfiite a lawsuit to resolve the dispufgpvided, however, if Veracyte files
such lawsuit, it must be filed in the courts of Bws Massachusetts and if Genzyme files such lawisuiust be filed in the
courts in San Francisco, California.

5.4 Coordination of Calls Efforts will be made by the Steering Committeedordinate the Calls by the Veracyte sales foi€asy and

as applicable, with the Calls by the Genzyme dale®s to ensure the most effective coverage ofatget audiences and to minimize
duplication of efforts to the extent practicable.

55 Participation Cost Each party shall bear its own costs associatddits participation in the Steering Committee d@sdactivities

performed under this Agreement, except as othersaséorth herein.

SECTION 6 - FINANCIAL TERMS

6.1 Promotion Fees

6.1.1

Comprehensive ServicesGenzyme shall book all sales of the Test inGbenprehensive Services Territory. Subject to the
provisions of and during the Term of this Agreemeastcompensation for its activities and obligagiander this Agreement
in the Comprehensive Services Territory and fordrant of rights under Section 2.1.1 in the Compnslive Services
Territory, Genzyme shall pay Veracyte a royaltycaidted on a Country-by-Country basis (the “ CS &iy') equal to the
Country Payment Rate multiplied by the Net Reveregeived by Genzyme or its Affiliates for salestof Test in eac




Country in the Comprehensive Services Territorya éee per test as set forth on any exhibit atétleeeto as Country Specific

6.1.2

Terms. Such CS Royalty or fees, as the case maghb# be due on a quarterly basis as set for8eition 6.3 below.

Dedicated Promotion Only Veracyte shall book all sales of the Test inDleglicated Promotion Only Territory. Subject to
the provisions of and during the Term of this Agneait, as compensation for its activities and oliliges under this
Agreement in the Dedicated Promotion Only Territdfgracyte shall pay Genzyme a fee calculated Gountry-byCountry

basis (the “* DPO Promotion Fegsequal to the Country Payment Rate multiplied byNle¢ Revenue received by Veracyt
its Affiliates for sales of the Test in each Couritr the
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Dedicated Promotion Only Territory. Such DPO PréoroFees shall be due on a quarterly basis aeihtin Section 6.3
below.

6.2 Quarterly Net Revenue Report

6.2.1  Within thirty (30) calendar days after the closesath calendar quarter that occurs during the oéitmis Agreement and
within thirty (30) calendar days after the endled Term, Genzyme shall submit to Veracyte a statélfiee “ Genzyme
Quarterly Net Revenue Repdytshowing, with respect to each Country in the @oemensive Services Territory:

€)) Net Revenues, with breakouts of revenues attribeitaocytopathology versus molecular testing sewiand
regional breakouts;

(b) the amount billed and the amount reimbursed foh &t&im, and the payor associated with each swmglnd

(c) the calculation of the CS Royalty due to Veracyiespant to Section 6.1; or

(d) the number of Tests sold during such period inctise of a fee for Test model, if such model is phan exhibit

attached hereto as a Country Specific Terms sheet.

Any such Genzyme Quarterly Net Revenue Report slealfeated as Confidential Information of Genzymaccordance
with Section 7 hereof.

6.2.2  Within thirty (30) calendar days after the closesath calendar quarter that occurs during the oéitmis Agreement and
within thirty (30) calendar days after the endla# Term, Veracyte shall submit to Genzyme a (theracyte Quarterly Net
Revenue Repot) showing, with respect to each Country in the Rated Promotion Only Territory:

€) Net Revenues, with breakouts of revenues attribeitabocytopathology versus molecular testing sewjcegional
breakouts;

(b) the amount billed and the amount reimbursed foh &tim, and the payor associated with each swamchnd

(c) the calculation of the DPO Promotion Fees or LOnirtion Fees, as applicable, due to Genzyme pursoant
Section 6.1.

Any such Veracyte Quarterly Net Revenue Report $igalreated as Confidential Information of Veraciyt accordance with
Section 7 hereof.

6.3 Invoicing and Payment Invoicing shall take place on a quarterly bagisich invoice shall be based on the data contaimtu:
Genzyme Quarterly Net Revenue Reports receiveddrgdyte and the Veracyte Quarterly Net Revenue iRepeceived by
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6.4

Genzyme in accordance with Section 6.2 above aychgiat shall be due not more than thirty (30) caderdhys from the date of
invoice and may be made in the form of a wire tlansWith respect to invoices for assistance ampsrt provided by one party to
the other party at such other party’s expense pntsio the terms and conditions of this Agreemgaygment shall be due within thirty
(30) calendar days after receipt of a reasonalililéd invoice for such assistance and support.

Annual Reconciliation

6.4.1 The Genzyme Quarterly Net Revenue Report for theioquarter of each calendar year shall contaiarenual
reconciliation indicating the difference, if anyetiveen the annual CS Royalty (calculated on this lodishe Net Revenue
reported for the entire calendar year) and the safl quarterly CS Royalties (calculated on theibaf the Net Revenue
reported per calendar quarter). In case of argéiffee, the relevant amount shall be settled in &geds invoice for the fourth
quarter of the relevant calendar year.

6.4.2 The Veracyte Quarterly Net Revenue Report for tueth quarter of each calendar year shall contaiaraual reconciliatio
indicating the difference, if any, between the airdPO Promotion Fees and LC Promotion Fees (catledlon the basis of
the Net Revenue reported for the entire calendar)ysnd the sum of all quarterly DPO Promotion FeesLC Promotion
Fees (calculated on the basis of the Net Revemgetezl per calendar quarter). In case of a diffegethe relevant amount
shall be settled in Genzyme'’s invoice for the fbugtiarter of the relevant calendar year.

SECTION 7 - CONFIDENTIALITY

7.1

Non-Disclosure and NotUse of Confidential Information All Confidential Information shall remain theausive property of the
Disclosing Party during the Term of this Agreemandl thereafter. The Receiving Party shall disctss Confidential Information
only to those of its (and its Affiliates’) agensglvisors, consultants and employees to whom déessary in order to carry out their
duties hereunder as limited by the terms and cimmditof this Agreement. During the Term of thisrégment and thereafter, all of 1
Disclosing Party’s Confidential Information sha#t maintained in strict confidence by the Receivagty’s agents and employees,
and shall not be used by the Receiving Party fgrpampose other than in connection with the ReogiRarty’s performance of its
duties under this Agreement. The Receiving Pdré}l sat its expense and at the Receiving Paudyption, either return or destroy (e
certify such destruction to the Disclosing Partaiwritten instrument signed by an officer of thecBiving Party) all Confidential
Information of the Disclosing Party within sixtyQpdays after the expiration or termination of thgreementprovided, however,
that the Receiving Party may retain one (1) copthefConfidential Information of the Disclosing Bafior archival purposes.
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7.2

7.3

7.4

Exceptions to Confidentiality ObligationsThe limitations on use and disclosure set fortBection 7.1 hereof shall not apply to
information which the Receiving Party can demornstra

7.2.1 was in the public domain at the time of disclosuitout breach of this Agreement by the Receiviagty

7.2.2 was known to or contained in the records of theeReéreg Party from a source other than the Disclp$tarty at the time of
disclosure and can be so demonstrated by writimords of the Receiving Party;

7.2.3 was independently developed by the Receiving Reittyout use of, reference to or reliance upon tiecldsing Party’s
Confidential Information and can be so demonstratedritten records of the Receiving Party; or

7.2.4  became known or was disclosed to the Receiving/Ratthout restriction on further disclosure fronthérd party source
having the right to make such disclosure.

Disclosure Pursuant to Legal ObligatioMNotwithstanding any other provision of this Agmeent, disclosure of any portion of the
Disclosing Party’s Confidential Information shatitrbe prohibited to the extent that it is requitedi) comply with applicable law,
order or regulation of a governmental agency avwatoof competent jurisdiction, (i) to comply widny governmental agency for
purposes of obtaining Marketing Authorization fbe fTest, or (iii) as necessary to establish tHetsigf either party under this
Agreementprovidedin either case that the Receiving Party shall (®yvjle to the Disclosing Party prompt written netf the
existence, terms and circumstances of such reqdisetbsure with at least sufficient detail to eleaduch Disclosing Party to seek a
protective order or otherwise prevent or limit theéent of such disclosure, (B) consult with thediising Party on the advisability of
taking legally available steps to resist or narsmeh disclosure, (C) take all reasonable and laadtibns to obtain confidential
treatment for such disclosure and (D) thereaftecldse only such Confidential Information as issteebly necessary under the
circumstances. Each of the parties agrees thdbthgoing exceptions are to be narrowly constrad that its obligations (and those
of its representatives) under this Section 7 desmsed solely with respect to those specific postiof the Disclosing Party’s
Confidential Information that fall within the foremg exceptions and not with respect to relatediqus.

Disclosure to Prospective InvestordNotwithstanding any other provision of this Agneent, Veracyte may disclose Confidential
Information, including the terms of this Agreemedntcurrent and prospective investors in Veragyteyidedany such recipients are
bound by confidentiality and non-use provisiondess restrictive than those contained in this $acii

SECTION 8 - INFRINGEMENT AND LITIGATION

8.1

Infringement. If either party reasonably believes or learra ththird party is infringing or misappropriatifgracyte Intellectual
Property in a Country in which the Test is
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8.2

8.3

8.4

being made, used, sold, offered for sale and/opited, that party shall give the other party promptten notice of its belief and
documentation supporting its belief. The partiesllsuse good faith efforts to coordinate and coafgein any action, negotiation, or
settlement of the alleged infringement.

Litigation . If Genzyme reasonably believes that there isngément of any Veracyte Owned Intellectual Propby a third party
and Genzyme submits documentary support of sudvitgdb Veracyte, then Veracyte, acting at its oe#pense and for its own
account, shall have the right, but not the oblmatto enforce the Veracyte Owned Intellectual Brtypagainst such infringers,
including bringing any legal action for infringemeamd defending against any counter claims in siotion. Genzyme shall provide
Veracyte, at Veracyte’s expense, such assistartceaperation as may reasonably be requested tacyteror required in Veracys’
action against such third party. If Veracyte doesinitiate action to terminate any infringemehtl®e Veracyte Owned Intellectual
Property within six (6) months after receiving sutdtumentary support, or earlier notifies Genzymeiiting that it does not intend
to bring such action, then Genzyme, upon receigbatent from Veracyte, which consent shall noeasonably withheld,
conditioned or delayed, may bring such suit regaydhnfringement or misappropriation of such Verac@wned Intellectual Property
in a Country, acting in its own name or in the nah¥eracyte, but for Genzyme’s own account anG@mzyme’s own expense, any
recovery to be for its own account. Veracyte heg@frees to cooperate and be joined as a nomingl jplaintiff to such suit and shall
render, at Genzyme’s expense, all reasonable @sséstind cooperation as may be reasonably necéssargh a suit.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Genzyme may not eint® any settlement, consent judgment or othéunttary final disposition of
such action which adversely affects any Veracyten@ntellectual Property without the prior writteansent of Veracyte, which w
not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or dedayeach party instituting any such infringementars shall, subject the foregoir
have the right to make all decisions regardingatessecution of any such action and shall keep thergarty reasonably informed as
to the status of such action. It is understoodagréed that the provisions of this Section 8.2 simy apply to Veracyte Owned
Intellectual Property that Veracyte or its Affilkkst have the right to enforce (by virtue of owneguslicense terms, or otherwise).

Licenses If a third party license is required in ordeattthe activities required pursuant to this Agreent® not infringe a third
party’s Intellectual Property Rights, then VeragyeVeracyte’'s expense and acting in its own nainall negotiate with such third
party and use Commercially Reasonable Efforts taintsuch a license. Genzyme shall give to Vem@fttVeracyte's sole expense,
such assistance as may reasonably be requesteerbgyte in connection with Veracyte’'s negotiatiathveuch third party, subject to
the availability of such resources.

Notification. In the event that either party receives notifaraof any alleged or actual infringement fromhad party, that party shi
provide the other party with a copy of such nodifion within five (5) business days after its retaif the notification.
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SECTION 9 - REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

9.1

Veracyte represents and warrants to Genzyme thadtths Effective Date

9.11

9.1.2

9.1.3

9.14

9.15

9.1.6

9.1.7

Veracyte and its Affiliates exclusively owns or trants the Veracyte Owned Intellectual Property had the right to license
or sublicense to Genzyme and its Affiliates all &@ite Intellectual Property licensed hereundet,ghah rights to such
Veracyte Intellectual Property have been validignjed to Genzyme and its Affiliates, and that trenting of such rights to
Genzyme and its Affiliates does not require theseon of a third party in accordance with the teafihis Agreement;

(a) there are no claims, judgments or settlemegamat or owed by Veracyte or its Affiliates, orthe best of its knowledge,
any pending or threatened claims or litigationtietato the Veracyte Owned Intellectual Propertyg Test or the Ad/Prom
Material used by Veracyte prior to the Effectivet®db) to the best of its knowledge, there arelaoms, judgments or
settlements against or owed by Veracyte or itsliafés relating to any other Veracyte IntellectBabperty and (c) to the best
of its knowledge, there are no pending or threatext@ms or litigation relating to other Veracytdadllectual Property that to
the knowledge of Veracyte would have a materiakssky effect on the Test, Veracyte, or the abilitthe parties to perform
under of this Agreement;

to the best of Veracyte’knowledge, there are no third party patent, patpplication or other third party Intellectual peoty
Rights that would be infringed by making, usingselling the Test;

to the best of Veracyte’s knowledge, (a) theredisnfringement or misappropriation by a third pasfithe Veracyte Owned
Intellectual Property and/or the Test and (b) thereo misappropriation by a third party of othear&lcyte Intellectual
Property that to the knowledge of Veracyte wouldeha material adverse effect on the Test, Veracoytthe ability of the
parties to perform under of this Agreement;

Veracyte has the full right, power and authority dé&gal capacity to enter into this Agreement angraint the rights and
licenses granted under Section 2 hereof and theuége, delivery and performance of this Agreeman¥eracyte does not
conflict with, or constitute a breach of or undamy order, judgment, agreement or instrument takviieracyte is a party;

Veracyte is a duly organized and validly existimgporation under the laws of its jurisdiction o€amporation;

Veracyte (and any third party laboratories and iogludcontractors used by Veracyte) has all necgdisanses, permits and
certifications under all applicable laws, regulatipcodes, and standards determined by any govatahagithority or
Regulatory Authority (including without limitatioBLIA and similar state laws, as well as all gerlgrapplicable industry
standards
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9.2

9.3

9.4

9.5

whether the same are regional, national or inteynal), to use, make and commercialize Afirma ia Trerritories;

9.1.8 neither Veracyte nor any of its Affiliates has gexhany right or license to any third party relgtto the Veracyte Owned
Intellectual Property and/or the Test that wouldftiot with the rights granted to Genzyme and if§iliates under this
Agreement; and

9.1.9  Exhibit Chereto includes all patents or patent applicatadngeracyte that are included in the Veracyte Owimgellectual
Property that are in existence or filed as of tffedfive Date (other than foreign counterparts).

No Conflicting Obligations Each party represents and warrants that theuégaaf this Agreement and the performance of its
obligations hereunder will not conflict with, resir the breach of, or constitute a default undeasy; agreement to which it, its officers,
directors, agents or employees are parties, ortighnit, its officers, directors, agents or empleyare or may be bound.

Compliance with Applicable Laws Each party represents and warrants that inéhf@pnance of its obligations under this Agreer
it shall comply with all applicable laws, regulai® codes, and standards determined by any govatahaeithority or Regulatory
Authority, as well as all generally applicable isthy standards whether the same are regional natiw international.

Ad/Prom Materials and Training Materialsveracyte hereby represents and warrants to Geazlgat all Ad/Prom Materials and
training materials used by Veracyte as of the EffedDate in connection with the Test comply, aliddd/Prom Materials and trainir
materials to be created and developed by Veraeytupnt to Sections 3.5.1 and 4.3 hereof will cgmplth all applicable laws,
regulations, codes and standards determined bgawsrnmental authority or Regulatory Authority veall as all generally applicable
industry standards whether the same are regioatgnal or international.

EFCPA.

9.5.1 Each party represents and warrants that it:
€) is aware of the terms of the U.S. Foreign Corruptfces Act (* FCPA); and
(b) is not an officer or agent of a governmental authar regulatory authority within the Territories.

9.5.2 In performing its obligations under this Agreemezach party shall refrain from any violation of HR@PA. Without limiting
the generality of the foregoing, neither party Epaly money or provide any other thing of valuaty foreign officials in

violation of the FCPA or any other statute or regioh in a Territory.
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9.6

9.7

Performance Standards

9.6.1

9.6.2

9.6.3

Each party represents and warrants that all aietivitnd obligations performed under this Agreemgihbe performed by it
and its Affiliates (i) in a professional and workmntise manner, (ii) by appropriately qualified indiuals who are licensed in
accordance with applicable laws and regulatiorteéncountry in which they are performed, (iii) atappropriately qualified
and licensed laboratory facility, and (iv) in actance with the standard of care and best induséstipes in the country in
which they are performed.

Veracyte represents and warrants that neither Yexamr its Affiliates (to the extent its Affiliateare performing services
related to the Test), nor any of their respectivpleyees or agents performing services relatecesi ifi connection with this
Agreement, has been: (i) convicted of an offenksied to any federal or state health care prog(antdebarred under the
Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act; or (iii) exigd or is otherwise ineligible for federal or stagalth care program
participation. No convicted, debarred, excludethetligible person will in the future be employeg eracyte or its

Affiliates, to their knowledge, in connection witimy of its obligations under this Agreement. Ifr&®yte becomes aware that
Veracyte or its Affiliates performing services tteld to the Test or any person employed or contldeyeVeracyte or its
Affiliates in connection with this Agreement hasbme or is in the process of being convicted, dellaexcluded or
otherwise rendered ineligible for federal or staalth care program participation, Veracyte stahatify Genzyme in

writing.

Genzyme represents and warrants that neither Genmpmits Affiliates (to the extent its Affiliatesther employ sales and
marketing personnel used to promote, market oildetg Thyrogen or the Test or otherwise performviees hereunder), nor
any employee or agent of Genzyme or such Affiliat@sketing, promoting, or detailing the Test in wection with this
Agreement, has been: (i) convicted of an offenkeed to any federal or state health care prog(@hdebarred under the
Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act; or (iii) exigd or is otherwise ineligible for federal or sth&alth care program
participation. No convicted, debarred, excludethetigible person will in the future be employeg Benzyme or its
Affiliates, to their knowledge, in connection witimy of its obligations under this Agreement. Iin@gme becomes aware t
Genzyme its Affiliates mentioned above or any pemmployed or contracted by Genzyme or such Aféian connection
with this Agreement has become or is in the prooés®ing convicted, debarred, excluded or otherwéndered ineligible
for federal or state health care program particgpatGenzyme shall so notify Veracyte in writing.

Genzyme represents and warrants to Veracyte thaftthe Effective Date:

9.7.1

Genzyme has the full right, power and authority kgl capacity to enter into this Agreement;
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9.7.2

9.7.3

the execution, delivery and performance of thise&sgnent by Genzyme does not conflict with, or comstia breach of or
under, any order, judgment, agreement or instruttewhich Genzyme is a party; and

Genzyme or its Affiliates directly employs a direetles force in each Country, with respect to Tggrosuch sales force
operates with all necessary licenses, permits artdications under all applicable laws, regulaipnodes, and standards
determined by any applicable governmental authawitiRegulatory Authority as of the Effective Date.

9.8 EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY STATED IN THIS SECTION 9, ALLTBIER WARRANTIES, CONDITIONS AND
REPRESENTATIONS, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, STATUTORY ORIGERWISE, INCLUDING A WARRANTY AS TO THE
QUALITY OR FITNESS FOR ANY PARTICULAR PURPOSE OF BHTEST, ARE HEREBY EXCLUDED.

SECTION 10 - INDEMNIFICATION AND LIMITATION OF LIAB  ILITY

10.1 Indemnification by Veracyte

10.1.1

10.1.2

Veracyte shall defend, indemnify and hold GenzyitseAffiliates and their respective officers, diters and employees
harmless from and against any liabilities, chargests, or expenses, including reasonable attorfesys and settlement
payments (collectively, “ Liabilitie¥) that arise from any claim, lawsuit or other aatby a third party resulting from (i) the
promotion, marketing or detailing of the Test byraeyte or its Affiliates, (ii) the safety or effectness of the Test and/or the
research, development, manufacture, commercializadiistribution, promotion, marketing, detailingimportation of the
Test by Veracyte or its Affiliates, (iii) performea of the Test including, without limitation, theporting of test results to
physicians or patients, (iv) a breach by Veracytissacovenants or the terms and conditions of fgseement or any
negligence or misconduct of Veracyte or its Aftilis or their respective employees, agents or sttamiors, (v) the
infringement or other violation of any third pattpdemarks with respect to the use by Genzymeeo¥/#racyte Trademarks
in accordance with the terms and conditions of Agseement, (vi) an inaccuracy of any of Veracytegresentations and
warranties under this Agreement, (vii) an actualteged infringement of a patent, trademark oepthtellectual Property
Right of a third party, (viii) the non-conformange&Collection Kits supplied to Genzyme pursuanthis Agreement with
Veracyte's standard warranty or any other warraiméy Genzyme may be unable to disclaim as a maftiecal law or

(ix) product liability claims arising out of Genzwis distribution of Collection Kits in the Compretsive Services Territory.
The foregoing obligations shall not apply to théeex that such Liabilities result from any grosglience or willful
misconduct of Genzyme or its Affiliates.

Genzyme shall promptly notify Veracyte of any lighiin respect of which Genzyme intends to clamets indemnification,
and Veracyte shall assume and
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10.2

have exclusive control over the defense theredf watunsel selected by Veracypepvided, however, that Genzyme shall
have the right to fully participate in any suchi@ctor proceeding and to retain its own counseltsatwn expense, if
representation of Genzyme by the counsel retaigedebacyte would be inappropriate under applicatdéedards of
professional conduct due to actual or potentidediig interests between Genzyme and Veracyte po#rer party
represented by such counsel in such proceedinigs.failure to deliver notice to Veracyte withineasonable time after the
commencement of such action shall relieve Veraef/tes indemnification obligations hereunder ordythe extent such
failure is prejudicial to Veracyte’s ability to defd such action.

Indemnification by Genzyme

10.2.1

10.2.2

Genzyme shall defend, indemnify and hold VeracygeAffiliates and their respective officers, ditexs and employees
harmless from and against any Liabilities thateafiem any claim, lawsuit or other action by adhparty resulting from

(i) the promotion, marketing or detailing of thestby Genzyme or its Affiliates, (ii) a breach bgri@yme of its covenants or
the terms and conditions of this Agreement or agligence or misconduct of Genzyme or its Affilata their respective
employees, agents or subcontractors, (i) an m@wmy of any of Genzyme's representations and waesunder this
Agreement or (iv) the infringement or other viotetiof any third party trademarks with respect ke by Veracyte of the
Genzyme Trademarks in accordance with the termsanditions of this Agreement. The foregoing oaitigns shall not
apply to the extent that such Liabilities resuttnfrthe gross negligence or willful misconduct of&gyte or its Affiliates. Fc
the avoidance of doubt, Genzyme will not indemMBracyte and its Affiliates for any Liabilities nidng from an actual or
alleged infringement of a patent, trademark or othiellectual Property Right of a third party reld to making, using or
processing the Test.

Veracyte shall promptly notify Genzyme of any lighiin respect of which Veracyte intends to clasoch indemnification,
and Genzyme shall assume and have exclusive cavteolthe defense thereof with counsel selecte@dryzymeprovided,
however, that Veracyte shall have the right to fully peigate in any such action or proceeding and tarréisown counsel,
at its own expense, if representation of Veracytéhle counsel retained by Genzyme would be inapmtgpunder applicable
standards of professional conduct due to actupbtantial differing interests between Veracyte &whzyme or any other
party represented by such counsel in such procgedifihe failure to deliver notice to Genzyme withireasonable time af
the commencement of such action shall relieve Gaezyf its indemnification obligations hereundenotd the extent such
failure is prejudicial to Genzyme's ability to dafesuch action.
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10.3

10.4

Limitation of Liability .

10.3.1

10.3.2

Neither party shall be liable to the other partyday special, incidental, indirect or consequémizamages including, but not
limited to, loss of profit, loss of savings, lodoisiness, loss or contracts, whether arising fr@gligence, breach of contri
or in any other way.

The limitations set forth in Section 10.3.1 shait apply with respect to the liability of eitherrpafor death, material
personal injury or property damage, which has lwegtarmined by a court of final adjudication to h&een proximately
caused by the gross negligence or willful misconddficuch party or its Affiliates.

Insurance

10.4.1

10.4.2

10.4.3

Each party possesses and will maintain commeraialigonable amounts of insurance from a reputablgance carrier (or
by means of self-insurance) sufficient to coverigks under this Agreement.

For the avoidance of doubt, Veracyte is requirechédntain an active insurance policy covering gaheommercial liability,
contractual liability, personal and advertisinguiyj, errors and omissions, and product liabilitgirls, with limits of not less
than $10,000,000 (ten million dollars) per occuceeand $10,000,000 (ten million dollars) aggregateracyte shall name
Genzyme as an “additional insured” and provide @erezwith a certificate of insurance promptly upoan@yme’s request.

For the avoidance of doubt, Genzyme is requiradamtain an active insurance policy covering gelnesemercial liability,
contractual liability, personal and advertisingiyj, errors and omissions, and product liabilitgils, with limits of not less
than $10,000,000 (ten million dollars) per occuceeand $10,000,000 (ten million dollars) aggreg@enzyme shall name
Veracyte as an “additional insured” and provideadgte with a certificate of insurance promptly up@racyte’s request.

SECTION 11 - TERM AND TERMINATION

111

11.2

Term.

This Agreement shall commence on the Effectiaéeland shall continue in force for a period oéf(8) years (the “ Initial

Term”). Upon expiry of the Initial Term, this Agreenteshall terminate without any notice of terminatlmging required, unless the
parties agree in writing to extend the Agreementfoadditional period to be agreed upon in writiyghe parties (the * Extended
Term?”). At least six (6) months prior to expiry of thatial Term, the parties will discuss the desitipiof an Extended Term.

Termination for Breac. Without prejudice to the rights and remedie¥efacyte and Genzyme under this Agreement, eitagy




may terminate this Agreement immediately by writterice to the other party if the other party eitbemmits a breach of this Agreement or
otherwise defaults in the performance of any oflitdes or obligations
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11.3

114

115

under this Agreement and such breach is not cansedorce majeure (as described in Section 128)(& such breach or default is
material and curing such breach or default is tenamilg or permanently impossible, or (i) in allher cases if the breach is not
remedied within thirty (30) days after receipt aftten notice of termination pursuant to this Sexcti1.2.

Termination for Insolvency Either party may terminate this Agreement effecimmediately by written notice to the other paft
the other party:

(a) becomes insolvent, or has filed a request to bldetinsolvent, or has been granted moratoriurppayment;
(b) makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors;

(c) ceases to do business;

(d) commences any dissolution, liquidation or windirpg or

(e) has a receiver, trustee administrator or examinéquidator appointed over all or a substantiat jpdi its assets.

Termination Upon Change of ControEither party will have the right to immediatégrminate this Agreement by written notice to
the other party in the event of a Change of Cordfdohe other party. A party shall provide notioghe other party not less than sixty
(60) days prior to its proposed Change of Conprdyided, however, that if the party undergoing the Change of Cdnsradvised by
its legal counsel that it is precluded from promglthe other party with this prior notice under laggble laws or regulations, then the
party undergoing the Change of Control shall delstech notice immediately after consummation of@feange of Control. The
above notice shall contain the following informati@garding the person or entity that will assummm®tiol:

(a) the name and legal composition of the person dtyent
(b) financial information regarding such person ortgnand
(c) a general description of the transfer transaction.

In addition, the party that is subject to the CreanfjControl shall provide the other party with Iswther information as may be
reasonably requested by that party after the reoéiguch notice.

Termination for Convenience Except as may be provided otherwise in Exhibjtb®ginning on the third (8 ) anniversary of the
Effective Date, either party will have the righttesminate this Agreement on a Country-by-Countigi® without cause: (i) by giving
the other party six (6) months prior written notared (i) if such termination is by Veracyte, byypay the termination fee, if any,
provided in_Exhibit A. For the purposes of clarity, it is the underdiag of the parties that during the notice periedatibed

40




11.6

above, the rights and obligations of the partiedl slontinue in full force and effect until the digpble date of termination of the
Agreement.

Termination by Genzyme on a Country-Country Basis for Regulatory Actian

116.1

11.6.2

11.6.3

11.6.4

11.6.5

Within sixty (60) days following the occurrenceaCountry Regulatory Event, Genzyme may provideatgte with written
notice of such Country Regulatory Event (a “ CREid&"). Such CRE Notice shall provide details regagdine event that
constitutes a Country Regulatory Event, the datuoh occurrence and the basis for why any Colexgulatory Event
could constitute a Qualified Country Regulatory BEveUpon the receipt of a CRE Notice, Veracytd have six (6) months
to work in good faith to resolve, cure, or abatehsGountry Regulatory Event to the reasonablefaatisn of Genzyme. If
Veracyte is unable to resolve, cure or abate suemiEy Regulatory Event during such six (6) monghigd and such Count
Regulatory Event constitutes a Qualified Countrgiiatory Event, then Genzyme will have the right|ater than eight

(8) months following the occurrence of such a (igaliCountry Regulatory Event, to terminate anytfar rights and
obligations under this Agreement with regards tthsQountry, with thirty (30) days prior written i to Veracyte (a “
Country Reqgulatory Terminatidh.

For the purposes of clarity, it is the understagdihthe parties that during any notice period dbed above prior to the
effective date of a Country Regulatory Terminatithg rights and obligations of the parties shatittwe in full force and
effect until the applicable date of terminationhtigand obligations regarding such Country.

If Genzyme elects to exercise such Country Regnjlafermination right with regards to a Country,mather CS Royalties,
DPO Promotion Fees or LC Promotion Fees, as afiidicaill be payable for Net Revenues achievedicthsCountry after
the effective date of the Country Regulatory Tertion for such Country.

Any Country for which Genzyme terminates its rightal obligations pursuant to this Section 11.6ldfebhutomatically
become a Removed Country as of the effective dagaah termination.

For purposes of this Section 11.6:

(a) “ Country Requlatory Everitshall mean, with respect to any Country, the o@nce of any of the following:
(1) any Regulatory Authority in that Country pursgiian enforcement action (i) against VeracyteAftiliates (to
the extent that such Affiliates are offering thesifgursuant this Agreement in such Country) thaigiots the ability
to commercialize the Test or (ii) directly relatedthe Test; or (2) any Regulatory Authority inttuntry issuing a
warning letter (i) against Veracyte or its Affilest (to the extent that such Affiliates are prowdservices to
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11.7

11.8

Genzyme pursuant to this Agreement in such Couttiaf)impacts the ability to commercialize the Tast
(ii) directly related to the Test; and

(b) “ Qualified Country Requlatory Evefitshall mean a Country Regulatory Event that bajhnjaterially and
adversely affects the ability of the parties to cwoencialize the Test in the Country where the CouRggulatory
Event occurs, and (b) leads to the actual averagghty volume of FNAs received by Veracyte for ffest in such
Country during the six (6) months following the elaf the occurrence of the Country Regulatory Eeinig at leas
fifty percent (50%) less than the average montiollyme for the six (6) months prior to such date.

Termination by Veracyte on a Countny-Country Basis for Failure to Maintain Sales Forda addition to any other remedies that
may be available to Veracyte, if at any time (dlpofeing twelve (12) months after Veracyte or Gengyraceives reimbursement from
payers covering about twenty percent (20%) of thary’s population and any required Marketing Authation for the Test in a
Country, should Genzyme fail to use its CommergiRéasonable Efforts to (i) if such Country ishie Comprehensive Services
Territory, market, promote, detail and sell thetTiesany such Country as provided herein (othen tthae to a force majeure event, a
recall, or a supply shortage) or (ii) if such Cayris in the Dedicated Promotion Only Territory, nket, promote and detail the Test in
any such Country as provided herein (other thantdwaeforce majeure event, a recall, or a suppdytsige), or (b) following the
Effective Date, should Genzyme fail to continuetoploy a direct sales force in any Country, thergither case, Veracyte will have
the right to deliver a notice to Genzyme (a “ CouiRemoval Notic€). Such Country Removal Notice shall identify @euntry (or
Countries) where Veracyte reasonably believes addaith that Genzyme failed to use its CommergiRléasonable Efforts to mark
promote, detail and, if applicable, sell the Teadfiadl to continue to employ a direct sales foneeluiding sufficient detail for Genzyme
to understand and attempt to cure its failure téopm and any information regarding the market apyagity in such Country. Within
one hundred twenty (120) business days followirgirg of such Country Removal Notice, if Genzymehés failed to undertake in
good faith its obligations to use its Commerci&igasonable Efforts to market, promote, detail dahplicable, sell the Test in the
Country that is subject of such Country Removalitégtand (ii) such failure is not due primarilygoy breach of this Agreement by
Veracyte, then such Country shall be a Removed tpufror purposes of clarity, Genzyme will notdged any additional DPO
Promotion Fees and Veracyte will not be owed amiitehal CS Royalties with regard to such Removed@ry based on Net
Revenue recognized from such Country on and dftedate such Country becomes a Removed Country.

Effects of Expiration or Termination

11.8.1 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in thisamry other agreement between the parties, allgightl obligations of the
parties set forth herein that expressly or by thaeture survive expiration or termination of thigrdement (or survive
termination of the rights and obligations with redgato a particular Country
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11.9

under this Agreement) (including without limitati®ections 1, 3.4, 3.6.1 (last sentence), 3.7,863,7, 9.8, 10, 11.8, and 12)
shall continue in full force and effect subsequerand notwithstanding the expiration or terminatid this Agreement until
they are satisfied or by their nature expired aral$ind the parties and their legal represengatiguccessors, and permitted
assigns.

11.8.2 Expiration or termination of this Agreement for am@ason shall be without prejudice to the right$ @medies of either pal
with respect to any antecedent breach of any optbeisions of this Agreement.

11.8.3 Upon termination of this Agreement, Genzyme shadiperate in good faith with Veracyte or its desggiretransitioning all
customer support, promotional and other actividied responsibilities for the Test in the Territerias set forth hereunder, to
Veracyte or its designee as requested by Veraditte. parties agree to cause such transition tor@xquickly as practicable
after the effective date of such termination. A#gpiration or termination of this Agreement, \igrte shall retain the right
to use any training materials and Ad/Prom Materielated to the Test developed during the Tearayided, however, that
Veracyte shall have no further right to use GenZgmame or Trademarks.

Dispute Resolution In the event of any dispute arising betweenptirties relating to, arising out of, or in any wannected with
this Agreement or any term or condition hereofthar performance by either party of its obligatibeseunder, such dispute shall be
referred to the Steering Committee and the pastiedl follow the dispute resolution proceduresfggh in Section 5.3 hereof.

SECTION 12 - MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

121

12.2

12.3

Independent Status of the Partiegeracyte and Genzyme are independent entitigls @eting in its own name of for its own accot
Without explicit prior written authorization, neghparty shall have the authority to bind, commiineur any liability on behalf of the
other party or to otherwise act in any way as amnayg, representative or partner of the other party.

Assignment This Agreement shall not be assigned or othertvemnsferred by either party without the priortten consent of the
other partyprovided, however, that either party may assign this Agreement toddrits Affiliates or to a successor to the pantiaf
its business related to this Agreement (whethenbyger, a sale or transfer of all or substantiallyf its assets relating to this
Agreement, a sale of its capital stock, or otheg)yigicluding, in the case of Genzyme, the transfem Affiliate of the entire sales ¢
marketing organization used to promote, marketdetdil Thyrogen. Subject to the foregoing, thigeement shall be binding upon
and inure to the benefit of the parties heretotheit respective permitted successors and assigns.

Force Majeure The performance of either party under this Agreet may be suspended to the extent and for thedpef time that
such party is prevented or delayed from fulfillitgyobligations due to causes beyond its reasoreasitrol (including, without
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12.4

125

12.6

12.7

12.8

limitation, acts of God, acts of civil or militaguthority including governmental priorities, striker other labor disturbances, fires,
floods, epidemics, wars, terrorism, or riofs)ovided, however, that the non-performing party uses Commercialagdonable Efforts
to avoid or remove such causes of non-performandeantinues performance hereunder with reasomhgpatch as soon as such
causes are removed. After thirty (30) consecutalendar days of suspension on the part of ong,fthg other party may, at its sole
discretion, terminate this Agreement without furthability.

Severability. To the extent any clause, term or provisiorhaf Agreement shall be judged to be invalid or doeeable for any
reason whatsoever, such invalidity or unenforcésgtshall not affect the validity or enforceabilidf the balance of such clause, term
or provision or any other clause, term or providieneof. The remaining provisions of this Agreemeifl remain binding and
enforceable, and shall be interpreted so as besasmnably effect the intent of the parties. pasies further agree that any such
invalid or unenforceable provisions will be deemeplaced with valid and enforceable provisions Hudtieve, to the extent possible,
the business purposes and intent of such invaliduaenforceable provisions.

Governing Law and JurisdictianThis Agreement shall be governed by and condtru@ccordance with the laws of the state of Nev
York, including all matters of construction, vatili performance and enforcement.

Relationship of Parties The parties hereto are acting and performingdespendent contractors, and nothing in this Agre@m
creates the relationship of partnership, joint vemtsales agency or principal and agent. Nejthey is the agent of the other, and
neither party may hold itself out as such to ameoperson. All financial obligations associatathveach partys business shall be t
sole responsibility of such party.

Public Announcements The form and content of any public announcen@bt made by one party regarding the execution or
existence of this Agreement, or the subject mathetained herein, shall be subject to the priottamiconsent of the other party
(which consent shall not be unreasonably withhaéddayed or conditioned), except as may be requiyeapplicable law (including,
without limitation, disclosure requirements of tBEC, NYSE, or any other stock exchange or NASDA®)vhich case the party
making the disclosure shall give the other parasomable advance notice and review of any suclodise. Following the
dissemination of such initial public announcemeeither party (nor any of their Affiliates) shadsue any press release or make any
public announcement with respect to this Agreemaedtthe transactions contemplated hereby withaat ponsultation with the othe
party, except as may be required by applicabledpan the advice of counsel. Each party shall giothe other party with a
reasonable opportunity to review the release agrgtlablic announcement prior to disclosure. Ndtstiinding the foregoing, each the
parties may each disclose to third parties therinédion contained in any press release that wasqugly approved by both of the
parties without the need for further approval by tither party.

No Implied Licenses Each of the parties hereby acknowledges anceaghat, except as otherwise explicitly providethis
Agreement, it does not have, assert or acquire any
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right, title or interest in or to any Intellectigfoperty Rights or other proprietary rights of thiker party or its Affiliates by entering
into this Agreement.

12.9 Notices. All notices hereunder shall be delivered asofedl: (a) personally; (b) by facsimile and confirmmdeither first class mail
(postage prepaid) or overnight courier servicepgchegistered or certified mail (postage prepasd)d) by overnight courier service,
to the following addresses of the respective psirtie

If to Genzyme: With a copy to:

Genzyme Corporatio Genzyme Corporatio

500 Kendall Stree 500 Kendall Stree
Cambridge, MA 0214, Cambridge, MA 0214,
Attention: General Manager, Endocrine Busir Attention: General Couns
Facsimile: (617) 7€-8667 Facsimile: (617) 25-7553

If to Veracyte: With copy to:

Veracyte, Inc Veracyte, Inc

7000 Shoreline Court, Suite 2 7000 Shoreline Court, Suite 2
South San Francisco, CA 940 South San Francisco, CA 940
Attention: Chief Executive Office Attention: General Couns
Facsimile: (650) 24-6301 Facsimile: (650) 24-6301

Notices shall be effective upon receipt if pershndélivered or delivered by facsimile and confilarigy first class mail, on the third
business day following the date of registered atifeed mailing, or on the first business day fellimg the date of delivery to the
overnight courier. A party may change its addtis$sd above by written notice to the other party.

12.10 Exchange Controls All payments due hereunder shall be paid in &thBtates dollars. If at any time legal restritsiprevent the
prompt remittance of part or all payments with mxgo any Country in which the Test is sold, pagtshall be made through such
lawful means or methods as the parties may determigood faith.

12.11 Entire Agreement This Agreement, together with the Exhibits herebntains the entire understanding of the pawti#ds respect to
the subject matter hereof. All express or imphgdeements and understandings, either oral orenritteretofore made are expressly
merged in and made a part of this Agreement, imctudithout limitation the Letter of Agreement (Inding without limitation
Exhibit A thereto) dated November 7, 2014 but excluding tiet Defense Agreement dated as of January 28,,2@ith shall
continue in full force and effect in accordancehwits terms. This Agreement may be amended, otemny hereof modified, only by
written instrument duly executed by both partieset®e Each of the parties hereby acknowledgesthimAgreement is the
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12.12

12.13

12.14

result of mutual negotiation and therefore any @uity in their respective terms shall not be camesdragainst the drafting party.

Headings The captions to the several Sections hereafiatra part of this Agreement, but are merely gumdabels to assist in
locating and reading the several Sections hereof.

Waiver. Except as expressly provided herein, the wdiyegither party hereto of any right hereunder carof failure to perform or
any breach by the other party shall not be deenveaizer of any other right hereunder or of any ofadure to perform or breach by

said other party, whether of a similar nature tveowise, nor shall any singular or partial exercissuch right preclude any further
exercise thereof or the exercise of any other sigtt.

Counterparts This Agreement may be executed in two or mortarparts, each of which shall be deemed an ailigiut all of
which together shall constitute one and the sarsteliment. Signature pages may be exchanged hiyiiées

[Signature page to follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF , Veracyte and Genzyme have each caused this Agreadmbe executed by their respective duly

authorized officers.

VERACYTE, INC.

/s/ Bonnie Anderso

GENZYME CORPORATION

/s/ David Meeke

Bonnie Andersol
Chief Executive Office

Date: February 13, 201

David Meekel
Chief Executive Office

Date: February 13, 201

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO EX-U.S. CO-PROMOTION AGREEMENT]

1. Brazil

*** Confidential material redacted and filed sepaig with the Commissio
EXHIBIT A

Country Specific Terms

a. Territory: Dedicated Promotion Only Territory

b. Genzyme Activities Genzyme will promote the Test through currentrbiggn CSAs at the same call points as Thyrogen.

Genzyme will provide limited training.

c. Veracyte Activities Veracyte will be responsible for performing thest, managing clinical studies, billing and reingament.

Veracyte will cover expenses, including the cosmneterials.

d. Country Payment RateVeracyte will pay twenty-five percent (25%) of tNRevenue over a five (5) year period commencing or

January 1, 2015.

e. Country Commitment DateJanuary 1, 2015.

f.  Account ManagementVeracyte, either itself or through its subcontoas, will be solely responsible for HealthcarefEssional

account conversion and set-up, account managemergczount support.

g. Sampling ProgramVeracyte, either itself or through its subcontoas, will manage and provide a sampling progranttie Test

in which Veracyte will provide Collection Kits toddlthcare Professionals in accordance with the AhBommercial Plan.

h. Sales Force*** FTEs in Genzyme'’s sales force.

i.  Marketing Authorization Genzyme will hold the ANVISA registration for tfiest in Brazil.

j-  Termination Fee If, pursuant to Section 11.5, Veracyte termindtés Agreement with respect to Brazil, and if &gite
generates at least one hundred (100) Afirma GepeeSsgion Classifier billable results during theltweg12) months
immediately prior to the notice of termination, théeracyte will pay to Genzyme $300,000 if the teration takes place in the
fourth year of the agreement and $200,000 if thmiteation takes place in the fifth year of the &gnent. Veracyte shall pay the
termination fee within sixty (60) days of the temation effective date. If such billable Afirma GeBxpression Classifier billable
results have not been obtained, Veracyte shabaoequired to pay any termination fee to Genzyme.




*** Confidential material redacted and filed sepatg with the Commissio

2. Singapore

a.

b.

Territory : Dedicated Promotion Only Territory

Genzyme Activities Genzyme will promote the Test through currentrbiggn CSAs at the same call points as Thyrogen in
Singapore. Genzyme will provide limited training.

Veracyte Activities Veracyte will be responsible for performing thest, managing clinical studies, billing and reingmment.
Veracyte will cover expenses, including the costneterials.

Country Payment RateVeracyte will pay twenty-five percent (25%) of NRevenue over a five (5) year period for billatdsts
received from Parkway clinics in Singapore, Malay3ihailand, Philippines, Vietnam, Brunei, Myannfaambodia or Indonesia
commencing on January 1, 2015.

Country Commitment DateJanuary 1, 2015.

Account ManagementVeracyte, either itself or through its subcontoas, will be solely responsible for HealthcarefEssional
account conversion and set-up, account managemergczount support.

Sampling ProgramVeracyte, either itself or through its subcontoas, will manage and provide a sampling progranttie Test
in which Veracyte will provide Collection Kits toddlthcare Professionals in accordance with the AhBommercial Plan.

Sales Force*** FTEs in Genzyme's sales force.

Termination Fee None.




EXHIBIT B
Trademarks
“Veracyte” and “Afirma” are registered Trademarks/@racyte.

“Genzyme” and “Thyrogen” are registered Trademafk&enzyme.




*** Confidential material redacted and filed sepatg with the Commissio
EXHIBIT C

Veracyte Patents & Patent Applications (U.S.)

Application Application Publication
Number Date Publication Number Date Title
61/199,585 11/17/2008 Not Yet Available Not Yet Methods and Compositions of Molecular
Available Profiling for Diagnosis of Canct
61/270,812 7/13/2009 Not Yet Available Not Yet Methods and Compositions of Molecular
Available Profiling for Diagnosis of Canct
12/592,065 11/17/2009 US2010/0131432 5/27/2010 Methods and Compositions of Molecular
Profiling for Disease Diagnostic
ok ok Not Yet Available Not Yet ok
Available
*rk rxk Not Yet Available Not Yet rxk
Available
61/176,471 5/7/2009 Not Yet Available Not Yet Methods and Compositions for Diagnosis of
Available Thyroid Conditions
13/318,751 11/3/2011 Not Yet Available Not Yet Methods and Compositions for Diagnosis of
Available Thyroid Conditions
61/333,717 5/11/2010 Not Yet Available Not Yet Molecular Classification of Thyroid Nodules
Available Using Higt-Dimensionality Genomic Dat
*rk rxk Not Yet Available Not Yet rxk
Available
61/389,810 10/5/2010 Not Yet Available Not Yet Methods and Compositions for Diagnosing
Available Conditions
13/105,756 5/11/2011 Not Yet Available Not Yet Methods and Compositions for Diagnosing
Available Conditions
61/568,870 12/9/2011 Not Yet Available Not Yet Methods and Compositions for Classification of
Available Samples
*rk rxk Not Yet Available Not Yet rxk

Available




EXHIBIT D
Customer Support
1. Ineach Country, Veracyte will provide reasonaliie tflevel customer support to end users for thst.T

2. In each Country, Veracyte will provide a dedicapdbne line for end users to call. Opening hourthefhot line will be adapted for local
needs. Call hours will be mutually determined.

Iltem Description

Coverage Tim¢ International : 8:00 AM to 5:00 PM (GMT+02:00) M- Thu office hours
Service Languag Local languages in each Coun

Recall time in during coverage tir Within 3 hours

Initial Response tim Within 24 hours

Number of incident: Unlimited




EXHIBIT E
Pharmacovigilance

Veracyte will report Safety Information pertainitggthe Subject Products in accordance with theqaoes described in this Exhibit E. These
procedures do not restrict Genzyme’s ability teetaky action it deems appropriate or required uagplicable law or regulations.

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS

1.1 “ Adverse Event shall mean any untoward medical occurrence iatéept or clinical investigation subject using af&at
Product, whether or not related to the Subject &ebd

1.2 “ Safety Informatior’ shall mean all information on the Subject Produelsting to known or potential risks to humans oigd ol
otherwise received from any source. This includgd$not limited to:

(a) any reported deaths of patients, Adverse Eventsraidients (see definitions below), irrespectiveany suspected
causal relationship to the Subject Product;

(b) any information (regardless of the fact whethés @ssociated or not with an Adverse Event) regarMisuse,
Abuse, medication errors, Overdose, lack of effic&aff-Label Use, potential transmission of infectiousragea the
Subject Product and Occupational Exposure;

0] “ Qverdose’ shall mean the administration of a quantity ahedicinal product given per
administration or cumulatively, which is above thaximum recommended dose according to the
authorized product information.

(i) “ Off-Label Us€’ shall mean situations where the medicinal prodsigitentionally used for a
medical purpose not in accordance with the authdriroduct information.

(iii) “ Misuse” shall mean situations where the medicinal prodsiaitentionally and inappropriately
used not in accordance with the authorized proiffictmation.

(iv) “ Abuse” shall mean the persistent or sporadic, intenfiexaessive use of a medicinal product,
which is accompanied by harmful physical or psyobalal effects.

(v) “ Occupational Exposuréshall mean the exposure to a medicinal produgy eesult of one’s
professional or non-professional occupation.




(c) any exposure of pregnancy to the Subject Prodadthé mother, father or both;

(d) any information related to studies initiated byapdndent investigators (* 1S7, e.g. also inclusive of awareness
@ study protocol amendments for safety reasons oo#myr safety information related to IST;
(i) other changes to the conduct of the study, itsemiores or study documents for safety reasons; «
(iii) results of assessment of partial or complete sal@ty or benefit-risk assessments or medical

opinions related to an IST regardless by whom (egle¢o Genzyme) these assessments were
performed or medical opinions were given; and

(e) any Safety Information associated with a suspestanfirmed counterfeit Subject Product.
SECTION 2 — TRANSMISSION OF SAFETY INFORMATION AND FOLLOW -UP

2.1 Veracyte shall transmit Safety Information in oming into its possession or control to Genzyme iwvitiventy-four (24) hours
after receiving such information via e-mail. Veraeghall provide the following information: patid@dentifiers, reporter name
and contact information, the Subject Product(sydddose, route, date of administration), and imfation regarding the Adverse
Event to Genzyme by email in any of the followimgrhs: (i) CIOMS |, (ii) Med Watch, (iii) AE reporig form (electronic or
hardcopy) or (iv) any other form specifically agide between Veracyte and Genzyme in writing. Téramunication shall be in
English and all such documents shall be in an ®eitt format that allows for “copy & paste” of tisafety Information from the
document into the Genzyme safety database. Sucmuaainations should be directed from the relevarmalgte contact person
indicated below, by specifying date of receipt andtact details from the complainant (to allow Gane to follow up), to:

Email: cl-Partners-CPV@sanofi.com

Veracyte Contact Person
Kevin Lenn
Kevin@veracyte.com
650-243-6330

2.2 Veracyte will provide monthly listings of any Safdhformation received during the month from alusges and countries for
reconciliation purposes. The reconciliation repuitt include both initial and follow-up Safety lafmation and will include
Veracyte’s report identifiers. The reconciliati@port format will be agreed by




Genzyme. The report will include information whicteets the criteria for Safety Information as defiabove in Section 1.

Genzyme, as the holder of the Marketing Author@®®) for the Subject Product(s), shall be resfagor the investigation and
follow-up of Individual Case Safety Reports (* ICSR, for submitting expedited and periodic safetpags to Regulatory
Authorities in accordance with applicable laws, &mdresponding to all local Regulatory Authoritygjseries.

2.3

SECTION 3 - RECORDS

3.1 VERACYTE shall establish and maintain:

€) adequate policies and Standard Operating Procethuessertain compliance with the obligations taisahe
transmission of Safety Information as stipulatedarrSection 2 above. Veracyte will disclose anguith policies

and/or Standard Operating Procedures to Genzyma velggiested; and

(b) job descriptions and training records for persotma&ing responsibilities in respect of the handbfigafety
Information for the Subject Products.

Veracyte shall make the records as described abdvection 3.1 available to Genzyme and to anythparty designated by

3.2
Genzyme, and shall provide copies of these redor@enzyme and/or any third party designated byithin three (3) business
days of receiving a request for such records.

3.3 Veracyte shall maintain the records as describegam Section 3.1 for a period of at least thi@eyéars after the expiration or

termination of the Agreement, or such longer pedednay be required by law.

SECTION 4 — TRAINING

Veracyte shall ensure training to its personnebived in the handling of Safety Information withrarreasonable period following
the Effective Date, to ensure compliance with thecpdures contained in this Exhibit B/eracyte agrees to ensure that all rele
members of their staff are adequately kept informedhe processes for the handling of Safety Infdiom, as defined in this

Exhibit Eand in any subsequent amendment thereto.

4.1

SECTION 5 — AUDIT

Genzyme, or an Affiliate on its behalf, has théntip audit Veracyte’s pharmacovigilance recordsaofirm compliance with the
relevant provisions hereof and of applicable I&wuch audit may be either a documentary audit aratise, and will be performed
at reasonable times and places, upon reasonalite narid at Genzyme’s sole expense, either witle@ea or an Affiliate’s
internal auditors or other individuals or a thimy qualified by experience; provided that anyatparty
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is reasonably acceptable to vendor. Veracyte adoeprovide Genzyme, or an Affiliate on its behalith access to relevant
systems, documentation and individuals for purpa$e®nducting the audit.
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Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by refeeeirt the Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 33B992) pertaining to the 2013 St
Incentive Plan and the 2008 Stock Plan dated Oc®®e2013, of our report dated March 24, 2015hwéspect to the consolidated finan
statements of Veracyte, Inc. in this Annual Reearm 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2014.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Redwood City, California
March 24, 2015
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Exhibit 23.2
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporationdfgnence in the Registration Statement on Form(ISe8 333191992) of Veracyte, Inc. of ¢
report dated March 20, 2014 relating to the finahsiatements of Veracyte, Inc., which appearki;iform 10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Jose, California
March 24, 2015
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Exhibit 31.1

PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER'S CERTIFICATION PURSUAN T TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Bonnie Anderson, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual reporfForm 10-K of Veracyte, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this repogsdnot contain any untrue statement of a matigalor omit to state a material fact neces
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madepisigiading with respect to the per
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the finanstatements, and other financial information ineldiéh this report, fairly present in all mate
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifyindjadr(s) and | are responsible for establishing araintaining disclosure controls and procedure
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-1
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls@odedures, or caused such disclosure controlperaddures to be designed undet
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to u
others within those entities, particularly duriig period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control oveaficial reporting, or caused such internal contrar financial reporting to be desigi
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assaraegarding the reliability of financial repogimnd the preparation of financ
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of thgistrant's disclosure controls and procedurespaeskented in this report our conclusi
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contanlid procedures, as of the end of the period covieyethis report based on st
evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any changethe registrant's internal control over finanaiaporting that occurred during 1
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regis’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahneport) that has materially affected
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the gant's internal control over financial reportiagd

5. The registrant's other certifyindic#r(s) and | have disclosed, based on our mastnteevaluation of internal control over finan
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and theitacommittee of the registrant's board of direct¢os persons performing the equival
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and nraaéweaknesses in the design or operation of imatiezontrol over financial reporting whi
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regrg's ability to record, process, summarize apirt financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not materikt involves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the registrar
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 24, 2015

/s/ BONNIE H. ANDERSON

Bonnie H. Anderson
President and Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer
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Exhibit 31.2

PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER'S CERTIFICATION PURSUAN T TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Shelly Guyer, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual reporfForm 10-K of Veracyte, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this repogsdnot contain any untrue statement of a matigalor omit to state a material fact neces
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madepisigiading with respect to the per
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the finanstatements, and other financial information ineldiéh this report, fairly present in all mate
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifyindjadr(s) and | are responsible for establishing araintaining disclosure controls and procedure
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-1
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls@odedures, or caused such disclosure controlperaddures to be designed undet
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to u
others within those entities, particularly duriig period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control oveaficial reporting, or caused such internal contrar financial reporting to be desigi
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assaraegarding the reliability of financial repogimnd the preparation of financ
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of thgistrant's disclosure controls and procedurespaeskented in this report our conclusi
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contanlid procedures, as of the end of the period covieyethis report based on st
evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any changethe registrant's internal control over finanaiaporting that occurred during 1
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regis’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahneport) that has materially affected
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the gant's internal control over financial reportiagd

5. The registrant's other certifyindic#r(s) and | have disclosed, based on our mastnteevaluation of internal control over finan
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and theitacommittee of the registrant's board of direct¢os persons performing the equival
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and nraaéweaknesses in the design or operation of imatiezontrol over financial reporting whi
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regrg's ability to record, process, summarize apirt financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not materikt involves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the registrar
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 24, 2015

/s/ SHELLY D. GUYER

Shelly D. Guyer
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of &&yte, Inc. (the "Company") on Form kOfor the year ended December 31, 2014, as fildd
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the ltEteof (the "Report"), the undersigned officer ledé LCompany certifies, pursuant to
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Se@fi6rof the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, whsofficer's knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with thejtgrements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SemgiExchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Regairly presents, in all material respects, timamcial condition and results of operati
of the Company.

Date: March 24, 2015

/s/ BONNIE H. ANDERSON

Bonnie H. Anderson
President and Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer
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Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of &&yte, Inc. (the "Company") on Form kOfor the year ended December 31, 2014, as fildd
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the ltEteof (the "Report"), the undersigned officer ledé LCompany certifies, pursuant to
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Se@fi6rof the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, whsofficer's knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with thejtgrements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SemgiExchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Regairly presents, in all material respects, timamcial condition and results of operati
of the Company.

Date: March 24, 2015

/s/ SHELLY D. GUYER

Shelly D. Guyer
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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